
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session. 

Please ask for: 
Marie Lowe 

 
 
*PLEASE NOTE DATE 
 

3 June 2016 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET HOUSING AND PLANNING PANEL to be held on Monday, 13th June, 2016 at 
7.30 pm in the Cypress Room, Salvation House, 2 Sterling Court, Mundells, Welwyn 
Garden City, Herts, AL7 1FT 
 
PLEASE NOTE THAT SHOULD THIS MEETING NOT BE ABLE TO COMPLETE ALL OF ITS BUSINESS 
ON THIS DATE, THE MEETING WILL BE ADJOURNED AND RECONVENED ON WEDNESDAY, 15 
JUNE 2016 AT 7.30 PM IN THE SAME VENUE 
 

 
 
Yours faithfully 

Director (Governance) 
 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 

1.   APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN AND VICE-CHAIRMAN  
 

 The Special Cabinet at their meeting on 13 June 2016 appointed Councillors 
Stephen Boulton and Mandy Perkins as Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Panel 
respectively for the 2016/17 municipal year. 
 

2.   SUBSTITUTIONS  
 

 To note any substitution of Members made in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rules 19-22. 
  
 
 

Public Document Pack



3.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To note apologies. 
  

4.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 21 April 2016 
(previously circulated). 
 

5.   NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 10  
 

6.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS  
 

 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on the Agenda. 
  

7.   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME AND PETITIONS  
 

 Up to fifteen minutes will be made available for questions from members of the 
public on issues relating to the work of the Panel and to receive any petitions. 
 

8.   WELWYN HATFIELD RETAIL AND TOWN CENTRE NEEDS ASSESSMENT 
UPDATE, MAY 2016 (Pages 1 - 6) 
 

 Report of the Director (Governance) providing information that as part of the 
evidence for the Local Plan the Council needs to have an up to date assessment 
of the need for additional retail floorspace over the plan period. The Welwyn 
Hatfield Retail and Town Centre Needs Assessment Update has updated previous 
information on the market shares of the borough’s centres and carried out heath 
checks of those centres.  It applies assessments of future spending trends to the 
borough’s centres to arrive at retail capacity forecasts for food and non-food 
shopping taking into account the growing influence of internet shopping.  It also 
assesses likely commercial leisure requirements.  As such, it is an important part 
of the evidence base to be used to inform the strategies and policies contained in 
the Local Plan. 

9.   LOCAL PLAN: SELECTION OF SITES AND HOUSING TARGET (Pages 7 - 20) 
 

 Report of the Director (Governance) bringing Members the results of the Housing 
and Employment Land Availability Assessment (HELAA), to consider any policy 
implications associated with sites which are considered to be technically ‘suitable’ 
coming forward and the cumulative impact associated with combinations of sites 
and to consider which sites should be included in the Local Plan.  
 

(a)  
  
Employment Site Selection 
Background Paper 2016 (Pages 21 - 56) 
 

(b)  
  
Employment Sites Selection – Background Paper 2016 
Appendices A-D (Pages 57 - 76) 
 



(c)  
  
Housing Sites Selection 
Background Paper 2016 (Pages 77 - 126) 
 

(d)  
  
Housing Sites Selection – Background Paper 2016 
Appendices A-K (Pages 127 - 226) 
 

10.   SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUCH URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION:  
 

11.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 The Panel is asked to resolve: 
 
That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for Item 11 on the grounds that it 
involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined in 
Section 100(A)(3) and Paragraph 3 (private financial or business information) of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said Act (as amended). 
 
In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 

 
Circulation: Councillors S Boulton (Chairman) 

D Bell 
D Bennett 
H Bromley 
M Cowan 
 

G Hayes 
M Holloway 
M Perkins 
P Shah 
M Spinks 
 

   
 
 Executive Board 

Press and Public (except Part II Items) 
 
 
If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Marie Lowe, 
Governance Services Unit on 01707 357443, fax 01707 357257 or email – 
m.lowe@welhat.gov.uk 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Paul Everard 
Executive Member: AL Perkins 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET HOUSING AND PLANNING PANEL – 13 JUNE 2016 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR (GOVERNANCE) 

WELWYN HATFIELD RETAIL AND TOWN CENTRE NEEDS ASSESSMENT UPDATE, 
MAY 2016 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 As part of the evidence for the Local Plan the Council need to have an up to date 
assessment of the need for additional retail floorspace over the plan period. The 
Welwyn Hatfield Retail and Town Centre Needs Assessment Update has 
updated previous information on the market shares of the borough’s centres and 
carried out heath checks of those centres.  It applies assessments of future 
spending trends to the borough’s centres to arrive at retail capacity forecasts for 
food and non-food shopping taking into account the growing influence of internet 
shopping.  It also assesses likely commercial leisure requirements.  As such, it is 
an important part of the evidence base to be used to inform the strategies and 
policies contained in the Local Plan. 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That the Panel notes the findings of the Retail and Town Centre Needs 
Assessment Update, May 2016. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 As part of a positive approach to planning for town centres, the government’s 
Planning Practice Guidance expects local planning authorities to assess and plan 
to meet the needs of main town centre uses in full.  The Retail and Town Centre 
Needs Assessment Update (RTCNA) provides that assessment.  As such, it 
forms an important part of the evidence base for the Local Plan and will inform 
the formulation of policies for town, neighbourhood and village centres.  It 
updates the RTCNA produced in 2007, which had partial updates periodically up 
to 2012. 

3.2 The RTCNA sets out national trends for retail expenditure and town centres 
showing that there has been growth in spending on comparison goods (non-food) 
year-on-year since 2010, but that expenditure on convenience goods (mainly 
food) has only just started to grow after the recession of 2008.  Special Forms of 
Trading, which includes internet shopping, are growing in prominence, and the 
effects of this have been factored into the RTCNA’s analysis of Welwyn Hatfield.   

3.3 By way of survey data, the RTCNA updates information on shopping patterns 
and market share across the borough and a wider study area for convenience 
goods and comparison goods taking into account internet shopping and click-
and-collect.  Welwyn Garden City town centre’s market share for convenience 
has increased since 2006, which is only to be expected given the increase in the 
sizes of Waitrose and Sainsbury’s shops since then.  Welwyn Garden City town 
centre has also managed to improve its share for comparison goods.  Hatfield 

Page 1

Agenda Item 8



- 2 - 

town centre has lost some share for convenience goods but has recaptured 
some expenditure for comparison.  Neighbourhood centres as a whole have 
experienced some increase in convenience expenditure which is likely to be in 
part a function of the growing market share of Lidl and Aldi.  The market share of 
out-of-centre stores for both convenience and comparison expenditure has fallen, 
which could be the result of residents choosing to shop at competing centres 
outside the borough as well as the influence of internet shopping. 

3.4 The RTCNA includes health checks for all of the centres in the borough’s retail 
hierarchy and sets out the strengths and weaknesses of the town centres, 
providing valuable third party information to assist in the production of Local Plan 
policies. 

3.5 The retail capacity assessment is one of the most important parts of the RTCNA.  
It applies population and expenditure forecasts to the retail centres in Welwyn 
Hatfield taking into account the market shares of those centres, planned 
investment within the borough and planned investment in neighbouring authority 
areas.  The assessment converts expenditure growth into likely floorspace 
capacity for the town centres, neighbourhood centres and village centres, split by 
convenience and comparison goods for 2021, 2026 and 2032.   

3.6 The assessment applies the same approach to retail expenditure that takes place 
outside the retail hierarchy under the heading “rest of borough”.  The reason for 
this is that retail parks, corner shops and The Galleria account for substantial 
amounts (though a declining proportion) of retail expenditure in the borough.  The 
study points out that national policy promotes a “town centre first” approach to 
new shopping provision, so the new capacity identified for the rest of the borough 
should be directed to Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield town centres, followed by 
the borough’s smaller centres, rather than being provided in out-of-centre 
locations.  

3.7 The headline results of the retail capacity assessment are set out in Table 1. 

Table 1 – retail capacity forecasts, square metres net 

Convenience goods capacity* 2021 2026 2032 

Welwyn Garden City town centre 227 544 897 

Hatfield town centre 217 402 595 

Large neighbourhood centres -12 188 402 

Large village centres 31 60 92 

Small neighbourhood and village centres 75 150 232 

Rest of borough 368 717 1,094 

Total convenience goods capacity 905 2,060 3,311 

Comparison goods capacity 2021 2026 2032 

Welwyn Garden City town centre 3,695 8,907 15,414 

Page 2



- 3 - 

Hatfield town centre 681 1,581 2,684 

Large neighbourhood centres -467 -458 -447 

Large village centres 4 123 271 

Small neighbourhood and village centres 1 4 6 

Rest of borough -969 296 1,864 

Total comparison goods capacity 2,945 10,453 19,793 

*convenience goods capacities were also forecast for deep discounters / local supermarkets as 
an alternative to these figures.  They resulted in capacities roughly double those quoted in the 
table because turnover per unit floorspace is lower than for conventional foodstores. 

Source: Welwyn Hatfield RTCNA Update, May 2016, Carter Jonas 

3.8 It is notable that comparison goods capacity figures almost double between 2026 
and 2032 and there are doubts that this level of provision will, in practice, prove 
to be necessary.  The study makes it clear that economic forecasts become less 
reliable the further they are projected into the future – especially beyond 10 
years.  This is partly for methodological reasons and partly because there is 
uncertainty about how recent trends in retailing will play out in the future.  For this 
reason, it is considered unwise for the Council to plan to meet retail needs 
beyond 2026 in the Local Plan.  The capacity figures to 2026 are broadly 
achievable and will be used to inform Local Plan policies. The RTCNA will be 
reviewed regularly to inform future policy. 

3.9 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) suggests that when local 
planning authorities are assessing applications for retail development outside 
town centre and not in accordance with the local plan, they should require an 
impact assessment if the development is above a proportionate locally-set 
threshold.  The study also recommends that the Council sets a threshold of 500 
square metres for out-of-centre applications affecting either of the town centres 
and 300 square metres for applications affecting neighbourhood and village 
centres.  Previous updates of the RTNCA suggested a threshold of 1,000 square 
metres, so this represents an opportunity for the Council (through upcoming 
Local Plan policy) to be more rigorous in its assessment of out-of-centre retail 
planning applications and its protection of existing centres. 

3.10 The RTCNA also assesses leisure needs to 2032 and identifies capacity for 
increased provision for eating and drinking out, which it recommends should be 
focused on the two town centres.  Subject to there being commercial interest, it 
also identifies potential capacity for increasing hotel and health and fitness 
provision.  It does not identify any further capacity for cinemas. 

Implications 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 There are no legal implications arising directly as a result of this report. 

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly as a result of this report. 

Page 3



- 4 - 

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 There are no risk management implications arising directly as a result of this 
report. 

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 There are no security and terrorism implications arising directly as a result of this 
report. 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 There are no procurement implications arising directly as a result of this report. 

 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 There are no climate change implications arising directly as a result of this report, 
though the evidence contained in the RTCNA, if used to inform the Local Plan, 
may have an influence of climate change. 

10 Link to Corporate Priorities 

10.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority (Help build 
a strong economy), and specifically to the achievement of (Revitalise our town 
centres and other shopping areas) 

10.2 It is also linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority (Maintain a safe and healthy 
community), and specifically to the achievement of (Provide for a wide variety of 
leisure covering arts, culture, fitness and sport) 

11 Equality and Diversity 

11.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out in connection with 
the proposals that are set out in this report (please complete section 11.2 only if 
an EIA has been completed). 

 
 
Name of author Paul Everard 
Title Principal Planner – Planning Policy 
Date 31st May 2016 
 
 
 
Background papers to be listed (if applicable)   

Welwyn Hatfield Retail and Town Centre Needs Assessment Update, May 2016, Carter 
Jonas http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/5504/Retail 

Planning Practice Guidance, Department for Communities and Local Government 
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk  

National Planning Policy Framework, Department for Communities and Local 
Government, March 2012 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-
planning-policy-framework--2  

Page 4

http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/5504/Retail
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


- 5 - 

 

Appendices to be listed  

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Item No: 0 
Main author: Sue Tiley/Carol 
Hyland/Paul Everard 
Executive Member: Cllr Mandy Perkins 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET HOUSING & PLANNING PANEL – 13 JUNE 2016 
CABINET HOUSING & PLANNING PANEL – 15 JUNE 2016 (IF NEEDED) 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR (GOVERNANCE) 
 
LOCAL PLAN: SELECTION OF SITES AND HOUSING TARGET  
 
1 Executive Summary 

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to bring to Members the results of the Housing and 

Employment Land Availability Assessment (HELAA), to consider any policy 
implications associated with sites which are considered to be technically ‘suitable’ 
coming forward and the cumulative impact associated with combinations of sites 
and to consider which sites should be included in the Local Plan.  
 

1.2 Appendix A (Employment Sites Selection – Background Paper 2016) and 
Appendix B (Housing Sites Selection - Background Paper 2016) to the report 
consider the results of the Green Belt Sites Review, the implications for defining 
a new Green Belt boundary, the conclusions of the HELAA, infrastructure issues, 
the sequential test, the extent to which the site would help to deliver strategic 
objectives, and the sustainability appraisal of the site. 
 

2 Recommendation 
 
2.1 That the Panel considers all of the above information to decide which sites 

should go forward for inclusion in the Proposed Submission Local Plan. 
 

3 Explanation 
 

3.1 The HELAA updates the previous Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment and incorporates an assessment following the government’s best 
practice guidance of the suitability, availability and achievability of sites promoted 
for both housing and employment. It is available for viewing on the Council’s 
website. http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/5501/Housing 
 

3.2 The next stage of the assessment is to consider which of these sites should be 
included in the Local Plan for allocation taking into account the policy implications 
of bringing forward those sites and any cumulative impacts associated with 
groups of sites. In order to do this the Council needs to be clear what the ‘to find’ 
figure is for both employment and housing. 
 
Employment land requirements 
 

3.3 The Economy Study 2015 considered two different sets of economic forecasts 
and recommended that 5.4 hectares of additional land for Class B uses would 
need to be provided over and above existing designated employment land to 
meet the recommended hybrid scenario to 2032. 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 9

http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/5501/Housing


3.4 To reflect the Local Plan period, this study has a starting point of 2013 and the 
employment land requirements are derived from economic forecasting of jobs 
growth.  In coming up with its recommended approach, the study considers two 
different sets of economic forecasts – based on Experian data and the East of 
England Forecasting Model (EEFM).  Because it is difficult to predict which of 
these scenarios provides a more accurate projection of future needs, the study 
recommends that a hybrid approach is likely to result in a more accurate 
forecast.  The results of the two forecasts and the hybrid approach are set out in 
Table 1. 
 

Table 1 – employment forecasts, Class B floorspace need and Class B land 
need, 2013 to 2032 
 

Scenario Total jobs 
growth 

Class B floorspace need, 
square metres 

Class B land need, 
hectares 

Experian 15,960 142,000 25 

EEFM 17,800 133,000 22 

Hybrid 16,900 138,000 23 

 
 
3.5 It is notable that the Experian scenario forecasts the lowest jobs growth, but with 

the largest requirements for Class B floorspace and land.  By contrast, the EEFM 
assumes the highest jobs growth, but with smallest requirements for Class B 
floorspace and land.  This is because Experian assumes higher growth in less 
dense employment uses such as warehousing than does the EEFM scenario, 
which assumes more growth in office-based sectors of the economy.   By taking 
an average, the hybrid scenario falls between these two extremes. 
  
Employment Sites Selection – Background Paper 2016 
 

3.6 A number of sites were promoted for employment or mixed use development and 
these have been assessed in the HELAA and the Employment Sites Background 
Paper. Adding those sites that are considered to be suitable for allocation in the 
Local Plan to existing vacant sites, sites with planning permission and recent 
completions, results in a capacity of 197,100 square metres of floorspace 
capacity.   Alongside existing vacant sites, sites with planning permission and 
recent completions, this results in a capacity of 197,100 square metres of 
floorspace capacity.  This figure includes the proposed development of the 
Holdings in Cole Green Lane, Welwyn Garden City, which was considered 
acceptable (subject to a Section 106 agreement) by Development Management 
Committee on 26th May 2016 and has been referred to the Secretary of State as 
a departure from District Plan policy.  Sites promoted for development are set out 
in Table 2. 

  

Page 8



Table 2 – sites considered suitable for allocation in Employment 
Background Paper 

Site 
Floorspace, square 

metres 

Broadwater Road West (employment elements within wider 
mixed use scheme) 

17,700* 

North West Hatfield (Hat 1) 13,900** 

Marshmoor, Welham Green (WeG4b) Up to 40,500*** 

*Remainder of the 19,000sq.m target set out in the Broadwater Road West Supplementary 

Planning Document 
**Estimate taken from promoter’s concept plan material 
***figure generated from HELAA methodology 
 

3.7 Significant losses of office floorspace have taken place since 2013 because of 
the introduction of permitted development rights for offices to be changed to 
residential.  Alongside other losses of employment floorspace, and taking into 
account the likely future losses, it is estimated that the borough will incur losses 
of 80,700 square metres of employment space by 2032.  This means that the net 
supply of employment floorspace (197,100 minus 80,700) is 116,400 square 
metres, some 21,600 square metres short of the requirement of 138,000 square 
metres set out hybrid scenario in the Economy Study, which would theoretically 
constrain the amount of jobs growth that could take place to about 14,500.   
 

3.8 But it should be noted that economic projections are always subject to 
considerable uncertainty, which increases the further into the future they are 
made, and that changes in the number of jobs do not always relate directly to 
changes in floorspace.  Provisional government estimates (Business Register 
and Employment Survey, Office for National Statistics, 2014 and 2015) indicate 
that the number of jobs in Welwyn Hatfield increased by 2,600 from 2013 to 2014 
despite a small net reduction in the amount of employment floorspace at that 
time.   Adding the likely total number of jobs that could be accommodated in the 
supply of employment floorspace to the number of jobs that have already been 
created since 2013 gives a total jobs growth of about 17,100, which is very 
similar to the 16,900 total jobs figure recommended in the hybrid scenario in the 
Economy Study 2015.   
 

3.9 Such an outcome would overshoot the number of jobs envisaged in the Experian 
forecast (15,960), which require more land and floorspace than the hybrid 
forecast.  In land and floorspace terms, the outputs of the EEFM forecast could 
be achieved, but the number of jobs generated would be higher than the hybrid 
scenario, which might put a further upward pressure on the number of additional 
dwellings the Council needs to plan for. It is the hybrid scenario which was 
recommended by our consultants to take forward into the Local Plan. 
 

3.10 In combination with our monitoring data and the recommendations of the 
Economy Study, this uncertainty about the relationship between jobs growth and 
employment floorspace, and hence the amount of land required for employment 
uses, means that it is important that existing reserves of employment land are, as 
far as possible, retained in Class B uses. 
 

3.11 On this basis, land promoted within our designated employment areas for 
residential development would need to be retained in Class B uses to ensure Page 9



there is a sufficient supply of employment land for the plan period to meet the 
hybrid scenario.  It is for this reason that land already in employment uses at 
Woolmer Green has been identified in the Employment Sites Background Paper 
as being suitable for allocation in the Local Plan. 

 
The relationship between the Objective Assessment of Need (OAN) for housing, 
the Economy Study and the Housing Target 
 

3.12 The Partial Update of the SHMA 2015 reviewed the OAN in the light of 
household projections published by DCLG and economic forecasts from the East 
of England Forecasting Model. Following the completion of the Economy Study in 
December 2015 demographic projections have been produced of the Experian 
and Hybrid scenarios. The data includes an analysis for dwellings associated 
with jobs, dwellings associated with employed people (to take account of part 
time work and double jobbing and to take account of increasing household 
formation rates to allow for the rates of young people forming a new household to 
return to pre-recessionary levels (headship rate adjustment). 
 

3.13 A strategy based on the hybrid economy study scenario would indicate the 
dwelling numbers as set out in Table 3 ranging from 633 dwelling per annum for 
employed people to 736 dwellings per annum. 
 
Table 3 Hybrid Dwelling/jobs Scenarios 
 

Scenario Dwellings per annum Plan period total 
 

Hybrid employed people 633 dpa 12,027 
 

Hybrid jobs 701 dpa 13,319 
 

Hybrid employed people adjusted 667 dpa 12,673 
 

Hybrid jobs adjusted 736 dpa 13,984 
 

 
 

3.14 The Council’s consultants Turleys have reviewed the update to the Economy 
Study and consider that an OAN of 12,616 – 13,433 homes as recommended in 
the 2015 Partial Update of the SHMA is still appropriate. This would 
accommodate the first three Hybrid scenarios but would represent a 16-23% 
uplift above the 2012 DCLG household projections. The DCLG household 
projections along with the ONS household projections are the starting point for 
the calculation of the OAN. Whilst matching jobs to housing is a laudable 
sustainability objective in practice this is hard to achieve. Given the variability of 
economic forecasts and the fact that national forecasts for economic growth have 
become more pessimistic over the last few months a housing target so far above 
the demographic projections might be considered to be a risky strategy as this 
could result in an imbalance between the provision of jobs to housing. 
 

3.15 It is only just over a year since the previous Economy Study 2014 suggested 
there would be 12,000 jobs over the plan period resulting in a lower OAN of 
around 625 dwellings per annum and previous forecasts have indicated both 
lower and higher estimates for the growth in jobs. The close proximity to London, 
the inability of Stevenage to provide sufficient jobs and allocate sufficient 
employment land over its plan period and complex commuting patterns that exist 
in the borough means that whilst estimates can be made, there can be no Page 10



precise relationship between new housing and jobs. This is because the exact 
quantum by which employment growth increases the demand for housing 
requires assumptions to be made about the number of jobs which would be filled 
by residents already living in the area (either unemployed or working elsewhere), 
by people who live elsewhere but would commute in and by people who choose 
to move into the area to live and work.  
 

3.16 The latest set of 2014 based ONS population projections, published on May 26th 
and, have revised population forecasts upwards for Welwyn Hatfield, with an 
increase in the population of 4,000 more than the previous projection for the plan 
period. These have not yet been translated into household figures by DCLG but a 
rough calculation would indicate that the household projections would now fall 
within the OAN range and there would be no uplift.  
 

3.17 Official population forecasts are normally considered to be robust by the Planning 
Inspectorate, however this latest set does come with a health warning for those 
authorities with high student populations.  Welwyn Hatfield is home to both the 
University of Hertfordshire and the Royal Veterinary Collage. 
 

3.18 Affordability is an issue that is factored into the setting of an Objective 
Assessment of Need and high house prices and a high need for affordable 
housing is one of the reasons our OAN includes an uplift over and above our 
2012 based population and household figures. The Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment identified a need for 10,243 affordable homes over the plan period 
based on a definition which did not include starter homes. Viability evidence 
indicates that we would not be able to secure more than 25-35% of dwellings as 
affordable dependant on their location. Taking into account the Housing and 
Planning Act requirements that 20% of all housing on eligible sites is for starter 
housing this would leave between 5-15% of homes on eligible sites for more 
traditional forms of affordable housing and would mean that we would need to set 
a target of around 44,150 dwellings to meet this need, which is clearly 
undeliverable. 
 

3.19 House prices are influenced by a number of factors not just supply. The 2015 
SHMA has analysed changes in house prices between 2001 and 2014. This 
indicates that average house prices have not risen as much as they have 
nationally although house prices are higher than the national average. 
 

3.20 Historic data from CLG for this borough indicates that the ratio of lower quartile 
house prices to lower quartile earnings did not fall when housing completions 
were at their highest in the borough between 2003/04 -2007/08. The Local Plan 
will have no influence on earnings and the evidence indicates that even at times 
of highest developer activity the ratio between house prices and earnings are not 
necessarily affected by building more homes. 
 

3.21 Our consultants consider that a target at the upper end of the range would better 
meet the needs of the economy and address affordability. However, given the 
variability of economic forecasting the difficulty local planning authorities now 
have in protecting employment land to meet longer term need, the unlikelihood of 
the Local Plan being able to make a significant impact on affordability ratios and 
the latest population projections it is considered that a target at the lower end of 
the OAN would best meet the needs of the borough and would represent a 
considerable increase in the supply of housing. 
 

Page 11



3.22 However before a target can be set in the Local Plan consideration has to be 
given to the implications of meeting this need for other policies set out in the 
NPPF. These issues are addressed in the following paragraphs. 
 

Completions, windfall and permissions 
 

3.23 Monitoring of this year’s completions indicates that house building rates continue 
to rise in the borough. Analysis of our future supply from windfall sites indicates 
that this allowance can be increased to an average of 80 dwellings per annum to 
allow for: the change in legislation with regards to prior notification for office to 
residential; proposals for a significant increase in the number of residential units 
which could be provided in and around Hatfield Town Centre; and updating the 
analysis of trends from other sources.  
 

Table 4 sources of supply – completions, permissions and windfall  
 
Source Dwelling nos. 

 

Completions 2013-2016 1,057 
 

Under construction 793 
 

Permissions* 670 
 

Windfall Allowance 1,385 
 

Total 3,905 
 

To find, against lower 
and upper OAN 

8,711 – 9,528 

*Including 2.5% non- implementation rate 

 
The Housing & Employment Land Availability Assessment (HELAA)  
 

3.24 Officers have now updated the assessment of the availability suitability and 
deliverability of sites including new sites submitted in response to the Local Plan 
consultation.  
 

3.25 This results in a potential capacity of 11,789 homes as follows:  
 

Table 5 Potential Supply 
 

 

 
 

Source Dwelling nos. 
 

Small sites 5-10 26 
 

Urban sites 11+ 2,012 
 

Safeguarded Land 650 
 

Green Belt 9,101 
 

Total 11,789 
 

Page 12



3.26 At first sight this would indicate that the Council could more than meet the OAN if 
it releases land from the Green Belt. The NPPF requires local planning 
authorities to plan positively for growth unless harm to other objectives in the 
NPPF outweighs the benefit. Paragraph 182 of NPPF also requires the Council 
to consider whether the borough could meet the unmet requirements of 
neighbouring authorities where it is reasonable to do so and consistent with the 
principles of sustainable development. Whilst sites have been assessed on an 
individual basis they now need to be considered in terms of the potential 
distribution and their cumulative impact on infrastructure, other sustainability 
considerations and the harm to the Green Belt. 
 

3.27 To recap on the preparation of the plan in 2009 the Council consulted on a 
number of options for distributing growth around the borough as follows 
 

1. A proportionate approach (PG31); 

2. Growth focused around Welwyn Garden City (PG32a); 

3. Growth focused around Hatfield (PG32b);  

4. Growth focused around Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield ((PG32c); 

and 

5. Growth focused around the towns and large scale expansion of one or 

more villages (PG39 to PG46) 

 

A further option was subsequently identified in 2012 at the time of the Emerging 
Core Strategy: 
 

6. Growth mainly focused on Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield with 

limited growth around the borough’s large excluded villages. 
 

3.28 The Emerging Core Strategy 2012 consulted upon an approach based on growth 
focused around the two towns. However the response to this consultation 
expressed the view that growth should be distributed more ‘fairly around the 
borough’ and the growth in the quantum of housing that needed to be 
accommodated resulted in the Local Plan Consultation Document 2015 
proposing a more dispersed approach to the distribution of housing in and 
around the towns and villages. 
 

3.29 Whilst Local Plan consultations have produced mixed responses as to which are 
the best performing sites that should be included in the Local Plan, there was 
more support for a dispersed approach to the distribution of growth. Furthermore 
because of the lack of urban capacity within the villages the Sustainability 
Appraisal carried out at the time of the Emerging Core Strategy concluded there 
were more advantages than disadvantages to the dispersed approach as it would 
allow for local housing need to be met and would help to sustain community 
facilities.  
 

3.30 In addition NPPF paragraph 84 states that when drawing up or reviewing Green 
Belt boundaries local planning authorities should take account of the need to 
promote sustainable patterns of development. They should consider the 
consequences of channelling development towards urban areas inside the Green 
Belt boundary, towards towns and villages inset with the Green Belt or towards 
the locations beyond the outer Green Belt boundary. 
 

Page 13



3.31 The towns and the villages which are excluded from the Green Belt are the most 
sustainable settlements and are therefore considered to offer the best 
opportunity for a sustainable pattern of development. 
 

3.32 Consultation responses also asked the Council to consider the potential for a 
new settlement. A proposal for a new village at Symondshyde was submitted in 
response to the Local Plan consultation and this has been assessed to consider 
if it offers an opportunity for sustainable development. Members should note that 
a petition has been received objecting to the location of this new settlement. 
Representations have also been received expressing concern in relation to a 
number of the new sites submitted last year. 
 

3.33 Appendix B to this report contains an assessment of sites on a settlement basis. 
The new settlement is considered within the Rural Areas section of the report. It 
considers the result of the HELAA, the impact on the purposes of the Green Belt 
and the Green Belt boundary, the Sustainability Appraisal of sites, the Sequential 
Test and an analysis of strategic advantages and disadvantages associated with 
sites. It identifies sites which are considered to be selectable and sites where it is 
considered the harm outweighs the benefits associated with a site coming 
forward.  
 

Housing Sites Selection - Background Paper 
 

3.34 The background paper includes an assessment of the conclusions of the HELAA 
and any requirements for mitigation, the impact on the purposes of the Green 
Belt, and an assessment of the impact on the Green Belt boundary, the 
conclusions of the sequential test relating to flood risk, the interim results of the 
sustainability appraisal matrices and finally any strategic advantages or 
disadvantages not covered in the other criteria. The assessment weights the 
impacts which range from significant in favour to significant against this is 
discussed in the paper. This allows for conclusions to be drawn as to whether the 
harm outweighs the benefits of bringing forward sites. 
 

3.35 Infrastructure issues which might constrain the level of growth in any settlement 
are also considered. In the main these relate to the provision of schools at both 
primary and secondary level. Transport modelling indicates that whilst there are 
no “show stoppers” as such, that there will need for mitigation and considerable 
investment in measures to improve the capacity of the network. 
 

3.36 All sites being considered for allocation have passed the sequential test. 
 

3.37 Based on the balancing exercise the background paper sets out which sites are 
considered to be suitable for allocation and which ones are not. The majority of 
urban sites are considered to be suitable for allocation. The only exception is the 
Woodside Centre in Welwyn Garden City which currently provides an important 
community facility for which no alternative provision has been identified.  
 

3.38 Based on this assessment, urban sites could deliver a capacity of 1,973 homes 
over and above those sites with planning permission. Safeguarded land would 
deliver an additional 650 dwellings at Panshanger but it is considered that there 
is some potential to amend the Green Belt boundary to more closely follow the 
sites topography and the site itself has capacity for 725 dwellings. Proposals to 
provide a realigned runway alongside housing have also been considered in the 
HELAA. A third party has promoted the concept of a retained but moved runway 
on the site so that an air sports facility could be reinstated. It has been suggested 
that the capital costs of any associated infrastructure would be covered by the Page 14



third party and/or their benefactors. An analysis of the commercial viability of an 
air sports facility has been reviewed by an independent consultant on behalf of 
the Council. This indicates that it could cover revenue costs and generate a 
profit, but the profit would not be enough to generate a reasonable return on the 
capital investment. 
 

3.39 Table 6 indicates that this represents a significant shortfall on the Objective 
Assessment of Need and the demographic projections. Therefore it is considered 
that exceptional circumstances do exist to release land from the Green Belt.  
 

Table 6 capacity from urban sites 

Source Dwelling nos. 
 

Completions 1,057 
 

Sites under construction 793 
 

Sites with planning permission 670 
 

Capacity from urban sites within the 
HELAA 

1,999 

Safeguarded land 650 
 

Total 5,169 
 

Windfall 1,385 
 

Total 6,554 
 

Shortfall, against lower and upper OAN 6,062- 6,879 
 

 
 

3.40 As stated above in paragraph 3.40 infrastructure issues relating to the provision 
of schools constrain options for how much growth can be accommodated in any 
one settlement or group of settlements.  

3.41 The OAN would indicate that three secondary schools need to be provided to 
meet the level of growth identified in the OAN. Two sites have been identified at 
HAT1 North West Hatfield and Birchall Garden Suburb within East Herts. Whilst 
existing secondary schools could be expanded Hertfordshire County Council as 
the local education authority considers this is required in the main to meet the 
growth in the school population currently coming through primary schools. The 
County Council consider that an additional secondary school needs to be 
provided within or around Welwyn Garden City and have commissioned 
consultants to carry out a search for a site but this work has not yet reported. A 
criterion based policy could therefore be included in the Local Plan which could 
indicate the need for a secondary school and how applications would be 
assessed. As such, this should not constrain sites coming forward within the 
north of the borough. 
 

3.42 Primary school provision constrains opportunities for development in the 
following settlements: 
 

a) Welwyn village - listed building status may restrict capacity of school to 
expand Page 15



b) Welham Green - lack of opportunity for school to expand because of 
proximity to ancient woodland and wildlife site. 

c) Brookmans Park - existing school can be expanded to accommodate 
half a form of entry.  

d) Welwyn Garden City - a new primary school would be required to meet 
development arising in the south of Welwyn Garden City for which a site 
has yet to be identified. 

3.43 Based on the overall assessment, sites offer opportunities to bring forward 5,394 
dwellings when infrastructure constraints and harm to the Green Belt are taken 
into account but as set out in Table 7 this would still fall short of the OAN. 
 
Table 7 Sources of capacity identified in the Background Paper 
 
Source Dwelling nos. 

 

Completions 1,057 
 

Sites under construction 793 
 

Sites with planning permission (less 2.5% 
non-implementation rate) 

670 
 

Capacity from urban sites within the 
HELAA 

1,999 

Safeguarded land 650 
 

Green Belt 5,394 
 

Windfall 
 

1,385 

Total 
 

11,948 

Shortfall, against lower and upper OAN 668-1,485 
 

 
 

3.44 Consideration therefore needs to be given as to whether any of the sites where it 
is considered the balance weighs against them on policy grounds could be 
selected for inclusion in the Local Plan in the light of the likely shortfall. 
 

3.45 Only Woolmer Green and Little Heath currently meet their notional target.  
 

3.46 Infrastructure constraints result in Welham Green and Brookmans Park not being 
suitable for any further development. At Woolmer Green, Oaklands and Mardley 
Heath and Welwyn there is a degree of uncertainty as to whether further growth 
than that already found suitable could be supported by the necessary primary 
school capacity. In Welwyn Garden City there is only one urban site which has 
been considered unsuitable on the basis that it provides an important community 
facility with no suitable replacement facility identified. 
 

3.47 Members may therefore wish to consider whether sites around Cuffley or Hatfield 
could be included in the list of sites to be allocated. These include Cuf4 and 
Cuf5, Hat2, Hat5, Hat11 and Hat19. 
 

Page 16



3.48 Cuf4 and 5 - The potential 660 dwellings associated with alternative sites Cuf4 
and Cuf5 (could be higher as promoter of Cuf5 has submitted an application for 
493 dwellings and 115 retirement units), which would need to come forward 
together to form a logical Green Belt boundary; when considered alongside other 
sites that have been assessed as suitable for allocation (299 on urban and Green 
Belt sites); together with completions since 2013 (32); and urban sites with 
planning permission (85) would amount to growth of 1,076 dwellings. This would 
be an increase of around 57% in the number of dwellings in Cuffley. This is 
considered to represent a significantly disproportionate level of growth to an 
excluded village and would be contrary to the settlement strategy.  
 

3.49 In addition, when the potential for overall housing growth at both Cuf4 and Cuf5 
is considered alongside other more suitable sites around Cuffley, the highway 
authority has indicated that the operation of the Plough Hill/Station Road/Northaw 
Road junction is a possible area for concern, with the potential for this junction to 
be over capacity even with a change in priority. 
 

3.50 Hat5 – This site was promoted alongside Hat4 which has been found unsuitable 
in the HELAA due to its impact on heritage assets. This results in the site being 
poorly connected to the urban boundary. Access would be across a flood zone 2 
and 3 but no objections have been received from the Environment Agency, the 
Highways Authority or the Fire and Rescue Service at this stage. Part of the site 
is also within flood zone 2 and 3 which would mean the developable area would 
have to be reduced. In addition if the site were selected then the impact on the 
Green Belt and the gap between Hatfield and Smallford would need to be 
carefully considered with the result that the developable area would need to be 
constrained to an area that did not project any further westwards than the 
existing urban area. Therefore the capacity of the site should be reduced to 
around 100 homes. Delivery would be at the end of the plan period due to 
landowner intentions. 
 

3.51 Hat11- scenario 1 involves a developable area of around 6 hectares with an 
estimated dwelling capacity of 120 and scenario 3 involves a larger site of around 
12.5 hectares (mixed use) with the potential for no greater than 300 dwelling 
equivalents due to highway constraints. Whilst the site has been found suitable, 
available and achievable in the HELAA, in the Housing Sites Selection 
Background Paper consideration to the impacts of the site on the Green Belt. 
The site is located within a fragile gap between Hatfield and Welham Green 
although the gap is already partly compromised by the presence of existing 
development. The site provides a strong visual and physical barrier between the 
two settlements and development of this site would significantly reduce the gap 
between settlements. Scenario 3 has a greater impact on the Green Belt than 
scenario 1 due to its larger scale. In addition scenario 1 promotes a landscape 
belt which would mitigate the visual impact of the development. 
 

3.52 Adjoining the site is an area of land in the same ownership which was identified 
in the Local Plan Consultation Document 2015 as a potential extension to the 
existing cemetery. An alternative site for a cemetery was also identified in the 
Local Plan Consultation Document but the landowner of this site has now 
confirmed that land there will not be available. The Local Plan Consultation 
Document indicated that based on current mortality rates and preferences for 
burials, as opposed to cremations, the borough is expected to have run out of 
burial space towards the end of the plan period. 
 

Page 17



3.53 Hat19 – This a smaller part of the original  HAT3 site and whilst it would have 
less impact on the Green Belt than the larger HAT3 it would still reduce the 
fragile gap between Hatfield and Smallford although the impact would be less 
than 10%. Due to heritage, ecological and other environmental constraints the 
capacity of the site is limited to around 20 dwellings only.  
 

3.54 Hat2 is not considered to be suitable for delivery during the plan period. It could 
be considered as providing an opportunity to safeguard the land to meet longer 
term needs but there is uncertainty as to whether the legal issues relating to the 
S.106 could be overcome. 
 

3.55 Officers will consider whether further windfall assessment can be included as a 
consequence of emerging proposals for sites in and around Hatfield Town 
Centre. 
 

4 Link to Corporate Priorities 
 

4.1 The Council’s Business Plan 2015-2018 contains corporate priorities to meet the 
borough’s housing need, help build a strong local economy, protect and enhance 
the environment and maintain a safe and healthy community. 
 
Implications 

5 Legal Implication(s) 

5.1 The Localism Act 2011 introduced the Duty to Co-operate. This is a legal 
requirement which the examination of the Local Plan will need to consider. The 
delivery of the housing and jobs needed in an area has been identified in the 
NPPF as a strategic issue which has Duty to Co-Operate implications. 

6 Financial Implication(s) 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising directly as a result of this report but 
there could be financial implications which arise for the cost of the examination in 
the event that the examination were to be adjourned for further work to be carried 
out or additional consultation needed to take place. 

7 Risk Management Implications 

7.1 The requirement to have prepared a Local Plan by early 2017 makes it critical 
that progress is made on moving forward with the Local Plan to adoption at the 
earliest opportunity.  

7.2 However there is a risk of the Local Plan being found unsound if it is not justified 
by the technical evidence; if it is does not result in a deliverable strategy or if it 
does not meet the legal tests relating to its preparation which include the Duty To 
Co-operate. 

7.3 There is a risk of the Local Plan being found unsound if it does not meet the 
Objective Assessment of Need unless the Council can demonstrate the adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits 
of doing so when against the policies in the National Planning Policy Framework 
either when taken as a whole or where specific policies indicate development 
should be restricted.  

Page 18



7.4 There is a risk that Duty to Cooperate bodies will object if the Local Plan does not 
meet its Objective Assessment of Need. 

7.5 If the Local Plan is considered to be unsound by the Planning Inspector because 
it has not met the OAN he/she may require that modifications are made to the 
plan with additional sites being added to the plan in order to reach a target which 
meets the OAN. 

8 Security & Terrorism Implication(s) 

8.1 There are no security and terrorism implications arising directly as a result of this 
report. 

9 Procurement Implication(s) 

9.1 There are no procurement implications arising directly as a result of this report. 

10 Climate Change Implication(s) 

10.1 The selection of a target and which housing and employment sites should come 
forward will have implications for climate change. These have been assessed in 
the site appraisals and will be considered in the Sustainability Appraisal Report. 
Sites which are well located to public transport and close to services and facilities 
will have less impact on climate change than those sites which are more remote. 

11 Policy Implications 

11.1 In accordance with the NPPF the Council’s Local Plan must seek to deliver 
sustainable development and be based on a sound evidence base. It should 
meet the full OAN for housing in the market area where this is consistent with 
other policies in the plan.  

11.2 Establishing the OAN is the first step in deciding what an appropriate housing 
target is for the Local Plan. The SHMA does not consider the supply of land, 
infrastructure or environmental constraints, all of which need to be taken into 
account when setting a housing target in the Local Plan. If the adverse impacts of 
meeting the OAN would outweigh the benefits, then the Council will need to set 
out what those adverse impacts are.  

11.3 If Welwyn Hatfield is unable meet its OAN, it will need to enter into the duty to 
cooperate with those authorities within the defined Housing Market Area and 
possibly the wider Housing Market Area and beyond. 

 
12 Equalities and Diversity 

 
An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not been carried out in connection with the 
recommendations in this report. Part of the role of the Sustainability Appraisal is 
to consider the impact of the Local Plan on social issues. 
 

Name of author:    Sue Tiley  
Title:                       Planning Policy and Implementation Manager 
 
Appendices 
Appendix A Employment Sites Selection – Background Paper 2016 
Appendix B Housing Sites Selection - Background Paper 2016 

Page 19



 
Background Papers:  
Housing and Employment Land Availability Assessment 2016-06-03 
Welwyn Hatfield SHMA Partial Update 2015 
Welwyn Hatfield SHMA Partial Update Addendum: Responding to the Economy Study 
Update (April 2016) 
Welwyn Hatfield Economy Study Update 2015  
Welwyn Hatfield Economy Study 2014 
 

Page 20



 
 

Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan 
 

Employment Site Selection 
Background Paper 2016 

 

 

 

June 2016 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 9a



2 
 

 

Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan 

 

Employment Sites Selection  

Background Paper 

 

 

 
June 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Colin Haigh 

Head of Planning 

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Council Offices 

The Campus 

Welwyn Garden City 

Hertfordshire 

AL8 6AE 

 

 

Tel:  01707 357000 

Fax: 01707 357285 

 

Email planningpolicy@welhat.gov.uk 

  

Page 22

mailto:planningpolicy@welhat.gov.uk


3 
 

 

Contents 

 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................... 4 

2. Spatial Context .............................................................................................. 6 

3. National Policy Context ................................................................................. 7 

4. Employment Growth ...................................................................................... 7 

5. Local Policy Context ...................................................................................... 8 

6. Methodology.................................................................................................. 9 

7. Strands of Evidence and Appraisals ........................................................... 11 

8. Weighting .................................................................................................... 17 

9. Settlement conclusions - Welwyn Garden City ............................................ 22 

10. Settlement conclusions - Hatfield ................................................................ 23 

11. Settlement conclusions -  Woolmer Green .................................................. 25 

12. Settlement conclusions -  Oaklands and Mardley Heath ............................. 27 

13. Settlement conclusions -  Welwyn ............................................................... 28 

14. Settlement conclusions -  Digswell .............................................................. 29 

15. Settlement conclusions - Welham Green .................................................... 30 

16. Settlement conclusions - Brookmans Park .................................................. 32 

17. Settlement conclusions - Little Heath .......................................................... 33 

18. Settlement conclusions - Cuffley ................................................................. 34 

19. Settlement conclusions - Rural Areas ......................................................... 35 

 

Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Welwyn Garden City – Site Selection Background Tables 
Appendix B: Hatfield - Site Selection Background Tables 
Appendix C: Woolmer Green - Site Selection Background Tables 
Appendix D: Welham Green - Site Selection Background Tables 
 
 
Note: There are no background tables for other settlements or rural areas. 
 
  

Page 23



4 
 

Tables 

 
Table 1: Strength of Green Belt boundaries ............................................................. 14 

Table 2: Sustainability Appraisal scoring .................................................................. 15 
Table 3: HELAA weighting ....................................................................................... 18 
Table 4:Contribution to Green Belt purposes weighting ........................................... 18 
Table 5: Green Belt boundary weighting .................................................................. 18 
Table 6: Green Belt boundary weighting where sites fall within a Fragile Gap ......... 19 

Table 7: Sustainability Appraisal – weighting of significant positive and negative 
effects ....................................................................................................................... 20 
Table 8: Strategic advantages or disadvantages weighting ..................................... 21 
Table 9: Welwyn Garden City - Urban sites considered suitable for allocation in the 
Local Plan ................................................................................................................ 22 

Table 10: Welwyn Garden City – Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation 
in the Local Plan ....................................................................................................... 22 

Table 11: Hatfield – Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation in the Local 
Plan .......................................................................................................................... 23 
Table 12: Hatfield - Green Belt sites not considered suitable for allocation for 
employment in the Local Plan .................................................................................. 24 

Table 13: Woolmer Green - Urban sites considered suitable for allocation in the 
Local Plan ................................................................................................................ 25 
Table 14: Woolmer Green – Green Belt sites not considered suitable for employment 
allocation .................................................................................................................. 26 
Table 15: Welham Green – Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation in the 
Local Plan ................................................................................................................ 31 

 

  

Page 24



5 
 

1. Introduction 

 
1.1 The Council’s Local Plan must seek to deliver sustainable development and 

be based on a sound evidence base.  
 

1.2 The primary aim of this Employment Sites Selection Background Paper is to 
bring together key conclusions arising from the following strands of evidence 
and appraisals: 
 

 The Housing and Employment Land Availability Assessment (HELAA); 

 The Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 and 2) 

 An appraisal of Green Belt boundaries  

 The Sustainability Appraisal 

 Flood Risk – Sequential Test; and 

 An appraisal of strategic advantages or disadvantages. 
 

1.3 This Background Paper balances the key findings from the above and 
assesses whether sites should be considered for allocation in the Local Plan. 

1.4 In doing so, consideration is given, where relevant, to any cumulative impacts, 
which may affect whether or not a site, or a group of sites, should go forward 
to allocation. 

1.5 Consideration is also given to the key policy implications that would arise if a 
site were to be allocated. 

1.6 Site level findings are also weighed against any known infrastructure 
constraints on a settlement basis. 

1.7 It is important to note that the content of this Background Paper is 
proportionate to the task of informing the allocation of sites in a Local Plan. 
This means that whilst many issues have been considered, the Background 
Paper does not go to the level of detail expected with a planning application.  

1.8 This Background Paper will be used to inform the Council’s decisions on the 
most suitable sites to be allocated in the Local Plan.  

1.9 It should also be noted that this Background Paper reflects circumstances as 
they are understood at this particular point in time. Going forward, it is 
possible that new information may become available that would lead the 
Council to a different understanding of the development potential of a site or 
group of sites.  

 
  

Page 25



6 
 

2. Spatial Context 

2.1 Welwyn Hatfield borough is located centrally within Hertfordshire and covers 
an area of approximately 130 square kilometres. It is bordered by Hertsmere 
to the southwest, St Albans to the west, North Hertfordshire to the north and 
East Hertfordshire and Broxbourne to the east. The south of the borough 
borders the London Borough of Enfield. The borough has two main towns, 
Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield. Both are new towns and Welwyn Garden 
City is one of two garden cities in the UK. There are also a number of smaller 
settlements, which are excluded from the Green Belt - Brookmans Park, 
Cuffley, Digswell, Little Heath, Oaklands and Mardley Heath, Welham Green, 
Welwyn and Woolmer Green. The borough also contains a number of small 
villages, hamlets and areas of sporadic or ribbon development, which are all 
located in the Green Belt. 

2.2 The borough has good rail and road links, with the A1(M) passing through the 
borough, connecting with the M25 to the south. The east coast mainline 
railway runs through the borough with stations on this line at Brookmans Park, 
Welham Green, Hatfield, Welwyn Garden City and Welwyn North (located in 
the village of Digswell). Cuffley also has a station on the Hertford Loop Line, 
which runs from London to Stevenage via Hertford North. 

Figure 1: Welwyn Hatfield Borough 

 

 
  

Page 26



7 
 

3. National Policy Context 

 
3.1 To help achieve economic growth, the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF) requires local planning authorities to plan proactively to meet the 
development needs of business and support an economy fit for the 21st 
century.  The NPPF expects local authorities, in drawing up local plans to 
positively and proactively encourage economic growth by identifying strategic 
sites for local and inward investment to meet anticipated needs over the plan 
period.  
 

3.2 Planning for employment growth and developing the county’s inward 
investment offer also reflects the priorities and objectives of the Hertfordshire 
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP).  

 

4. Employment Growth 

4.1 The Council's evidence, set out in the Welwyn Hatfield Economy Study 
Update, December 2015, considered three different scenarios for job growth 
from 2013 to 2032.  The scenario based on Experian employment projections 
forecast an increase of 15,960 total jobs.  The East of England Forecasting 
Model (EEFM)-based scenario forecast an increase of 17,900 total jobs.  So 
this suggests the need to plan for a range 15,960 to 17,900 total jobs from 
2013 to 2032.  There were significant differences in the structural make-up of 
the jobs growth figures for each of these scenarios with the Experian-based 
scenario predicting a substantially higher proportion of the growth would be in 
Class B8 (storage and distribution) than the EEFM-based scenario.  Because 
it was difficult to predict which of these two scenarios would provide a more 
accurate projection of future changes, the Study recommended that a hybrid 
scenario be adopted taking the mean of the Experian- and EEFM-based 
scenarios.  The hybrid scenario gives a total jobs growth figure of 16,900, but 
with a smaller land and floorspace requirements than the Experian scenario.  

4.2 The hybrid scenario would require an increase in floorspace for offices, 
industry and warehousing of 138,000 square metres.  Since 2013, substantial 
amounts of Class B floorspace have been allowed through the permitted 
development right enabling offices to be converted to residential without 
planning permission, with losses likely to continue. Although there is some 
new supply, it is only possible to plan for about 116,400 square metres of 
additional Class B floorspace from 2013 to 2032, assuming that the borough's 
best resources of existing office space have been protected, by the use of 
Article 4 Directions, from conversion to residential uses.  Theoretically, this 
would constrain total jobs growth to 14,500 over the plan period.  However, it 
is notable that provisional government estimates (Business Register and 
Employment Survey, Office for National Statistics, 2014 and 2015) indicate 
that the number of jobs in Welwyn Hatfield increased by 2,600 from 2013 to 
2014.  Adding the likely total number of jobs that could be accommodated in 
the supply of employment floorspace to the number of jobs that have already 
been created since 2013 gives a total jobs growth of about 16,800, which is 
very similar to the 16,900 total jobs figure recommended in the Economy 
Study Update. 

Page 27



8 
 

4.3 Using this total jobs figure as a starting point, and taking into account the 
supply of employment land from existing designated employment areas, the 
council’s evidence indicates that, by 2032, there would be a shortfall of 5.4ha 
of land for Class B uses if new sites are not identified. 

 

5. Local Policy Context 

5.1 The Council is currently updating its local planning policy. From 12th 
November 2012 to 31st January 2013, the Council consulted on its Emerging 
Core Strategy. 

5.2 The Emerging Core Strategy set out the Plan’s emerging strategic policies. A 
key strategic policy of the Local Plan will be to deliver a sustainable pattern of 
development; applying a set of overarching principles including planning 
positively for growth in a manner which minimises the need to travel by 
directing growth towards those areas with good transport networks and which 
are well served by jobs, services and facilities; protecting areas of highest 
environmental value and avoiding areas of high flood risk.  

5.3 In April 2014 the Council decided to move away from the production of a 
series of separate development plan documents (Core Strategy, Site 
Allocations and Development Management policies) in favour of producing a 
combined Local Plan. A draft of the Local Plan was published for consultation 
in early 2015, which identified sites around all the borough's excluded 
settlements (towns and villages).  

5.4 A number of new or amended sites were submitted too late to be included in 
the Local Plan Consultation 2015, or were submitted in response to that 
consultation, or were submitted subsequently up until August 2015, and these 
have been assessed in the HELAA 2016.  Two events were held to publicise 
the promotion of these new sites.  

5.5 This Site Selection Background Paper will inform the production of the Local 
Plan Proposed Submission 2016. 

  

Page 28



9 
 

6. Methodology 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 

6.1 Guidance on Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessments is set out 
in national PPG. The Welwyn Hatfield HELAA reports on stages 1 to 3 of the 
methodology as set out in the flow chart below. 

Figure 2: Methodology flowchart – extract from national Planning Practice Guidance on 
Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessments 

 

  

Page 29



10 
 

 

6.2 The HELAA also forms part of stage 4 (Assessment Review). However, at this 
stage, and in order to inform the Council’s decision on what sites should be 
selected for allocation in the Local Plan, the Council has also considered 
other strands of evidence or appraisals. 

6.3 These additional strands are: 

 The Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 and 2); 

 An appraisal of Green Belt boundaries;  

 The Sustainability Appraisal; 

 Flood Risk – Sequential Test; and 

 An appraisal of strategic advantages or disadvantages. 

 Planning permissions 
 

6.4 It should be noted that Green Belt and other considerations such as 
Landscape Capacity and Sensitivity and infrastructure constraints, were 
previously set out in the 2014 Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 
(SHLAA) but the Council received a number of representations in response to 
the Local Plan Consultation 2015 that greater clarity would be welcomed in 
explaining why sites were considered more favourable than others.  

6.5 Responding to such comments, matters such as the contribution that sites 
make to the purposes of the Green Belt and Landscape Capacity and 
Sensitivity (which is dealt with in the Sustainability Appraisal) have been 
removed from the HELAA 2016 (the updated version of the 2014 SHLAA) and 
included in this Background Paper.  

6.6 This Background Paper sets out how the key findings from all the above have 
been weighted and balanced on a site by site basis and indicates whether 
sites should be considered for allocation.  

6.7 Consideration is also given, where relevant, to any cumulative impacts or 
reasons, which may affect whether or not a site, or a group of sites, goes 
forward to allocation.  

6.8 Site level findings are also weighed against any known infrastructure 
constraints on a settlement basis.  

6.9 Consideration is given to the key policy implications that would arise if a site 
were to be allocated.  

6.10 The potential capacity of sites is reported. 

6.11 Findings are presented on a settlement by settlement basis (or rural areas as 
appropriate) in the main body of this Paper.  The appendices set out 
templates for the sites considered at this stage. 

  

Page 30



11 
 

7. Strands of Evidence and Appraisals 

Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) 

7.1 The Welwyn Hatfield HELAA 2016 considers a large number of sites that 
have put forward for development at various stages of the plan making 
process. This includes sites that were:  

 Previously put forward (but not allocated) as part of the District Plan Public 
Inquiry which was held in 2003;  

 Within potential Broad Locations identified in the Core Strategy Issues and 
Options 2009 document; or as more defined in the Emerging Core Strategy 
and Land for Housing Outside Urban Areas consultation in 2012;  

 Promoted through the original call for sites in 2007 or as suggested by the 
Council’s consultants at that time; or 

 Subsequently promoted either through a consultation event such as the 
Local Plan Consultation 2015 or direct to the Council at any time until 
August 2015 
 

7.2 The HELAA 2016 can be found on the Council’s website1.  
 

7.3 The Council has published various versions of the Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment (SHLAA): SHLAA Phase 1 (Urban Capacity) 2009; 
SHLAA Phase 2 (Sites Outside Urban Areas) 2012; SHLAA Phase 3 
(Potential for Windfall Development) 2012. A review of the Phase 1 SHLAA 
(Urban Capacity) was published in December 2013 and a further review of the 
Phase 1 SHLAA was published in November 2014, reflecting the continuing 
submission of additional sites. An update of the Stage 3 SHLAA (Windfall) 
was published in November 2014 and an update of the Stage 2 SHLAA (Sites 
outside Urban Areas) was published in December 2014. In 2016, the Council 
brought together all three strands of the SHLAA (urban sites, land outside 
urban areas and windfall potential) into one comprehensive document; the 
Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) 2016.  

7.4 A sieving process is used in the HELAA to decide whether or not a site is 
considered unsuitable for allocation. Sites are considered unsuitable at the 
first stage of sieving because (in summary) they are subject to a key policy or 
environmental constraint (such as a wildlife or heritage asset), because all of 
a site is located within flood zone 3, or because there is a significant physical 
barrier to development (for example, no suitable access). The HELAA 2016 
explains this in greater detail. 

7.5 Sites that are not contiguous with an urban settlement boundary or where the 
opportunity does not exist to redefine Green Belt boundaries are also sieved 
out at the first stage of assessment as they would not direct growth to the 
most sustainable locations within the borough consistent with the objectives of 
the NPPF. This means that sites located within remote rural areas, or in 
villages that are washed over by the Green Belt are not carried forward to the 
second stage of assessment in the HELAA.  

                                            
1
 HELAA 2016: http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/5501/Housing 

 

Page 31

http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/5501/Housing


12 
 

7.6 The exception to this is if sites are large enough to create a sustainable new 
settlement or in the case of Gypsy and Traveller sites, as national planning 
policy allows such sites to be inset within the Green Belt and these do not 
necessarily need to adjoin an existing urban boundary in order to be 
considered suitable for allocation. 

7.7 The second stage of HELAA assessment considers whether sites are 
suitable, available and achievable. Eight sites are considered in this 
Background Paper. 

The Green Belt Review (Stage 1) 

7.8 The Stage 1 Green Belt Review (November 2013) is a Strategic Review of the 
Green Belt, jointly commissioned by Welwyn Hatfield, St Albans and Dacorum 
Borough and District councils. It provides an assessment of how land in the 
Green Belt in these local authority areas, contributes to national and local 
purposes of including land within the Green Belt. It classifies settlements into 
three tiers; primary settlements/towns are defined as 1st tier, secondary 
settlements/large villages are categorised as 2nd tier, and other 
settlements/small villages within the Green Belt are categorised as 3rd tier.  

7.9 For Welwyn Hatfield, 1st tier settlements are Welwyn Garden City and 
Hatfield, 2nd tier settlements are the eight excluded villages (Brookmans Park, 
Cuffley, Digswell, Little Heath, Oaklands and Mardley Heath, Welham Green, 
Welwyn and Woolmer Green). 3rd tier settlements include the smaller Green 
belt villages of Essendon, Lemsford, Newgate Street and Northaw as well as 
the smaller hamlets and areas of ribbon development which are all located 
within the Green Belt.  

7.10 The Review considered four of the national purposes of including land within 
the Green Belt as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): 

 To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 

 To prevent neighbouring towns from merging into one another; 

 To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; and 

 To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns. 

7.11 The fifth purpose (to assist urban regeneration) was screened out as it was 
already apparent at the time of the Green Belt Review that there was a limited 
supply of available or unallocated brownfield land in the three local authority 
areas and that, hitherto, the Green Belt had served a successful purpose. All 
parcels of land within the Green Belt Review were therefore considered to 
perform equally well against this purpose and any attempt to differentiate was 
considered to be meaningless. 

7.12 In addition to preventing towns merging (one of the NPPF purposes), the 
Green Belt has also been successful in maintaining the existing settlement 
pattern within Hertfordshire by providing a range of spaces and gaps between 
villages and towns and between villages, preventing them from merging into 
one another.  

7.13 In addition to preventing towns merging (one of the NPPF purposes), the 
Green Belt has also been successful in maintaining the existing settlement 
pattern within Hertfordshire by providing a range of spaces and gaps between 

Page 32



13 
 

villages and towns and between villages, preventing them from merging into 
one another.  

7.14 The Hertfordshire Structure Plan Review 1991-2011 (paragraph 118) 
established a strategy that sought to broadly maintain the general settlement 
pattern in Hertfordshire, concentrating development within the main urban 
areas which were listed in Policy 6.  

7.15 To maintain the existing settlement pattern is still considered relevant and the 
Green Belt Study Stage 1, also assesses the contribution that land makes to 
this Local Purpose. 

7.16 For the purposes of the Stage 1 Review, the Green Belt was subdivided into 
66 strategic parcels of land.  All parcels were then assessed against each of 
the four national Green Belt purposes and the local Green Belt purpose. The 
assessment classified the contribution that each parcel makes as: a 
significant contribution; a partial contribution; or limited or no contribution.  

7.17 Assessments also considered at a strategic level the existing level of built 
development in the Green Belt, visual openness and countryside character.  

7.18 The Stage 1 Green Belt Review 2013 can be found on the website2. Parcels 
GB34, 35, 36, 41, 42, 43A, 43B, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 
56, 57, 58, 59 and 60 are the parcels assessed in Annex 1.3 for Welwyn 
Hatfield. 

Green Belt Review Stage 2 

7.19 The Stage 2 Green Belt Review (October 2014) brought together key findings 
of the Stage 1 Green Belt Review with site level assessments of sites 
identified in the SHLAA and the Gypsy and Traveller Land Availability 
Assessment.  It considered the contribution that each site makes towards the 
four national Green Belt purposes and one local Green Belt purpose.  A 
similar classification was used to the Stage1 assessment so that levels of 
contribution have been classified as either ‘significant’, ‘partial’ or ‘limited or 
no’.  

7.20 An initial assessment was also made of site boundaries. However, the 
strength of the existing Green Belt boundary was not considered and the 
Stage 2 Review acknowledged that a more detailed boundary assessment 
would need to be undertaken. The Stage 2 Green Belt Review (October 2014) 
can be found on the website3 

Green Belt Boundaries 

7.21 As part of the Site Selection process, an appraisal was made of Green Belt 
boundaries comparing, on a site by site basis, the relative strength of existing 
and proposed boundaries. The strength of each boundary was considered on 
the following basis: 

 

 

                                            
2
 Green Belt Review Stage 1 November 2013: http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/5488/Green-Belt-

Review 
 
3
 Stage 2 Green Belt Review (October 2014): http://www.welhat.gov.uk/greenbeltreviewstage2 

 

Page 33

http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/5488/Green-Belt-Review
http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/5488/Green-Belt-Review
http://www.welhat.gov.uk/greenbeltreviewstage2


14 
 

Table 1: Strength of Green Belt boundaries 

Strong  

(prominent physical features) 

Moderate  

(less physical features) 

Weak  

(no definable or weak 
boundary on the ground) 

 Roads  

(Motorways/A & B roads) 

 Railways 

 Buildings/urban edge 

 Extensive/Ancient 
Woodland 

 Rivers (Lea and 
Mimram) 

 

 Minor roads (C roads and 
unclassified) 

 ROW: Public footpaths, 
bridleways, cycle ways 

 Property boundaries 

 Small woodland 

 Streams/brooks (all other 
watercourses except the 
Lea and Mimram) 

 Established tree 
belt/hedgerow (continuous 
or with minor gaps) 

 Distinctive topography, 
e.g. ridgeline 

 Environmental 
designation 

 Pylons/towers 
supporting overhead 
lines 

 Fragmented hedgerow  

 Ditches 

 Individual or small 
clusters of trees 

 Fragmented tree 
belt/hedgerow 

 Farm track (not a 
ROW) 

 No definable boundary 

 
7.22 The Site Selection process also considered if a site fell within a fragile gap of 

around 1km between settlements (towns to towns, villages to villages or 
villages to towns) and if so, whether a site would have a marginal or 
significant effect on such a fragile gap.  

The Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 

7.23 The Council is required to consider wider social, environmental and economic 
effects when preparing plans and it is a legal requirement for local plans to be 
subject to SA and SEA throughout their preparation.  The Council has 
commissioned specialist consultants to undertake a Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA) incorporating Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of its Local 
Plan.  An SA Report has informed each stage of Local Plan preparation, 
setting out the potential sustainability effects of sites and policies for inclusion 
in the Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan.  The SA Report also reports on the 
summary conclusions of the Habitat Regulations Assessment. 

7.24 The SA methodology appraises sites and policy intentions against 6 long-term 
SA objectives (health improvement; safe communities; good citizenship; 
improving the environment; decent housing; and a thriving economy) and a 
set of 22 associated sub-objectives. Scores are attributed in the SA to each of 
the sub-objectives indicating the likely sustainability effects as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 34



15 
 

Table 2: Sustainability Appraisal scoring 

Score Description 

++ Significant positive effect likely 

+ Minor positive effect likely 

0 Negligible effect likely 

- Minor negative effect likely 

-- Significant negative effect likely 

+/- Mixed effect likely 

? Likely effect uncertain 

N/A Policy is not relevant to SA objective 

.  

7.25 Sites that have been referred to in earlier stages of consultation have already 
been subject to sustainability appraisal.  A number of new or amended sites 
were submitted too late to be included within, in response to, or subsequent to 
the Local Plan Consultation 2015. These have been assessed in the HELAA 
2016 and where sites have passed the Stage 1 sieving process and are 
considered in the HELAA to be suitable, available and achievable.  These 
sites have also been subject to SA.  
 

7.26 The SA will however, need to be reviewed to consider policies in the Local 
Plan Proposed Submission version.  As a result, some SA scores may need 
to be reviewed and amended as appropriate.  Therefore the reference to the 
SA in this Sites Selection Background Paper should viewed as an interim 
position as part of the iterative process of carrying out the SA. 
 

 

 

  

Page 35



16 
 

Flood Risk 

7.27 As part of the preparation of the Local Plan, the Council commissioned 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) Level 1 and Level 2. Published in 
December 2015 (and amended in May 2016), this updates and replaces the 
2009 SFRA. The 2015 study assesses flood risk from all types of flooding in 
the borough, taking into account climate change, in line with current national 
policy and guidance. The Level 2 SFRA assesses flood risk associated with a 
number of specified sites in more detail. 

7.28 The SFRA can be found on the website4. 

7.29 Where part of a site falls within Flood Zones 2, 3a or 3b, and a sequential 
approach to layout that restricts development to Flood Zone 1 within a site is 
feasible, the site passes the Sequential Test and an Exception Test does not 
need to be applied. 

7.30 All sites in this Background Paper pass the sequential test. 

Strategic Advantages or Disadvantages 

7.31 Consideration is also given to whether there are any strategic advantages or 
disadvantages that may set a particular site apart from other sites, e.g. the on-
site or associated off-site provision (or loss) of community or other 
infrastructure that would not otherwise be provided on other sites. 

Strategic infrastructure and cumulative impacts 

7.32 Where strategic infrastructure constraints exist, these are set out on a 
settlement by settlement basis as is the potential for cumulative impacts that 
may affect the consideration of a group of sites. 

Indicative site capacities 

7.33 Indicative site capacities are based on evidence that is proportionate to a 
strategic level assessment carried out as part of the plan making process.  

7.34 A relatively cautious approach has generally been applied in light of known 
constraints and whilst the approach taken is considered to have resulted in a 
robust measure, these are not intended to be definitive.  Once planning 
applications are received, it should be noted that the indicative capacities may 
vary slightly (either upwards or downwards). 

 

 

  

                                            
4
 SFRA December 2015: http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/5503/Environment-and-Climate-Change 

 

Page 36

http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/5503/Environment-and-Climate-Change


17 
 

8. Weighting 

8.1 Appendices A-D contain an assessment of each of the sites considered in this 
paper. Each site is considered in light of: 

 The HELAA; 

 The Green Belt Review Stages 1 and 2; 

 An appraisal of Green Belt boundaries; 

 The Sustainability Appraisal (significant positive and negative effects); 

 Flood Risk; and 

 Strategic Advantages and Disadvantages. 

8.2 Where relevant, weighting is applied to each of part of the assessment and a 
summary conclusion is provided at the end of each assessment table together 
with any policy implications should the site be allocated.  

8.3 The following sections describe how weightings have been applied. Variations 
may be applicable on a site by site basis, where the circumstances of a 
particular site vary slightly from the general weighting definitions. These 
should therefore be viewed as a set of guidelines for weighting purposes to 
aid decision making and not definitive in description.  

Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) 

8.4 The HELAA involves a thorough strategic level assessment of whether a site 
is considered suitable, available and achievable during the plan period. Only 
sites that are considered suitable in the HELAA have been included in this 
Site Selection Background Paper (if they are considered unsuitable, then the 
HELAA sets out the reasons why this conclusion has been reached). 

8.5 Many sites have a number of constraints that need to be overcome before 
development can proceed. The HELAA considers whether such constraints 
can be overcome, whether constraints may reduce or limit the quantum of 
development in any way, whether any further assessments may need to be 
carried out either before or in association with a planning application and 
whether such constraints may affect achievability.  

8.6 Having considered all of this, the HELAA concludes whether or not, even with 
the acknowledged constraints, development is considered to be achievable 
and if so, at what point in the plan period are sites likely to be delivered. So, if 
for example there are infrastructure constraints which require a lead-in time in 
advance of development taking place, this is taken into account in the HELAA. 

8.7 The delivery estimate is therefore a key conclusion as it takes into account 
known constraints. All sites where there is a reasonable prospect of delivery 
within the plan period have a positive weight afforded to them. Sites that have 
greater certainty, and are expected to be delivered in the early to mid-parts of 
the plan period are given a more favourable weighting than sites that carry a 
degree of uncertainty (due to the need to overcome noted constraints) and 
are not expected to come forward until the later part of the plan period or 
beyond the plan period.  

 

 

Page 37



18 
 

Table 3: HELAA weighting 

Delivery timeframe  (from plan adoption of plan) Weighting 

0-5 years Significant in favour 

0-10 years Moderate in favour 

6-10 years Moderate in favour 

11-15 years Minor in Favour 

16 + years Minor against 

Green Belt Study Review Stages 1 and 2 

8.8 Greater weight is afforded to the contribution a site makes to national Green 
Belt purposes in recognition of the importance afforded to them by the NPPF. 
However, recognition is also given to the local Green Belt purpose where a 
site makes a significant or partial contribution to maintaining settlement 
pattern; providing gaps between smaller settlements and preventing 
coalescence.  

Table 4:Contribution to Green Belt purposes weighting 

Contribution to Green Belt purposes Weighting 

2 significant national purposes Significant against 

1 significant national purpose Moderate against 

2 partial national purposes and/or a significant local purposes Minor against 

1 partial national purpose and a partial local purpose Minor in favour 

Limited or no national or local purposes Moderate in favour 

Urban sites Significant in favour 

 
Green Belt Boundaries 

8.9 Consistent with the NPPF, account has been taken of the need to define 
boundaries clearly, using physical features that are readily recognisable and 
likely to be permanent. A comparison has also been made with the strength of 
the existing Green Belt boundary. The weighting applied is as follows. 

Table 5: Green Belt boundary weighting 

Strength of boundaries  Weighting 

New boundary would be stronger overall or in part than 
existing boundary and is clearly defined 

Significant in favour 

New boundary would be similar in strength to the existing 
boundary and is clearly defined 

Moderate in favour 

New boundary would be partially weaker than the existing 
boundary but is clearly defined 

Minor in favour 

New boundary would be partially weaker than the existing 
boundary and is not clearly defined 

Minor against 

New boundary would be predominantly weaker than the 
existing boundary but would be clearly defined 

Moderate against 

New boundary would be predominantly weaker than the 
existing boundary and would not be clearly defined 

Significant against 

Page 38



19 
 

8.10 Some sites also fall within an existing fragile gap (defined in this Background 
Paper as being less than 1km). In these instances the impact on the reduction 
in the gap as a result of a site forming a new Green Belt boundary has also 
been considered.  

8.11 Greater weight has been given to the impact on a fragile gap between 1st tier 
settlements (towns to towns) than to the impact on a fragile gap between 
villages and villages or villages to towns, reflecting the importance afforded by 
the NPPF to preventing neighbouring towns from merging into one another. 

8.12 Where sites fall within a fragile gap, weighting has been applied as follows. 

Table 6: Green Belt boundary weighting where sites fall within a Fragile Gap 

Fragile gap Weighting 

Site would marginally reduce an existing fragile gap between 
towns and villages (1

st
 tier to 2

nd
 or 3

rd
 tier settlements) or 

villages to villages (2
nd

 or 3
rd

 tier settlements) 
Minor against 

Site would marginally reduce an existing fragile gap between 
towns (1

st
 tier settlements),or significantly reduce an existing 

fragile gap between towns and villages (1
st
 tier to 2

nd
 or 3

rd
 tier 

settlements) or villages to villages (2
nd

 or 3
rd

 tier settlements) 

Moderate against 

Site would significantly reduce an existing fragile gap between 
1

st
 tier settlements (towns to towns) 

Significant against 

 

Sustainability Appraisal 

8.13 The Sustainability Appraisal (SA) attributes scores to a set of 22 sub-
objectives, such as avoiding or reducing air pollution (4.3), protecting and 
enhancing open space and landscape character, retaining local 
distinctiveness (4.4) etc. The SA indicates the likely sustainability effects on 
each sub-objective and whether any mitigation may be required. 

8.14 It is not the place of the Site Selection process to revisit any of those scores 
but the Site Selection process does take the balance of scores into account. 

8.15 For the purposes of Site Selection, weight has been given to the relative 
balance between the significant positive and significant negative effects 
associated with the SA assessment of each site. The SA of course identifies a 
wide range of other potential effects, minor positive/negative etc but it is the 
most significant effects that are considered in this paper. 

  

Page 39



20 
 

 

Table 7: Sustainability Appraisal – weighting of significant positive and negative 
effects 

Sustainability Appraisal Weighting 

More than 3 times double positives (++) than double negatives 
(--) (e.g. 7:1 or 8:2) 

Significant in favour 

2 to 3 times more double positives (++) than double negatives 
(--) (e.g. 6:2 or 7:3) 

Moderate in favour 

Less than twice as many double positives (++) than double 
negatives (--), e.g. 5:3 or 6:4 

Minor in favour 

Flood Risk 

8.16 Development potential has been excluded from areas Flood Zones 2 and 3. 
All of the sites in this Background Paper pass the Sequential Test, and as a 
result no weighting is given in the Site Selection process to any one site over 
another as they are all equal in this respect.  

8.17 However, note may be made on a site by site basis where certain measures 
or further assessments may be considered appropriate. 

Strategic Advantages or Disadvantages 

8.18 This section considers whether a site is likely to result in any strategic 
advantages that would not normally be delivered on other (e.g. smaller) sites.  

8.19 For example, a site may present the opportunity to deliver important 
community infrastructure such as a secondary or primary school, strategic 
Green Infrastructure that forms part of a strategic planned network of sites, or 
a large or small neighbourhood centre, which can only be delivered in 
association with a significant level of growth. Without such sites, essential 
community infrastructure is unlikely to be delivered alongside growth in the 
borough and this is considered important to take into account. Alternatively, a 
site may provide an opportunity to deliver employment floor space to 
contribute towards the borough’s economic growth strategy or make a direct 
contribution towards regeneration priorities.  

8.20 A site may also provide an opportunity to provide enhanced facilities for an 
adjoining community use. However, whilst these may be viewed as a wider 
community benefit (beyond what is absolutely necessary for a development to 
be considered suitable in principle), they are unlikely to be essential to the 
overall delivery of growth in the borough and are afforded less weight than the 
need to deliver strategic infrastructure alongside growth in the interests of 
sustainable development. 

8.21 Conversely, this part of the Site Selection process notes if the development of 
certain sites may result in any strategic disadvantages, such as the loss of 
existing community or other infrastructure, with or without an opportunity for 
replacement during the plan period.  

8.22 The greater the strategic advantage or disadvantage, the greater the weight is 
afforded along the following lines. 

 

 

Page 40



21 
 

 

Table 8: Strategic advantages or disadvantages weighting 

Strategic Advantages or Disadvantages Weighting 

Large scale infrastructure provision, such as a secondary 
school, a large neighbourhood centre or large parcel of 
strategic Green Infrastructure (GI), opportunity to make 
significant provision for employment land. 

Significant in favour 

Primary school, provision, small neighbourhood centre, 
moderate contribution to strategic GI, moderate contribution to 
employment land supply. 

Moderate in favour 

Other new community infrastructure which would serve new 
and existing communities / enhancement to existing 
community facilities 

Minor in favour 

Loss of a small community facility but with a reasonable 
prospect of replacement within the plan period 

Minor against 

Loss of a small community facility but with no reasonable 
prospect of replacement within the plan period 

Moderate against 

Loss or significant reduction in a strategic community facility or 
other infrastructure with no reasonable prospect of 
replacement within the plan period. Inconsistent with 
settlement strategy. 

Significant against 

 

Vacant Sites, Planning Permissions and Completions since 1st April 

2013 

8.23 It is estimated that outstanding planning permissions for Class B uses in the 

borough have a total floorspace of 70,100 square metres.  Completions since 

1st April 2013 have provided a further 25,300 square metres and vacant sites 

at Shire Park and Chequersfield provide a further supply of approximately 

29,600 square metres.  This means that the total supply of floorspace 

excluding development sites is 125,000 square metres. 

 

  

Page 41



22 
 

9. Settlement conclusions - Welwyn Garden City 

Key Infrastructure issues  

9.1 There are no key infrastructure issues relating directly to the selection of sites 
for employment in Welwyn Garden City. 

Site Conclusions 

9.2 Conclusions for sites in Welwyn Garden City are set out at Appendix A.  
These are in addition to individual site assessments contained in the HELAA. 

Urban sites 

9.3 The following urban sites in Welwyn Garden City are considered suitable for 
allocation in the Local Plan.  

Table 9: Welwyn Garden City - Urban sites considered suitable for allocation in the 
Local Plan 

Site Ref Site name Indicative 
capacity 
(sq.m) 

Pea02b Broadwater Road West SPD Site (North) 
17,700 

Pea02c Broadwater Road West SPD Site (West) 

Total 17,700 

 

Green Belt sites 

9.4 The following Green Belt sites around Welwyn Garden City are considered 
suitable for allocation in the Local Plan because they already have planning 
permission or have been referred to the Secretary of State as a departure 
from Local Plan policy. 
 

Table 10: Welwyn Garden City – Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation in 
the Local Plan 

Site Ref Site name Indicative 
capacity 

WGC3 + 
Allocated 
Waste 
Site 
AS008 

Cole Green Lane 

5,200 
(from 

WGC3 – 
the rest of 
the site is 
already in 

use) 

Total 5,200 

Settlement Conclusion 

9.5 Total potential capacity from urban and Green Belt sites is 22,900 square 
metres. 

Page 42



23 
 

10. Settlement conclusions - Hatfield 

Key Infrastructure issues  

10.1 Highways:  A high level growth scenario within the plan period, including 
Strategic Development Sites Hat1, Hat2 and Hat15 indicates that there will be 
impacts such as increased queuing at Junction 4 of the A1(M), and nearby 
junctions. However, Hertfordshire County Council as the highways authority 
advises that whilst forecast congestion at Junction 4 of the A1(M) would not 
be classed as a ‘showstopper’ at this stage, further work will need to be 
carried out to define mitigation schemes. At present, it is clear that housing 
from the Hat1, Hat2 and Hat15 sites would add additional pressure on the 
road network and whilst congestion could be eased to an extent with 
mitigation, it would be worse than at present. It is too early to say without 
further modelling if the residual impact of all three sites with appropriate 
mitigation would be acceptable but if there were other planning reasons for 
delivering one of the sites (most likely Hat2) later in the plan period (or 
beyond), this would provide additional time to consider the constraints in this 
location further and to drive a modal shift agenda. 

10.2 Utilities: There are no known major constraints for utilities infrastructure with 
the exception of the need to deliver a new 33KV sub-station north of Hatfield 
or to seek contributions to an upgrade at an existing electricity sub-station 
site. 

Site Conclusions 

10.3 Conclusions for sites in Hatfield are set out at Appendix B.  These are in 
addition to individual site assessments contained in the HELAA. 

Urban sites 

10.4 No urban sites are considered suitable for allocation for employment in the 
Local Plan.  

Green Belt sites 

10.5 The following site adjoining Hatfield, which is currently designated as Green 
Belt, is considered suitable for allocation in the Local Plan. 

Table 11: Hatfield – Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation in the Local Plan 

Site Ref Site name Indicative 
capacity, sq.m 

Hat1/13 North-west of Hatfield (incorporating Astwick Manor Farm) 
Estimated 

13,900 

Total capacity Estimated 
13,900 

 

10.6 The following site adjoining Hatfield, which is currently designated as Green 
Belt, is not considered suitable for allocation for employment in the Local 
Plan. 

 

Page 43



24 
 

Table 12: Hatfield - Green Belt sites not considered suitable for allocation for 
employment in the Local Plan 

Site Ref Site name Reason for not allocating in the 
Local Plan 

Indicative 
capacity, sq.m 

 

Hat11 
Scenario 2 
(employment 
only) 

Land at Southway  

The site is located within a fragile 
gap between Hatfield and Welham 
Green although the gap is already 
partly compromised by the presence 
of existing development. The site 
provides a strong visual and physical 
barrier between the two settlements 
and development of this site would 
significantly reduce the gap between 
settlements. On balance this, 
alongside the adverse impacts upon 
the purposes of the Green Belt, are 
considered to outweigh the benefits 
of the site. 

25,000 46,900 

Hat 11 
Scenario 3 
(mixed use) 

Land at Southway Not established 

Total Not 
established 

 

Settlement Conclusion 

10.7 Total potential capacity from urban and Green Belt sites is an estimated 
13,900 square metres. 

 

  

Page 44



25 
 

 

11. Settlement conclusions - Woolmer Green 

Key Infrastructure issues  

11.1 There are no key infrastructure issues relating directly to the selection of sites 
for employment in Woolmer Green 

Site Conclusions 

11.2 Conclusions for sites in Woolmer Green are set out at Appendix C.  

Urban sites 

11.3 The following urban sites are considered suitable for allocation for 
employment in the Local Plan: 

Table 13: Woolmer Green - Urban sites considered suitable for allocation in the Local 
Plan 

Site Ref Site name Indicative 
capacity 
(sq.m) 

WE90* + two 
sites on the 
eastern side 
of London 
Road 

Woolmer Green Employment Area 

Sites 
already in 

use for 
Class B 
and sui 
generis 

purposes 
– no net 

additional 
floorspace 

Total 
No net 

additional 
floorspace 

*This site fails Stage 1 of the HELAA as a housing site, but is already in use for employment 

purposes. 

Green Belt sites 

11.4 No Green Belt sites around Woolmer Green are considered suitable for 
allocation in the Local Plan. 

11.5 The following sites around Woolmer Green, which are currently designated as 
Green Belt, are not considered suitable for allocation for employment in the 
Local Plan.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



26 
 

Table 14: Woolmer Green – Green Belt sites not considered suitable for employment 
allocation 

Site Ref Site name Reason for not allocating in the Local 
Plan 

Indicative 
capacity / 

sq.m 

WGr1 
Land east of 
London Road 

Because this is a mixed use site, any 
employment sues could only  be Class 
B1.  It is not considered that this site 
would be an attractive location for offices.  

No 
floorspace 

defined 

WGr2 
South of Monread 
Lodge 

Development of this site would 
significantly reduce the already fragile gap 
between settlements, resulting in a 
significant negative impact on settlement 
pattern and local distinctiveness. New 
Green Belt boundary would be weaker 
than existing. On balance, the significant 
harm to the Green Belt outweighs the 
benefits of the site. This site should not be 
considered for allocation. 

6,000-11,250  

Total 6-11,250 

 

Settlement Conclusion 

11.6 No new potential employment capacity has been identified but three existing 
sites are considered suitable for allocation in the Local Plan so that they can 
be retained in employment uses. 

 
 

Page 46



27 
 

12. Settlement conclusions -  Oaklands and Mardley Heath 

Site Conclusions 

12.1 There are no sites listed for Oaklands and Mardley Heath as no sites were 
promoted for employment uses.  

 

Page 47



28 
 

13. Settlement conclusions -  Welwyn 

Site Conclusions 

13.1 There are no sites listed for Welwyn as no sites were promoted for 
employment uses.  

  

Page 48



29 
 

14. Settlement conclusions -  Digswell 

Site Conclusions 

14.1 There are no sites listed for Digswell as no sites assessed in the HELAA were 
considered suitable for employment uses. 

 
 

  

Page 49



30 
 

15. Settlement conclusions - Welham Green 

Key Infrastructure issues  

15.1 Education issues are relevant to the provision of employment on this site 
because it is being promoted as a mixed use development including housing. 

15.2 Secondary Schools: Children from Welham Green, Brookmans Park and 
Little Heath predominantly seek secondary school places in the Potters Bar 
planning area, mainly at Chancellors (in Brookmans Park). The education 
authority advises that feasibility is underway to review expansion potential and 
whilst assessment work has yet to conclude, it is expected to show that there 
is expansion potential at existing secondary schools in Potters Bar.  

15.3 However, if Potters Bar schools cannot accommodate additional yield from 
these settlements, it may be necessary for Hatfield to accommodate further 
school capacity.  

15.4 Primary Schools: There is one primary school in Welham Green which is a 
small 1 FE school and there is no opportunity to physically expand the school.  

15.5 Limited growth of around 80 dwellings at Welham Green (in addition to 
GTLAA01) could be accommodated within existing schools. 

15.6 Beyond this, additional primary school capacity will be required to address 
housing growth at Welham Green. The development potential on sites 
assessed as suitable, available and achievable in the HELAA would generate 
the need for around a further 1FE of primary school capacity.  

15.7 Hertfordshire County Council as the education authority would not object to a 
new 2 FE primary school in Welham Green (replacing the existing primary 
school and increasing capacity by 1 FE) if a suitable site could be identified 
and delivered alongside housing growth.  

15.8 No site has been identified in Welham Green and limited primary school 
capacity in Welham Green is currently a restraint on further housing growth. 

15.9 Highways: The Highway Authority has identified the Dixons Hill Road/A1000 
roundabout junction as a current congestion point. Capacity enhancements 
will be needed at this junction to enable development to take place and this is 
already being explored in connection with site WeG4b. 

Site Conclusions 

15.10 Conclusions for sites in Welham Green are set out at Appendix D.  

Urban sites 

15.11 There are no urban sites considered suitable for allocation in the Local Plan: 

 Green Belt sites 

15.12 The following site adjoining Welham Green, which is currently designated as 
Green Belt, is considered suitable for allocation in the Local Plan: 

 

 

 

Page 50



31 
 

Table 15: Welham Green – Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation in the 
Local Plan 

Site Ref Site name Indicative 
capacity 
(sq.m) 

WeG4b Marshmoor 40,500 

Total 40,500 

 

Settlement Conclusion 

15.13 Total potential capacity from Green Belt sites is 40,500 square metres. 
 
 

  

Page 51



32 
 

16. Settlement conclusions - Brookmans Park 

 

Site Conclusions 

16.1 There are no sites listed for Brookmans Park as no sites were promoted for 
employment uses.  

 
  

Page 52



33 
 

17. Settlement conclusions - Little Heath 

Site Conclusions 

17.1 There are no sites listed for Little Heath as no sites were promoted for 
employment uses.  

 

  

Page 53



34 
 

18. Settlement conclusions - Cuffley 

Site Conclusions 

18.1 There are no sites listed for Cuffley as no sites assessed in the HELAA were 

considered suitable for employment uses. 

  

Page 54



35 
 

19. Settlement conclusions - Rural Areas 

Key Infrastructure issues  

19.1 There are no key infrastructure issues relating directly to the selection of sites 
for employment in rural areas.   

Site Conclusions 

19.2 There are no sites listed for rural areas as no sites assessed in the HELAA 

were considered suitable for employment uses. 

 

Page 55



36 
 

 

Page 56



 
 
 
 

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 
 
 

Employment Sites Selection – Background Paper 2016 
 
 

Appendices A-D 
 
 

June 2016  

 
 
 
 

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 9b



 
 

Appendix A 
 
 
Welwyn Garden City Employment Sites - Maps and Background Tables 
 
The maps on the following pages illustrate all of the sites considered within the HELAA.  
 
For the purposes of this Sites Selection Background Paper, only sites that passed the Stage 2 
HELAA Assessment have been considered. 

  P
age 58



Welwyn Garden City North HELAA Results Map 

 
  

P
age 59



Welwyn Garden City South HELAA Results Map 

 

P
age 60



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Pea02b Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity: 
850 dwellings; 
572m

2
 of A1 floor space; 

1,928m
2
 of A3/A4 floor space; 

6,370m
2
 of B1 floor space; 

2,554m
2
 of C1 hotel floor space; 

2,241m
2
 of D1 community use 

floorspace; 
703m

2
 of D2 leisure floor space 

 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Waste water infrastructure 
upgrades 

 Noise from the adjacent 
railway, as well as noise from 
adjacent commercial uses 

 Potential for contaminated 
land which would require 
remediation 

 The presence of major Grade 
II listed buildings within the 
site, although the planning 
application process has 
established that these will not 
necessarily be adversely 
affected by well-designed 
higher density development 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 years/6-10 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 10 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an Employment 
Area/WGC Railway Station. It is within 400m of thirty-
three bus stops. 
 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character: 
Site is PDL. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site would provide capacity for at least 5% of the OAN 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.1: Ensuring the supply, location and quality of 
business/employment sites reflects the needs of 
local businesses and encourages a mixed 
economy:  
Site is located within an Employment Area and part of a 
wider area of land (Broadwater Road West) which is 
allocated for mixed use and subject to an adopted SPD 
masterplan. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the borough’s 
character, historic environment, and 
heritage/cultural assets: 
Site is within 250m of a Conservation Area and in 
proximity to Listed Buildings.  
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies and Broadwater Road West SPD related to the 
protection of heritage assets and good design.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife Site. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 

Advantages: 
This site forms part of the 
Broadwater Road SPD area, the 
borough’s largest regeneration 
opportunity. The site provides 
one of relatively few opportunities 
within the borough to provide new 
and modern office space, and will 
enable the reinvigoration of a 
significant area of derelict land at 
the gateway to Welwyn Garden 
City town centre whilst providing 
a secure future for the vulnerable 
listed buildings within the site. 
 
Disadvantages: 
None  

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 0-10 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test 

 Strategic advantage: It is a rare opportunity to provide needed new employment floorspace within the borough. Whilst there are some development constraints, the SPD process considered approaches to resolve these. This is attributed 
significant weight in favour of the site 

 
This site is part of one of the borough’s key regeneration areas and the SPD establishes the acceptability of a mixed-use scheme. The site offers one of few opportunities to provide a significant amount of new employment floor space. 
Therefore, it is considered that the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn Garden City sites. 

Policy 
implication 

Consider removing the site (and the wider Broadwater Road West SPD area) from Employment Area EA1, as this would be a residential-led redevelopment and only small discrete parts of the SPD area would remain in an employment use. 

P
age 61



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Pea02c Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
171 dwellings, plus 11,300m

2
 of 

B1 floorspace in accordance 
with the Broadwater Road West 
SPD 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Waste water infrastructure 
upgrades 

 Noise from the adjacent 
railway, as well as noise from 
adjacent commercial uses 

 Potential for contaminated 
land which would require 
remediation 

 The presence of major Grade 
II listed buildings adjacent to 
the site, although the 
planning process for adjacent 
site Pea02b has established 
that these will not be 
adversely affected by well-
designed higher density 
development 
 

Delivery timescales: 
11-15 years – the current lease 
on the site is until 2024 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 9 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an Employment 
Area/WGC Railway Station. It is within 400m of thirty-
three bus stops. 
 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character: 
Site is PDL. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.1: Ensuring the supply, location and quality of 
business/employment sites reflects the needs of 
local businesses/encourages a mixed economy:  
Site is located within an Employment Area and part of a 
wider area of land (Broadwater Road West) which is 
allocated for mixed use and subject to an adopted SPD 
masterplan. Site could provide 5% or more of required 
employment floor space in the borough  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the borough’s 
character, historic environment, and 
heritage/cultural assets: 
Site is within 250m of a Conservation Area and in 
proximity to Listed Buildings.  
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies and Broadwater Road West SPD related to the 
protection of heritage assets and good design.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife Site. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 

Advantages: 
This site forms part of the 
Broadwater Road SPD area, the 
borough’s largest regeneration 
opportunity. The site provides 
one of relatively few opportunities 
within the borough to provide new 
and modern office space, 
whereas the current warehouse 
use on the site does not form an 
attractive gateway to the town 
from the adjacent railway station 
and is challenging to access. 
 
Disadvantages: 
None  

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 11-15 years. This is attributed minor weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test. 

 Strategic advantage: It is a rare opportunity to provide needed new employment floorspace within the borough. Whilst there are some development constraints, the SPD process considered approaches to resolve these. This is attributed 
significant weight in favour of the site. 

 

This site is part of one of the borough’s key regeneration areas and the SPD establishes the acceptability of a mixed-use scheme. The site offers one of few opportunities to provide a significant amount of new employment floor space. 
Therefore, it is considered that the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn Garden City sites. 

Policy 
implication 

Consider removing the site (and the wider Broadwater Road West SPD area) from Employment Area EA1, as the development would involve a large amount of residential floorspace in addition to employment and only small discrete parts of 
the SPD area would remain in an employment use. 

P
age 62



 
 

 
 

Appendix B 
 
 
Hatfield Employment Sites - Maps and Background Tables 
 
The maps on the following pages illustrate all of the sites considered within the HELAA.  
 
For the purposes of this Sites Selection Background Paper, only sites that passed the Stage 2 
HELAA Assessment have been considered. 
  

P
age 63



 

Hatfield North HELAA Results Map 

 

P
age 64



 

 

Hatfield South HELAA Results Map 

 

P
age 65



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Hat1/13 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Hat 1 Greenfield with limited PDL 
Hat 13 PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Some uncertainty due to viability 
once infrastructure costs 
(especially transport, education 
and sewerage infrastructure have 
been factored in).  
 
Estimated capacity:  
1650 dwellings, 13,900sqm of B1 
floor space  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Highways impact 

 Mitigate air and noise pollution 
from A1(M) and Hatfield 
Avenue 

 Setting of one listed building 
 

Delivery timescales: 
6-10/11-15  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
 
Significant for preventing neighbouring 
towns from merging; contributes to the 
gap between Hatfield and Welwyn 
Garden City which is relatively 
development-free but contains 
Stanborough and Mill Green. Would 
reduce the shortest distance between 
Hatfield and Welwyn Garden City. The 
visual perception of the gap from in 
and around the site is mixed due to 
clear views to the north and north west 
but Welwyn Garden City is not visible   
  
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
 
Significant; the site forms the gap 
between Hatfield and Stanborough 
would have the effect of extending 
Hatfield to the north. The visual 
perception of the gap from in and 
around the site is strong due to clear 
views to the north and north west   
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical Openness High, Visual 
openness High; limited built 
development covering a very small 
proportion of the site    
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Site is connected to Hatfield and forms 
a group with Hat 2.  The motorway 
and Stanborough Park/ River Lea 
provides a clear separation between 
Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield . 
 
 

Existing 
Hatfield Avenue, Great Braitch Lane, 
Green Lanes – unclassified roads 
(moderate), A1(M)/A1001 (strong), 
property boundaries west of Hatfield 
Garden Village (moderate) 
 
Proposed: 
Coopers Green Lane (moderate), 
A1(M) (strong) 
 
Comments: 
The part of the development site 
east of Green Lanes could have 
extensive green areas (incl school 
playing fields) in its northern and 
eastern parts, therefore Green Belt 
boundary could be somewhere 
within this parcel to south of Coopers 
Green Lane in order to retain agreen 
gap between Hat 1 and  
Stanborough. 
 
Conclusion: 
New Green Belt boundary along 
Coopers Green Lane and A1(M) 
would potentially be stronger than 
existing boundary.However in the 
interest of retaining a gap between 
the developed area of Hat 1 and 
Stanborough  the boundary could be  
drawn within the parcel east of 
Green Lanes, however this would be 
weaker than the existing in that area.  
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 9 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of three Major 
Employment Areas. It is within 400m of seven bus 
stops. 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site would provide capacity for at least 5% of the OAN. 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.   
6.1: Ensuring the supply, location and quality of 
business/employment sites reflects the needs of 
local businesses/encourages a mixed economy:  
Site could provide 5% or more of required employment 
floor space in the borough.  
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 3 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character, retaining local distinctiveness: 
The WHBC Green Belt Review indicates the site 
contributes significantly to maintaining settlement 
pattern. 
Mitigation: The scale, layout and design of 
development should seek to reduce significant effects 
on settlement pattern and local distinctiveness.  
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the borough’s 
character, historic environment, and 
heritage/cultural assets:  
Site is in proximity to Listed Buildings and an AAS (Area 
of Archaeological Significance) is located within the site. 
Mitigation: Development of site should conform to 
Local Plan policies related to the protection of heritage 
assets and good design.  
4.10: Promotion of conservation and sustainable 
use of productive agricultural land: 
Site is located within Grade 2 land. 
Mitigation: Effect is difficult to mitigate as it affects 
approximately 50% of the site. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 
1. An ordinary watercourse is 
present in the centre of the site 
which may present fluvial flood 
risk; however, it was not 
possible to model it in the 
SFRA. A sequential approach to 
layout that restricts 
development to Flood Zone 1 
within the site is feasible. 
Therefore, the site passes the 
Sequential Test and the 
Exception Test does not need 
to be applied at this stage. 
 
Surface water flow route runs 
broadly north-south through the 
western area of the site, with 
areas of pooling also indicated. 
A sequential approach to layout 
and the use of sustainable 
drainage systems (SuDS) could 
be used to suitably manage 
surface water flood risk to, 
within and from the site. 
 

Advantages: 
 
Provides a secondary school site to 
meet needs from wider Hatfield 
area, also a new primary school and 
an expanded primary school (or two 
new primary schools) to meet the 
needs of the development site.  
 
The largest site proposed for 
allocation and therefore a major 
contribution to housing numbers. 
 
Would provide a neighbourhood 
centre and community facilities 
 
Would provide additional nearby 
facilities for Hat 15 (Symondshyde 
Village), such as health facilities and 
a larger neighbourhood centre, if 
that site were to be allocated. 
 
 
Disadvantages: 
None. 
 
 
 

Summary  HELAA: Mitigation is required for highways impact, air and noise pollution from Hatfield Avenue and A1 (M), and the setting of one listed building. Delivery is anticipated within the 6-10 year period and to continue into the 11-15 year 
period, this is attributed minor to moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: Site makes a significant contribution to one national purpose and to the local purpose and has a high level of physical and visual openness. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 GB Boundary: New boundary would be of moderate strength (part minor road, part property boundary), similar overall to existing; this is accorded moderate weight in favour of the site. A fragile gap exists between Hatfield and 
Stanborough. Development of this site would significantly reduce this gap, hence this is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 SA: Overall the site has two to three times more double positives than double negatives and this is attributed as moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Flood risk: development restricted to Flood Zone 1. Site passes the sequential test. 

 Site can make provision for a secondary school, new primary schools, small-scale employment, community facilities and a larger neighbourhood centre. It would also contribute to the Green Corridor and some of the community 
infrastructure would also serve site Hat 15 if the latter is developed. Overall this is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 
The site could form a sustainable extension to the town of Hatfield as it is of sufficient size to provide a secondary school, primary schools community facilities and a neighbourhood centre, is accessible to major Employment Areas, and can 
be linked to the rest of the town by public transport and walking/cycle routes. Moderate weight against the development of the site arises from adverse effect on one national Green Belt purpose and the local Green Belt purpose, also through 
loss of openness and intrusion into a fragile gap. This is however outweighed by the substantial contribution to housing numbers and considerable strategic advantages in terms of infrastructure provision offered by the development of the site. 
Overall the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Hatfield sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If allocated for housing, the majority of the site to be removed from the Green Belt and the boundary re-drawn so as to retain a gap between the developed area of the site and Stanborough.  
New UOL designation required for existing informal recreation land west of Hatfield Garden Village between Hatfield Avenue and Green Lanes within Hat 1. 

P
age 66



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Hat11 
(Scenario 2) 

Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
  
Estimated capacity:  
Limited to the equivalent of 300 
dwellings (restriction on 
capacity is due to single point of 
access) HELAA methodology 
indicates a starting point of 
25,000m2 – 46, 875m2 of B use 
class. 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Highway junction upgrades 

 Mitigate impact on adjacent 
wildlife site and site ecology 

 Mitigate air and noise 
pollution from A1/Southway 

 Mitigate potential impact on 
Water End SSSI 

 Easement for public rights of 
way 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
Significant in safeguarding the 
countryside  
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant contributes to the narrow  
gap between Hatfield and Welham 
Green which contains the former 
central resource library and former 
school. Contributes to the visual 
perception of the gap as it is partially 
elevated and open and would form an 
irregular outcrop to Hatfield beyond 
the A1001.    
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical Openness High and Visual 
openness High, elevated some open 
views over the surrounding landscape 
especially in the south central areas.   
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Forms a group with WeG8, WeG9 and 
GTLAA05 NB. WeG9/GTLAA failed 
Stage 1 of the HELAA. 

Existing 
South Way A Road (Strong) 
 
Proposed: 
Established tree belt/hedgerow with 
minor gaps (moderate) 
Ridgeline through the middle of the 
site (moderate)  
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries consisting of established 
tree belts/hedgerows and ridgeline 
would be weaker than the existing 
boundary; however clearly defined 
and defensible boundaries could be 
formed. 
 
Fragile Gap: The site lies between 
Hatfield and Welham Green. Whilst 
the gap between them has to a 
degree been compromised by 
Travellers Lane Industrial Estate, the 
area of land which Hat11 sits within 
constitutes a significant area of open 
land between the two settlements 
which serves as a gap between 
them. Development of this site would 
encroach into this gap. 

Significant positives (++) Total: 4 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of a residential area. It is 
within 400m of twelve bus stops. 
 
6.1: Ensuring the supply, location and quality of 
business/employment sites reflects the needs of 
local businesses/encourages a mixed economy:  
Site could provide 5% or more of required employment 
floor space in the borough.  
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 3 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character, retaining local distinctiveness: 
Site has high landscape sensitivity. The WHBC Green 
Belt Review indicates the site contributes significantly to 
maintaining settlement pattern. 
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of development should 
seek to reduce significant effects on landscape 
character and settlement pattern/ local distinctiveness.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: 
Site is adjacent to a Local Wildlife Site.  
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies in relation to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 
1 
 
 

Advantages: 
 
Presents one of few opportunities 
available to make provision of 
additional employment land to 
support jobs growth. 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 

Summary  HELAA: Delivery is estimated to be 0-10 years, and potentially within 0-5 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: Site makes a significant contribution to one national Green Belt purpose and to the local purpose, and has high level of physical and visual openness. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 GB Boundary: New Green Belt boundaries would be predominantly weaker than the existing boundaries, but would be clearly defined. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. The steeply sloping embankment rising up on the 
southern side of South Way also creates a very strong visual and perceptual barrier between South Hatfield and the land north of Welham Green. The site resides between Hatfield and Welham Green. Whilst the gap between them has to 
a degree been compromised by Travellers Lane Industrial Estate, the area of land which Hat11 sits within constitutes a significant area of open land between the two settlements which serves as a gap between them. Extending the green 
belt boundaries as proposed would encroach into this gap. This is attributed significant weight against the site. 

 SA: The site is a location accessible to public transport, although this would require improvements to pedestrian links. Potential impact on ecology, although this is capable of mitigation, as noted in the HELAA. Therefore, this is attributed 
moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Strategic advantage: Presents one of few opportunities to make provision of employment land in the borough, although the exact quantum if unknown and likely to be relatively small in scale. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of 
the site. 

 
On balance, the weakening of a strong Green Belt boundary and developing land beyond South Way, which is a very strong barrier between Hatfield and the site/land beyond South Way, and harm to the Green Belt is considered to outweigh 
the opportunity to provide Employment Land and the other sustainability benefits development of the site would bring. The site should not be considered for allocation in the round alongside other sites being promoted for 
employment land use in the borough. 

P
age 67



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Hat11 
(Scenario 3) 
 
12.5ha 

Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
Residential and employment 
use of no greater than the 
equivalent of 300 dwellings 
(restriction on capacity is due to 
single point of access) 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Highway junction upgrades 

 Mitigate impact on adjacent 
wildlife site and site ecology 

 Mitigate air and noise 
pollution from A1/Southway, 
and any future waste 
operations at New Barnfield 

 Mitigate potential impact on 
Water End SSSI 

 Easement for public rights of 
way 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
Significant in safeguarding the 
countryside  
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant contributes to the narrow  
gap between Hatfield and Welham 
Green which contains the former 
central resource library and former 
school. Contributes to the visual 
perception of the gap as it is partially 
elevated and open and would form an 
irregular outcrop to Hatfield beyond 
the A1001.    
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical Openness high and Visual 
openness High, elevated some open 
views over the surrounding landscape 
especially in the south central areas.   
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Forms a group with WeG8, WeG9/ 
GTLAA05 NB. WeG9/GTLAA failed 
Stage 1 of the HELAA 
 

Existing 
South Way A Road (Strong) 
 
Proposed: 
Established tree belt/hedgerow with 
minor gaps (moderate) 
Fragmented hedgerow (weak)  
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries consisting of established 
tree belts/hedgerows and a 
fragmented hedgerow would be 
weaker than the existing boundary.  
 
Fragile Gap: The site lies between 
Hatfield and Welham Green. Whilst 
the gap between them has to a 
degree been compromised by 
Travellers Lane Industrial Estate, the 
area of land which Hat11 sits within 
constitutes a significant area of open 
land between the two settlements 
which serves as a gap between 
them. Development of this site would 
significantly reduce this gap. 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2 Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an Employment Area. 
It is within 400m of eight bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 3   
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character, retaining local distinctiveness: 
Site has high landscape sensitivity. The WHBC Green 
Belt Review indicates the site contributes significantly to 
maintaining settlement pattern. 
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of development should 
seek to reduce significant effects on landscape 
character and settlement pattern/ local distinctiveness.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: 
Site is adjacent to a Local Wildlife Site and within 250m 
of another.  
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies in relation to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 
1 
 
 
 

Advantages: 
Presents one of few opportunities 
available to make provision of 
additional employment land to 
support jobs growth. 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 

Summary  HELAA: Delivery is estimated to be 0-10 years and potentially within 0-5 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: Site makes a significant contribution to one national Green Belt purpose and to the local purpose, and has high level of physical and visual openness. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 GB Boundary: New Green Belt boundaries would be predominantly weaker than the existing boundaries, but would be clearly defined. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. The steeply sloping embankment rising up on the 
southern side of South Way also creates a very strong visual and perceptual barrier between South Hatfield and the land north of Welham Green. The site resides between Hatfield and Welham Green. Whilst the gap between them has to 
a degree been compromised by Travellers Lane Industrial Estate, the area of land which Hat11 sits within constitutes a significant area of open land between the two settlements which serves as a gap between them. Extending the green 
belt boundaries as proposed would encroach into this gap. This is attributed significant weight against the site. 

 SA: The site is a location accessible to public transport and an Employment Area, although this would require improvements to pedestrian links. Potential impact on ecology, although this is capable of mitigation, as noted in the HELAA. 
Therefore, this is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Strategic advantage: Presents one of few opportunities to make provision of employment land in the borough, although the exact quantum if unknown and likely to be relatively small in scale. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of 
the site. 

 
On balance, whilst the site could provide employment floor space which would be an additional benefit over and above the benefits of Scenario 1 for this site, this is not considered to outweigh the weakening of a strong Green Belt boundary 
and developing land beyond South Way, which is a very strong visual and physical barrier between Hatfield and the site/land beyond South Way, and the adverse impacts upon the purposes of the Green Belt. The site should not be 
considered for allocation alongside other Hatfield sites. 

 

P
age 68



 

 
 
 

Appendix C 
 
 
Woolmer Green Employment Sites - Maps and Background 
Tables 
 
The map on the following page illustrates all of the sites 
considered within the HELAA.  
 
For the purposes of this Sites Selection Background Paper, 
only sites that passed the Stage 2 HELAA Assessment have 
been considered. 

  

Page 69



 

Woolmer Green HELAA Results Map 

 
 

Page 70



 
 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

WGr1 Urban/Green Belt: Green Belt 
 
 
PDL/Greenfield: Greenfield 
 
 
Achievable: Yes 
 
Estimated capacity: 150 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Within 30m of a Grade II Listed 
building (Payne’s farmhouse), but 
should be possible to develop the 
site without causing unacceptable 
harm to the significance of the 
farmhouse. Proposed landscape 
buffer to mitigate impact. 

 Not in an ASS but moderate 
potential for pre-historic remains 
and low to medium potential for 
medieval and post – medieval 
remains. 

 Layout would need to ensure 
satisfactory residential 
environment for future occupants 
addressing potential noise impact 
from adjoining industrial uses. 

 Waste water upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5/6-10 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
 
Significant in safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment, forms 
part of the wider countryside.    
 
Partial for checking unrestricted sprawl 
of large built up areas of Stevenage.  
 
Partial in preventing neighbouring 
towns from merging. Has a impact on 
the gap to Knebworth and contributes 
to the gap between Welwyn  Garden 
City and Stevenage, also  contributes 
to the visual perception of the gap but 
this is limited due to the overall scale of 
the gap 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partially reduces the visual perception 
of the separation of settlements 
between Woolmer Green and 
Knebworth. 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical and Visual openness is High 
Generally open with views to the 
surrounding landscape.  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
The site is connected to Woolmer 
Green and forms a group with WGr2 
and WGr3  
 

Existing: 
The existing green belt boundary 
comprises of the settlement boundary 
and is strong. 
 
Proposed: 
There would be no definable physical 
boundary to the north, where the 
boundary would go across an open 
field. (Weak). 
 
To the east, the boundary would 
consist of an established hedgerow, 
alongside a private access track. 
(Moderate).  
 
Development would be constrained to 
the southern part of the site to form a 
landscape buffer to the north; this is to 
allow for the provision of a strategic 
landscape buffer to the north of the site 
below the ridge of the gently rising 
landform, to offset the impact of the 
development on the wider landscape. 
As a result the proposed new boundary 
would align well with the existing 
settlement boundary. 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
 4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of two 
Employment Areas. It is within 400m of 
five bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, 
type and tenure of housing to meet 
identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing 
and make provision for Lifetime 
Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of 
education establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of 
the borough’s character , historic 
environment, and heritage/cultural 
assets: 
Site is adjacent to a Listed Building 
and between 250m-1km of another 
four. 
Mitigation: 
Conservation and enhancement in 
conformity with Local Plan policies  
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
Surface water flow route runs north-
south in the eastern area of the site, 
and ponds in the southern corner of 
the site. A sequential approach to 
layout and the use of sustainable 
drainage systems (SuDS) could be 
used to suitably manage surface water 
flood risk to, within and from the site. 
 
 

Advantages: 
Site would on its own meet almost all 
of the proportionate need for housing 
in Woolmer Green. Potential exists to 
provide a farm shop which would 
provide a convenience shop for the 
village and increase its sustainability. 
 
Disadvantages: 
No strategic disadvantages. 
 

Summary HELAA: Deliverable within 0-10 years.(Moderate in favour)  
GB Study: Significant for one national purpose – safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. Partial for two other national purposes, preventing neighboring towns from merging and checking unrestricted sprawl. Forms a group with 
WGr2 and WGr3. (Moderate against). 
Green Belt Boundary: Proposed Green Belt boundary would be predominately weaker than existing and only clearly defined to the east (moderate weight against).  Development of this site would marginally reduce the existing fragile gap 
between Woolmer Green and Knebworth. Impact would be minimized if northern edge of site was aligned with the existing northern edge of the settlement (and allowed for the need to achieve access). (minor against) 
Sustainability Appraisal: More than three times as many double positives than negatives (significant in favour). 
Flood Risk: Passes the sequential test 
Strategic Advantages/Disadvantages: Development would provide a small farm shop, which would provide a convenience shop for the village, which lacks this facility. (minor in favour) 
Conclusion: Potential adverse impacts on heritage assets can be overcome by suitable mitigation measures, as can potential impacts on residential amenity from noise arising from adjoining employment uses. On balance, the site’s benefits 
are considered to outweigh the adverse impacts on the purposes of the Green Belt, which could be minimized by reducing the northern extent of the site to align with the northern edge of the existing settlement boundary and allow for access. 
The site should be considered for allocation  

Policy 
implication 

Business units are not supported in principle as no further allocation of employment land is considered necessary in Woolmer Green. There is no convenience shop in Woolmer Green, so the provision of a small farm shop with ancillary café of 
no more than 280m2 is supported in principle to improve sustainability of the village and the farm enterprise. If the site is allocated for housing - the Green Belt boundary will need to be amended. However, other than allowing for access, the 
northern edge of the site should align with the northern edge of the existing settlement boundary in order to minimize the impact on this fragile gap. 

  

P
age 71



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential and 
Exception Test 

Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

WGr2 
(emp) 

Green Belt/Urban 
Green Belt 
 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
6,000m

2
 to 11,250m

2
  of employment 

floorspace, depending on precise mix 
of uses 
 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Proximity of the railway and 
London Road (B197) mean that 
noise could be an issue for certain 
B class uses 

 Possible contamination issues will 
need investigation and may need 
remediation  

 Retention of trees could help 
preserve local ecology 

 Waste water upgrades 
 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5/6-10 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
 
Significant for safeguarding the 
countryside from development  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant Site contributes to the gap 
between Woolmer Green and 
Knebworth and contributes to the visual 
perception of the gap to the west of 
London Rd  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical openness high,  Visual 
Openness mixed enclosed by London 
road, edge of Woolmer Green,  and 
railway embankment  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Connected to Woolmer Green and  
forms a group with WGr1 and WGr3 
 
 

Boundary Conclusion 
 
Existing: 
Mixture of tree belt/hedgerow and 
fencing to southern boundary with 
Woolmer Green. (Moderate) 
 
 
New: 
Fragmented tree belt, forming the 
property boundary to Monread Lodge, 
but clearly defined. (Moderate/weak) 
 
General note: 
The site is located within the fragile 
gap between Woolmer Green and 
Knebworth, which is separated by less 
than 600m. Monread Lodge, a 
residential home, already introduces 
built development into this fragile gap. 
 
Proposed amended boundary will 
significantly reduce further the already 
fragile gap between Woolmer Green 
and Knebworth. 
 
 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 5 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
 4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of a 
settlement. Within 400m of 2 bus 
stops. 
 
6.1: Ensuring the supply, location 
and quality of business/employment 
sites reflects the needs of local 
businesses and encourages a mixed 
economy: 
Site could provide 11,250 sqm of 
employment space. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of 
open space and landscape 
character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
The WHBC Green Belt Review 
indicates the site contributes 
significantly to maintaining settlement 
pattern.  
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of 
development should seek to reduce 
significant effects on settlement pattern 
and local distinctiveness.  
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass - Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
Surface water ponds in the centre of 
the site. The layout, design and the 
use of sustainable drainage systems 
(SuDS) could be used to suitably 
manage surface water flood risk to, 
within and from the site. 
 
 

Advantages:  
None 
 
Disadvantages:  
None 
 

Summary HELAA:  Deliverable within 0-10 years (moderate in favour)  
GB Study: Site makes a significant contribution to national green belt purpose of safeguarding the countryside from development. It also makes a significant contribution to the local purpose, by contributing significantly to the gap between 
Woolmer Green and Knebworth (moderate against). 
Green Belt Boundary: The amended Green Belt boundary would significantly reduce the fragile gap between the two settlements, which are separated by less than 600m (moderate weight against). The new Green Belt boundary would  be 
partially weaker, but clearly defined (minor against) 
Sustainability Appraisal: More than three times double positives as negatives (significant in favour). 
Flood Risk: Site passes the sequential test.  
No strategic advantages/disadvantages 
Conclusion: Development of this site would significantly reduce the already fragile gap between settlements, resulting in a significant negative impact on settlement pattern and local distinctiveness. New Green Belt boundary would be weaker 
than existing. On balance, the significant harm to the Green Belt outweighs the benefits of the site. This site should NOT be considered for allocation. 

Policy 
implication 

 No change to green belt boundary 

 

P
age 72



 

 
 

Appendix D 
 
 
Welham Green Employment Sites - Maps and Background 
Tables 
 
The map on the following page illustrates all of the sites 
considered within the HELAA.  
 
For the purposes of this Sites Selection Background Paper, 
only sites that passed the Stage 2 HELAA Assessment have 
been considered. 
  

Page 73



 

Welham Green HELAA Results Map 

 
 

Page 74



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

WeG4b Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Part PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
40,500m

2
 of B1 class 

80 dwellings (area 5) 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Flood risk sequential approach 
to layout and surface water 
management 

 Improve pedestrian access 
across railway to and from 
Welham Green 

 Mitigate air and noise pollution 
from A1000 and railway 

 Buffer wildlife sites 

 Mitigate ecological impacts  

 Mitigate impact on Hatfield 
Park HPG 

 Mitigate potential impact on 
Water End SSSI 

 Mitigate impact on amenity of 
existing residential properties 

 Easement for public right of 
way 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years 

Contribution to National 
Purposes: 
Significant in safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment  
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partial contributes to the gap from 
Hatfield to Welham Green and 
Brookmans Park makes a limited 
contribution to the visual perception 
of the gap.   
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical Openness High no 
development on site. 
Visual Openness Low enclosed by 
vegetation.    
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Not connected to Welham Green  
Forms a group with WeG4a,and 
GTLAA03  
 
 

Existing: 
Western edge of the railway line 
(Strong) 
 
Proposed: 
The site itself is bounded by the A1000 
(strong), an ordinary watercourse 
(moderate), a number of property 
boundaries (moderate) and Dixons Hill 
Road, C Road (moderate). However, a 
wider area of land containing a number 
of residential properties and a mobile 
home site could be taken out of the 
Green Belt to create a more logical, 
clearly defined and defensible 
boundary. This would begin with the 
ordinary watercourse (moderate), 
property boundaries of the Cravenia 
property, the A1000 (strong) running 
broadly southeast, and Dixons Hill Road 
C Road (moderate) running from the 
junction with the A1000 to the railway 
line  
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries would be partially weaker 
than the existing boundaries, but could 
form clearly defined and defensible 
boundaries.   
 
(NB: WeG4a forms a parcel within 
WeG4b and is therefore considered 
here within the wider context of WeG4b) 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of two 
Employment/Residential Areas and Welham 
Green Railway Station. It is within 400m of 
several bus stops. 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 
6.1 Ensuring the supply, location and quality 
of employment/business sites reflects the 
need of local business and encourages a 
mixed economy: 
Site could provide 5% or more of required 
employment floor space in the borough  
6.6: Provision of training, skills development 
and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the 
borough’s character, historic environment, 
and heritage/cultural assets: 
Site is adjacent to a Historic Park and Garden, 
although potential to improve the setting. 
Mitigation: Development of site should conform 
to Local Plan policies related to the protection of 
heritage assets and good design.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity 
and geodiversity: 
A Local Wildlife site is within the boundary of the 
site, and another is within 250m. 
Mitigation: Development of site should conform 
to Local Plan policies related to the 
protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – 93.7% of the site falls within 
Flood Zone 1, with the remainder 
falling within Flood zones 2 and 
3a/b. An ordinary watercourse also 
runs through the southern area of 
the site which may present a further 
fluvial flood risk; however, it was not 
possible to model it in the SFRA. A 
sequential approach to layout that 
restricts development to Flood Zone 
1 within the site is feasible. 
Therefore, the site passes the 
Sequential Test and the Exception 
Test does not need to be applied at 
this stage. 
 
The southern area of the site is 
subject to significant surface water 
flood risk, with approximately 10% of 
the site affected by the 1 in 100 year 
extent. A sequential approach to 
layout and the use of sustainable 
drainage systems (SuDS) could be 
used to suitably manage surface 
water flood risk to, within and from 
the site. 
 
 
 
 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 
 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within the first ten years of the plan period, potentially within the first five years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: Site makes a significant contribution to one national Green Belt purpose, and partial contribution to the local purpose, and has a high degree of openness. However, it must be noted that this assessment relates only to the 
southern area of the site (denoted as Area 4 within the HELAA). The remainder of the site constitutes areas of development (residential and commercial) as well as open countryside, with a large part of this area (Area 5: WeG4a) only 
making a limited or partial contribution to all purposes. Therefore, this is attributed only minor weight against the site (WeG4b).  

 GB Boundary: Boundaries would be partially weaker than the existing boundary, but could form clearly defined and defensible boundaries. This is attributed minor in favour of the site. 

 SA: The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 Flood Risk: Restricting development to Flood Zone 1 is feasible – site passes the sequential test. 

 Development of the site presents one of very few opportunities to make provision for employment land to meet the borough’s needs for economic growth. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 Strategic Advantages/Disadvantages: Significant opportunity to make provision for employment land to support jobs growth significant weight in favour. 
On balance, the provision of much needed employment land and its other benefits are considered to outweigh the adverse impacts on the Green Belt. The site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welham Green sites, 
and other sites being promoted for employment land uses.  

Policy 
implication 

If the site is allocated, the following would be required - amend Green Belt boundaries to align with those described above. 

 

P
age 75



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan 

 
Housing Sites Selection 
Background Paper 2016 

 

 

 

June 2016 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 77

Agenda Item 9c



2 
 

 

Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan 

 

Housing Sites Selection  

Background Paper 

 

 

 

June 2016 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Colin Haigh 

Head of Planning 

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Council Offices 

The Campus 

Welwyn Garden City 

Hertfordshire 

AL8 6AE 

 

 

Tel:  01707 357000 

Fax: 01707 357285 

 

E Mail planningpolicy@welhat.gov.uk 

Page 78

mailto:planningpolicy@welhat.gov.uk


3 
 

 

 
Contents 

 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................... 5 

2. Spatial Context .............................................................................................. 6 

3. National Policy Context ................................................................................. 7 

4. Objectively Assessed Need for Housing (OAN) ............................................ 7 

5. Indicative distribution of the Objectively Assessed Need .............................. 8 

6. Local Policy Context ...................................................................................... 9 

7. Methodology................................................................................................ 10 

8. Strands of Evidence and Appraisals ........................................................... 12 

9. Weighting .................................................................................................... 18 

10. Settlement conclusions - Welwyn Garden City ............................................ 23 

11. Settlement conclusions - Hatfield ................................................................ 26 

12. Settlement conclusions - Woolmer Green ................................................... 30 

13. Settlement conclusions - Oaklands and Mardley Heath .............................. 32 

14. Settlement conclusions - Welwyn ................................................................ 34 

15. Settlement conclusions - Digswell ............................................................... 37 

16. Settlement conclusions - Welham Green .................................................... 38 

17. Settlement conclusions - Brookmans Park .................................................. 41 

18. Settlement conclusions - Little Heath .......................................................... 44 

19. Settlement conclusions - Cuffley ................................................................. 46 

20.  Settlement conclusions - Rural Areas ......................................................... 49 

 

Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Welwyn Garden City Housing Sites - Maps and Background Tables 
Appendix B: Hatfield Housing Sites - Maps and Background Tables  
Appendix C: Woolmer Green Housing Sites - Maps and Background Tables 
Appendix D: Oaklands & Mardley Heath Housing Sites - Maps and Background Tables 
Appendix E: Welwyn Housing Sites - Maps and Background Tables 
Appendix F: Digswell - HELAA sites map (no Background Tables for Digswell) 
Appendix G: Welham Green Housing Sites - Maps and Background Tables 
Appendix H: Brookmans Park Housing Sites - Maps and Background Tables 
Appendix I: Little Heath Housing Sites - Maps and Background Tables 
Appendix J: Cuffley Housing Sites - Maps and Background Tables 
Appendix K: Rural Areas Housing Sites - Maps and Background Tables 
 
 
  

Page 79



4 
 

Tables 
 
Table 1: Proportionate distribution of the Objectively Assessed Need for housing .... 8 
Table 2: Strength of Green Belt boundaries ............................................................. 15 
Table 3: Sustainability Appraisal scoring .................................................................. 16 
Table 4: HELAA weighting ....................................................................................... 19 
Table 5: Contribution to Green Belt purposes weighting .......................................... 19 
Table 6: Green Belt boundary weighting .................................................................. 19 
Table 7: Green Belt boundary weighting where sites fall within a fragile gap ........... 20 
Table 8: Sustainability Appraisal weighting significant positive and negative effects 20 
Table 9: Strategic advantages or disadvantages weighting ..................................... 22 
Table 10: Welwyn Garden City: supply and shortfall against the OAN ..................... 23 
Table 11: Welwyn Garden City: urban sites considered suitable for allocation ........ 24 
Table 12: Welwyn Garden City: urban sites not considered suitable for allocation .. 25 
Table 13: Welwyn Garden City: Area of Special Restraint considered suitable for 
allocation .................................................................................................................. 25 
Table 14: Welwyn Garden City: Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation 25 
Table 15Hatfield: supply and shortfall against the OAN ........................................... 26 
Table 16: Hatfield: urban sites considered suitable for allocation ............................. 27 
Table 17: Hatfield: Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation ..................... 27 
Table 18: Hatfield: Green Belt sites not considered suitable for allocation ............... 28 
Table 19: Woolmer Green: supply and shortfall against the OAN ............................ 30 
Table 20: Woolmer Green: Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation ........ 31 
Table 21: Woolmer Green: Green Belt sites not considered suitable for allocation .. 31 
Table 22: Oaklands and Mardley Heath: supply and shortfall against the OAN ....... 32 
Table 23: Oaklands and Mardley Heath: Green Belt sites considered suitable for 
allocation .................................................................................................................. 33 
Table 24: Oaklands and Mardley Heath: Green Belt sites not considered suitable for 
allocation .................................................................................................................. 33 
Table 25: Welwyn: supply and shortfall against the OAN ......................................... 34 
Table 26: Welwyn: Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation .................... 35 
Table 27: Welwyn: Green Belt sites not considered suitable for allocation .............. 35 
Table 28: Digswell: supply and shortfall against the OAN ........................................ 37 
Table 29: Welham Green: supply and shortfall against the OAN ............................. 38 
Table 30: Welham Green: Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation ......... 39 
Table 31: Welham Green: Green Belt sites not considered suitable for allocation ... 39 
Table 32: Brookmans Park: supply and shortfall against the OAN ........................... 41 
Table 33: Brookmans Park: Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation ...... 42 
Table 34: Brookmans Park: Green Belt sites not considered suitable for allocation 42 
Table 35: Brookmans Park: Green Belt sites suitable for allocation in light of primary 
school capacity ......................................................................................................... 43 
Table 36: Little Heath: supply and shortfall against the OAN ................................... 44 
Table 37: Little Heath: Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation ............... 44 
Table 38: Cuffley: supply and shortfall against the OAN .......................................... 46 
Table 39: Cuffley: urban sites considered suitable for allocation .............................. 47 
Table 40: Cuffley: Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation ...................... 47 
Table 41: Cuffley: Green Belt sites not considered suitable for allocation ................ 47 
Table 42: Rural Areas: supply and shortfall against the OAN .................................. 49 
Table 43: Rural Areas: Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation .............. 49 
 

Page 80



5 
 

 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Council’s Local Plan must seek to deliver sustainable development and 
be based on a sound evidence base.  
 

1.2 The primary aim of this Housing Sites Selection - Background Paper is to 
bring together in a single document, key conclusions arising from the following 
strands of evidence and appraisals: 
 

 The Housing and Employment Land Availability Assessment (HELAA); 

 The Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 and 2) 

 An appraisal of Green Belt boundaries  

 The Sustainability Appraisal 

 Flood Risk – Sequential Test; and 

 An appraisal of strategic advantages or disadvantages. 
 

1.3 The Housing Sites Selection - Background Paper balances the key findings 
from the above and considers whether sites should be considered for 
allocation in the Local Plan. 

1.4 In doing so, consideration is given, where relevant, to any cumulative effects 
or common circumstances, which may affect whether or not a site, or a group 
of sites, should go forward to allocation. 

1.5 Consideration is also given to the key policy implications that would arise if a 
site were to be allocated. 

1.6 Site level findings are also weighed against any known infrastructure 
constraints on a settlement basis. 

1.7 The potential capacity of sites is reflected against the Objectively Assessed 
Need for Housing. 

1.8 It is important to note that the content of this Housing Sites Selection - 
Background Paper is proportionate to the task of informing the allocation of 
sites in a Local Plan. This means that whilst many issues have been 
considered, the Background Paper does not go to the level of detail expected 
with a planning application.  

1.9 This Background Paper will be used to inform the Council’s decisions on the 
most suitable sites to be allocated in the Local Plan. 

1.10 It should also be noted that this Background Paper reflects circumstances as 
they are understood at this particular point in time. Going forward, it is 
possible that new information may become available that would lead the 
Council to a different understanding of the development potential of a site or 
group of sites.  

 
  

Page 81



6 
 

2. Spatial Context 

2.1 Welwyn Hatfield borough is located centrally within Hertfordshire and covers 
an area of approximately 130 square kms. It is bordered by Hertsmere to the 
southwest, St Albans to the west, North Hertfordshire to the north and East 
Hertfordshire and Broxbourne to the east. The south of the borough borders 
the London Borough of Enfield. The borough has two main towns, Welwyn 
Garden City and Hatfield. Both are new towns and Welwyn Garden City is one 
of two Garden Cities in the UK. There are also a number of smaller 
settlements, which are excluded from the Green Belt - Brookmans Park, 
Cuffley, Digswell, Little Heath, Oaklands and Mardley Heath, Welham Green, 
Welwyn and Woolmer Green. The borough also contains a number of small 
villages, hamlets and areas of sporadic or ribbon development, which are all 
located in the Green Belt. 

2.2 The borough has good rail and road links, with the A1(M) passing through the 
borough, connecting with the M25 to the south. The east coast mainline 
railway runs through the borough with stations on this line at Brookmans Park, 
Welham Green, Hatfield, Welwyn Garden City and Welwyn North (located in 
the village of Digswell). Cuffley also has a station on the Hertford Loop Line, 
which runs from London to Stevenage via Hertford North. 

Figure 1: Map of Welwyn Hatfield Borough 

 
 

  

Page 82



7 
 

 

3. National Policy Context 

3.1 To boost the supply of housing, the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) requires local planning authorities to meet their objectively assessed 
need for housing, unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies 
in the NPPF taken as a whole or, specific policies in the NPPF which indicate 
development should be restricted. Such policies include land designated as 
Green Belt. Once established, Green Belt boundaries should only be altered 
in exceptional circumstances, through the preparation or review of the Local 
Plan. 

4. Objectively Assessed Need for Housing (OAN) 

4.1 The 2014 Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) concluded that an 
appropriate objective assessed need (OAN) for housing in Welwyn Hatfield 
would be in the region of 625 dwellings per annum (p.a.) over the plan period. 

4.2 A Partial Update to the SHMA was carried out in 2015 to take account, 
amongst other things, of the 2012 based sub-national household projections. 
Matters such as market signals (and a positive adjustment to headship rates 
for younger households) and affordable housing need led to a conclusion that 
the objectively assessed need for Welwyn Hatfield fell within a range of 664 to 
707 dwellings per annum. 

4.3 Over a 19 year [plan period (2013-2032), this would represent an OAN range 
of 12,616 to 13,433 additional dwellings. 

4.4 The range represents an uplift of 16% to 23% from the baseline demographic 
‘starting point’; i.e. the 2012 based sub-national household projections. 

4.5 An Economy Study SHMA Addendum to the 2015 SHMA Partial Update was 
carried out in 2016 and follows the publication of the Welwyn Hatfield 
Economy Study Update, which was published in December 2015. The 2016 
Addendum takes account of forecasts of likely employment growth in light of 
the latest economic evidence. The analysis carried out continues to support 
the use of the OAN range set out in the 2015 SHMA Partial Update, 
representing an uplift of between 16% and 23% from the demographic 
‘starting point’.  

  

Page 83



8 
 

 

5. Indicative distribution of the Objectively Assessed Need 

5.1 On the basis that the whole borough is affected by demographic and 
economic change, the following table illustrates, for indicative purposes only, 
how much growth each part of the borough would need to accommodate if the 
OAN range was distributed on a proportionate basis1.  

Table 1: Proportionate distribution of the Objectively Assessed Need for housing 

Sub-area 
Proportion of 
households 
(2011 based) 

Disaggregation 
of OAN 664 p.a 

Disaggregation 
of OAN 707 p.a. 

Welwyn Garden City 44.80% 5652 6018 

Hatfield 30.56% 3855 4105 

Woolmer Green 1.28% 161 172 

Oaklands & Mardley Heath 2.72% 343 365 

Welwyn 3.36% 424 451 

Digswell 1.44% 182 193 

Welham Green 2.88% 363 387 

Brookmans Park 3.04% 384 408 

Little Heath 1.12% 141 150 

Cuffley 4.00% 505 537 

Rural Areas (North/South) 4.80% 606 645 

Welwyn Hatfield 100.00% 12,616 13,433 

 

5.2 However, it should be noted that this is simply a mathematical starting point 
and not necessarily the distribution of growth that would be taken forward in 
the Local Plan. This is because the purpose of the planning system is to 
contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and plans must 
respond to the different opportunities for achieving sustainable development 
in different areas. 

5.3 Consistent with the NPPF, the planning system must perform three roles; an 
economic, social and environmental role. The pursuit of sustainable 
development includes making it easier for jobs to be created in cities, towns 
and villages, moving form a net loss of bio-diversity to achieving net gains in 
the future, replacing poor design with better design, improving the conditions 
in which people live, work, travel and take leisure; and widening the choice of 
high quality homes. These roles must not be taken in isolation because they 
are mutually dependent.  

5.4 It is highly unlikely, given the availability of suitable sites in different locations, 
the different characteristics of parts of the borough, e.g. the presence of 
critical assets in some parts and not others, the capacity of infrastructure to 
accommodate growth in certain settlements; that a mathematical 

                                            
1
 Proportionate distribution by households referenced from table 9.3 of the SHMA 2014. Note there 

may be small variations in percentages due to rounding. 

Page 84



9 
 

proportionate split will be achievable or represent the most appropriate 
distribution pattern. 

5.5 Nevertheless, it is helpful to understand what level of growth could reasonably 
be associated with each part of the borough and to then explore to what 
extent such growth could be addressed.  

6. Local Policy Context 

6.1 The Council is currently updating its local planning policy. From 12th 
November 2012 to 31st January 2013, the Council consulted on its Emerging 
Core Strategy at the same time as the Land for Housing Outside Urban Areas 
document, which identified potential sites around Welwyn Garden City and 
Hatfield. 

6.2 The Emerging Core Strategy 2012 set out the Plan’s emerging strategic 
policies. A key strategic policy of the Local Plan will be to deliver sustainable 
pattern of development; applying a set of overarching principles including 
planning positively for growth in a manner which minimises the need to travel 
by directing growth towards those areas with good transport networks and 
which are well served by jobs, services and facilities; protecting areas of 
highest environmental value and avoiding areas of high flood risk.  

6.3 In April 2014 the Council decided to move away from the production of a 
series of separate development plan documents (Core Strategy, Site 
Allocations and Development Management policies) in favour of producing a 
combined Local Plan. A draft of the Local Plan was published for consultation 
in early 2015, which identified sites around all the borough's excluded 
settlements (towns and villages).  

6.4 A number of new or amended sites were submitted too late to be included 
within the Local Plan Consultation 2015 or, were submitted in response to that 
consultation, or were submitted subsequently up until August 2015, and these 
have been assessed in the HELAA 2016. Two events were held on 20th 
October and 11th November 2015 to publicise the promotion of these new 
sites.  

6.5 This Housing Sites Selection - Background Paper will inform the production of 
the Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016. 

  

Page 85



10 
 

7. Methodology 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 

7.1 Guidance on Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessments is set out 
in national PPG. The Welwyn Hatfield Housing and Economic Land 
Availability Assessment 2016 (HELAA) reports on stages 1 to 3 of the 
methodology as set out in the flow chart below. 

Figure 2: Methodology flowchart – extract from national Planning Practice Guidance on 
Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessments 

 

  

Page 86



11 
 

 

7.2 The HELAA also forms part of stage 4 (Assessment Review). However, at this 
stage, and in order to inform the Council’s decision on what sites could be 
selected for allocation in the Local Plan, the Council has also considered 
other strands of evidence or appraisals. 

7.3 These additional strands are: 

 The Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 and 2); 

 An appraisal of Green Belt boundaries;  

 The Sustainability Appraisal; 

 Flood Risk – Sequential Test; and 

 An appraisal of strategic advantages or disadvantages. 
 

7.4 It should be noted that Green Belt and other considerations such as 
Landscape Capacity and Sensitivity and infrastructure constraints, were 
previously set out in the 2014 Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 
(SHLAA) but the Council received a number of representations in response to 
the Local Plan Consultation 2015 that greater clarity would be welcomed in 
explaining why sites were considered more favourable than others.  

7.5 Responding to such comments, matters such as the contribution that sites 
make to the purposes of the Green Belt and Landscape Capacity and 
Sensitivity (which is dealt with in the Sustainability Appraisal) have been 
removed from the HELAA 2016 (the updated version of the 2014 SHLAA) and 
included in this Housing Sites Selection – Background Paper.  

7.6 This Background Paper sets out how the key findings from all the above have 
been weighted and balanced on a site by site basis and indicates whether 
sites should be considered for allocation.  

7.7 Consideration is also given, where relevant, to any cumulative impacts or 
reasons, which may affect whether or not a site, or a group of sites, goes 
forward to allocation.  

7.8 Site level findings are also weighed against any known strategic infrastructure 
constraints on a settlement basis.  

7.9 Consideration is given to the key policy implications that would arise if a site 
were to be allocated.  

7.10 The potential capacity of sites is reflected against the Objectively Assessed 
Need for Housing. 

7.11 Findings are presented on a settlement by settlement basis (or rural areas as 
appropriate) within the main body of this Paper. Appendices set out templates 
for the sites considered at this stage.  

 

  

Page 87



12 
 

8. Strands of Evidence and Appraisals 

Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) 

8.1 The Welwyn Hatfield HELAA 2016 considers a large number of sites that 
have put forward for development at various stages of the plan making 
process. This includes sites that were:  

 Previously put forward (but not allocated) as part of the District Plan Public 
Inquiry which was held in 2003;  

 Within potential Broad Locations identified in the Core Strategy Issues and 
Options 2009 document; or as more defined in the Emerging Core 
Strategy and Land for Housing Outside Urban Areas consultation in 2012;  

 Promoted through the original call for sites in 2007 or as suggested by the 
Council’s consultants at that time; or 

 Subsequently promoted either through a consultation event such as the 
Local Plan Consultation 2015 or direct to the Council at any time until 
August 2015 

8.2 The HELAA 2016 can be found on the website2.  

8.3 The Council has published various versions of the Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment (SHLAA): SHLAA Phase 1 (Urban Capacity) 2009; 
SHLAA Phase 2 (Sites Outside Urban Areas) 2012; SHLAA Phase 3 
(Potential for Windfall Development) 2012. A review of the Phase 1 SHLAA 
(Urban Capacity) was published in December 2013 and a further review of the 
Phase 1 SHLAA was published in November 2014, reflecting the continuing 
submission of additional sites. An update of the Stage 3 SHLAA (Windfall) 
was published in November 2014 and an update of the Stage 2 SHLAA (Sites 
outside Urban Areas) was published in December 2014. In 2016, the Council 
brought together all three strands of the SHLAA (urban sites, land outside 
urban areas and windfall potential) into one comprehensive document; the 
Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) 2016.  

8.4 A sieving process is used in the HELAA to decide whether or not a site is 
considered unsuitable for allocation. Sites are considered unsuitable at the 
first Stage of sieving because (in summary) they are subject to a key policy or 
environmental constraint (such as a wildlife or heritage asset), because all of 
a site is located within flood zone 3, or because there is a significant physical 
barrier to development (e.g. no suitable access). The HELAA 2016 explains 
this in greater detail. 

8.5 Sites that are not contiguous with an urban settlement boundary or where the 
opportunity does not exist to redefine Green Belt boundaries are also sieved 
out at the first Stage of the HELAA assessment as they would not direct 
growth to the most sustainable locations within the borough consistent with 
the objectives of the NPPF. This means that sites located within remote rural 
areas, or in villages that are washed over by the Green Belt are not carried 
forward to the second stage of assessment in the HELAA.  

                                            
2
 HELAA 2016: http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/5501/Housing 

 

Page 88

http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/5501/Housing


13 
 

8.6 The exception to this is if sites are large enough to create a sustainable new 
village or, in the case of Gypsy and Traveller sites, as national planning policy 
allows such sites to be inset within the Green Belt and these do not 
necessarily need to adjoin an existing urban boundary in order to be 
considered suitable for allocation. 

8.7 The second Stage of the HELAA assessment considers whether sites are 
suitable, available and achievable. There are 78 sites that have been 
assessed as suitable, available and achievable in the HELAA. Only sites that 
would involve 5 or more dwellings in the excluded villages or 10 or more 
dwellings in the towns, are considered further in this Sites Selection 
Background Paper. This means that 10 sites are not considered further in this 
Paper because they are too small to be allocated in the Local Plan.  

8.8 68 sites are considered in this Housing Sites Selection Background Paper; 
noting that for 3 of these sites (BrP12, Hat11 and WGC4/7), alternative 
scenarios are considered (either in this Housing Background Paper, or in the 
Employment Background Paper, or in both Papers where mixed use 
development is promoted).  

8.9 It should also be noted that some sites have been promoted as sub-parts of 
larger sites, e.g. Cuf10 is a smaller parcel of Cuf4, and Cuf12 is a smaller 
parcel of Cuf5. These all have separate site references; whereas the 
scenarios mentioned above share the same site references. 

The Green Belt Review (Stage 1) 

8.10 The Stage 1 Green Belt Review (November 2013) is a Strategic Review of the 
Green Belt, jointly commissioned by Welwyn Hatfield, St Albans and Dacorum 
Borough and District councils. It provides an assessment of how land in the 
Green Belt in these local authority areas, contribute to national and local 
purposes of including land within the Green Belt. It classifies settlements into 
three tiers; Primary settlements/towns are defined as 1st tier, secondary 
settlements/large villages are categorised as 2nd tier, and other 
settlements/small villages within the Green Belt are categorised as 3rd tier.  

8.11 For Welwyn Hatfield, 1st tier settlements are Welwyn Garden City and 
Hatfield, 2nd tier settlements are the eight excluded villages (Brookmans Park, 
Cuffley, Digswell, Little Heath, Oaklands and Mardley Heath, Welham Green, 
Welwyn and Woolmer Green). 3rd tier settlements include the smaller Green 
belt villages of Essendon, Lemsford, Newgate Street and Northaw as well as 
the smaller hamlets and areas of ribbon development which are all located 
within the Green Belt.  

8.12 The Review considered four of the national purposes of including land within 
the Green Belt as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): 

 To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 

 To prevent neighbouring towns from merging into one another; 

 To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; and 

 To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns. 

8.13 The fifth purpose (to assist urban regeneration) was screened out as it was 
already apparent at the time the Green Belt Review was carried out that there 

Page 89



14 
 

was a limited supply of available or unallocated brownfield land in the three 
local authority areas and that hitherto, the Green Belt had served a successful 
purpose in assisting urban regeneration. All parcels of land within the Green 
Belt Review were therefore considered to perform equally well against this 
purpose and any attempt to differentiate between sites was considered to be 
meaningless. 

8.14 In addition to preventing towns merging (one of the NPPF purposes), the 
Green Belt has also been successful in maintaining the existing settlement 
pattern within Hertfordshire by providing a range of spaces and gaps between 
villages and towns and between villages, preventing them from merging into 
one another.  

8.15 The Hertfordshire Structure Plan Review 1991-2011 (paragraph 118) 
established a strategy that sought to broadly maintain the general settlement 
pattern in Hertfordshire, concentrating development within the main urban 
areas which were listed in Policy 6.  

8.16 To maintain the existing settlement pattern is still considered relevant and the 
Green Belt Study Stage 1 also assesses the contribution that land makes to 
this Local Purpose. 

8.17 For the purposes of the Green Belt Stage 1 Review (November 2013), the 
Green Belt was subdivided into 66 strategic parcels of land. All parcels were 
then assessed against each of the four national Green Belt purposes and the 
local Green Belt purpose. The assessment classified the contribution that 
each parcel makes as either: a significant contribution; a partial contribution; 
or limited or no contribution.  

8.18 Assessments also considered at a strategic level the existing level of built 
development in the Green belt, visual openness and countryside character.  

8.19 The Stage 1 Green Belt Review 2013 can be found on the website3. Parcels 
GB34, 35, 36, 41, 42, 43A, 43B, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 
56, 57, 58, 59 and 60 are the parcels assessed in Annex 1.3 for Welwyn 
Hatfield. 

Green Belt Review Stage 2 

8.20 The Stage 2 Green Belt Review (October 2014) brought together key findings 
of the Stage 1 Green Belt Review with site level assessments of sites 
identified in the SHLAA and the Gypsy and Traveller Land Availability 
Assessment. It considered the contribution that each site makes towards the 
four national Green Belt purposes and one local Green Belt purpose. A similar 
classification was used to the Stage1 assessment; so that levels of 
contribution a site makes to the purposes of the Green Belt have been 
classified as either ‘significant’, ‘partial’ or ‘limited or no’.  

8.21 An initial assessment was also made of site boundaries. However, a 
comparison with the strength of the existing Green Belt boundary was not 
considered and the Stage 2 Review acknowledged that a more detailed 

                                            
3
 Green Belt Review Stage 1 November 2013: http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/5488/Green-Belt-

Review 
 

Page 90

http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/5488/Green-Belt-Review
http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/5488/Green-Belt-Review


15 
 

boundary assessment would need to be undertaken. The Stage 2 Green Belt 
Review (October 2014) can be found on the website4 

Green Belt Boundaries 

8.22 As part of the Site Selection process, an appraisal was made of Green Belt 
boundaries comparing, on a site by site basis, the relative strength of existing 
and proposed boundaries. The strength of each boundary was considered on 
the following basis: 

Table 2: Strength of Green Belt boundaries 

Strong  

(prominent physical features) 

Moderate  

(less physical features) 

Weak  

(no definable or weak 
boundary on the ground) 

 Roads  

(Motorways/A & B roads) 

 Railways 

 Buildings/urban edge 

 Extensive/Ancient 
Woodland 

 Rivers (Lea and 
Mimram) 

 

 Minor roads (C roads and 
unclassified) 

 ROW: Public footpaths, 
bridleways, cycle ways 

 Property boundaries 

 Small woodland 

 Streams/brooks (all other 
watercourses except the 
Lea and Mimram) 

 Established tree 
belt/hedgerow (continuous 
or with minor gaps) 

 Distinctive topography, 
e.g. ridgeline 

 Environmental 
designation 

 Pylons/towers 
supporting overhead 
lines 

 Fragmented hedgerow  

 Ditches 

 Individual or small 
clusters of trees 

 Fragmented tree 
belt/hedgerow 

 Farm track (not a 
ROW) 

 No definable boundary 

 
8.23 The Site Selection process also considered if a site falls within a fragile gap of 

around 1km between settlements (towns to towns, villages to villages or 
villages to towns) and if so, whether a site would have a marginal or 
significant effect on such a fragile gap.  

The Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 

8.24 The Council is required to consider wider social, environmental and economic 
effects when preparing plans and it is a legal requirement for local plans to be 
subject to SA and SEA throughout their preparation. The Council has 
commissioned specialist consultants to undertake a Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA) incorporating Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of its Local 
Plan. An SA Report has informed each stage of Local Plan preparation, 
setting out the potential sustainability effects of sites and policies for inclusion 
in the Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan. (The SA Report also reports on the 
summary conclusions of the HRA).  

8.25 The SA methodology appraises sites and policy intentions against 6 long-term 
SA objectives (health improvement; safe communities; good citizenship; 
improving the environment; decent housing; and a thriving economy) and a 
set of 22 associated sub-objectives. Scores are attributed in the SA to each of 
the sub-objectives indicating the likely sustainability effects as follows: 

                                            
4
 Stage 2 Green Belt Revbiew (October 2014): http://www.welhat.gov.uk/greenbeltreviewstage2 

 

Page 91

http://www.welhat.gov.uk/greenbeltreviewstage2


16 
 

 

Table 3: Sustainability Appraisal scoring 

Score Description 

++ Significant positive effect likely 

+ Minor positive effect likely 

0 Negligible effect likely 

- Minor negative effect likely 

-- Significant negative effect likely 

+/- Mixed effect likely 

? Likely effect uncertain 

N/A Policy is not relevant to SA objective 

 

8.26 Sites that have been referred to in earlier stages of consultation have already 
been subject to sustainability appraisal. A number of new or amended sites 
were submitted too late to be included within, in response to, or subsequent to 
the Local Plan Consultation 2015.  

8.27 These have been assessed in the HELAA 2016 and where sites have passed 
the Stage 1 sieving process and are then considered in the HELAA to be 
suitable, available and achievable, and involve 5 or more dwellings for the 
excluded villages and 10 or more dwellings for the towns; these sites have 
also been subject to SA.  

8.28 The SA will however, need to be reviewed to consider policies in the Local 
Plan Proposed Submission version. As a result, some SA scores may need to 
be reviewed and amended as appropriate. Therefore the reference to the SA 
in this Sites Selection Background Paper should viewed as an interim position 
as part of the iterative process of carrying out the SA. 

Flood Risk 

8.29 As part of the preparation of the Local Plan, the Council commissioned 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) Level 1 and Level 2. Published in 
December 2015 (and amended in May 2016), this updates and replaces the 
2009 SFRA. The 2015 study assesses flood risk from all types of flooding in 
the borough, taking into account climate change, in line with current national 
policy and guidance. The Level 2 SFRA assesses flood risk associated with a 
number of specified sites in more detail.  

8.30 The SFRA can be found on the website5. 

  

                                            
5
 SFRA December 2015: http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/5503/Environment-and-Climate-Change 

 

Page 92

http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/5503/Environment-and-Climate-Change


17 
 

 

8.31 Where part of a site falls within Flood Zones 2, 3a or 3b, and a sequential 
approach to layout that restricts development to Flood Zone 1 within a site is 
feasible, the site passes the Sequential Test and an Exception Test does not 
need to be applied.  

8.32 All sites in this Housing Sites Selection Background Paper pass the 
Sequential Test.  

Strategic Advantages or Disadvantages 

8.33 Consideration is also given to whether there are any strategic advantages or 
disadvantages that may set a particular site apart from other sites, e.g. the on-
site or associated off-site provision (or loss) of community or other 
infrastructure that would not otherwise be provided on other sites. 

Strategic infrastructure and cumulative impacts 

8.34 Where strategic infrastructure constraints are known to exist, these are set out 
on a settlement by settlement basis as is the potential for constraints or 
impacts that may affect the consideration of a group of sites. 

Indicative site capacities 

8.35 Indicative site capacities are based on evidence that is proportionate to a 
strategic level assessment carried out as part of the plan making process. 

8.36 A relatively cautious approach has generally been applied in light of known 
constraints and whilst the approach taken is considered to have resulted in a 
robust measure, these are not intended to be definitive. Once planning 
applications are received, it should be noted that the indicative capacities may 
vary slightly (either upwards or downwards). 

 

  

Page 93



18 
 

9. Weighting 

9.1 A set of tables can be found in the Appendices containing an assessment of 
each of the sites considered in this Housing Sites Selection Background 
Paper. Each site is considered in light of: 

 The HELAA; 

 The Green Belt Review Stages 1 and 2; 

 An appraisal of Green Belt boundaries; 

 The Sustainability Appraisal (significant positive and negative effects); 

 Flood Risk; and 

 Strategic Advantages and Disadvantages. 

9.2 Where relevant, weighting is applied to each of part of the assessment and a 
summary conclusion is provided at the end of each assessment table together 
with any policy implications should the site be allocated.  

9.3 The following sections describe how weightings have been applied. Variations 
may be applicable on a site by site basis, where the circumstances of a 
particular site vary slightly from the general weighting definitions. These 
should therefore be viewed as a set of guidelines for weighting purposes to 
aid decision making and not definitive in description.  

Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) 

9.4 The HELAA involves a thorough strategic level assessment of whether a site 
is considered suitable, available and achievable during the plan period. Only 
sites that are considered suitable in the HELAA have been included in this 
Site Selection Background Paper (if they are considered unsuitable, then the 
HELAA sets out the reasons why this conclusion has been reached). 

9.5 Many sites have a number of constraints that need to be overcome before 
development can proceed. The HELAA considers whether such constraints 
can be overcome, whether constraints may reduce or limit the quantum of 
development in any way, whether any further assessments may need to be 
carried out either before or in association with a planning application and 
whether such constraints may affect achievability.  

9.6 Having considered all of this, the HELAA concludes whether or not, even with 
the acknowledged constraints, development is considered to be achievable 
and if so, at what point in the plan period are sites likely to be delivered. So, if 
for example there are infrastructure constraints which require a lead-in time in 
advance of development taking place, this is taken into account in the HELAA. 

9.7 The delivery estimate is therefore a key conclusion as it takes into account 
known constraints. All sites where there is a reasonable prospect of delivery 
within the plan period have a positive weight afforded to them. Sites that have 
greater certainty, and are expected to be delivered in the early to mid-parts of 
the plan period are given a more favourable weighting than sites that carry a 
degree of uncertainty (due to the need to overcome noted constraints) and 
are not expected to come forward until the later part of the plan period or 
beyond the plan period.  

  

Page 94



19 
 

Table 4: HELAA weighting 

Delivery timeframe (from adoption of plan) Weighting 

0-5 years Significant in favour 

0-10 years Moderate in favour 

6-10 years Moderate in favour 

11-15 years Minor in Favour 

16 + years Minor against 

Green Belt Study Review Stages 1 and 2 

9.8 Greater weight is afforded to the contribution a site makes to national Green 
Belt purposes in recognition of the importance afforded to them by the NPPF. 
However, recognition is also given to the local Green Belt purpose where a 
site makes a significant or partial contribution to maintaining settlement 
pattern; providing gaps between smaller settlements and preventing 
coalescence.  

Table 5: Contribution to Green Belt purposes weighting 

Contribution to Green Belt purposes Weighting 

2 significant national purposes Significant against 

1 significant national purpose Moderate against 

2 partial national purposes and/or a significant local purposes Minor against 

1 partial national purpose and a partial local purpose Minor in favour 

Limited or no national or local purposes Moderate in favour 

Urban sites Significant in favour 

 
Green Belt Boundaries 

9.9 Consistent with the NPPF, account has been taken of the need to define 
boundaries clearly, using physical features that are readily recognisable and 
likely to be permanent. A comparison has also been made with the strength of 
the existing Green Belt boundary. The weighting applied is as follows. 

Table 6: Green Belt boundary weighting 

Strength of boundaries  Weighting 

New boundary would be stronger overall or in part than 
existing boundary and is clearly defined 

Significant in favour 

New boundary would be similar in strength to the existing 
boundary and is clearly defined 

Moderate in favour 

New boundary would be partially weaker than the existing 
boundary but is clearly defined 

Minor in favour 

New boundary would be partially weaker than the existing 
boundary and is not clearly defined 

Minor against 

New boundary would be predominantly weaker than the 
existing boundary but would be clearly defined 

Moderate against 

New boundary would be predominantly weaker than the 
existing boundary and would not be clearly defined 

Significant against 

Page 95



20 
 

9.10 Some sites also fall within an existing fragile gap (considered in this Site 
Selection Background Paper as being a gap between towns or towns and 
villages or villages to villages of less than 1km). In these instances the impact 
on the reduction in the gap as a result of a site forming a new Green Belt 
boundary has also been considered.  

9.11 Greater weight has been given to the impact on a fragile gap between 1st tier 
settlements (towns to towns) than to the impact on a fragile gap between 
villages and villages or villages to towns, reflecting the importance afforded by 
the NPPF to preventing neighbouring towns from merging into one another. 

9.12 Where sites fall within a fragile gap, weighting has been applied as follows. 

Table 7: Green Belt boundary weighting where sites fall within a fragile gap 

Fragile gap Weighting 

Site would marginally reduce an existing fragile gap between 
towns and villages (1

st
 tier to 2

nd
 or 3

rd
 tier settlements) or 

villages to villages (2
nd

 or 3
rd

 tier settlements) 
Minor against 

Site would marginally reduce an existing fragile gap between 
towns (1

st
 tier settlements),or significantly reduce an existing 

fragile gap between towns and villages (1
st
 tier to 2

nd
 or 3

rd
 tier 

settlements) or villages to villages (2
nd

 or 3
rd

 tier settlements) 

Moderate against 

Site would significantly reduce an existing fragile gap between 
1

st
 tier settlements (towns to towns) 

Significant against 

Sustainability Appraisal 

9.13 The Sustainability Appraisal (SA) attributes scores to a set of 22 sub-
objectives, such as avoiding or reducing air pollution (4.3), protecting and 
enhancing open space and landscape character, retaining local 
distinctiveness (4.4) etc. The SA indicates the likely sustainability effects on 
each sub-objective and whether any mitigation may be required. 

9.14 It is not the place of the Site Selection process to revisit any of those scores 
but the Site Selection process does take the balance of scores into account. 

9.15 For the purposes of Site Selection, weight has been given to the relative 
balance between the significant positive and significant negative effects 
associated with the SA assessment of each site. The SA of course identifies a 
wide range of other potential effects, minor positive/negative etc but it is the 
most significant effects that are considered in this paper. 

Table 8: Sustainability Appraisal weighting significant positive and negative effects 

Sustainability Appraisal Weighting 

More than 3 times double positives (++) than double negatives 
(--) (e.g. 7:1 or 8:2) 

Significant in favour 

2 to 3 times more double positives (++) than double negatives 
(--) (e.g. 6:2 or 7:3) 

Moderate in favour 

Less than twice as many double positives (++) than double 
negatives (--), e.g. 5:3 or 6:4 

Minor in favour 

Page 96



21 
 

 

Flood Risk 

9.16 Development potential has been excluded from areas Flood Zones 2 and 3. 
All of the sites in this Background Paper pass the Sequential Test, and as a 
result no weighting is given in the Site Selection process to any one site over 
another as they are all equal in this respect.  

9.17 However, note may be made on a site by site basis where certain measures 
or further assessments may be considered appropriate. 

Strategic Advantages or Disadvantages 

9.18 This section considers whether a site is likely to result in any strategic 
advantages that would not normally be delivered on other (e.g. smaller) sites.  

9.19 For example, a site may present the opportunity to deliver important 
community infrastructure such as a secondary or primary school, strategic 
Green Infrastructure that forms part of a strategic planned network of sites, or 
a large or small neighbourhood centre, which can only be delivered in 
association with a significant level of growth. Without such sites, essential 
community infrastructure is unlikely to be delivered alongside growth in the 
borough and this is considered important to take into account. Alternatively, a 
site may provide an opportunity to deliver employment floor space to 
contribute towards the borough’s economic growth strategy or make a direct 
contribution towards regeneration priorities.  

9.20 A site may also provide an opportunity to provide enhanced facilities for an 
adjoining community use. However, whilst these may be viewed as a wider 
community benefit (beyond what is absolutely necessary for a development to 
be considered suitable in principle), they are unlikely to be essential to the 
overall delivery of growth in the borough and are afforded less weight than the 
need to deliver strategic infrastructure alongside growth in the interests of 
sustainable development. 

9.21 Conversely, this part of the Site Selection process notes if the development of 
certain sites may result in any strategic disadvantages, such as the loss of 
existing community or other infrastructure, with or without an opportunity for 
replacement during the plan period.  

9.22 The greater the strategic advantage or disadvantage, the greater the weight is 
afforded along the following lines. 

  

Page 97



22 
 

 

Table 9: Strategic advantages or disadvantages weighting 

Strategic Advantages or Disadvantages Weighting 

Large scale infrastructure provision, such as a secondary 
school, a large neighbourhood centre or large parcel of 
strategic Green Infrastructure (GI), opportunity to make 
significant provision for employment land. 

Significant in favour 

Primary school, provision, small neighbourhood centre, 
moderate contribution to strategic GI, moderate contribution to 
employment land supply. 

Moderate in favour 

Other new community infrastructure which would serve new 
and existing communities / enhancement to existing 
community facilities 

Minor in favour 

Loss of a small community facility but with a reasonable 
prospect of replacement within the plan period 

Minor against 

Loss of a small community facility but with no reasonable 
prospect of replacement within the plan period.  

Moderate against 

Loss or significant reduction in a strategic community facility or 
other infrastructure with no reasonable prospect of 
replacement within the plan period. Significantly inconsistent 
with settlement strategy. 

Significant against 

 

  

Page 98



23 
 

10. Settlement conclusions - Welwyn Garden City 

10.1 For indicative purposes, a proportionate approach to distributing growth to the 
borough’s towns, excluded villages and rural areas suggests that Welwyn 
Garden City would need to accommodate between 5,652 and 6,018 
additional dwellings between 2013 and 2032. 

Table 10: Welwyn Garden City: supply and shortfall against the OAN 

Completions 
2013-2016 

Urban Capacity – sites 
with planning 

permission 
Sub-total Shortfall against OAN 

359 806 1,165 4,487-4,853 

Key Infrastructure issues  

10.2 Secondary Schools: Hertfordshire County Council as the education authority 
advise that it would be prudent to plan for an additional yield of approximately 
12.5 FE to accommodate combined growth associated with Welwyn Garden 
City, Woolmer Green, Oaklands and Mardley Heath, Welwyn and Digswell. In 
addition, a further 1 FE will be required to deal with the needs of an adjoining 
out of borough village (Codicote). Taking into account the likelihood of pus-
back (re-direction) of students attending schools out of the borough, a total of 
14.5 FE additional secondary school capacity is required. 

10.3 The education authority has assumed that the three existing secondary 
schools in Welwyn Garden City could each increase by 1 FE. To meet the 
shortfall of up to 11.5FE, two new secondary school sites need to be 
identified, each with 6FE and with the potential to expand to 8FE. One of 
those sites is already identified within an area known as Birchall Garden 
Suburb, to the east of Welwyn Garden City but within the administrative area 
of East Herts. This leaves a shortfall of between 3.5 and 5.5FE depending on 
the capacity of the school at Birchall Garden Suburb. The education authority 
considers that an additional 6FE secondary school would address the 
shortfall. 

10.4 Hertfordshire County Council has commenced a Search for Sites, which will 
consider the suitability of possible sites within both urban and Green Belt 
areas. This work is progressing at the same time as the Welwyn Hatfield 
Local Plan is being prepared.  

10.5 At this stage in plan production, the options would be to either reduce the 
level of growth in Welwyn Garden City and the northern villages whilst the 
result of the Search for Sites is awaited or, to include a criteria based policy in 
the Local Plan to guide the determination of a planning application once a site 
has been identified.  

10.6 A criteria based policy would prevent an unreasonable delay in plan 
production and the Plan would still be positively prepared.  

  

Page 99



24 
 

 

10.7 Primary School: Hertfordshire County Council as the education authority 
advises that it would be prudent to plan for an additional yield of 
approximately 11.5 FE. Three new primary schools are proposed at WGC4 
(Panshanger), WGC5 (Birchall Garden Suburb) and on land within East Herts. 
An existing school within Welwyn Garden City could be expanded by 2 FE 
and there is some limited expansion potential at other existing primary 
schools. 

10.8 An additional 2 FE primary school is likely to be required to serve the needs 
arising from Welwyn Garden City. This may form part of the outcome of the 
search for a secondary school site (as above) as an all-through school. 
Alternatively, an additional site to be identified within the borough to 
accommodate increased primary school capacity.  

10.9 Further options would be to either reduce the level of growth in Welwyn 
Garden City or, to include a criteria based policy in the Local Plan to guide the 
determination of a planning application once a site has been identified.  

10.10 A criteria based policy would prevent an unreasonable delay in plan 
production and would still be positively prepared. 

Site by Site Conclusions 

10.11 Conclusions for individual sites in Welwyn Garden City are set out in a table at 
Appendix A.  These are in addition to individual site assessments contained in 
the HELAA. 

Urban sites 

10.12 The following urban sites in Welwyn Garden City are considered suitable for 
allocation.  

Table 11: Welwyn Garden City: urban sites considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Indicative 
capacity 

Hal02 Land at Waterside 20 

Hal03 Ratcliff Tail Lift Site, Bessemer Road 110 

Han40 Welwyn Garden City Town Centre North SPD Site 100 

Han91 Land at Gosling Sports Park, Stanborough Road 250 

Hol19 Hyde Valley House, Hyde Valley 17 

Pan01b Land at Bericot Way (North) 28 

Pea02b Broadwater Road West SPD Site (North)
6
 850 

Pea02c Broadwater Road West SPD Site (West)
7
 171 

Pea08 80 Bridge Road East 32 

Pea24 St Michaels House, Holwell Road 22 

Small Sites  17 

Total 1,617 

 

                                            
6
 Also refer to Employment Sites Selection – Background Paper 2016 

7
 Also refer to Employment Sites Selection – Background Paper 2016 

Page 100



25 
 

10.13 The following urban site in Welwyn Garden City is not considered suitable for 
allocation in the Local Plan for the summary reasons set out below.  

Table 12: Welwyn Garden City: urban sites not considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Reason for not allocating in the Local 
Plan 

Indicative 
capacity 

How92 
Woodside Centre, 
The Commons 

Whilst there are no fundamental reasons 
why the site is not suitable for development, 
the loss of community facilities would be 
contrary to policy objectives unless a 
suitable replacement can be provided. 
There is therefore significant uncertainty 
around the deliverability of this site given 
the importance of and need for the 
relocation of existing occupiers on the site.  

22 

Total 22 

Green Belt sites and Area of Special Restraint (ASR) 

10.14 The following sites around Welwyn Garden City, which are either currently 
designated as Green Belt, or as an Area of Special Restraint, are considered 
suitable for allocation. 

Table 13: Welwyn Garden City: Area of Special Restraint considered suitable for 
allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Indicative 
capacity 

WGC4 (& 
WGC7) 

Panshanger (Area of Special Restraint) 650 

Total 650 

 

Table 14: Welwyn Garden City: Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Indicative 
capacity 

WGC1 Creswick 290 

WGC4 (& 
WGC7) 

Panshanger (Green Belt) 75 

WGC5 South east of Welwyn Garden City 1200 

Total 1,565 

 

10.15 There are no Green Belt/ Area of Special Restraint sites around Welwyn 
Garden City that were found suitable, available and achievable in the HELAA 
that are not considered suitable for allocation in the Local Plan.  

Settlement Conclusion 

10.16 Total potential capacity from urban and Green Belt/Area of Special Restraint 
sites is 3,832.  

10.17 This is below the shortfall indicated against the proportionate distribution of 
the OAN. 

10.18 The full dwelling potential will need to be planned for and supported by the 
appropriate level of additional secondary and primary school capacity.   

Page 101



26 
 

11. Settlement conclusions - Hatfield 

11.1 For indicative purposes, a proportionate approach to distributing growth to the 
borough’s towns, excluded villages and rural areas suggests that Hatfield 
would need to accommodate between 3,855 and 4,105 additional dwellings 
between 2013 and 2032. 

Table 15Hatfield: supply and shortfall against the OAN 

Completions 
2013-2016 

Urban Capacity – sites 
with planning 
permission 

Sub-total Shortfall against OAN 

481 339 820 3,035-3,285 

Key Infrastructure issues  

11.2 Secondary Schools: Hertfordshire County Council as the education authority 
advise that it would be prudent to plan for an additional yield of approximately 
7.7FE within the plan period through the provision of one secondary. This 
could be delivered at Hat1. Further capacity may be required to address 
possible push-back (re-direction) from students attending schools out of the 
borough. An existing school could increase capacity. But this may still leave a 
shortfall which could be addressed at Hat1 (potentially up to 10 FE). 

11.3 Primary Schools: Hertfordshire County Council advise that it would be 
prudent to plan for an additional yield of approximately 7.7FE within the plan 
period. Having allowed for a new primary school at the new village at 
Symondshyde, a shortfall of 5.38 FE has been identified. The education 
authority considers that 2 FE expansion across two existing sites within 
Hatfield (1 FE expansion at each school) may be feasible, leaving a shortfall 
of 3.38 FE. This shortfall could be delivered at Hat1 through the provision of 
either two x 2FE or, one x 3 FE primary school. The education authority has 
raised no objection on primary school provision.  

11.4 Highways A high level growth scenario within the plan period, including 
Strategic Development Sites Hat1, Hat2 and Hat15 indicates that there will be 
impacts such as increased queuing at Junction 4 of the A1(M), and nearby 
junctions. However, Hertfordshire County Council as the highways authority 
advises that whilst forecast congestion at Junction 4 of the A1(M) would not 
be classed as a ‘showstopper’ at this stage, further work will need to be 
carried out to define mitigation schemes. At present, it is clear that housing 
from the Hat1, Hat2 and Hat15 sites would add additional pressure on the 
road network and whilst congestion could be eased to an extent with 
mitigation, it would be worse than at present. It is too early to say without 
further modelling if the residual impact of all three sites with appropriate 
mitigation would be acceptable but if there were other planning reasons for 
delivering one of the sites (most likely Hat2) later in the plan period (or 
beyond), this would provide additional time to consider the constraints in this 
location further and to drive a modal shift agenda. 

11.5 Utilities: There are no known major constraints for utilities infrastructure with 
the exception of the possible need to deliver a new 33KV sub-station north of 
Hatfield or to seek contributions to an upgrade at an existing electricity sub-
station site.  

Page 102



27 
 

 

Site Conclusions 

11.6 Conclusions for sites in Hatfield are set out in a table at Appendix B.  These 
are in addition to individual site assessments contained in the HELAA. 

Urban sites 

11.7 The following urban sites are considered suitable for allocation.  

Table 16: Hatfield: urban sites considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Indicative 
capacity 

HC94 Hatfield Fire Station, Wellfield Road 33 

HC100b 1-9 Town Centre 66 

HE23 L Kahn Manufacturing, Wellfield Road 62 

HE80 Onslow St Audrey School, Howe Dell 61 

HS31 Garages at Hollyfield 14 

HS91 Land south of Filbert Close 37 

HW100 High View (Hilltop), SPD site 87 

Small sites  9 

Total 369 

 

11.8 There are no urban sites in Hatfield that were found suitable, available and 
achievable in the HELAA that are not considered suitable for allocation in the 
Local Plan.  

Green Belt sites 

11.9 The following sites around Hatfield, which are currently designated as Green 
Belt, are considered suitable for allocation in the Local Plan. 

Table 17: Hatfield: Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Indicative 
capacity 

Hat1/Hat13) North-west of Hatfield (incorporating Astwick Manor Farm) 1,650 

Hat2 West of Hatfield (beyond the plan period) 1,130 

Total capacity 2,780 

Total capacity within plan period 1,650 

11.10 The following sites around Hatfield, which are currently designated as Green 
Belt, are not considered suitable for allocation in the Local Plan. 

  

Page 103



28 
 

 

Table 18: Hatfield: Green Belt sites not considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Reason for not allocating in the Local 
Plan 

Indicative 
capacity 

Hat11 

Scenario 1: 
6 ha site 

Land at Southway 

(Housing 
scenario)  

 

The site is located within a fragile gap 
between Hatfield and Welham Green 
although the gap is already partly 
compromised by the presence of 
existing development. The site provides 
a strong visual and physical barrier 
between the two settlements and 
development of this site would 
significantly reduce the gap between 
settlements. On balance this, alongside 
the adverse impacts upon the purposes 
of the Green Belt, are considered to 
outweigh the benefits of the site. 

120 

Hat11 

Scenario 3: 
12.5ha site 

Land at Southway 

(Mixed use 
scenario) 

The site is located within a fragile gap 
between Hatfield and Welham Green 
although the gap is already partly 
compromised by the presence of 
existing development. The site provides 
a strong visual and physical barrier 
between the two settlements and 
development of this site would 
significantly reduce the gap between 
settlements. On balance this, alongside 
the adverse impacts upon the purposes 
of the Green Belt, are considered to 
outweigh the benefits of the site. 

300 

Hat5 North of Roehyde 

On balance, the site’s minor benefits do 
not outweigh the adverse impact on 
Green Belt purposes or the creation of 
an irregular Green Belt boundary 

140 

Hat19 
Land west of 
Bramble Road 

On balance, the site’s benefits are not 
considered to outweigh the adverse 
impacts upon the purposes of the Green 
Belt and narrowing of the gap between 
1

st
 tier settlements. 

20 

Total 280-460 

 
  

Page 104



29 
 

 

Settlement Conclusion 

11.11 Total potential capacity from urban and Green Belt sites is 3,149. However, a 
potential capacity of 1,130 from a large Green Belt site is not considered 
suitable for allocation within the plan period.  

11.12 This leaves a residual capacity for Hatfield of 2,019 within the plan period.  

11.13 This is below the shortfall indicated against the proportionate distribution of 
the OAN. 

  

Page 105



30 
 

 

12. Settlement conclusions - Woolmer Green 

12.1 For indicative purposes, a proportionate approach to distributing growth to the 
borough’s towns, excluded villages and rural areas suggests that Woolmer 
Green would need to accommodate between 161 and 172 additional 
dwellings between 2013 and 2032. 

Table 19: Woolmer Green: supply and shortfall against the OAN 

Completions 
2013-2016 

Urban Capacity – sites 
with planning 
permission 

Sub-total Shortfall against OAN 

0 4 4 157-168 

 

Key Infrastructure issues  

12.2 Secondary Schools: Hertfordshire County Council as the education authority 
advise that it would be prudent to plan for an additional yield of approximately 
12.5 FE to accommodate combined growth associated with Welwyn Garden 
City, Woolmer Green, Oaklands and Mardley Heath, Welwyn and Digswell. In 
addition, a further 1 FE will be required to deal with the needs of an adjoining 
out of borough village (Codicote). Taking into account the likelihood of push-
back (re-direction) of students attending schools out of the borough, a total of 
14.5 FE additional secondary school capacity is required. 

12.3 The education authority has assumed that the three existing secondary 
schools in Welwyn Garden City could increase by 1 FE. To meet the shortfall 
of up to 11.5FE, two new secondary school sites need to be identified, each 
with 6FE and with the potential to expand to 8FE. One of those sites is 
already identified within an area known as Birchall Garden Suburb, to the east 
of Welwyn Garden City but within the administrative area of East Herts. This 
leaves a shortfall of between 3.5 and 5.5FE depending on the capacity of the 
school at Birchall Garden Suburb. The education authority considers that an 
additional 6FE secondary school would address the shortfall. 

12.4 Hertfordshire County Council has commenced a search for sites, which will 
consider the suitability of possible sites within the urban area and within the 
Green Belt. This work is progressing at the same time as the Welwyn Hatfield 
Local Plan is being prepared. 

12.5 Primary schools: Primary school provision is planned for across Woolmer 
Green, Oaklands and Mardley Heath and Welwyn.  Each settlement has its 
own school. A growth scenario, comprising up to 540 dwellings across all 
three areas, being a combination of existing planning permissions and a 
limited amount of additional growth would generate a need for an additional 
1FE capacity. The education authority considers that the existing schools 
have capacity to support such a scenario without the need to permanently 
expand existing schools. 

12.6 For Woolmer Green, this means that limited growth of around 150 dwellings 
could be supported when considered alongside limited growth at Oaklands 
and Mardley Heath and Welwyn. 

Page 106



31 
 

Site Conclusions 

12.7 Conclusions for sites in Woolmer Green are set out at Appendix C.  

Urban sites 

12.8 There are no urban sites considered suitable or not suitable for allocation in 
the Local Plan.  

Green Belt sites 

12.9 The following site around Woolmer Green, which is currently designated as 
Green Belt, is considered suitable for allocation in the Local Plan. 

Table 20: Woolmer Green: Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Indicative 
capacity 

WGr1 East of Great North Road 150 

Total 150 

12.10 The following sites around Woolmer Green, which are currently designated as 
Green Belt, are not considered suitable for allocation in the Local Plan.  

Table 21: Woolmer Green: Green Belt sites not considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Reason for not allocating in the Local 
Plan 

Indicative 
capacity 

WGr3 
Adj. 52 London 
Road 

A new Green Belt boundary would be 
weaker than the existing boundary and 
the development of the site would 
significantly reduce an existing fragile 
Green Belt gap between villages. 
Together with WGr2, the gap between 
villages would be completely eroded. 

40 

Total 40 

 

Settlement Conclusion 

12.11 Total potential capacity from Green Belt sites is 150. 

12.12 This is broadly in line with the shortfall indicated against the proportionate 
distribution of the OAN. 

 
 
 
 

  

Page 107



32 
 

13. Settlement conclusions - Oaklands and Mardley Heath 

13.1 For indicative purposes, a proportionate approach to distributing growth to the 
borough’s towns, excluded villages and rural areas suggests that Oaklands 
and Mardley Heath would need to accommodate between 343 and 365 
additional dwellings between 2013 and 2032. 

Table 22: Oaklands and Mardley Heath: supply and shortfall against the OAN 

Completions 
2013-2016 

Urban Capacity – sites 
with planning 
permission 

Sub-total Shortfall against OAN 

9 15 24 319-341 

 

Key Infrastructure issues  

13.2 Secondary Schools: Hertfordshire County Council as the education authority 
advises that it would be prudent to plan for an additional yield of 
approximately 12.5 FE to accommodate combined growth associated with 
Welwyn Garden City, Woolmer Green, Oaklands and Mardley Heath, Welwyn 
and Digswell. In addition, a further 1 FE will be required to deal with the needs 
of an adjoining out of borough village (Codicote). Taking into account the 
likelihood of pus-back (re-direction) of students attending schools out of the 
borough, a total of 14.5 FE additional secondary school capacity is required. 

13.3 The education authority has assumed that the three existing secondary 
schools in Welwyn Garden City could increase by 1 FE. To meet the shortfall 
of up to 11.5FE, two new secondary school sites need to be identified, each 
with 6FE and with the potential to expand to 8FE. One of those sites is 
already identified within an area known as Birchall Garden Suburb, to the east 
of Welwyn Garden City but within the administrative area of East Herts. This 
leaves a shortfall of between 3.5 and 5.5FE depending on the capacity of the 
school at Birchall Garden Suburb. The education authority considers that an 
additional 6FE secondary school would address the shortfall. 

13.4 Hertfordshire County Council has commenced a search for sites, which will 
consider the suitability of possible sites within the urban area and within the 
Green Belt. This work is progressing at the same time as the Welwyn Hatfield 
Local Plan is being prepared. Until such time as a suitable site has been 
identified, the education authority would be likely to object to growth which 
would not be supported by sufficient secondary school capacity. 

13.5 Primary schools: Primary school provision is planned for across Woolmer 
Green, Oaklands and Mardley Heath and Welwyn.  Each settlement has its 
own school. A growth scenario, comprising up to 540 dwellings across all 
three areas, being a combination of existing planning permissions and a 
limited amount of additional growth would generate a need for an additional 
1FE capacity. The education authority considers that the existing schools 
have capacity to support such a scenario without the need to permanently 
expand existing schools.  

13.6 For Oaklands and Mardley Heath, this means that limited growth of around 
50-60 dwellings could be supported alongside limited growth at Welwyn and 
Woolmer Green. 

Page 108



33 
 

Site Conclusions 

13.7 Conclusions for sites in Oaklands and Mardley Heath are set out at Appendix 
D.  

Urban sites 

13.8 There are no urban sites considered suitable or not suitable for allocation in 
the Local Plan.  

Green Belt sites 

13.9 The following sites around Oaklands and Mardley Heath, which are currently 
designated as Green Belt, are considered suitable for allocation in the Local 
Plan. 

Table 23: Oaklands and Mardley Heath: Green Belt sites considered suitable for 
allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Indicative 
capacity 

OMH5 2a-12 Great North Road 20 

OMH8 2 Great North Road 5 

GTLAA04 Four Oaks, Great North Road 6 

Total 31 

13.10 The following site around Oaklands and Mardley Heath, which is currently 
designated as Green Belt, is not considered suitable for allocation in the Local 
Plan. 

Table 24: Oaklands and Mardley Heath: Green Belt sites not considered suitable for 
allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Reason for not allocating in the Local 
Plan 

Indicative 
capacity 

OMH7 22 The Avenue 

The A1(M) currently forms a strong 
Green Belt boundary and the inability to 
create clearly defined and defensible 
Green Belt boundaries beyond the 
A1(M) outweighs the notable benefits of 
allocating the site. 

12 

Total 12 

Settlement Conclusion 

13.11 Total potential capacity from Green Belt sites is 31. 

13.12 This is significantly below the shortfall indicated against the proportionate 
distribution of the OAN. 

Page 109



34 
 

  

14. Settlement conclusions - Welwyn 

14.1 For indicative purposes, a proportionate approach to distributing growth to the 
borough’s towns, excluded villages and rural areas suggests that Welwyn 
would need to accommodate between 424 and 451 additional dwellings 
between 2013 and 2032. 

Table 25: Welwyn: supply and shortfall against the OAN 

Completions 
2013-2016 

Urban Capacity – sites 
with planning 
permission 

Sub-total Shortfall against OAN 

133 153 286 138-165 

Key Infrastructure issues  

14.2 Secondary Schools: Hertfordshire County Council as the education authority 
advise that it would be prudent to plan for an additional yield of approximately 
12.5 FE to accommodate combined growth associated with Welwyn Garden 
City, Woolmer Green, Oaklands and Mardley Heath, Welwyn and Digswell. In 
addition, a further 1 FE will be required to deal with the needs of an adjoining 
out of borough village (Codicote). Taking into account the likelihood of pus-
back (re-direction) of students attending schools out of the borough, a total of 
14.5 FE additional secondary school capacity is required. 

14.3 The education authority has assumed that the three existing secondary 
schools in Welwyn Garden City could increase by 1 FE. To meet the shortfall 
of up to 11.5FE, two new secondary school sites need to be identified, each 
with 6FE and with the potential to expand to 8FE. One of those sites is 
already identified within an area known as Birchall Garden Suburb, to the east 
of Welwyn Garden City but within the administrative area of East Herts. This 
leaves a shortfall of between 3.5 and 5.5FE depending on the capacity of the 
school at Birchall Garden Suburb. The education authority considers that an 
additional 6FE secondary school would address the shortfall. 

14.4 Hertfordshire County Council `has commenced a search for sites, which will 
consider the suitability of possible sites within the urban area and within the 
Green Belt. This work is progressing at the same time as the Welwyn Hatfield 
Local Plan is being prepared. 

14.5 Primary schools: Primary school provision is planned for across Woolmer 
Green, Oaklands and Mardley Heath and Welwyn.  Each settlement has its 
own school. A growth scenario, comprising up to 540 dwellings across all 
three areas, being a combination of existing planning permissions and a 
limited amount of additional growth would generate a need for an additional 
1FE capacity. The education authority considers that the existing schools 
have capacity to support such a scenario without the need to permanently 
expand existing schools. 

14.6 For Welwyn, one large site is already under construction (at The Frythe) and 
another has recently completed (at the former Clock Hotel site). This means 
that, when considered alongside limited growth at Woolmer Green and 
Oaklands and Mardley Heath, only a limited amount of additional growth could 

Page 110



35 
 

be supported at Welwyn without the need to permanently expand existing 
schools.  

14.7 Whilst St Mary’s VA C of E Primary School in Welwyn may have the potential 
to be expanded, it is a listed building and the education authority advises that 
this may limit expansion potential. In addition, a detached playing field and or 
multi-use games area (MUGA) may then be required to mitigate loss of 
playing fields and further feasibility work would be required. 

14.8 There is therefore a degree of uncertainty as to whether additional permanent 
primary school capacity could be created in Welwyn and it would be prudent 
to plan for only limited growth at Welwyn (in addition to recent planning 
permissions) alongside limited growth at Oaklands and Mardley Heath and 
Woolmer Green. 

Site Conclusions 

14.9 Conclusions for sites in Welwyn are set out at Appendix E.  

Urban sites 

14.10 There are no urban sites considered suitable or not suitable for allocation in 
the Local Plan.  

Green Belt sites 

14.11 The following sites around Welwyn, which are currently designated as Green 
Belt, are considered suitable for allocation in the Local Plan. 

Table 26: Welwyn: Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Indicative 
capacity 

Wel3 School Lane 7 

Wel4 Sandyhurst 30 

Wel11 The Vineyards 30 

Total 67 

14.12 The following sites around Welwyn, which are currently designated as Green 
Belt, are not considered suitable for allocation in the Local Plan. 

Table 27: Welwyn: Green Belt sites not considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Reason for not allocating in the Local 
Plan 

Indicative 
capacity 

Wel1 
Land at Kimpton 
Road 

Needs to be considered collectively with 
other sites and overcome a considerable 
number of constraints. Achievability is 
plausible within plan period but 
uncertain. Would erode an important 
gap between Welwyn and Codicote, 
resulting in continuous ribbon 
development.  

178 

 
  

Page 111



36 
 

  
Table 27 continued: Welwyn: Green Belt sites not considered suitable for allocation 
 

Site Ref Site name Reason for not allocating in the Local 
Plan 

Indicative 
capacity 

Wel2 
Land adjoining 
Welwyn Cemetery 

Does not adjoin existing urban 
boundary. Needs to be considered 
collectively with other sites and 
overcome a considerable number of 
constraints. Achievability is plausible 
within plan period but uncertain. Would 
erode an important gap between 
Welwyn and Codicote, resulting in 
continuous ribbon development.  

40 

Wel15 
Fulling Mill Lane 
(south) 

Site makes a significant contribution to 
two national Green Belt purposes. 
Achievability is dependent upon other 
sites. Heritage constraints would limit 
area for development and site (with 
others) would need to overcome a 
considerable number of other 
constraints. Collectively, these sites 
would erode an important gap between 
Welwyn and Codicote, resulting in 
continuous ribbon development. 
Achievability is plausible but uncertain.  

14 

Total 232 

Settlement Conclusion 

14.13 Total potential capacity from Green Belt sites is 67. 

14.14 Limited primary school capacity serving Welwyn, Oaklands and Mardley 
Heath and Woolmer Green and uncertainty around whether or not a listed 
primary school would be feasible to expand, would also weigh against further 
growth at Welwyn at the current time. 

14.15 There would however be a shortfall against the proportionate distribution of 
the OAN. 

 
 

  

Page 112



37 
 

 

15. Settlement conclusions - Digswell 

15.1 For indicative purposes, a proportionate approach to distributing growth to the 
borough’s towns, excluded villages and rural areas suggests that Digswell 
would need to accommodate between 182 and 193 additional dwellings 
between 2013 and 2032. 

Table 28: Digswell: supply and shortfall against the OAN 

Completions 
2013-2016 

Urban Capacity – sites 
with planning 
permission 

Sub-total Shortfall against OAN 

3 12 15 167-178 

 

Site Conclusions 

15.2 There are no sites assessed in the HELAA as suitable, available and 
achievable. Therefore there are no sites tables in Appendix F of this Sites 
Selection Background Paper, but for reference purposes, the HELAA map is 
included at Appendix F. 

15.3 There will therefore be a significant shortfall against the proportionate 
distribution of the OAN for Digswell. 

 
  

Page 113



38 
 

16. Settlement conclusions - Welham Green 

16.1 For indicative purposes, a proportionate approach to distributing growth to the 
borough’s towns, excluded villages and rural areas suggests that Welham 
Green would need to accommodate between 363 and 387 additional 
dwellings between 2013 and 2032. 

Table 29: Welham Green: supply and shortfall against the OAN 

Completions 
2013-2016 

Urban Capacity – sites 
with planning 
permission 

Sub-total Shortfall against OAN 

23 4 27 336-360 

Key Infrastructure issues  

16.2 Secondary Schools Children from Welham Green, Brookmans Park and 
Little Heath predominantly seek secondary school places in the Potters Bar 
planning area, mainly at Chancellors (in Brookmans Park). The education 
authority advises that feasibility is underway to review expansion potential and 
whilst assessment work has yet to conclude, it is expected to show that there 
is expansion potential at existing secondary schools in Potters Bar.  

16.3 However, if Potters Bar schools cannot accommodate additional yield from 
these settlements, it may be necessary for Hatfield to accommodate further 
school capacity.  

16.4 Primary Schools: There is one primary school in Welham Green which is a 
small 1 FE school and there is no opportunity to physically expand the school.  

16.5 Limited growth of around 80 dwellings at Welham Green (in addition to 
GTLAA01) could be accommodated within existing schools. 

16.6 Beyond this, additional primary school capacity will be required to address 
housing growth at Welham Green. The development potential on sites 
assessed as suitable, available and achievable in the HELAA would generate 
the need for around a further 1FE of primary school capacity.  

16.7 Hertfordshire County Council as the education authority would not object to a 
new 2 FE primary school in Welham Green (replacing the existing primary 
school and increasing capacity by 1 FE) if a suitable site could be identified 
and delivered alongside housing growth.  

16.8 No site has been identified in Welham Green and limited primary school 
capacity in Welham Green is currently a restraint on further housing growth. 

16.9 Highways: The Highway Authority has identified the Dixons Hill Road/A1000 
roundabout junction as a current congestion point. Capacity enhancements 
will be needed at this junction to enable development to take place and this is 
already being explored in connection with site WeG4b. 

16.10 Site conclusions 

16.11 Conclusions for sites in Welham Green are set out at Appendix G.  

Page 114



39 
 

Urban sites 

16.12 There are no urban sites considered suitable or not suitable for allocation in 
the Local Plan.  

Green Belt sites 

16.13 The following sites around Welham Green, which are currently designated as 
Green Belt, are considered suitable for allocation in the Local Plan. WeG4b 
offers an advantage when compared to other sites being promoted for 
Welham Green, of delivering much needed employment land to support jobs 
growth in the borough alongside a limited amount of housing growth. The 
education authority considers that capacity exists in existing primary schools 
to accommodate the additional pupil yield arising from limited housing growth 
on WeG4b. The Foxes Lane site is already occupied (in part without planning 
permission) but the education authority considers that primary school need is 
already accommodated.  

Table 30: Welham Green: Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Indicative 
capacity 

WeG4b 
Land at Marshmoor (mixed use, housing/employment). Includes 
WeG4a, referenced as area 5)

8
 

80 

GTLAA01 Foxes Lane 12 

Total 92 

16.14 There are a number of sites around Welham Green, which are currently 
designated as Green Belt, which are not considered suitable for allocation in 
the Local Plan. The table below summarises the reasons why. 

Table 31: Welham Green: Green Belt sites not considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Reason for not allocating in the Local 
Plan 

Indicative 
capacity 

WeG1 
Units 1-3, Welham 
Manor 

Whilst the site itself is suitable for 
development, the site does not present any 
strategic advantages and the lack of 
primary school capacity in Welham Green 
is currently a barrier to growth, with no site 
identified to resolve lack of capacity. 

10 

WeG3 
South of Welham 
Manor 

Whilst the site itself is suitable for 
development, the site does not present any 
strategic advantages and the lack of 
primary school capacity in Welham Green 
is currently a barrier to growth, with no site 
identified to resolve lack of capacity. If 
primary school capacity could be 
addressed, the opportunity to secure 
access via WeG15 should be explored to 
limit impact on Welham Manor. This may 
then allow for a slightly higher dwelling 
capacity on WeG3. 

45 

 
  

                                            
8
 Also refer to Employment Sites Selection – Background Paper 2016 

Page 115



40 
 

 
Table 31 continued: Welham Green: Green Belt sites not considered suitable for 
allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Reason for not allocating in the Local 
Plan 

Indicative 
capacity 

WeG4a Land at Marshmoor 

The limited amount of residential 
development (80 dwellings) does not by 
itself either justify the site being inset within 
the Green Belt creating weaker boundaries 
than existing or a significantly wider release 
of land from the Green Belt. A wider release 
is however considered as part of WeG4b. 
No indicative capacity is included within this 
table to avoid double counting. 

0 

WeG6 Skimpans Farm 

Whilst the site itself is suitable for 
development, the site does not present any 
strategic advantages and the lack of 
primary school capacity in Welham Green 
is currently a barrier to growth, with no site 
identified to resolve lack of capacity. 

73 

WeG10 Dixons Hill Road 

Whilst the site itself is suitable for 
development, the site does not present any 
strategic advantages and the lack of 
primary school capacity in Welham Green 
is currently a barrier to growth, with no site 
identified to resolve lack of capacity. 

120 

WeG12 Pooleys Lane 

Whilst the site itself is suitable for 
development, the site does not present any 
strategic advantages and the lack of 
primary school capacity in Welham Green 
is currently a barrier to growth, with no site 
identified to resolve lack of capacity. 

59 

WeG15 Potterells Farm 

Whilst the site itself is suitable for 
development, the site does not present any 
strategic advantages and the lack of 
primary school capacity in Welham Green 
is currently a barrier to growth, with no site 
identified to resolve lack of capacity. If 
primary school capacity could be 
addressed, the opportunity to deliver 
WeG15 alongside WeG3 should be 
explored. This may then allow for a slightly 
higher dwelling capacity on WeG3. 

140 

Total 447 

Settlement Conclusion 

16.15 Total potential capacity from Green Belt sites is 92. 

16.16 This is significantly below the shortfall indicated against the proportionate 
distribution of the OAN. 

16.17 Whilst others sites are, in principle, suitable for development, limited primary 

school capacity within Welham Green and no alternative site identified to 

deliver an expanded school is currently a restraint on further growth.  

Page 116



41 
 

17. Settlement conclusions - Brookmans Park 

17.1 For indicative purposes, a proportionate approach to distributing growth to the 
borough’s towns, excluded villages and rural areas suggests that Brookmans 
Park would need to accommodate between 384 and 408 additional 
dwellings between 2013 and 2032. 

Table 32: Brookmans Park: supply and shortfall against the OAN 

Completions 
2013-2016 

Urban Capacity – sites 
with planning 
permission 

Sub-total Shortfall against OAN 

6 40 46 338-362 

 

Key Infrastructure issues  

17.2 Secondary Schools: Children from Welham Green, Brookmans Park and 
Little Heath predominantly seek secondary school places in the Potters Bar 
planning area, mainly at Chancellors (in Brookmans Park). The education 
authority advises that feasibility is underway to review expansion potential and 
whilst assessment work has yet to conclude, it is expected to show that there 
is expansion potential at existing secondary schools in Potters Bar.  

17.3 However, if Potters Bar schools cannot accommodate additional yield from 
these settlements, it may be necessary for Hatfield to accommodate further 
school capacity.   

17.4 Primary schools: There is one existing primary school in Brookmans Park, 
with 1.5 FE. In addition to children from Brookmans Park, there is an in-flow of 
children from Welham Green and Potters Bar.  

17.5 Should additional development result in a need for an additional 0.5 FE 
capacity, Hertfordshire County Council as the education authority advise that 
its preferred strategy would be to support an increase of 0.5 FE to the existing 
school FE rather than supporting a new 2 FE school on an alternative site. 

17.6 This would accommodate growth of around 250 new dwellings. 

17.7 HCC would not support a strategy requiring the existing 1.5FE school to be 
expanded by 1 FE to a 2.5FE school.  

17.8 However, a new 3FE school (increasing capacity in Brookmans Park by 1.5 
FE) would be supported by the education authority on an alternative site 
although pupil yield under this scenario would be equivalent to around an 
additional 750 dwellings.   

17.9 Highways: The two Priority junctions of Georges Wood Road (which is a 
private road)/A1000 (The Great North Road) and Swanley Bar Lane /A1000 
have been identified by the Highway Authority as having current congestion 
issues in peak hours. Improvement measures such as a right turn lane may 
be required.  

Site Conclusions 

17.10 Conclusions for sites in Brookmans Park are set out at Appendix H.  

Page 117



42 
 

Urban sites 

17.11 There are no urban sites considered suitable or not suitable for allocation in 
the Local Plan.  

Green Belt sites 

17.12 The following sites around Brookmans Park, which are currently designated 
as Green Belt, are considered suitable for allocation. 

Table 33: Brookmans Park: Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Indicative 
capacity 

BrP4 Land west of Brookmans Park 300 

BrP12 Peplins Wood 110 

BrP13 West of Golf Club Road 14 

BRP14 East of Golf Club Road 10 

Total 434 

17.13 The following sites around Brookmans Park, which are currently designated 
as Green Belt, are not considered suitable for allocation. 

Table 34: Brookmans Park: Green Belt sites not considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Reason for not allocating in the Local 
Plan 

Indicative 
capacity 

BrP1 
Upper Bell Lane 
Farm 

The site is close to but does not adjoin 
the existing urban boundary, with 
properties in Bell Lane separating the 
site from Brookmans Park. Either the 
site would need to be inset or a larger 
area of land removed from the Green 
Belt. On balance, the site’s benefits do 
not outweigh the fact that development 
of the site would be inconsistent with the 
settlement strategy resulting in a 
disproportionate expansion of a small 
Green belt settlement that is not 
generally suitable for further 
development. Development would result 
in complete coalescence between a 2

nd
 

and 3
rd

 tier settlement.  

100 

BrP6 
Land at Bluebridge 
Road 

Development of the site would 
significantly physically and visually 
shorten the fragile gap between 
Brookmans Park and Potters Bar. On 
balance, the significant adverse impact 
on the purposes of the Green Belt is 
considered to outweigh the benefits of 
the site.  

234 

Total 334 

Settlement Conclusion 

17.14 Total potential capacity from Green Belt sites is 434. 

Page 118



43 
 

17.15 This is above the shortfall indicated against the proportionate distribution of 
the OAN. However, primary school capacity in Brookmans Park and the 
options for alternative provision in line with the advice of the education 
authority effectively limits growth at Brookmans Park to around 250 with the 
provision of a 0.5FE extension to the existing school. Alternatively, a new 3 
FE school would need to be provided, replacing the existing primary school 
and increasing capacity by 1.5FE, equivalent to 750 dwellings. 

17.16 Two sites have been found unsuitable for allocation (BrP1 and BrP6). There is 
not therefore capacity for 750 dwellings on suitable sites at Brookmans Park 
and a 3FE school to serve the needs of Brookmans Park is not justified. 

17.17 The remaining sites, BrP4, BrP12, BrP13 and BrP14 have a combined 
dwelling capacity of 434. This is equivalent to just under a 0.9FE. However, 
this would result in a 2.5FE primary school (increasing the existing 1.5FE 
primary school by 1FE), which the County Council does not support.  

17.18 In order to get closer to the 0.5FE expansion option for the existing primary 
school site, capacity would need to be reviewed on the suitable sites.  

17.19 BrP13 and BrP14 are relatively small sites, with the potential to come forward 
in the early part of the plan period with a combined dwelling capacity of 24. 

17.20 Site BrP12 offers the potential to deliver a 2FE primary school within the site 
but the County Council’s preferred strategy is to deliver a 0.5FE expansion on 
the existing primary school site and not the delivery of a new 2FE school on 
an alternative site. Together with BrP13 and BrP14, BrP12 would have a 
dwelling capacity of 134 which would generate the need for 0.27FE, which is 
not large enough to justify a 0.5FE expansion to the existing primary school or 
the provision of a new 2FE primary school. 

17.21 BrP4 also provides the opportunity to deliver a primary school within the site, 
but as above, the County Council’s preferred strategy is to deliver a 0.5FE 
expansion to the existing primary school site. Together with BrP13 and BrP14, 
BrP4 would have a dwelling capacity of 324, generating the need for 0.65FE, 
which is over capacity for a 0.5FE expansion to the existing primary school. 
BrP4 needs to deliver a new footbridge and highway upgrades but it may be 
possible to reduce capacity at BrP4 to around 250 dwellings without 
comprising achievability. On this basis, and taken together with BrP13 and 
BrP14, this would result in a dwelling capacity of 274, which would generate 
the need for around 0.55FE increase in primary school capacity. 

Table 35: Brookmans Park: Green Belt sites suitable for allocation in light of primary 
school capacity 

Site Ref Site name 
Indicative 
capacity 

BrP4 Land west of Brookmans Park 250 

BrP13 West of Golf Club Road 14 

BRP14 East of Golf Club Road 10 

Total 274 

  

Page 119



44 
 

 

18. Settlement conclusions - Little Heath 

18.1 For indicative purposes, a proportionate approach to distributing growth to the 
borough’s towns, excluded villages and rural areas suggests that Little Heath 
would need to accommodate between 141 and 150 additional dwellings 
between 2013 and 2032. 

Table 36: Little Heath: supply and shortfall against the OAN 

Completions 
2013-2016 

Urban Capacity – sites 
with planning 
permission 

Sub-total Shortfall against OAN 

1 5 6 135-144 

Key Infrastructure issues  

18.2 Secondary Schools: Children from Little Heath, Welham Green and 
Brookmans Park predominantly seek secondary school places in the Potters 
Bar planning area, mainly at Chancellors (in Brookmans Park). The education 
authority advises that feasibility is underway to review expansion potential and 
whilst assessment work has yet to conclude, it is expected to show that there 
is expansion potential at existing secondary schools in Potters Bar. However, 
if Potters Bar schools cannot accommodate additional yield from these 
settlements, it may be necessary for Hatfield to accommodate further school 
capacity.  

18.3 Primary schools: Growth of around 140 dwellings in Little Heath would 
generate a need for 0.28 FE. The education authority advises that this level of 
growth could be accommodated at Little Heath Primary without expansion. 

18.4 Highways: The Highway Authority has identified the Hawkshead Road/A1000 
junction as a current congestion point.  However, it is content that scope 
exists for localised widening to accommodate junction improvements. 

Site Conclusions 

18.5 Conclusions for sites in Little Heath are set out at Appendix I.  

Urban sites 

18.6 There are no urban sites considered suitable or not suitable for allocation in 
the Local Plan.  

Green Belt sites 

18.7 The following sites around Little Heath, which are currently designated as 
Green Belt, are considered suitable for allocation. 

Table 37: Little Heath: Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Indicative 
capacity 

BrP7 Hawkshead Road (on a reduced site area) 100 

LHe1 Land north of Hawkshead Road 35 

Total 135 

Page 120



45 
 

 
18.8 There are no Green Belt sites around Little Heath that were found suitable, 

available and achievable in the HELAA that are not considered suitable for 
allocation in the Local Plan 

Settlement Conclusion 

18.9 Total potential capacity from Green Belt sites around Little Heath is 135. 

18.10 This is broadly in line with the shortfall indicated against the proportionate 
distribution of the OAN. 

 
  

Page 121



46 
 

19. Settlement conclusions - Cuffley 

19.1 For indicative purposes, a proportionate approach to distributing growth to the 
borough’s towns, excluded villages and rural areas suggests that Cuffley 
would need to accommodate between 505 and 537 additional dwellings 
between 2013 and 2032.  

Table 38: Cuffley: supply and shortfall against the OAN 

Completions 
2013-2016 

Urban Capacity – sites 
with planning permission 

Sub-total Shortfall against OAN 

32 85 117 388-420 

Key Infrastructure issues  

19.2 Secondary Schools: There is no secondary school in Cuffley. The nearest 
secondary schools are located in Goffs Oak / Cheshunt although places may 
be sought further afield, e.g. in Potters Bar or Enfield. Hertfordshire County 
Council as the education authority has raised no concerns about a limited 
amount of growth in Cuffley in terms of secondary school provision.  

19.3 Primary schools: Cuffley Primary School (2FE) is the only school in the 
village and is well sized to meet the needs of the existing community it serves. 
The existing school site is tightly constrained and the education authority 
advises that additional land would be required to facilitate school expansion. 

19.4 Primary school capacity for Cuffley needs to be considered in the context of 
the neighbouring settlement of Goffs Oak and the education authority advises 
that a limited amount of growth at Cuffley (around 400 dwellings including 
sites with planning permission) could be accommodated through the 
expansion of Woodside primary school in Goffs Oak, which lies within the 
local authority area of Broxbourne. 

19.5 Highways: Junctions in Cuffley have been tested by the Highway Authority in 
the context of two scenarios; one assuming a lower level of growth involving 
around 365 dwellings (including recent planning permissions) and the other 
assuming a higher level of growth at just under 900 new dwellings.  

19.6 The Highway Authority advises that there are two junctions of particular 
concern: the Plough Hill/Station Road/Northaw Road East junction and the 
Northaw Road/Cattlegate Road junction. These are identified as congested 
junctions and adding development traffic will exacerbate these problems. 

19.7 For the lower scenario, the junctions could all operate within capacity, subject 
to junction reconfiguration resulting in changes to priority.  However, under the 
higher scenario, the Plough Hill/Station Road/Northaw Road junction is 
predicted to remain over capacity even with a change in priority. 

19.8 There are also implications in the wider area with impacts predicted under the 
higher scenario on other currently congested junctions at the 
A1000/Shepherds Way and the A10/ Lieutenant Ellis Way junction.  

19.9 This indicates that the potential for development at Cuffley will need to be 
managed to within the manageable limits of certain junctions where 
congestion is predicted to cause concern. 

Page 122



47 
 

Site Conclusions 

19.10 Conclusions for sites in Cuffley are set out at Appendix J.  

Urban sites 

19.11 The following urban sites are considered suitable for allocation.  

Table 39: Cuffley: urban sites considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Indicative 
capacity 

No02 36 The Ridgeway and land to the rear 8 

No10 Land w of St Martin de Porres Church 5 

Total 13 

Green Belt sites 

19.12 The following sites around Cuffley, which are currently designated as Green 
Belt, are considered suitable for allocation. 

Table 40: Cuffley: Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Indicative 
capacity 

Cuf1 The Meadway 30 

Cuf6 Land at Northaw Road East 108 

Cuf7 Wells Farm 75 

Cuf12 Land at Northaw Road East (based on a reduced site area) 73 

 286 

19.13 The following sites around Cuffley, which are currently designated as Green 
Belt, are not considered suitable for allocation. 

Table 41: Cuffley: Green Belt sites not considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name 
Reason for not allocating in the Local 
Plan 

Indicative 
capacity 

Cuf4 Cuffley Hills Farm 

The site has high levels of physical and 
visual openness, and is a prominent 
landform in the landscape. On balance, 
the adverse impact on the Green Belt 
outweighs the benefits of the site.  

220 

Cuf5 
Land at Northaw 
Road East 

The site has high levels of physical and 
visual openness, and is a prominent 
landform in the landscape. On balance, 
the adverse impact on the Green Belt 
outweighs the benefits of the site.  

440 

Cuf10 
North west if 
Cuffley Hills House 

On balance, the harm to the Green Belt, 
the together with weaker Green Belt 
boundaries outweighs the benefits of the 
site 

33 

Total 693 

 

  

Page 123



48 
 

 

Settlement Conclusion 

19.14 Total potential capacity from Urban and Green Belt sites is 299. 

19.15 This is below the shortfall indicated against the proportionate distribution of 
the OAN. 

19.16 It should be noted that the 660 dwellings associated with alternative sites 
Cuf4 and Cuf5, which would need to come forward together to form a logical 
Green Belt boundary; when considered alongside other sites that have been 
assessed as suitable for allocation (299 on urban and Green Belt sites); 
together with completions since 2013 (32); and urban sites with planning 
permission (85) would amount to growth of 1,076 dwellings. This would be an 
increase of around 57% in the number of dwellings in Cuffley9. This is 
considered to represent a significantly disproportionate level of growth to an 
excluded village and would be contrary to the settlement strategy.  

19.17 In addition, when the potential for overall housing growth at both Cuf4 and 
Cuf5 is considered alongside other more suitable sites around Cuffley, the 
highway authority has indicated that the operation of the Plough Hill/Station 
Road/Northaw Road junction is a possible area for concern, with the potential 
for this junction to be over capacity even with a change in priority. 

 
 

  

                                            
9
 Estimated number of dwellings - 2011 Census (1,868).  

Page 124



49 
 

20.  Settlement conclusions - Rural Areas 

19.18 For indicative purposes, a proportionate approach to distributing growth to the 
borough’s towns, excluded villages and rural areas suggests that the 
borough’s rural areas (assuming Green Belt policy is ‘off’) would need to 
accommodate between 606 and 645 additional dwellings between 2013 
and 2032.  

Table 42: Rural Areas: supply and shortfall against the OAN 

Completions 
2013-2016 

Urban Capacity – sites 
with planning permission 

Sub-total Shortfall against OAN 

10 20 30 576-615 

Key Infrastructure issues  

19.19 Secondary Schools: Given the spatial relationship between Symondshyde 
and other housing growth around Hatfield, secondary school provision for 
housing growth within the rural areas would be expected to be accommodated 
as part of new secondary school provision at Hatfield (at Hat1).  

19.20 Primary schools: The new village at Symondshyde is estimated to have the 
potential to deliver a total of 1,130 dwellings generating a pupil yield of 
2.26FE. There is an expectation that children will be able to attend a local 
school and the education authority is seeking further details from the 
landowner on dwelling mix and projected build out rates in order to confirm 
that the level of development can be supported by a new single 2FE primary 
school which would be provided within the Symondshyde site (Hat15). 

Site Conclusions 

19.21 Conclusions for sites in the Rural Areas are set out at Appendix K.  

Green Belt sites 

19.22 The following sites within the Rural Areas, which are currently designated as 
Green Belt, are as an exception to the general approach taken elsewhere in 
other Rural Areas of the borough, considered suitable for allocation. 

Table 43: Rural Areas: Green Belt sites considered suitable for allocation 

Site Ref Site name/Reason for exception 
Indicative 
capacity 

Hat15 
Symondshyde – new village - Reason: Opportunity to deliver a 
free-standing village and make a significant contribution to the 
need for housing alongside community infrastructure.  

1130 

GTLAA08 

Barbaaville - Reason: The limited availability of suitable sites 
and the need to make provision for the accommodation needs 
of Gypsies and Travellers. National Planning Policy for 
Traveller Sites allows for sites to be inset. 

4 

GTLAA09 

Coopers Green Lane - Reason: The limited availability of 
suitable sites and the need to make provision for the 
accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers n connection 
with Strategic Development Sites. PPTS allows for sites to be 
inset. 

10 

(site capacity 
up to 15) 

Total 1,144 

 

Page 125



50 
 

Rural Areas Conclusion 

19.23 Total potential capacity is 1,144. 

19.24 This is above the shortfall indicated against the proportionate distribution of 
the OAN. 

19.25 However, Hat15 provides the opportunity to deliver a new free-standing 
village and is considered to be a suitable site for allocation. 

 

Page 126



 
 
 

 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

 
 

Housing Sites Selection – Background Paper 2016 
 
 

Appendices A-K 
 
 

June 2016  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 127

A
genda Item

 9d



 
 

Appendix A 
 
 
Welwyn Garden City Housing Sites - Maps and Background Tables 
 
The maps on the following pages illustrate all of the sites considered within the HELAA.  
 
For the purposes of this Sites Selection Background Paper, only sites that passed the Stage 2 
HELAA Assessment and are large enough to be allocated (10 or more in town, 5 or more in 
excluded villages) have been considered. 

  

P
age 128



Welwyn Garden City North HELAA Results Map 

 
  

P
age 129



Welwyn Garden City South HELAA Results Map 

 

P
age 130



 
 
 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Hal02 Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
20 dwellings 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Need to achieve an 
acceptable access via 
Crookhams 

 Air quality, as traffic often 
queues on Waterside 

 Traffic noise, as well as noise 
from commercial premises 

 Site is within an Area of 
Archaeological Interest 
 

Delivery timescales: 
11-15 years – a restrictive 
covenant means that 
development is unlikely to be 
viable until the end of the plan 
period 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7  
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an Employment Area 
and WGC Town Centre. It is in proximity to four bus 
stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife Site and within 
1km of a SSSI. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 11-15 years. This is attributed minor weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test. 
 

Overall, the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn Garden City sites. 

Policy 
implication 

None. 

P
age 131



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Hal03 Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
110 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 An increase in vehicles 
entering the site may require 
changes to the layout of 
Bessemer Road 

 There is no footway on the 
north side of Bessemer Road 
adjacent to the site 

 Waste water infrastructure 
upgrades 

 Traffic noise, as well as noise 
from commercial premises 

 Potential for contaminated 
land which would require 
remediation 

 Relative proximity to 
Sherrardspark Wood SSSI 
 

Delivery timescales: 
6-10 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 8 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an Employment Area 
and WGC Town Centre. It is in proximity to eleven bus 
stops. 
 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character: 
Site is PDL (Previously Developed Land). 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: None 
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 6-10 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test. 
 

Overall, the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn Garden City sites. 

Policy 
implication 

None. 

P
age 132



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Han40 Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
100 dwellings, plus retail 
floorspace in accordance with 
the Welwyn Garden City Town 
Centre North SPD  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Air quality, as parts of the site 
are adjacent to a bus station 

 Traffic noise, as well as 
potential noise conflicts from 
the site’s mixed-use nature 
(e.g. evening economy uses 
vs. residential) 

 Potential for contaminated 
land which would require 
remediation 

 Waste water infrastructure 
upgrades 

 Relative proximity to 
Sherrardspark Wood SSSI 
 

Delivery timescales: 
6-10 years/11-15 years, given 
the need for site assembly as 
there are multiple landowners 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 9 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and 
4.3:  helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an Employment Area 
and WGC Town Centre/Railway Station. It is in 
proximity to twenty-seven bus stops. 
 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character: 
Site is PDL. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.  
 
6.3: Enhancement of the vitality/attraction of WGC 
and Hatfield  town retail centres: 
Site is within WGC town centre and would also provide 
for additional retail units. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character, retaining local distinctiveness: 
The Anniversary Gardens amenity green space is within 
the site. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection of open spaces. 
 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the borough’s 
character, historic environment, and 
heritage/cultural assets: 
Site is within an AAS (Area of Archaeological 
Significance) and is in proximity to Listed Buildings. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection of heritage assets and 
good design.  

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 

Advantages: 
This site represents an 
opportunity to expand and 
improve the retail provision within 
Welwyn Garden City Town 
Centre – as a planned centre, 
such opportunities are rare and 
selection of the site would allow 
this to be capitalised upon. 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 6-15 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test. 

 Strategic advantage: It is a rare opportunity to provide needed new retail floor space within Welwyn Garden City Town Centre. Whilst some concerns have been identified around site assembly, the SPD process has begun to facilitate this. 
This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 

Several constraints affect this site, and there are some concerns around the deliverability of development given the number of landowners and the mixed-use nature of the proposals. However, the SPD process provides evidence that these 
issues can be overcome. The site is a rare opportunity to provide new retail floor space. Overall the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn Garden City sites. 

Policy 
implication 

None. 

P
age 133



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Han91 Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield, with small area of 
PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
250 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Waste water infrastructure 
upgrades 

 Noise from the railway 
adjacent to the eastern site 
boundary, as well as traffic 
noise from Stanborough 
Road 

 Potential for contaminated 
land which would require 
remediation 

 Need to understand and 
mitigate ecological impacts, 
given wildlife potential of the 
site 

 The site is partly within 
Welwyn Garden City 
Conservation Area 
 

Delivery timescales: 
6-10 years/11-15 years – a 
restrictive covenant means that 
development will not be viable 
until the middle of the plan 
period, and significant earth 
works are also required to 
remove the existing ski slope 
mound 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7  
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and 
4.3:  helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of three Employment 
Areas and WGC Town Centre. It is in proximity to ten 
bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character, retaining local distinctiveness: 
Site is located in an area associated with the ski 
slope/driving range.  
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the loss of open space and leisure 
provision. 
 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the borough’s 
character, historic environment, and 
heritage/cultural assets: 
Site is partially located within a Conservation Area and 
is in proximity to Listed Buildings. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection of heritage assets and 
good design.  
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 

Advantages: 
The development of this site will 
also enable reinvestment in 
Gosling Sports Park, which is 
known to be struggling. Sport 
England has supported 
development on the site for this 
reason. 
 
Disadvantages: 
Whilst Sport England supports 
development of the site, its 
selection would nevertheless 
result in the loss of some sports 
facilities on the site. Whilst there 
are other golf facilities locally, the 
dry ski slope is a relatively rare 
sports facility and serves a wider 
regional catchment. 
 

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 6-15 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test. 

 The site would enable reinvestment in Gosling Sports Park which is known to be struggling. However, development would still necessitate the loss of valued local sports facilities. On balance, this is attributed minor weight in favour of the 
site. 

 

Several constraints affect this site, and there are some deliverability concerns given the need to remove the large ski slope mound and the existence of a restrictive covenant. The redevelopment of the site would also result in the loss of local 
sports facilities, although it is significant that Sport England have expressed support for redevelopment as it will provide funds to safeguard the remainder of the Sports Park. On balance, it is therefore considered that the site should be 
considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn Garden City sites. 

Policy 
implication 

None. 

P
age 134



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Hol19 Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
17 dwellings (net), with the 
additional loss of 46 care home 
bedrooms as a result of the 
development of a new care 
home at Site Pan01a 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 
None 
 
Delivery timescales: 
6-10 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution:  
Site is within walking distance of two Employment Areas 
and WGC Town Centre. It is within 400m of six bus 
stops. 
 
4.4: Protection and enhancement of open space and 
landscape character: 
Site is PDL. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could make provision for Lifetime Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: None 
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None  

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 6-10 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test 
 

Overall, the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn Garden City sites. 

Policy 
implication 

None. 

P
age 135



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

How92 Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Part PDL/Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
22 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Noise from the adjacent 
school 

 Potential for contaminated 
land which would require 
remediation 

 The Commons Local Nature 
Reserve and Local Wildlife 
Site 78 necessitates a buffer 
to minimise ecological 
impacts 

 The southern half of the site 
is designated Urban Open 
Land (UOL99)  

 
Delivery timescales: 
6-10 years/11-15 years – it will 
be necessary for the site’s 
current occupiers to be 
relocated before development 
can take place 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 5 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within 400m of five bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character, retaining local distinctiveness: 
A significant proportion of the site includes amenity 
green space. 
Mitigation: 
Development of this site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection of open space. 
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife Site. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1  
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
Development would be unable to 
come forward on this site until the 
various charitable and community 
organisations on the site have 
been relocated to alternative 
facilities locally. No information 
has been provided by the site 
promoter as to how this process 
would be dealt with, providing a 
significant concern in terms of 
deliverability. 

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 6-15 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test 

 Strategic disadvantage: The site is host to a number of charitable and community organisations – given their significant value, it would be imperative that these organisations are relocated before development comes forward. No 
information has been provided by the site promoter as to how this process to deal with such a multitude of occupiers would be dealt with – there is therefore significant concern in terms of delivery. This is attributed moderate weight 
against the site. 

 

Whilst there are no fundamental reasons why the site is not suitable for development, there is significant uncertainty around deliverability given the importance of and need for the relocation of existing occupiers on the site. For this reason, it 
is considered that the site should NOT be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn Garden City sites.  

Policy 
implication 

None. 

P
age 136



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Pan01b Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
28 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Access to the site requires 
rationalisation, and bus stops 
around the site require 
upgrades 

 Potential loss of habitat, 
particularly trees and bushes 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7  
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport;  and 
4.3:  helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an Employment Area. 
It is within 400m of ten bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: None 
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 0-5 years. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test 
 

On balance, it is considered that the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn Garden City sites. 

Policy 
implication 

None. 

P
age 137



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Pea02b Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity: 
850 dwellings; 
572m

2
 of A1 floor space; 

1,928m
2
 of A3/A4 floor space; 

6,370m
2
 of B1 floor space; 

2,554m
2
 of C1 hotel floor space; 

2,241m
2
 of D1 community use 

floorspace; 
703m

2
 of D2 leisure floor space 

 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Waste water infrastructure 
upgrades 

 Noise from the adjacent 
railway, as well as noise from 
adjacent commercial uses 

 Potential for contaminated 
land which would require 
remediation 

 The presence of major Grade 
II listed buildings within the 
site, although the planning 
application process has 
established that these will not 
necessarily be adversely 
affected by well-designed 
higher density development 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 years/6-10 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 10 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an Employment 
Area/WGC Railway Station. It is within 400m of thirty-
three bus stops. 
 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character: 
Site is PDL. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site would provide capacity for at least 5% of the OAN 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.1: Ensuring the supply, location and quality of 
business/employment sites reflects the needs of 
local businesses and encourages a mixed 
economy:  
Site is located within an Employment Area and part of a 
wider area of land (Broadwater Road West) which is 
allocated for mixed use and subject to an adopted SPD 
masterplan. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the borough’s 
character, historic environment, and 
heritage/cultural assets: 
Site is within 250m of a Conservation Area and in 
proximity to Listed Buildings.  
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies and Broadwater Road West SPD related to the 
protection of heritage assets and good design.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife Site. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 

Advantages: 
This site forms part of the 
Broadwater Road SPD area, the 
borough’s largest regeneration 
opportunity. The site provides 
one of relatively few opportunities 
within the borough to provide new 
and modern office space, and will 
enable the reinvigoration of a 
significant area of derelict land at 
the gateway to Welwyn Garden 
City town centre whilst providing 
a secure future for the vulnerable 
listed buildings within the site. 
 
Disadvantages: 
None  

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 0-10 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test 

 Strategic advantage: It is a rare opportunity to provide needed new employment floorspace within the borough. Whilst there are some development constraints, the SPD process considered approaches to resolve these. This is attributed 
significant weight in favour of the site 

 
This site is part of one of the borough’s key regeneration areas and the SPD establishes the acceptability of a mixed-use scheme. The site offers one of few opportunities to provide a significant amount of new employment floor space. 
Therefore, it is considered that the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn Garden City sites. 

Policy 
implication 

Consider removing the site (and the wider Broadwater Road West SPD area) from Employment Area EA1, as this would be a residential-led redevelopment and only small discrete parts of the SPD area would remain in an employment use. 

P
age 138



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Pea02c Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
171 dwellings, plus 11,300m

2
 of 

B1 floorspace in accordance 
with the Broadwater Road West 
SPD 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Waste water infrastructure 
upgrades 

 Noise from the adjacent 
railway, as well as noise from 
adjacent commercial uses 

 Potential for contaminated 
land which would require 
remediation 

 The presence of major Grade 
II listed buildings adjacent to 
the site, although the 
planning process for adjacent 
site Pea02b has established 
that these will not be 
adversely affected by well-
designed higher density 
development 
 

Delivery timescales: 
11-15 years – the current lease 
on the site is until 2024 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 9 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an Employment 
Area/WGC Railway Station. It is within 400m of thirty-
three bus stops. 
 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character: 
Site is PDL. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.1: Ensuring the supply, location and quality of 
business/employment sites reflects the needs of 
local businesses/encourages a mixed economy:  
Site is located within an Employment Area and part of a 
wider area of land (Broadwater Road West) which is 
allocated for mixed use and subject to an adopted SPD 
masterplan. Site could provide 5% or more of required 
employment floor space in the borough  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the borough’s 
character, historic environment, and 
heritage/cultural assets: 
Site is within 250m of a Conservation Area and in 
proximity to Listed Buildings.  
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies and Broadwater Road West SPD related to the 
protection of heritage assets and good design.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife Site. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 

Advantages: 
This site forms part of the 
Broadwater Road SPD area, the 
borough’s largest regeneration 
opportunity. The site provides 
one of relatively few opportunities 
within the borough to provide new 
and modern office space, 
whereas the current warehouse 
use on the site does not form an 
attractive gateway to the town 
from the adjacent railway station 
and is challenging to access. 
 
Disadvantages: 
None  

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 11-15 years. This is attributed minor weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test. 

 Strategic advantage: It is a rare opportunity to provide needed new employment floorspace within the borough. Whilst there are some development constraints, the SPD process considered approaches to resolve these. This is attributed 
significant weight in favour of the site. 

 

This site is part of one of the borough’s key regeneration areas and the SPD establishes the acceptability of a mixed-use scheme. The site offers one of few opportunities to provide a significant amount of new employment floor space. 
Therefore, it is considered that the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn Garden City sites. 

Policy 
implication 

Consider removing the site (and the wider Broadwater Road West SPD area) from Employment Area EA1, as the development would involve a large amount of residential floorspace in addition to employment and only small discrete parts of 
the SPD area would remain in an employment use. 

  

P
age 139



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Pea08 Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
32 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Access to the site requires 
rationalisation 

 Waste water infrastructure 
upgrades 

 Air quality, as traffic often 
queues on Bridge Road East 

 Traffic noise, as well as noise 
from commercial premises 

 Potential for contaminated 
land which would require 
remediation 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 years/6-10 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 8  
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of WGC Railway Station. 
It is within 400m of nine bus stops. 
 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character: 
Site is PDL. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: None 
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 0-5 years, or potentially 6-10 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test. 
 

The site is in an accessible and sustainable location, and can potentially come forward within the first five years of the plan period. On balance, the benefits of the site are is considered to outweigh the loss of the current employment use on 
the site, as the site is not designated employment land nor envisaged to be designated.  The site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn Garden City sites. 

Policy 
implication 

None. 

P
age 140



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Pea24 Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
22 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Access to the site requires 
rationalisation 

 Potential for contaminated 
land which would require 
remediation 

 Potential protected ecology 
within the site, notably bats 

 Site is adjacent to an Area of 
Archaeological Interest 
 

Delivery timescales: 
11-15 years, based on 
landowner timescales – it will be 
necessary for the site’s current 
occupier to be relocated before 
development can take place 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 8  
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of WGC Railway Station. 
It is within 400m of ten bus stops. 
 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character: 
Site is PDL. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: None 
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 

Summary  The site is deliverable within 11-15 years. This is attributed minor weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test. 
 

There is some uncertainty around deliverability as the existing community use on the site requires relocation locally, but as this only comprises a single occupier it is conceivable that the site will be available for development within the final 
five years of the plan period. On balance, it is considered that the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn Garden City sites. 

Policy 
implication 

None. 

P
age 141



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

WGC1 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
290 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Clearance from pylons 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 

 Buffer wildlife site 

 Protection of groundwater 

 Easement for public rights of 
way 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
Partial for preventing neighbouring 
towns from merging   The site  
contributes to the gap between 
Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield 
however the site is relatively narrow 
and closely associated with the urban 
edge of Welwyn Garden City. Hatfield 
lies to the south and is not clearly 
visible. Restricting development to the 
more northerly or visually enclosed 
parts of the site would reduce any 
apparent change and be may be more 
easily accommodated within the 
existing edge of Welwyn Garden City.  
  
Partial in safeguarding the countryside 
from encroachment. South edge of 
Welwyn Garden City and power lines 
to the south are clearly visible.     
. 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant within the Gap between 
Welwyn Garden City and Mill Green 
which is relatively development free, 
influenced by roads, a railway and the 
sewerage treatment works. Would 
reduce the shortest distance between 
Welwyn Garden City and Mill Green 
and would reduce the visual 
perception of the gap .  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical openness high, visual 
openness high, some enclosure on 
west and east but central area is more 
open with no clearly defined southern 
boundary.    
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Site is isolated and does not form a 
group N.B this site overlaps with 
WH_SS2 sub area identified in GB 
Study review Part 1 as contributing 
least to Green Belt purposes in the 
Borough  

Existing 
Property boundaries (moderate) 
Established tree belts/hedgerows 
(moderate) 
 
Proposed: 
Extensive woodland (strong) 
Established tree belt/hedgerow 
(moderate) 
Ascots Lane unclassified road 
(moderate) 
Pylons/overhead power lines (weak) 
 
An alternative boundary created by 
taking a larger area of land south of 
the pylons out of the Green Belt up 
to the junction of Ascots Lane with 
the established tree belt/hedgerow 
would form a stronger Green Belt 
boundary. However, this would 
reduce a fragile gap (1km) between 
Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield to 
approximately 800m. 
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries consisting of the 
extensive woodland, established tree 
belt/hedgerow and pylons would be 
predominantly weaker overall than 
the existing boundary but would be 
clearly defined. Taking a larger area 
of land out of the Green Belt would 
significantly reduce an already 
fragile gap between 1

st
 tier 

settlements and is therefore not 
justified.   

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and 
4.3:  helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an Employment Area. 
It is within 400m of ten bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character, retaining local distinctiveness: 
The WHBC Green Belt Review indicates the site 
contributes significantly to maintaining settlement 
pattern.  
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of development should 
seek to reduce significant effects on settlement pattern 
and local distinctiveness.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of Local Wildlife Sites. 
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1.  
An ordinary watercourse runs 
through the site which may present 
a fluvial flood risk; however, it was 
not possible to model it in the 
SFRA.  
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None  
 
 

Summary  HELAA: Delivery is estimated to be 0-10 years, with potential for delivery with the first 5 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: Site makes a partial contribution to two national Green Belt purpose and significant contribution to the local purpose, and has high level of physical and visual openness. This is attributed minor weight against the site.  

 GB Boundary: New boundaries would be predominantly weaker overall than the existing boundaries, but would be clearly defined. This is attributed moderate weight against the site.  Releasing a larger area of land to form stronger 
boundaries would significantly reduce a fragile gap between two 1

st
 tier settlements and is therefore not justified. The proposed boundaries would not shorten this gap.  

 SA: The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 
On balance, the site’s benefits are considered to outweigh the adverse impact upon the purposes of the Green Belt and the weaker Green Belt boundary. The site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn Garden 
City sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site were allocated, the following would be required: 

 Remove safeguard land designation 
 

P
age 142



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

WGC4/7 
(Scenario 2: 
no runway, 
maintain 
existing 
Green Belt 
boundary) 

Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Part PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
650 dwellings (inclusive of 
Gypsy and Traveller pitches), 
plus primary school 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Potential need for highway 
upgrades 

 Mitigate impact on landscape 

 Mitigate impact on heritage 

 Mitigate impact on ecology 

 Protection of groundwater 

 Buffer ancient woodland  

 Potential for contaminated 
land which would require 
remediation 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
6-10 years  

Na 
 

Na 
 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 9  
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of WGC Industrial Area. It 
is within 400m of six bus stops. 
 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character: 
Site is PDL. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site would provide capacity for at least 5% of the OAN 
could deliver affordable housing and make provision for 
Lifetime Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 3 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character, retaining local distinctiveness: 
Site is located within Panshanger Aerodrome. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection of open spaces. 
 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the borough’s 
character, historic environment, and 
heritage/cultural assets: 
Site is in proximity to Listed Buildings and a Historic 
Park & Garden.  
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies on heritage assets and good design.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: 
Site is within 500m of a SSSI. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
 

Advantages: 
Provision of primary school 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 

Summary  HELAA: Delivery is estimated to be 6-10 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: Would not result in the loss of any Green Belt land. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Boundary: Green Belt boundaries would remain the same.  

 SA: The site has three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Strategic advantage: site would provide a primary school. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 
The site has a number of benefits and no detrimental impacts that are not capable of mitigation.  The site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn Garden City sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site were allocated, the following would be required: 

 Remove safeguard land designation 
 

P
age 143



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

WGC4/7 
(Scenario 3: 
revised 
Green Belt 
boundary) 

Urban/Green Belt: 
Part urban, part Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
725 dwellings (inclusive of 
Gypsy and Traveller pitches), 
plus primary school 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Potential need for highway 
upgrades 

 Mitigate impact on landscape 

 Mitigate impact on heritage 

 Mitigate impact on ecology 

 Buffer ancient woodland  

 Protection of groundwater 

 Potential for contaminated 
land which would require 
remediation 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 

 
Delivery timescales: 
6-10 years 

WGC7 Contribution to National 
Purposes: Significant in safeguarding 
the countryside from encroachment, 
exhibits strong countryside 
characteristics and  high levels of 
visual openness   
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant contributes to the gap 
between Welwyn Garden City and 
Tewin and contributes to the visual 
perception of the gap as it is open and 
free from development.   
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical and Visual Openness- high 
Open views from elevated parts. More 
enclosed on lower areas but some 
views along the valley. 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Site is connected to Welwyn Garden 
City and forms a group with WGC4 
 
WGC4 Contribution to National 
Purposes: Significant in safeguarding 
the countryside from encroachment, 
Exhibits countryside characteristics 
open land previously part of 
Panshanger Aerodrome, high levels of 
visual openness and is free from 
development. 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partial The site contributes to the 
primary local gap between Welwyn 
Garden City, and Hertford .The scale 
of the site relative to the gap means 
that development will not result in a 
marked reduction to physical 
separation or visual perception of the 
gap. 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical and Visual Openness- 
high/mixed  Long distance views north 
and northwest across the Mimram 
valley to Tewin with sections 
contained by tree belt, medium 
distance views west and south 
towards the edge of Welwyn Garden 
City. 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Site is connected to Welwyn Garden 
City and forms a group with WGC7 
and GTLAA06    
 
N.B. Green Belt Study only assess 
that part of the site within the Green 
Belt, southern part is an Area of 
Special Restraint. 

Existing 
Northern boundary has no physical 
features (weak).  
Western boundary consists of an 
established tree belt (moderate) 
Eastern boundary consists of 
established hedgerow with minor 
gaps (moderate) 
 
Proposed: 
Herns Lane unclassified road 
(moderate) 
B1000 Hertford Road (strong) 
Established tree belt/hedgerow with 
minor gaps (moderate) 
 
Alternative boundaries within the 
site, based upon a landscape and 
ecological buffer area outlined in the 
HELAA assessment, would largely 
be drawn along areas of grassland 
and therefore would be absent of 
any definable features (weak), with a 
stretch of tree belt and Herns Lane 
to the west (moderate) forming a 
minority of the boundary  
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries consisting of B road, 
unclassified road and established 
tree belts/hedgerows would be 
stronger overall than the existing 
boundary. 
 
Alternative reduced boundaries 
would be similar in strength to the 
existing boundary, and have the 
advantage of not requiring a larger 
area of land, which is landscape 
sensitive, to be released from the 
green belt. 

Significant positives (++) Total: 9  
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of WGC Industrial Area. It 
is within 400m of six bus stops. 
 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character: 
Site is PDL. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site would provide capacity for at least 5% of the OAN 
could deliver affordable housing and make provision for 
Lifetime Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 4 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character, retaining local distinctiveness: 
The WHBC Green Belt Review indicates the site 
contributes significantly to maintaining settlement 
pattern. 
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of development should 
seek to reduce significant effects on settlement pattern 
and local distinctiveness.  
Site is located within Panshanger Aerodrome. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection of open spaces. 
 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the borough’s 
character, historic environment, and 
heritage/cultural assets: 
Proximity to Listed Buildings and Historic Park & 
Garden.  
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies on heritage assets and good design.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: 
Site is within 500m of a SSSI. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
 

Advantages: 
Provision of primary school 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 

Summary  HELAA: Delivery is estimated to be 6-10 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: Green Belt land within both WGC4 and 7 make a significant contribution to one national Green Belt purpose and WGC7 makes a significant contribution to the local purpose. Both have high or mixed levels of physical and visual 
openness. This is attributed moderate weight against WGC4/7 as a whole. 

 GB Boundary: Proposed new boundaries would be stronger overall than the existing boundaries and would be clearly defined and defensible. These boundaries are attributed significant weight in favour of the site. Alternative reduced 

P
age 144



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

boundaries within the site would be similar in strength to the existing boundaries. These boundaries are attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. On balance, the reduced boundaries are recommended as they are consistent with 
the landscape and ecological mitigation measures recommended within the HELAA.  

 SA: The site has two times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Strategic advantage: site would provide a primary school. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 
On balance, the site’s benefits are considered to outweigh the adverse impact upon the purposes of the Green Belt. The site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn Garden City sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site were allocated, the following would be required: 

 Remove safeguard land designation 

 Amend green belt boundaries to the alternative reduced green belt boundaries described above.  

  

P
age 145



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

WGC5 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
1200 dwellings (inclusive of gypsy 
and traveller pitches), plus land for 
primary school, local centre  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Highway upgrades and 
enhancement of public transport 
accessibility 

 Buffer wildlife sites and Local 
Nature Reserve 

 Mitigate ecological impacts 

 Mitigate heritage impacts 

 Land contamination and landfill 
gas 

 Protection of ground and surface 
water 

 Mitigate noise and air pollution 
from the A414, concrete 
batching plant and other 
neighboring land uses 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 

 Flood risk sequential approach 
to layout and surface water 
management 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-15 years  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
Significant  in safeguarding  the 
countryside from encroachment  
although the site is constrained  by the 
A414 and Birchall Lane it would be a 
significant extension into the 
countryside surrounding Welwyn 
Garden City  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant reduces the visual 
perception of the gap with Cole Green 
and Letty Green (villages in East 
Herts) 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
The site has a high level of physical 
and visual openness with long distant 
views into and out of the site. 
  
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Forms a group with WGC3 and 
EWEL1 in East Herts 
 
 

Existing: The existing Green Belt 
boundary of Welwyn Garden City in 
this area is primarily defined by 
property boundaries, established 
tree belts and unclassified roads 
(moderate), but also to a very small 
extent by buildings (strong) 
 
New:  
Established tree belt (moderate) 
The Commons woodland (Strong) 
A414 (strong). The site boundary 
would then cross into East Herts 
where the eastern green belt 
boundaries would be defined by East 
Herts District Council. 
 
Conclusion: 
Proposed new boundaries would be 
stronger overall than the existing 
boundaries and would be clearly 
defined. The eastern green belt 
boundaries would be defined by East 
Herts District Council. 
 
 
 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 8 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of WGC Industrial 
Area. It is within 400m of six bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site would provide capacity for at least 5% of the 
OAN could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
The WHBC Green Belt Review indicates the site 
contributes significantly to maintaining settlement 
pattern. 
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of development should 
seek to reduce significant effects on settlement 
pattern and local distinctiveness.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: 
Site is adjacent to a Local Wildlife Site. 
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – 98.1% of the site falls within 
Flood Zone 1, with the remainder 
falling within Flood zones 2 and 
3a/b. A sequential approach to 
layout that restricts development to 
Flood Zone 1 within the site is 
feasible. Therefore, the site passes 
the Sequential Test and the 
Exception Test does not need to 
be applied at this stage. 
 

Advantages: 
Provision of primary school 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within the first 15 years of the plan period and potentially within the first five years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: The site significantly contributes to one national Green Belt purpose and to the local Green Belt purpose, and has a high degree of physical openness. This is attributed moderate weight against the site 

 GB Boundary: New Green Belt boundaries would be stronger overall than the existing boundaries. The eastern green belt boundaries would be defined by East Herts District Council. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the 
site.  

 SA: The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour the site.  

 Flood Risk: Site passes the sequential test. 

 Strategic advantage: Provision of primary school. This is attributed moderate weight in favour the site. 
 

On balance, the site’s benefits outweigh the adverse impact upon the purposes of the Green Belt. The site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn Garden City sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site were allocated, the following would be required: 

 Amend green belt boundaries as described above. 

 
 

P
age 146



 
 

 
Appendix B 

 
 
Hatfield Housing Sites - Maps and Background Tables 
 
The maps on the following pages illustrate all of the sites considered within the HELAA.  
 
For the purposes of this Sites Selection Background Paper, only sites that passed the Stage 2 
HELAA Assessment and are large enough to be allocated (10 or more in town, 5 or more in 
excluded villages) have been considered. 
  

P
age 147



 

Hatfield North HELAA Results Map 

 

P
age 148



 

Hatfield South HELAA Results Map 

 

P
age 149



 
 
 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

HC94 Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
33 dwellings (net) 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Increased traffic flow into the 
site may necessitate junction 
improvements on Wellfield 
Road 

 Air quality, as the site is close 
to the Comet Way roundabout 
and the A1(M) 

 Potential for contaminated land 
which would require 
remediation 

 Traffic noise from Wellfield 
Road 

 Need to understand and 
mitigate ecological impacts, 
given wildlife potential of the 
site 
 

Delivery timescales: 
6-10 years, although dependent 
on decisions made on another 
fire station site (Pea98) – delivery 
is therefore uncertain 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 8 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of five Employment Areas 
and Hatfield Town Centre. It is within 400m of nine bus 
stops. 
 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character: 
Site is PDL (Previously Developed Land). 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: None 
 
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass - Site is within Flood Zone 
1 
 
 

Advantages: 
None. 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 6-10 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test 
 

Some uncertainty exists around the deliverability of development given that the relocation of fire and rescue to services to facilitate this is linked to the relocation of fire and rescue services on another potential development site (Pea98) which 
is not recommended to be allocated for housing. However, as that site is within an employment area and the borough is expected to experience a shortfall of employment land over the plan period, it is assumed that development could come 
forward there – it is therefore considered that this site should be considered for allocation alongside other Hatfield sites. 

Policy 
implication 

Allocate for housing in the Local Plan  

  

P
age 150



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

HC100b Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
66 dwellings, plus retail 
floorspace 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Potential for contaminated land 
which would require 
remediation 

 Traffic noise from Queensway 
and Wellfield Road 

 Potential for archaeological 
remains on the site, requiring 
survey and removal if 
necessary 

 It may be necessary to carry 
out a bat assessment to 
understand whether bats are 
present or would be affected, 
and mitigate any impacts on 
nesting birds 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

(SA to be completed) Sequential Test result: 
Pass - Site is within Flood Zone 
1 
 
 

Advantages: 
This site is a key regeneration 
priority area, and bringing it forward 
will have significant benefits for 
Hatfield by helping to boost the long 
anticipated redevelopment of the 
eastern end of the town centre. 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 0-5 years. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test 

 Strategic advantage: It forms part of a key regeneration priority area and is a key component of the long anticipated regeneration of Hatfield Town Centre; which whilst highly valued is often poorly perceived. The site will also provide a 
relatively significant amount of new housing in a non-green belt location. Possible viability issues associated with previous attempts to redevelop Hatfield Town Centre are the only strategic disadvantage, although the emerging scheme for 
the site will evidently take this into account. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 

Overall, it considered that the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Hatfield sites. 

Policy 
implication Allocate for housing in the Local Plan 

P
age 151



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

HE23 Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
62 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Increased traffic flow into the 
site may necessitate junction 
improvements on Wellfield 
Road 

 Waste water infrastructure 
upgrades 

 Potential for contaminated land 
which would require 
remediation 

 Traffic noise from Wellfield 
Road 

 It may be necessary to carry 
out a bat assessment to 
understand whether bats are 
present or would be affected 
 

Delivery timescales: 
6-10/11-15 years, depending on 
timescales for the relocation of 
the existing factory to a new site. 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 8 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of Employment Areas, 
Hatfield Town Centre/Railway Station and Convenience 
Stores. It is in proximity to twelve bus stops. 
 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character: 
Site is PDL. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: None 
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass - Site is within Flood Zone 
1 
 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 6-10 or potentially 11-15 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test 
 

Whilst the site is current in an employment use, it is poorly located for an employment site being surrounded on all sides by housing, and has long been envisaged as a housing site. There are some concerns around deliverability given the 
need for the factory on site to be relocated elsewhere locally before development can come forward, but on balance it is considered that the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Hatfield sites. 

Policy 
implication 

Allocate for housing in the Local Plan 

P
age 152



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

HE80 Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
61 dwellings (net)  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Howe Dell is the preferred 
means of access to the site  

 Waste water infrastructure 
upgrades 

 Potential odour, noise and 
vibration from the sewage 
pumping station to the south of 
the site 

 Potential for contaminated land 
which would require 
remediation 

 Noise from the adjacent East 
Coast Main Line railway 

 Potential protected ecology 
within the site, notably bats 
which are known to have been 
present on the site 

 Relative proximity to Hatfield 
House and Park 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 years  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7  
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of Employment Areas, 
Hatfield Town Centre/Railway Station and Convenience 
Stores. It is in proximity to eleven bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character, retaining local distinctiveness: 
More than 25% of the southern half of the site includes 
school playing fields.  
Mitigation: 
Development of this site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection of open space. 
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife Site. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 
1 
 
 

Advantages: 
The site has been promoted as a 
means to fund improvements to the 
adjacent secondary school. 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 0-5 years. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test 

 Strategic advantages: It will act as enabling development to facilitate improvements to Onslow St Audrey’s school. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 
 

Overall, it is considered that the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Hatfield sites. 

Policy 
implication 

Allocate for housing in the Local Plan 

P
age 153



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

HS31 Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
14 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Potential for contaminated land 
which would require 
remediation 

 Traffic noise from nearby 
South Way 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 8 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an Employment Area. 
It is within 400m of seven bus stops. 
 
4.4: Protection and enhancement of open space and 
landscape character: 
Site is PDL. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1  
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife Site. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design.  

Sequential Test result: 
Pass - Site is within Flood Zone 
1 
 
 

Advantages: 
Development could also make a 
minor contribution to a regeneration 
priority area. 
 
Disadvantages: 
None identified. 

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 0-5 years. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test 

 Strategic advantage: The site would make a minor contribution to a regeneration priority area. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 
 

On balance, it is considered that the site should be considered for allocated. 

Policy 
implication 

Allocate for housing in the Local Plan 

P
age 154



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

HS91 Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
37 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Potential noise from the 
adjacent hotel to the west, as 
well as traffic noise from the 
nearby A1001 and A1(M) 

 Need to understand and 
mitigate ecological impacts, 
given wildlife potential of the 
site 
 

Delivery timescales: 
6-10 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution:  
Site is within walking distance of an Employment Area. 
It is within 400m of six bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2  
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character, retaining local distinctiveness: 
Open space 
Mitigation: 
Development of this site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection of open space. 
*Doubts over whether the site lies within the Hazel 
Grove playing fields.  
4.10: Promotion of conservation and sustainable 
use of productive agricultural land: 
Site is located within Grade 2 land. 
Mitigation: 
Effect is difficult to mitigate as it affects approximately 
50% of the site. 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass - Site is within Flood Zone 
1 
 
 

Advantages: 
Development could also make a 
minor contribution to a regeneration 
priority area. 
 
Disadvantages: 
Selection of the site for housing 
would necessitate the loss of an 
area of designated Urban Open 
Land, although this has been fenced 
off to prevent public access for over 
a decade and has little aesthetic 
value. 

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 6-10 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test 

 Strategic advantage: The site would make a minor contribution to a regeneration priority area. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Strategic disadvantage: Whilst it is designated as Urban Open Land, this is solely in recognition of its former use as playing fields for Hazelgrove School – the school buildings were redeveloped for housing over a decade ago and the site 
has been inaccessible ever since. It is also considered to be of little aesthetic value. Accordingly, this has not been attributed any weight. 

 

Overall, it is considered that the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Hatfield sites. 

Policy 
implication 

De-designate the Urban Open Land area (UOL179) covering the site in its entirety. Allocate for housing in the Local Plan 

P
age 155



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

HW100 Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
87 dwellings (net), plus 
reprovided retail floorspace   
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 The adopted SPD sets out 
important access 
requirements, including the 
shared surface treatment of 
High View 

 Potential for contaminated land 
which would require 
remediation 

 Potential noise conflicts from 
the site’s mixed-use nature 
(e.g. evening economy uses 
vs. residential) 

 Potential protected ecology 
within the site, notably bats 
 

Delivery timescales: 
6-10 years  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 8 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution:  
Site is within walking distance of an Employment Area 
and Hatfield Town Centre. It is within 400m of five bus 
stops. 
 
4.4: Protection and enhancement of open space and 
landscape character: 
Site is PDL. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision of Lifetime Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the borough’s 
character, historic environment, and 
heritage/cultural assets: 
Site is in proximity to Listed Buildings and a Historic 
Park & Garden.  
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies and High View SPD related to the protection of 
heritage assets and good design.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife Site. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass - Site is within Flood Zone 
1 
 
 
 

Advantages: 
This site is a key regeneration 
priority area, and bringing it forward 
will have significant benefits for 
South Hatfield by providing a 
revitalised neighbourhood centre. 
 
Disadvantages: 
None. 

Summary  Site will be deliverable within 6-10 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Development of the site would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test 

 Strategic advantage: It is a key regeneration priority area, and development will enable the revitalisation of this valued but somewhat dilapidated neighbourhood centre. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 
 

Overall, it is considered that the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Hatfield sites. 

Policy 
implication 

Allocate for housing in the Local Plan 

P
age 156



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Hat1/13 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Hat 1 Greenfield with limited PDL 
Hat 13 PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Some uncertainty due to viability 
once infrastructure costs 
(especially transport, education 
and sewerage infrastructure have 
been factored in).  
 
Estimated capacity:  
1650 dwellings, 13,900sqm of B1 
floor space  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Highways impact 

 Mitigate air and noise pollution 
from A1(M) and Hatfield 
Avenue 

 Setting of one listed building 
 

Delivery timescales: 
6-10/11-15  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
 
Significant for preventing neighbouring 
towns from merging; contributes to the 
gap between Hatfield and Welwyn 
Garden City which is relatively 
development-free but contains 
Stanborough and Mill Green. Would 
reduce the shortest distance between 
Hatfield and Welwyn Garden City. The 
visual perception of the gap from in 
and around the site is mixed due to 
clear views to the north and north west 
but Welwyn Garden City is not visible   
  
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
 
Significant; the site forms the gap 
between Hatfield and Stanborough 
would have the effect of extending 
Hatfield to the north. The visual 
perception of the gap from in and 
around the site is strong due to clear 
views to the north and north west   
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical Openness High, Visual 
openness High; limited built 
development covering a very small 
proportion of the site    
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Site is connected to Hatfield and forms 
a group with Hat 2.  The motorway 
and Stanborough Park/ River Lea 
provides a clear separation between 
Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield . 
 
 

Existing 
Hatfield Avenue, Great Braitch Lane, 
Green Lanes – unclassified roads 
(moderate), A1(M)/A1001 (strong), 
property boundaries west of Hatfield 
Garden Village (moderate) 
 
Proposed: 
Coopers Green Lane (moderate), 
A1(M) (strong) 
 
Comments: 
The part of the development site 
east of Green Lanes could have 
extensive green areas (incl school 
playing fields) in its northern and 
eastern parts, therefore Green Belt 
boundary could be somewhere 
within this parcel to south of Coopers 
Green Lane in order to retain agreen 
gap between Hat 1 and  
Stanborough. 
 
Conclusion: 
New Green Belt boundary along 
Coopers Green Lane and A1(M) 
would potentially be stronger than 
existing boundary.However in the 
interest of retaining a gap between 
the developed area of Hat 1 and 
Stanborough  the boundary could be  
drawn within the parcel east of 
Green Lanes, however this would be 
weaker than the existing in that area.  
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 9 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of three Major 
Employment Areas. It is within 400m of seven bus 
stops. 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site would provide capacity for at least 5% of the OAN. 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.   
6.1: Ensuring the supply, location and quality of 
business/employment sites reflects the needs of 
local businesses/encourages a mixed economy:  
Site could provide 5% or more of required employment 
floor space in the borough.  
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 3 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character, retaining local distinctiveness: 
The WHBC Green Belt Review indicates the site 
contributes significantly to maintaining settlement 
pattern. 
Mitigation: The scale, layout and design of 
development should seek to reduce significant effects 
on settlement pattern and local distinctiveness.  
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the borough’s 
character, historic environment, and 
heritage/cultural assets:  
Site is in proximity to Listed Buildings and an AAS (Area 
of Archaeological Significance) is located within the site. 
Mitigation: Development of site should conform to 
Local Plan policies related to the protection of heritage 
assets and good design.  
4.10: Promotion of conservation and sustainable 
use of productive agricultural land: 
Site is located within Grade 2 land. 
Mitigation: Effect is difficult to mitigate as it affects 
approximately 50% of the site. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 
1. An ordinary watercourse is 
present in the centre of the site 
which may present fluvial flood 
risk; however, it was not 
possible to model it in the 
SFRA. A sequential approach to 
layout that restricts 
development to Flood Zone 1 
within the site is feasible. 
Therefore, the site passes the 
Sequential Test and the 
Exception Test does not need 
to be applied at this stage. 
 
Surface water flow route runs 
broadly north-south through the 
western area of the site, with 
areas of pooling also indicated. 
A sequential approach to layout 
and the use of sustainable 
drainage systems (SuDS) could 
be used to suitably manage 
surface water flood risk to, 
within and from the site. 
 

Advantages: 
 
Provides a secondary school site to 
meet needs from wider Hatfield 
area, also a new primary school and 
an expanded primary school (or two 
new primary schools) to meet the 
needs of the development site.  
 
The largest site proposed for 
allocation and therefore a major 
contribution to housing numbers. 
 
Would provide a neighbourhood 
centre and community facilities 
 
Would provide additional nearby 
facilities for Hat 15 (Symondshyde 
Village), such as health facilities and 
a larger neighbourhood centre, if 
that site were to be allocated. 
 
 
Disadvantages: 
None. 
 
 
 

Summary  HELAA: Mitigation is required for highways impact, air and noise pollution from Hatfield Avenue and A1 (M), and the setting of one listed building. Delivery is anticipated within the 6-10 year period and to continue into the 11-15 year 
period, this is attributed minor to moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: Site makes a significant contribution to one national purpose and to the local purpose and has a high level of physical and visual openness. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 GB Boundary: New boundary would be of moderate strength (part minor road, part property boundary), similar overall to existing; this is accorded moderate weight in favour of the site. A fragile gap exists between Hatfield and 
Stanborough. Development of this site would significantly reduce this gap, hence this is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 SA: Overall the site has two to three times more double positives than double negatives and this is attributed as moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Flood risk: development restricted to Flood Zone 1. Site passes the sequential test. 

 Site can make provision for a secondary school, new primary schools, small-scale employment, community facilities and a larger neighbourhood centre. It would also contribute to the Green Corridor and some of the community 
infrastructure would also serve site Hat 15 if the latter is developed. Overall this is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 
The site could form a sustainable extension to the town of Hatfield as it is of sufficient size to provide a secondary school, primary schools community facilities and a neighbourhood centre, is accessible to major Employment Areas, and can 
be linked to the rest of the town by public transport and walking/cycle routes. Moderate weight against the development of the site arises from adverse effect on one national Green Belt purpose and the local Green Belt purpose, also through 
loss of openness and intrusion into a fragile gap. This is however outweighed by the substantial contribution to housing numbers and considerable strategic advantages in terms of infrastructure provision offered by the development of the site. 
Overall the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Hatfield sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If allocated for housing, the majority of the site to be removed from the Green Belt and the boundary re-drawn so as to retain a gap between the developed area of the site and Stanborough.  
New UOL designation required for existing informal recreation land west of Hatfield Garden Village between Hatfield Avenue and Green Lanes within Hat 1. 

P
age 157



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Hat2 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Uncertain, due to the existing 
Section 106 obligations relating to 
provision of Ellenbrook Park. 
Legal advice has been sought. 
 
Estimated capacity:  
1130 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Highways impact 

 Setting of adjoining listed 
building (Astwick Manor) 

 Limited area in north of site 
affected by flooding of 
Ellenbrook 

 Impact on adjoining wildlife site 
at Home Covert 

 Impact of adjoining Business 
Park uses (noise/light 
pollution) needs to be 
mitigated. 

 Provision of country park 
without loss to the community 
in the intervening period. 
 

Delivery timescales: 
 
Uncertain (possible within 6-
10/11-15 years) 
 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
 
Significant in safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment  
Countryside characteristics, free from 
encroachment /development with 
urban influences from adjoining 
employment uses and residential to 
the east and the south.  
 
Partial makes a partial contribution to 
the visual perception of the separation 
of Hatfield and St Albans 
  
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant within the gap between 
Smallford and Hatfield which already 
has some development within it. A 
reduction in the gap would not 
compromise the physical separation of 
these settlements but would partially 
reduce the visual perception.  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical Openness; High. Flat site 
with no development, Visual 
Openness; High. High levels of visual 
openness from the south with views to 
the surrounding landscape, lower 
levels to the north.  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Forms a group with Hat1.  
 
 

Existing 
Boundary with Business Park 
(moderate), residential property 
boundaries (moderate/weak), 
Albatross Way – unclassified 
(moderate)  
 
Proposed: 
Coopers Green Lane (moderate), 
Astwick Manor fence boundary 
(moderate), former Aerodrome fence 
boundary (moderate), established 
fenced woodland (moderate/strong), 
south-western site boundary has no 
current defining features (weak). 
 
Comments: 
The new Green Belt boundary would 
not be significantly weaker than the 
existing, with the exception of the 
south-west boundary, which would 
be dependent on new property 
boundaries or new planting. 
 
Conclusion: 
The Green Belt boundary would 
need to be redrawn slightly further to 
the west than is currently the case 
around west Hatfield. If a firm 
boundary can be provided along the 
south-west side of the development 
site (fronting the remaining country 
park), then this should not be a 
major issue.  
 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 8 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an Employment Area 
and Town Centre. It is within 400m of sixteen bus stops. 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site would provide capacity for at least 5% of the OAN. 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.   
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 5 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character, retaining local distinctiveness: 
Site is located within Ellenbrook Country Park. It has 
high landscape sensitivity. The WHBC Green Belt 
Review indicates the site contributes significantly to 
maintaining settlement pattern. 
Mitigation: Development of site should conform to 
Local Plan policies related to the protection of open 
spaces. The scale, layout and design of development 
should seek to reduce significant effects on landscape 
character and local distinctiveness.  
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: Site is within 250m of Local Wildlife Sites. 
Mitigation: Development of site should conform to 
Local Plan policies related to the 
protection/enhancement of biodiversity and good 
design. 
4.10: Promotion of conservation and sustainable 
use of productive agricultural land: Site is partially 
located within Grade 2 land.  
Mitigation: Effect is difficult to mitigate as it affects 
approximately 28% of the site. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – 92.5% of the site falls 
within Flood Zone 1, with the 
remainder within Flood Zones 2 
and 3a/b. A sequential 
approach to layout that restricts 
development to Flood Zone 1 
within the site is feasible. 
Therefore, the site passes the 
Sequential Test and the 
Exception Test does not need 
to be applied at this stage. 
 
 
 

Advantages: 
 
Primary school provision, small; 
scale community facilities. 
 
Disadvantages: 
Loss of a significant proportion of 
Ellenbrook Fields, which is currently 
a well-used informal country park for 
the wider local area. 
 
Remaining part of Ellenbrook Fields 
likely to be subject to mineral 
extraction during the plan period 
meaning that residents would not 
have access to a meaningful 
country park during the plan period. 
 
Note: Appropriate controls through 
the use of planning conditions 
and/or landowner covenants (plus 
extension of existing Article 4 
direction) may be required to 
prevent a disproportionate level of 
HMOs given the site’s proximity to 
the University. 

Summary  HELAA: Mitigation is required for highways impact, impact on setting of listed building and adjoining wildlife site, also mitigation against impacts of flooding and adjoining Business Park uses. The need to provide the country park will have 
a significant impact on delivery therefore on balance minor weight against is attributed to the site. 

 GB Study: Site makes a significant contribution to one national purpose and to the local purpose and has a high level of physical and visual openness. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 GB Boundary: New boundary would be partially weaker than existing and is not clearly defined; this is attributed minor weight against the site.  

 SA: Site has less than twice as many significant positives effects than significant negatives overall this is attributed as minor weight in favour of the site. 

 Flood risk: development restricted to Flood Zone 1. Site passes the sequential test. 

 Strategically, whilst the development of the site would provide a new primary school, small scale community facilities and some longer-term enhancement to green infrastructure (the latter towards the end of or beyond the plan period), it 
would lead to the loss of a substantial area of publicly-accessible green infrastructure following commencement. Overall this is considered to be moderate weight against the site.   

  
The site could form a sustainable extension to the town of Hatfield as it is of sufficient size to provide a primary school and small neighbourhood centre, is accessible to a major Employment Area, and can be linked to the town by public 
transport and walking/cycle routes. It does however present the problem of significant encroachment into the Green Belt with a partially weaker new Green Belt boundary and the loss of a substantial part of Ellenbrook Fields Country Park as it 
currently exists. Furthermore the likely extraction of minerals will result in large parts of the remaining country park being largely inaccessible to the public for the plan period. Delivery of the site could also be delayed by the need to vary the 
existing S106 agreement relating to Ellenbrook Park and there is uncertainty as to whether all parties will agree to its variation.  Accordingly, although the landowner has advised that earlier delivery could be possible, it   
Is considered that whilst the site could be identified as safeguarded land to potentially be considered for housing beyond the plan period there is a degree of uncertainty over its deliverability.   

Policy 
implication 

If allocated as Safeguarded Land, Green Belt boundary to be amended to remove the site from the Green Belt. 

 
  

P
age 158



 
 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Hat5 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
140 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Flood risk to point of site 
access 

 Flood risk sequential approach 
to layout and surface water 
management 

 Mitigate air and noise pollution 
from A1M/A414 
 

Delivery timescales: 
11-15 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
Significant for safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment, 
strong countryside characteristics free 
from development with urban 
influences residential with very long 
gardens along the south and eastern 
boundaries  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant development of this site 
would create the shortest gap 
between Hatfield and Smallford.  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical Openness High, Visual 
Openness High  Partially enclosed by 
roads to the south east and copse on 
the south eastern side  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Connects to Hatfield and forms a 
group with Hat3, Hat4 and Hat12. 
However,  
Hat3, Hat4 and Hat12 are not suitable  
 
 

Existing: Ellenbook Lane 
unclassified road (moderate) 
 
Proposed: Established tree 
belts/hedgerow s with minor gaps 
(moderate) 
Extensive woodland (strong) 
  
An alternative would be to draw a 
western boundary that does not 
project as far west in order to 
mitigate the impact on Green Belt 
purposes. However, the south 
western boundary, which is the most 
sensitive in terms of the relationship 
between Hatfield and St Albans, 
would have no definable or 
defensible features (weak).  
Allocating Hat5 would however leave 
Hat4 encapsulated by development 
on three sides along Wilkins Green 
Lane, Ellenbrook Lane and Hat 5. A 
more logical boundary could be 
drawn that would exclude Hat4 from 
the Green Belt but as Hat4 is 
unsuitable for development and 
makes a significant contribution to 
Green Belt, this is not justified. This 
would result in Hat5 on its own 
creating an irregular Green Belt 
boundary with only minor 
connectivity to the existing urban 
boundary of Hatfield. 
 
Conclusion: A new Green Belt 
boundary on a reduced site 
consisting of established tree 
belts/hedgerows, and no definable 
features (in part) would be partially 
weaker than the existing boundary. 
 
However, removing adjacent Hat4 is 
not justified, meaning that Hat5 on 
its own would create an irregular 
green belt boundary with only minor 
connectivity to the existing urban 
boundary of Hatfield. 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an Employment Area 
and Town Centre. It is within 400m of five bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.    
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 4  
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character, retaining local distinctiveness: 
The WHBC Green Belt Review indicates the site 
contributes significantly to maintaining local 
distinctiveness. 
Mitigation: The scale, layout and design of 
development should seek to reduce significant effects 
on settlement pattern and local distinctiveness.  
 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the borough’s 
character, historic environment, and 
heritage/cultural assets: 
Site is in proximity to Listed Buildings. 
Mitigation: Development of site should conform to 
Local Plan policies related to the protection of heritage 
assets and good design.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife Site. 
Mitigation: Development of site should conform to 
Local Plan policies related to the 
protection/enhancement of biodiversity and good 
design. 
 
4.10: Promotion of conservation and sustainable 
use of productive agricultural land: 
Site is located within Grade 2 land. 
Mitigation: Effect is difficult to mitigate as it affects 99% 
of the site. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – 93.9% of the site falls 
within Flood Zone 1, with the 
remainder within Flood Zones 2 
and 3a/b. A sequential approach 
to layout that restricts 
development to Flood Zone 1 
within the site is feasible. 
Therefore, the site passes the 
Sequential Test and the 
Exception Test does not need to 
be applied at this stage. 
 
 

Advantages: 
Accords with the Settlement 
Strategy, with the primary focus 
for development being within and 
around the two principal towns. 
 
Major contribution to meeting 
objectively assessed need for 
housing. 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 

Summary  HELAA: Delivery is estimated to be 11-15 years due to the landowner’s intentions, but there are no constraints that prevent the site coming forward earlier in the plan period. This is attributed minor weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: Site makes a significant contribution to one national Green Belt purpose and to the local purpose, and has high level of physical and visual openness. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 GB Boundary: New boundaries would be partially weaker than the existing boundary, with one significant part of the new boundaries not clearly defined. In addition, the site would result in an irregular Green Belt boundary with minor 
connectivity to the existing urban boundary of Hatfield. Overall, this is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 SA: The site has less than twice as many significant positives than significant negatives. This is attributed minor weight in favour of the site. 
On balance, the site’s minor benefits do not outweigh the adverse impact on Green Belt purposes or the creation of an irregular Green Belt boundary and the site should not be considered for allocation alongside other Hatfield sites. 

Policy 
implication 

None - no change to Green Belt boundary  

 
  

P
age 159



 
 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Hat11 
(Scenario 1) 
 
6ha 

Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
  
Estimated capacity:  
120 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Highway junction upgrades 

 Mitigate impact on adjacent 
wildlife site and site ecology 

 Mitigate air and noise 
pollution from A1/Southway 

 Mitigate potential impact on 
Water End SSSI 

 Easement for public rights of 
way 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
 
Contribution to National Purposes: 
Significant in safeguarding the 
countryside  
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant contributes to the narrow  
gap between Hatfield and Welham 
Green which contains the former 
central resource library and former 
school. Contributes to the visual 
perception of the gap as it is partially 
elevated and open and would form an 
irregular outcrop to Hatfield beyond 
the A1001.    
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical Openness high and Visual 
openness High, elevated some open 
views over the surrounding landscape 
especially in the south central areas.   
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Forms a group with WeG8, WeG9/ 
GTLAA05 NB. WeG9/GTLAA failed 
Stage 1 of the HELAA 
 

Existing 
South Way A Road (Strong). Forms 
a strong visual and perceptual break 
between South Hatfield and the land 
north of Welham Green 
 
Proposed: 
Established tree belt/hedgerow with 
minor gaps (moderate) 
Ridgeline through the middle of the 
site (moderate)  
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries consisting of established 
tree belts/hedgerows and ridgeline 
would be weaker than the existing 
boundary; however, clearly defined 
and defensible. 
 
Fragile Gap: The site resides 
between Hatfield and Welham 
Green. Whilst the gap between them 
has to a degree been compromised 
by Travellers Lane Industrial Estate, 
the area of land which Hat11 sits 
within constitutes a significant area 
of open land between the two 
settlements which serves as a gap 
between them. Development of this 
site would significantly reduce this 
gap. 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an Employment Area. 
It is within 400m of twelve bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 3   
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character, retaining local distinctiveness: 
Site has high landscape sensitivity. The WHBC Green 
Belt Review indicates the site contributes significantly to 
maintaining settlement pattern. 
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of development should 
seek to reduce significant effects on landscape 
character and settlement pattern/ local distinctiveness.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: 
Site is adjacent to a Local Wildlife Site.  
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies in relation to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 
 
 
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 
1 
 
 

Advantages: 
Accords with the Settlement 
Strategy, with the primary focus for 
development being within and 
around the two principal towns. 
 
Major contribution to meeting 
objectively assessed need for 
housing. 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 

Summary  HELAA: Delivery is estimated to be 0-10 years, and potentially within 0-5 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: Site makes a significant contribution to one national Green Belt purpose and to the local purpose, and has high level of physical and visual openness. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 GB Boundary: New Green Belt boundaries would be predominantly weaker than the existing boundaries, but would be clearly defined. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. The steeply sloping embankment rising up on the 
southern side of South Way also creates a very strong visual and perceptual barrier between South Hatfield and the land north of Welham Green. The site resides between Hatfield and Welham Green. Whilst the gap between them has to 
a degree been compromised by Travellers Lane Industrial Estate, the area of land which Hat11 sits within constitutes a significant area of open land between the two settlements which serves as a gap between them. Extending the green 
belt boundaries as proposed would encroach into this gap. This is attributed significant weight against the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test 

 SA: The site has two to three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 
 
On balance, the weakening of a strong Green Belt boundary and developing land beyond South Way, which is a strong visual and physical barrier between Hatfield and the site/land beyond South Way, and the adverse impacts upon the 
purposes of the Green Belt are considered to outweigh the benefits of the site. The site should not be considered for allocation alongside other Hatfield sites. 

Policy 
implication 

None - no change to Green Belt boundary  

P
age 160



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Hat11 
(Scenario 3) 
 
12.5ha 

Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
Residential and employment 
use of no greater than the 
equivalent of 300 dwellings 
(restriction on capacity is due to 
single point of access) 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Highway junction upgrades 

 Mitigate impact on adjacent 
wildlife site and site ecology 

 Mitigate air and noise 
pollution from A1/Southway, 
and any future waste 
operations at New Barnfield 

 Mitigate potential impact on 
Water End SSSI 

 Easement for public rights of 
way 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
Significant in safeguarding the 
countryside  
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant contributes to the narrow  
gap between Hatfield and Welham 
Green which contains the former 
central resource library and former 
school. Contributes to the visual 
perception of the gap as it is partially 
elevated and open and would form an 
irregular outcrop to Hatfield beyond 
the A1001.    
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical Openness high and Visual 
openness High, elevated some open 
views over the surrounding landscape 
especially in the south central areas.   
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Forms a group with WeG8, WeG9/ 
GTLAA05 NB. WeG9/GTLAA failed 
Stage 1 of the HELAA 
 

Existing 
South Way A Road (Strong) 
 
Proposed: 
Established tree belt/hedgerow with 
minor gaps (moderate) 
Fragmented hedgerow (weak)  
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries consisting of established 
tree belts/hedgerows and a 
fragmented hedgerow would be 
weaker than the existing boundary.  
 
Fragile Gap: The site resides 
between Hatfield and Welham 
Green. Whilst the gap between them 
has to a degree been compromised 
by Travellers Lane Industrial Estate, 
the area of land which Hat11 sits 
within constitutes a significant area 
of open land between the two 
settlements which serves as a gap 
between them. Development of this 
site would significantly reduce this 
gap. 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2 Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an Employment Area. 
It is within 400m of eight bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 3   
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character, retaining local distinctiveness: 
Site has high landscape sensitivity. The WHBC Green 
Belt Review indicates the site contributes significantly to 
maintaining settlement pattern. 
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of development should 
seek to reduce significant effects on landscape 
character and settlement pattern/ local distinctiveness.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity: 
Site is adjacent to a Local Wildlife Site and within 250m 
of another.  
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies in relation to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 
1 
 
 
 

Advantages: 
Presents one of few opportunities 
available to make provision of 
additional employment land to 
support jobs growth. 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 

Summary  HELAA: Delivery is estimated to be 0-10 years and potentially within 0-5 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: Site makes a significant contribution to one national Green Belt purpose and to the local purpose, and has high level of physical and visual openness. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 GB Boundary: New Green Belt boundaries would be predominantly weaker than the existing boundaries, but would be clearly defined. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. The steeply sloping embankment rising up on the 
southern side of South Way also creates a very strong visual and perceptual barrier between South Hatfield and the land north of Welham Green. The site resides between Hatfield and Welham Green. Whilst the gap between them has to 
a degree been compromised by Travellers Lane Industrial Estate, the area of land which Hat11 sits within constitutes a significant area of open land between the two settlements which serves as a gap between them. Extending the green 
belt boundaries as proposed would encroach into this gap. This is attributed significant weight against the site. 

 SA: The site is a location accessible to public transport and an Employment Area, although this would require improvements to pedestrian links. Potential impact on ecology, although this is capable of mitigation, as noted in the HELAA. 
Therefore, this is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Strategic advantage: Presents one of few opportunities to make provision of employment land in the borough, although the exact quantum if unknown and likely to be relatively small in scale. This is attributed moderate weight in favour 
of the site. 

 
On balance, whilst the site could provide employment floor space which would be an additional benefit over and above the benefits of Scenario 1 for this site, this is not considered to outweigh the weakening of a strong Green Belt boundary 
and developing land beyond South Way, which is a very strong visual and physical barrier between Hatfield and the site/land beyond South Way, and the adverse impacts upon the purposes of the Green Belt. The site should not be 
considered for allocation alongside other Hatfield sites. 

Policy 
implication 

None - no change to Green Belt boundary  

P
age 161



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 
1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Hat19 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
20 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Mitigate heritage impacts 

 Mitigate ecological impacts 

 Mitigate air and noise 
pollution from A1057 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
Significant for safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment, 
strong countryside characteristics free 
from development with urban 
influences residential with very long 
gardens along the south and eastern 
boundaries  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
The site makes a significant 
contribution towards the visual 
perception of the separation of 
Hatfield (1st) from Smallford (3rd) 
(which has already merged with St 
Albans). Development would reduce 
physical separation and visual 
perception of the gap. 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Mixed visual openness and high 
physical openness 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Forms a group with Hat4, Hat5, Hat7 
and Hat12. NB Hat7 has been 
withdrawn from the HELAA, and Hat4 
and Hat12 failed Stage 2 of the 
HELAA. 
 
 
 

Existing 
Property boundaries and established 
tree belt/hedgerow (moderate) 
 
Proposed: 
Property boundaries and established 
tree belt/hedgerow (moderate) 
Access road to Great Nast Hyde 
House (moderate) 
 
A more logical, clearly defined and 
defensible Green Belt boundary to 
the north west could be formed by 
the A1057 St Albans Road West 
(strong). This would require taking 
405 St Albans Road West out of the 
Green Belt. 
 
Based upon the conclusions of the 
HELAA, the site should be broadly 
restricted to the north western half of 
the site, above the access into the 
site from Bramble Road. Therefore 
the south eastern Green Belt should 
be formed by an extension of 
Bramble Road into the site 
(moderate). 
 
Fragile gap: 
Site would reduce the a fragile gap 
between Hatfield (1

st
 tier settlement) 

and Smallford, and by extension St 
Albans (1

st
 tier settlement) from 

approximately 710m to 650m   
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries consisting of the A1057, 
access road to Great Nast Hyde 
House and new stretch of Bramble 
Road would be no weaker than the 
existing boundary, and could form 
clearly defined and defensible 
boundaries. However, a fragile gap 
between 1

st
 tier settlements would 

be marginally reduced. 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of Employment Areas. It 
is within 400m of three bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and tenure 
of housing to meet identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development and 
lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 3   
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space and 
landscape character, retaining local distinctiveness: 
The WHBC Green Belt Review indicates the site 
contributes significantly to maintaining settlement 
pattern.  

Mitigation: The scale, layout and design of 
development should seek to reduce significant effects 
on settlement pattern and local distinctiveness.  
 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the borough’s 
character, historic environment, and 
heritage/cultural assets: 
Site is in proximity to Listed Buildings. 

Mitigation: Development of site should conform to 
Local Plan policies related to the protection of heritage 
assets and good design.  
 
4.10: Promotion of conservation and sustainable 
use of productive agricultural land: 
Site is located within Grade 2 land. 

Mitigation: Effect is difficult to mitigate as it affects 
approximately 95% of the site. 

 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 
1 
 
 

Advantages: 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 

Summary  HELAA: Delivery is estimated to be 0-10 years, but potentially within 5 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: Site makes a significant contribution to one national Green Belt purpose and to the local purpose, and has high level physical openness. This is attributed moderate weight against the site 

 GB Boundary: New boundaries would be similar in strength to existing boundaries, and would be clearly defined and defensible. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. However, development here would marginally 
reduce a strategic local gap between 1

st
 tier settlements. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test 

 SA: Site has two to three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 
 

On balance, the site’s benefits are not considered to outweigh the adverse impacts upon the purposes of the Green Belt and narrowing of the gap between 1
st
 tier settlements. The site should not be considered for allocation alongside 

other Hatfield sites. 

Policy 
implication 

None - no change to Green Belt boundary 

 

P
age 162



 

 
Appendix C 

 
 
Woolmer Green Housing Sites - Maps and Background 
Tables 
 
The map on the following page illustrates all of the sites 
considered within the HELAA.  
 
For the purposes of this Sites Selection Background Paper, 
only sites that passed the Stage 2 HELAA Assessment and are 
large enough to be allocated (10 or more in town, 5 or more in 
excluded villages) have been considered. 

  

Page 163



 

Woolmer Green HELAA Results Map 

 
 

Page 164



 
 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

WGr1 Urban/Green Belt: Green Belt 
 
 
PDL/Greenfield: Greenfield 
 
 
Achievable: Yes 
 
Estimated capacity: 150 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Within 30m of a Grade II Listed 
building (Payne’s farmhouse), but 
should be possible to develop the 
site without causing unacceptable 
harm to the significance of the 
farmhouse. Proposed landscape 
buffer to mitigate impact. 

 Not in an ASS but moderate 
potential for pre-historic remains 
and low to medium potential for 
medieval and post – medieval 
remains. 

 Layout would need to ensure 
satisfactory residential 
environment for future occupants 
addressing potential noise impact 
from adjoining industrial uses. 

 Waste water upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5/6-10 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
 
Significant in safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment, forms 
part of the wider countryside.    
 
Partial for checking unrestricted sprawl 
of large built up areas of Stevenage.  
 
Partial in preventing neighbouring 
towns from merging. Has a impact on 
the gap to Knebworth and contributes 
to the gap between Welwyn  Garden 
City and Stevenage, also  contributes 
to the visual perception of the gap but 
this is limited due to the overall scale of 
the gap 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partially reduces the visual perception 
of the separation of settlements 
between Woolmer Green and 
Knebworth. 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical and Visual openness is High 
Generally open with views to the 
surrounding landscape.  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
The site is connected to Woolmer 
Green and forms a group with WGr2 
and WGr3  
 

Existing: 
The existing green belt boundary 
comprises of the settlement boundary 
and is strong. 
 
Proposed: 
There would be no definable physical 
boundary to the north, where the 
boundary would go across an open 
field. (Weak). 
 
To the east, the boundary would 
consist of an established hedgerow, 
alongside a private access track. 
(Moderate).  
 
Development would be constrained to 
the southern part of the site to form a 
landscape buffer to the north; this is to 
allow for the provision of a strategic 
landscape buffer to the north of the site 
below the ridge of the gently rising 
landform, to offset the impact of the 
development on the wider landscape. 
As a result the proposed new boundary 
would align well with the existing 
settlement boundary. 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
 4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of two 
Employment Areas. It is within 400m of 
five bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, 
type and tenure of housing to meet 
identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing 
and make provision for Lifetime 
Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of 
education establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of 
the borough’s character , historic 
environment, and heritage/cultural 
assets: 
Site is adjacent to a Listed Building 
and between 250m-1km of another 
four. 
Mitigation: 
Conservation and enhancement in 
conformity with Local Plan policies  
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
Surface water flow route runs north-
south in the eastern area of the site, 
and ponds in the southern corner of 
the site. A sequential approach to 
layout and the use of sustainable 
drainage systems (SuDS) could be 
used to suitably manage surface water 
flood risk to, within and from the site. 
 
 

Advantages: 
Site would on its own meet almost all 
of the proportionate need for housing 
in Woolmer Green. Potential exists to 
provide a farm shop which would 
provide a convenience shop for the 
village and increase its sustainability. 
 
Disadvantages: 
No strategic disadvantages. 
 

Summary HELAA: Deliverable within 0-10 years.(Moderate in favour)  
GB Study: Significant for one national purpose – safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. Partial for two other national purposes, preventing neighboring towns from merging and checking unrestricted sprawl. Forms a group with 
WGr2 and WGr3. (Moderate against). 
Green Belt Boundary: Proposed Green Belt boundary would be predominately weaker than existing and only clearly defined to the east (moderate weight against).  Development of this site would marginally reduce the existing fragile gap 
between Woolmer Green and Knebworth. Impact would be minimized if northern edge of site was aligned with the existing northern edge of the settlement (and allowed for the need to achieve access). (minor against) 
Sustainability Appraisal: More than three times as many double positives than negatives (significant in favour). 
Flood Risk: Passes the sequential test 
Strategic Advantages/Disadvantages: Development would provide a small farm shop, which would provide a convenience shop for the village, which lacks this facility. (minor in favour) 
Conclusion: Potential adverse impacts on heritage assets can be overcome by suitable mitigation measures, as can potential impacts on residential amenity from noise arising from adjoining employment uses. On balance, the site’s benefits 
are considered to outweigh the adverse impacts on the purposes of the Green Belt, which could be minimized by reducing the northern extent of the site to align with the northern edge of the existing settlement boundary and allow for access. 
The site should be considered for allocation  

Policy 
implication 

Business units are not supported in principle as no further allocation of employment land is considered necessary in Woolmer Green. There is no convenience shop in Woolmer Green, so the provision of a small farm shop with ancillary café of 
no more than 280m2 is supported in principle to improve sustainability of the village and the farm enterprise. If the site is allocated for housing - the Green Belt boundary will need to be amended. However, other than allowing for access, the 
northern edge of the site should align with the northern edge of the existing settlement boundary in order to minimize the impact on this fragile gap. 

  

P
age 165



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential and 
Exception Test 

Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

WGr2 
(emp) 

Green Belt/Urban 
Green Belt 
 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
6,000m

2
 to 11,250m

2
  of employment 

floorspace, depending on precise mix 
of uses 
 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Proximity of the railway and 
London Road (B197) mean that 
noise could be an issue for certain 
B class uses 

 Possible contamination issues will 
need investigation and may need 
remediation  

 Retention of trees could help 
preserve local ecology 

 Waste water upgrades 
 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5/6-10 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
 
Significant for safeguarding the 
countryside from development  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant Site contributes to the gap 
between Woolmer Green and 
Knebworth and contributes to the visual 
perception of the gap to the west of 
London Rd  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical openness high,  Visual 
Openness mixed enclosed by London 
road, edge of Woolmer Green,  and 
railway embankment  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Connected to Woolmer Green and  
forms a group with WGr1 and WGr3 
 
 

Boundary Conclusion 
 
Existing: 
Mixture of tree belt/hedgerow and 
fencing to southern boundary with 
Woolmer Green. (Moderate) 
 
 
New: 
Fragmented tree belt, forming the 
property boundary to Monread Lodge, 
but clearly defined. (Moderate/weak) 
 
General note: 
The site is located within the fragile 
gap between Woolmer Green and 
Knebworth, which is separated by less 
than 600m. Monread Lodge, a 
residential home, already introduces 
built development into this fragile gap. 
 
Proposed amended boundary will 
significantly reduce further the already 
fragile gap between Woolmer Green 
and Knebworth. 
 
 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 5 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
 4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of a 
settlement. Within 400m of 2 bus 
stops. 
 
6.1: Ensuring the supply, location 
and quality of business/employment 
sites reflects the needs of local 
businesses and encourages a mixed 
economy: 
Site could provide 11,250 sqm of 
employment space. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of 
open space and landscape 
character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
The WHBC Green Belt Review 
indicates the site contributes 
significantly to maintaining settlement 
pattern.  
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of 
development should seek to reduce 
significant effects on settlement pattern 
and local distinctiveness.  
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass - Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
Surface water ponds in the centre of 
the site. The layout, design and the 
use of sustainable drainage systems 
(SuDS) could be used to suitably 
manage surface water flood risk to, 
within and from the site. 
 
 

Advantages:  
None 
 
Disadvantages:  
None 
 

Summary HELAA:  Deliverable within 0-10 years (moderate in favour)  
GB Study: Site makes a significant contribution to national green belt purpose of safeguarding the countryside from development. It also makes a significant contribution to the local purpose, by contributing significantly to the gap between 
Woolmer Green and Knebworth (moderate against). 
Green Belt Boundary: The amended Green Belt boundary would significantly reduce the fragile gap between the two settlements, which are separated by less than 600m (moderate weight against). The new Green Belt boundary would  be 
partially weaker, but clearly defined (minor against) 
Sustainability Appraisal: More than three times double positives as negatives (significant in favour). 
Flood Risk: Site passes the sequential test.  
No strategic advantages/disadvantages 
Conclusion: Development of this site would significantly reduce the already fragile gap between settlements, resulting in a significant negative impact on settlement pattern and local distinctiveness. New Green Belt boundary would be weaker 
than existing. On balance, the significant harm to the Green Belt outweighs the benefits of the site. This site should NOT be considered for allocation. 

Policy 
implication 

 No change to green belt boundary 

  

P
age 166



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

WGr3 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
 
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
  
Estimated capacity:  
40  dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Potential for reptiles and birds, a 
phase 1 habitat survey is required 
to assess habitat value. 

 Future occupants could be 
affected by noise pollution from the 
railway and B197. 

 Waste water upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5/6-10 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
 
Partial for checking unrestricted sprawl 
of large built up areas of Stevenage.  
 
Partial in preventing neighbouring 
towns from merging - contributes to the 
gap between Welwyn Garden City and 
Stevenage  
 
Partial for safeguarding the countryside 
from encroachment. Has countryside 
characteristics however the site is 
enclosed on four sides by built 
development.   
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant contributes to the gap 
between Knebworth and Woolmer 
Green, the gap is relatively 
development free. The site contributes 
to the visual perception of the gap to 
the west of London Road  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical openness is high,  Visual 
openness mixed Edge of Knebworth , 
railway embankment  
 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
The site is connected to Woolmer 
Green and forms a group with WGR2 
and WGR3  
 
 
 
 

Existing: 
To the north, the green belt boundary 
consists of the settlement edge of 
Knebworth. (Strong) 
 
Proposed: 
The new boundary would comprise of 
an established tree belt/wooded area. 
(Moderate).  
 
General note: 
The site is located within the fragile 
gap between Woolmer Green and 
Knebworth, which is separated by less 
than 600m. 
 
The presence of Monread Lodge, 
which is a residential home, already 
introduces built development into this 
fragile gap. 
 
Proposed new boundary would 
significantly reduce further the fragile 
gap between Woolmer Green and 
Knebworth.  
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 5 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
4.3:  helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within 400m of two bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, 
type and tenure of housing to meet 
identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing 
and make provision for Lifetime 
Homes.   
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of 
education establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of 
open space and landscape 
character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
The WHBC Green Belt Review 
indicates the site contributes 
significantly to maintaining settlement 
pattern.  
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of 
development should seek to reduce 
significant effects on settlement pattern 
and local distinctiveness.  
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 

Summary HELAA:  Deliverable within 0-10 years (moderate in favour)  
GB Study: The site makes a partial contribution to 3 national purposes and a significant contribution to the local purpose - maintaining the gap between Woolmer Green and Knebworth (minor against). 
Green Belt boundary: The amended green belt boundary would be predominately weaker than the existing but would be clearly defined. (Moderate against) 
 Proposed amended boundary will significantly reduce further the fragile gap between Woolmer Green and Knebworth. (Moderate against) 
SA: Identifies 5 positives and 1 significant negative, i.e. more than 3 times double positives than double negatives (significant in favour)  
Flood Risk: Passes the sequential test. 
Strategic Advantages/Disadvantages: None  
Conclusion:  Development of this site would significantly reduce the already fragile gap between settlements, resulting in a significant negative impact on settlement pattern and local distinctiveness. New Green Belt boundary would be 
weaker than existing. On balance, the significant harm to the purposes of the Green Belt outweighs the benefits of the site. This site should not be considered for allocation. 

Policy 
implication 

No change to green belt boundary 

 
 

P
age 167



 
 
 

Appendix D 
 
 
Oaklands and Mardley Heath Housing Sites - Maps and 
Background Tables 
 
The map on the following page illustrates all of the sites 
considered within the HELAA.  
 
For the purposes of this Sites Selection Background Paper, 
only sites that passed the Stage 2 HELAA Assessment and are 
large enough to be allocated (10 or more in town, 5 or more in 
excluded villages) have been considered. 

Page 168



 

Oaklands and Mardley Heath HELAA Results Map 

 
 Page 169



 
 
 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

OMH5 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield  
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
20 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Mitigate air and noise pollution 
from A1M 

 Retention / protection of northern 
wooded area  

 Mitigate other ecological impacts 

 Mitigate impact on amenity of 
adjacent properties due to 
topography 
 

Delivery timescales: 
6-10 years  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
Limited or no contribution to any of   
the four National Purposes. 
Although the site is located in a 
strategic gap between Welwyn Garden 
City and Stevenage, its scale means it 
does not make a notable contribution.  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partial makes a limited contribution to 
the visual perception of the gap 
between Oaklands / Mardley Heath 
and Welwyn as it is well screened.  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical Openness mixed, residential 
gardens, garage and woodland.  
Visual Openness low, enclosed by 
motorway residential development and 
vegetation.  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Site is not isolated it forms a group with 
OMH4 and OMH8 and should also be 
considered in terms of the impact with 
the ribbon development to the north 
and south east. 
N.B. OMH 4 is no longer being 
promoted 
 

Existing: 
A1M (strong) 
B197 (strong) 
The Avenue unclassified road 
(moderate) 
 
Proposed: 
The site itself is bounded by the A1M 
(strong), and various property 
boundaries (moderate).  
 
However, a more logical, clearly 
defined and defensible green belt 
boundary could be created by 
removing a slightly larger area of land 
(bounded by the A1M (strong), B197 
(strong) and an established tree belt 
(moderate) to the south-west) from the 
Green Belt.  
 
Fragile Gap: Whilst development of 
this site would shorten an already 
fragile gap between 2

nd
 tier 

settlements, from 800m to 350m, this 
wider area of land is largely urbanised 
comprising of 11 residential properties, 
OMH8, a gas works and GTLAA04. 
 
Conclusion: 
New Green Belt boundaries (A1M, 
B197, and an established tree belt) 
would be similar in strength to the 
existing boundaries and could form 
logical, clearly defined and defensible 
Green Belt boundaries.  
 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 5 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within 400m of two bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, 
type and tenure of housing to meet 
identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing 
and make provision for Lifetime 
Homes. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of 
education establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1   
4.4: Protection/enhancement of 
open space and landscape 
character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
Site has medium-high landscape 
sensitivity. 
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of 
development should seek to reduce 
significant effects on landscape 
character and local distinctiveness. 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 
 
 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within 6-10 years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: Site only makes a partial contribution to the local purpose and limited/no contribution to national purposes. This is attributed minor weight in favour of the site  

 GB Boundaries: New boundaries formed by a wider group of sites would be similar in strength to the existing boundaries; however, they would significantly reduce a fragile gap between two 2
nd

 tier settlements. However, this is largely 
mitigated by the fact the land in question is predominantly urbanised. On this basis, it is attributed minor weight against the site 

 SA: The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour the site. 

 Flood Risk: The site passes the sequential test.  

 No strategic advantages/disadvantages.  
 
On balance, the benefits of the site are considered to outweigh the adverse impact that the development of the site would have on the fragile Green Belt gap between two 2

nd
 tier settlements. The site should be considered for allocation 

alongside other Oaklands and Mardley Heath sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site were allocated, the following would be required: 

 Amend green belt boundaries as described above, and in relation to any allocation of OMH8 and/or GTLAA04. 
 

P
age 170



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

OMH7 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Part PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
12 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Mitigate air and noise pollution 
from A1M 

 Retention of trees and hedgerows 

 Protection of rights of access 
through the site 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
The site makes a limited or no 
contribution to any  of the four national 
Purposes Although located in the 
Strategic gap between Welwyn Garden 
City and Stevenage its scale means it 
does not make a notable contribution. 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Limited or no contribution to the local 
purpose, because of its scale however 
the perception of the reduction of the 
gap is on the north side of the A1 and 
would be clearly visible.  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical  and  Visual - mixed 
comprises dwelling outbuildings and 
residential gardens  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Does not form a group, Separated from 
the nearest site by housing.     
 
 

Existing: 
The A1M (strong) 
 
Proposed: 
Taking the site out of the Green Belt 
would require extending the Green Belt 
boundary across the A1M. The site 
itself is bounded by The Avenue 
unclassified road (moderate), and 
various property boundaries 
(moderate). Green Belt boundaries 
based upon site boundaries would be 
weaker and not logical due to land 
surrounding it being largely developed. 
In order to create more logical green 
belt boundaries north-west of the A1M, 
a much larger area of land would need 
to be taken out of the Green Belt. 
Development surrounding the site and 
extending further north and west is 
largely comprised of large residential 
properties spread out in a relatively 
scattered pattern that has no obvious 
urban edge. Whilst this area of land 
may make a limited contribution to 
Green Belt purposes, drawing logical, 
clearly defined and defensible 
boundaries that encompass it would be 
extremely problematic given the 
scattered pattern of development and 
lack of clear features. 
 
Conclusion: 
No clearly defined and defensible 
Green Belt boundaries can be created 
by either the site or features within the 
surrounding area north-west of the 
A1M, and it is highly likely that any new 
boundaries would be predominantly 
weaker.  

Significant positives (++) Total: 4 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of 
open space and landscape 
character: 
Site is PDL. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, 
type and tenure of housing to meet 
identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing 
and make provision for Lifetime 
Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of 
education establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 
None  
 
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 
 
 
 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within 0-5 years. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: The site makes limited or no contribution to Green Belt purposes. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Green Belt boundaries: Would require release of a significantly larger area of land. No clearly defined and defensible boundaries could be formed; it is highly likely that any new boundary would be predominantly weaker than the existing 
boundary which is formed by the A1(M). This is attributed moderate weight against the site.  

 SA: This site has three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour the site. 

 Flood Risk: The site passes the sequential test.  

 No strategic advantages/disadvantages.  
 
On balance, the A1(M) currently forms a strong Green Belt boundary and the inability to create clearly defined and defensible Green Belt boundaries beyond the A1(M) outweighs the notable benefits of the site. The site should not be 
considered for allocation in the round alongside other Oaklands and Mardley Heath sites. 

Policy 
implication 

None. 

P
age 171



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

OMH8 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Part PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
5 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Mitigate air and noise pollution 
from the A1M 

 Retention/protection of northern 
wooded area  

 Mitigate other ecological impacts 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 years  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
Limited or no contribution to any of   
the four National Purposes. 
Although the site is located in a 
strategic gap between Welwyn Garden 
City and Stevenage, its scale means it 
does not make a notable contribution.  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partial makes a limited contribution to 
the visual perception of the gap 
between Oaklands / Mardley Heath 
and Welwyn as it is well screened.  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical Openness mixed , residential 
gardens, garage and woodland.  
Visual Openness low, enclosed by 
motorway residential development and 
vegetation.  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Site is not isolated it forms a group with 
OMH4 and should also be considered 
in terms of the impact with the ribbon 
development to the north and south 
east. 
N.B. OMH 4 is no longer being 
promoted  
 
 
 
 
 

Existing: 
The Avenue unclassified road 
(moderate)  
 
Proposed: 
The site itself is bounded by the A1M 
(strong), an established tree 
belt/hedgerow (moderate), property 
boundaries (moderate) and the B197. 
 
 However the site is separated from the 
existing Green Belt boundary along 
The Avenue, therefore a wider area of 
land would need to be taken out of the 
Green Belt.  
 
More logical, clearly defined and 
defensible green belt boundaries could 
be created by taking the area of land 
bounded by the A1M (strong), B197 
(strong) and an established tree belt to 
the south-west (moderate) out of the 
Green Belt. This wider area of land 
currently comprises of OMH5, 11 
residential properties, a gas site and 
GTLAA04. 
 
Fragile Gap: Whilst development of 
this site would shorten an already 
fragile gap between two 2

nd
 tier 

settlement would be significantly 
reduced, this is mitigated by the fact 
the land in question is predominantly 
urbanised. 
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries consisting of the A1M, 
B197 and established tree belt would 
be similar in strength to the existing 
boundary and could form more logical, 
clearly defined and defensible Green 
Belt boundaries. 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 6 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within 400m of two bus stops. 
 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of 
open space and landscape 
character: 
Site is PDL. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, 
type and tenure of housing to meet 
identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing 
and make provision for Lifetime 
Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of 
education establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1   
4.4: Protection/enhancement of 
open space and landscape 
character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
Site has medium-high landscape 
sensitivity. 
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of 
development should seek to reduce 
significant effects on landscape 
character and local distinctiveness. 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within 0-5 years. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: Site only makes a partial contribution to the local purpose and limited/no contribution to national purposes. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Green Belt boundaries: New boundaries would be similar in strength to the existing boundaries and clearly defined. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. The site would significantly reduce a fragile gap between two 2
nd

 
tier settlements. However, this is largely mitigated by the fact that the land in question is predominantly urbanised. On this basis, it is attributed minor weight against the site 

 SA: The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour the site. 

 Flood Risk: The site passes the sequential test.  

 No strategic advantages/disadvantages.  
 
On balance, the benefits of the site are considered to outweigh the adverse impact that the development of the site would have on the fragile Green Belt gap between two 2

nd
 tier settlements. The site should be considered for allocation in 

the round alongside other Oaklands and Mardley Heath sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site were allocated, the following would be required: 

 Amend Green Belt boundaries as described above, and in relation to any allocation of OMH5 and/or GTLAA04. 

P
age 172



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

GTLAA04 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
6 additional pitches  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Mitigate air and noise pollution 
from the A1M 

 Mitigate other ecological impacts 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 years  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
Limited or no contribution to any of   
the four National Purposes. 
Although the site is located in a 
strategic gap between Welwyn Garden 
City and Stevenage, its scale and 
nature means it does not make a 
notable contribution 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partial contributes to the gap between 
Oaklands / Mardley Heath and 
Welwyn.   

  

The gap contains ribbon development 
in the form of large detached houses 
and gas plant along the Great North 
Road / B197 which extends from 
Oaklands / Mardley Heath towards 
Welwyn.  The site makes a limited 
contribution towards the visual 
perception of the gap as it is well 
screened. 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical openness low  development 
on site including buildings and 
hardstanding  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Not connected to Oaklands and 
Mardley Heath but is more related to 
the village than to Welwyn.  It forms a 
group with OMH5 and OMH8. This 
may have a greater cumulative impact 
on the Green Belt and also needs to be 
considered in light of ribbon 
development to the south of the sites 
OMH 4 and 5 and northeast of this site. 
 

Existing: 
The Avenue unclassified road 
(moderate) 
 
Proposed: 
The site itself is bounded by the A1M 
(strong), an established tree 
belt/hedgerow (moderate), property 
boundaries (moderate) and the B197.  
 
However the site is separated from the 
existing Green Belt boundary along 
The Avenue, therefore a wider area of 
land would need to be taken out of the 
Green Belt.  
 
Logical, clearly defined and defensible 
green belt boundaries could be created 
by taking the area of land bounded by 
the A1M (strong), B197 (strong) and an 
established tree belt to the south-west 
adjoining the site (moderate) out of the 
Green Belt. This wider area of land 
currently comprises of OMH5, OMH8, 
11 residential properties, and a gas 
site. 
 
Conclusion: 
The existing Green Belt boundary 
consists of The Avenue unclassified 
road which is characterised as 
moderate. The proposed new Green 
Belt boundaries consisting of the A1M, 
B197 and established tree belt would 
be no weaker than the existing 
boundary and could form more logical, 
clearly defined and defensible Green 
Belt boundaries. 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 5 
 4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within 400m of one bus stop. 
 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of 
open space and landscape 
character: 
Site is PDL. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, 
type and tenure of housing to meet 
identified local needs: 
Site would provide 5% or more of total 
need for gypsy and traveller pitches 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of 
education establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and geodiversity:  
Site is adjacent to a Local Wildlife Site. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Summary  HELAA: The site’s location next to the A1(M) means that air and noise pollution is a significant issue that would need to be mitigated. However, this is already an established site and additional pitches could come forward within 0-5 years. 
This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: Site only makes a partial contribution to the local purpose and limited/no contribution to national purposes. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 Green Belt boundaries: New boundaries formed by a wider group of sites would be similar in strength to the existing boundaries; however, they would significantly reduce a fragile gap between two 2
nd

 tier settlements. However, this is 
largely mitigated by the fact the land in question is predominantly urbanised. On this basis, it is attributed minor weight against the site 

 The site has as more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour the site. 

 Flood Risk Passes the sequential test. 

 No strategic advantages/disadvantages 
On balance, the benefits of the site are considered to outweigh the adverse impact that the development of the site would have on the fragile Green Belt gap between two 2

nd
 tier settlements. The site should be considered for allocation in 

the round alongside other Oaklands and Mardley Heath sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site were allocated, the following would be required: 

 Amend Green Belt boundaries as described above, and in relation to any allocation of OMH5 and/or GTLAA04. 

 
 

P
age 173



 
 

 
Appendix E 

 
 
Welwyn Housing Sites - Maps and Background Tables 
 
The map on the following page illustrates all of the sites 
considered within the HELAA.  
 
For the purposes of this Sites Selection Background Paper, 
only sites that passed the Stage 2 HELAA Assessment and are 
large enough to be allocated (10 or more in town, 5 or more in 
excluded villages) have been considered. 

  

Page 174



 

Welwyn HELAA Results Map 

 
 

Page 175



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Wel1 Urban/Green Belt: Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield: Greenfield 
 
Achievable: Uncertain: Flood Zones 
2 and 3 affect part of highway at 
present. Planned decommissioning of 
Fulling Mill pumping station and 
cessation of abstraction from the 
Mimram in 2018 may affect flood 
outlines/groundwater levels. 
Uncertain as to how highway or sites 
may be affected. Further 
assessments will be required. 
Capacity estimates reduced to 
address heritage impacts. No 
agreement in place with third party 
landowner to acquire land required 
for road widening. Viability will need 
to be reviewed. Singlers Marsh 
projects /involvement of key 
stakeholders. Consider alongside 
Wel2 and Wel15) 
 
Estimated capacity: 178 dwellings  
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Highway widening and upgrades, 
new bridge, provision of footpaths 

 Mitigate heritage impacts (listed 
buildings and conservation area, 
potential for archeological 
remains). 

 Mitigate ecological impacts 

 Waste water infrastructure 
upgrades 

 Potential flood risk (post 2018). 
Appropriate assessments required 

 Ground Source Protection Zone 
 

Delivery timescales: Uncertain/ 
(possible within 6-15 yrs)  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
Significant for safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment.  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant - within the local gaps 
between Welwyn and Wheathamstead 
and Welwyn and Codicote, which 
contains ribbon development. 
 
The site would partially reduce the 
visual perception of the separation of 
settlements. 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical and Visual openness high. No 
built development  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Forms a group with other sites 
including Wel2, Wel6 [and Wel15].  
 
(NB: Wel6 fails Stage 1 of the HELAA) 

Conclusion: 
The existing Green Belt boundary, 
which forms the edge of Welwyn 
village, adjoins the site to the south. It 
is mainly defined by residential 
property boundaries (moderate). 
 
A new Green Belt boundary formed by 
the boundaries of this site would 
consist of Kimpton Road (an 
unclassified road) to the north 
(moderate); field boundary/ hedgerow 
with gaps to the west (weak to 
moderate); cemetery defined by 
continuous hedgerow and small 
woodland area to the east (moderate). 
 
Whilst slightly weaker than the existing 
boundary, the site would form clearly 
defined and defensible boundaries.  
 
(Given the need for highway 
upgrades/access arrangements, Wel1 
should be considered alongside Wel2, 
which in itself is disconnected from the 
urban boundary, separated by Wel15). 
 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 5 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
4.3: Helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within 400m of four bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing. 
Site could make provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space 
and landscape character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
The WHBC Green Belt Review indicates the 
site contributes significantly to maintaining 
settlement pattern. 
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of development 
should seek to reduce significant effects on 
settlement pattern and local distinctiveness.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of Local Wildlife 
Sites/Local Nature Reserve. 
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to Local 
Plan policies related to the 
protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 
1 
 
(Note: Refer to HELAA:  Parts of 
Fulling Mill Lane -Flood Zones 2 
and 3. Planned 
decommissioning of pumping 
station and cessation of 
abstraction in 2018) 

Advantages: 
Opportunity for limited wider 
community benefit - provision of 
parking area for the existing cemetery. 
 
Disadvantages 
 
 
  

Summary The site faces a considerable number of constraints and whilst it is plausible that these could be overcome within the plan period there is a degree of uncertainty around achievability. Delivery alongside other sites (Wel2 and Wel15) is possible 
but uncertain (minor weight against) 
Wel1 is not within a strategic gap. However, it contributes significantly to one national Green Belt purpose and to the local purpose and has a high degree of physical and visual openness (moderate weight against the site). The site also 
needs to be considered alongside Wel2 and Wel15. Collectively, these sites would erode a significant gap between existing development and result in almost continuous ribbon development between Welwyn and Codicote increasing 
coalescence between villages.  
Green Belt boundaries formed by Wel1 would be partially weaker than the existing boundary but could be clearly defined (minor in favour). However, the site needs to be considered within the wider context of Wel2 for access (and Wel15, 
which connects Wel2 to the urban boundary). Collectively, a new boundary formed by this group of sites would result in almost continuous ribbon development between villages. This cumulative is afforded a weight of (moderate against) 
SA: Site has more than twice as many significant positives as significant negatives (SA advantages –moderate weight in favour of the site) 
Flood Risk Site passes the sequential test. (However, the HELAA raises the matter of FZ 2 and 3 affecting the highway and the currently unknown effect of decommissioning pumping station) 
Development of the site provides an opportunity for limited wider community benefit (Strategic Advantages - minor weight in favour). 
Conclusion: Wel1 should be considered with Wel2 and Wel15. On balance, whilst development may be possible within the plan period once constraints have been overcome, the uncertainty around achievability coupled with the collective 
contribution that Wel1 makes (and with Wel2 and Wel15) to the purposes of including land in the Green Belt is considered to outweigh the minor/moderate benefits of the site. The site should NOT be considered for allocation alongside 
other Welwyn sites. 

Policy 
implication 

No change in Green Belt boundary 

  

P
age 176



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Review Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Wel2 Urban/Green Belt: Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield: Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Uncertain: Flood Zones 2 and 3 affect 
part of highway at present .Planned 
decommissioning of Fulling Mill 
pumping station and cessation of 
abstraction from the Mimram in 2018 
may affect flood outlines/groundwater 
levels. Uncertain as to how highway 
or sites may be affected. Further 
assessments will be required. 
Capacity estimates have been 
reduced to address heritage impacts. 
No agreement in place with third 
party landowner to acquire land 
required for road widening. Viability 
will need to be reviewed. Singlers 
Marsh projects /involvement of key 
stakeholders.  
 
Estimated capacity:  
40 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Highway widening and upgrades 

 Mitigate heritage impacts 
(conservation area/potential for 
archeological remains). 

 Mitigate ecological impacts 

 Waste water infrastructure 
upgrades 

 Potential flood risk (post 2018). 
Appropriate assessments required 

 Ground Source Protection Zone  
 

Delivery timescales: : Uncertain/ 
(possible within 6-15 yrs)  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
Significant for safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment.  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant - within the local gaps 
between Welwyn and Wheathamstead 
and Welwyn and Codicote, which 
contains ribbon development. 
 
The site would partially reduce the 
visual perception of the separation of 
settlements. 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical openness high. No 
development on the site. Visual 
openness mixed. View to adjoining 
cemetery on higher ground. From 
cemetery, view across the site to 
residential area to the north east on 
higher ground. 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Forms a group with Wel1 (and Wel6)  
 
(NB: Wel6 fails Stage 1 of the HELAA) 

Conclusion: 
Wel2 does not adjoin the urban 
boundary and it should be considered 
in the wider context of Wel15 to the 
south, which does.  
 
The existing urban boundary consists 
of an established tree belt with minor 
gaps and property boundaries 
(Ellesfield and Riverside), which is 
characterised as moderate. 
 
A new Green Belt boundary formed by 
the boundaries of this site would 
consist of Fulling Mill Lane and 
Kimpton Road (both unclassified 
roads) to the north and east 
(moderate), a cemetery defined by 
continuous hedgerow to the west 
(moderate), and an established mixed 
tree/hedge line with gaps to south 
(moderate).  
 
Whilst comparatively, new Green Belt 
boundaries formed by the site (Wel2) 
would be no weaker than existing 
boundaries, further (greenfield) land to 
the south (Wel15) would also need to 
be removed from the Green Belt in 
order to connect Wel2 with the existing 
urban area. (Wel15 makes an 
significant contribution to two national 
Green Belt purposes) 
 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 5 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
4.3: Helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within 400m of four bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing. 
Site could make provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space 
and landscape character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
The WHBC Green Belt Review indicates the 
site contributes significantly to maintaining 
settlement pattern. 
Mitigation:The scale, layout and design of 
development should seek to reduce significant 
effects on settlement pattern and local 
distinctiveness.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of Local Wildlife Sites. 
Mitigation: Development of site should 
conform to Local Plan policies related to the 
protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
good design. 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 
1 
 
(Note: Refer to HELAA:  Parts of 
Fulling Mill Lane -Flood Zones 2 
and 3. Planned 
decommissioning of pumping 
station and cessation of 
abstraction in 2018)  

Advantages: 
Opportunity for limited wider 
community benefit - provision of 
parking area for the existing church. 
 
 
Disadvantages 
 
 

Summary The site faces a considerable number of constraints and whilst it is plausible that these could be overcome within the plan period there is a degree of uncertainty around achievability. Delivery alongside other sites (Wel1 and Wel15) is possible 
but uncertain (minor weight against) 
Wel2 is not within a strategic gap. However, it contributes significantly to one national Green Belt purpose and to the local purpose and has a high degree of physical openness. The site also needs to be considered alongside Wel1 and Wel15. 
Collectively, these sites would erode a significant gap between existing development and result in almost continuous ribbon development between Welwyn and Codicote increasing coalescence between villages. Wel15 also makes a 
significant contribution to two national Green Belt purposes (moderate weight against the site). 
Green Belt boundaries could be formed by clearly defined boundaries, but the site does not adjoin the existing urban boundary and needs to be reviewed within a wider context alongside Wel15 (and Wel1). Wel15 makes a significant 
contribution to two national Green Belt purposes and without Wel15, Wel2 is not connected to the existing urban boundary of Welwyn (moderate weight against the site).   
SA: The site is accessible to a good level of bus services (train stations are in other villages or towns). It is of sufficient scale to provide a mix of housing. Site has more than twice as many significant positives as significant negatives 
(moderate weight in favour of the site). 
Flood Risk: site passes the sequential test. (However, the HELAA raises the matter of FZ 2 and 3 affecting the highway and the currently unknown effect of decommissioning pumping station).  
Development of the site provides an opportunity for limited wider community benefit (minor weight in favour). 

Conclusion: The site is not connected to the urban boundary. On balance, whilst development may be possible within the plan period once constraints have been overcome, the uncertainty around achievability coupled with the collective 
contribution that Wel2 makes (and with Wel1 and Wel15) to the purposes of including land in the Green Belt is considered to outweigh the minor/moderate benefits of the site. The site should NOT be considered for allocation alongside 
other Welwyn sites. 

Policy 
implication 

No change in Green Belt boundary  

  

P
age 177



 
 
 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Review Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Wel3 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
7 dwellings (net) / 10 gross 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Improve visibility to School Lane 

 Potential for archeological remains 
–depending on findings, mitigation. 

 Ground Source Protection Zone – 
appropriate design to prevent 
pollution 

 Retention of trees / retain habitats. 

 Mitigation for ecological impacts 

 Surface water flow runs west-east 
through the site 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 years  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
Limited or no contribution to any of the 
national purposes  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partial contribution to reducing the 
visual perception of separation 
between settlements (Welwyn and 
Ayot St Peter) 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical and Visual openness low -
development on site and partly tree 
covered  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Adjoins Welwyn and does not form part 
of a group  
 

Conclusion: 
The existing Green Belt boundary 
adjoins the site to the east and 
consists of a property boundary with a 
building, an access road, parking 
areas and an established tree belt with 
minor gaps, which overall, is 
characterised as moderate/strong. 
 
A new Green Belt boundary formed by 
the boundaries of this site would 
consist of School Lane (an 
unclassified road) to the south 
(moderate); a mixed hedgerow/tree 
belt to the north (moderate) and 
property boundary/small woodland 
area/tree belt to the south/west 
(moderate).  
 
They would be no weaker than 
existing boundaries and would form 
clearly defined and defensible 
boundaries.  
 
Site falls within a fragile gap of less 
than 1km between Welwyn and Ayot 
St Peter. However, Wel3 is a 
previously developed site and the 
impact of development on the gap 
would be marginal  
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 4 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space 
and landscape character: 
Site is PDL (Previously Developed Land). 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing. 
Site could make provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: None 
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 
1 
 
 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages 
 
None 
 
 

Summary 
The site has limited constraints and could be deliverable within 5 years (significant weight in favour of the site). 
The site makes no significant contribution to national Green Belt purposes and a partial contribution to the local purpose. It has a low degree of physical and visual openness (moderate/minor weight in favour of the site). 
A new Green Belt boundary could be formed with clearly defined and defensible boundaries which would be similar in strength to the existing boundary (moderate weight in favour of the site). The site falls within a fragile gap between 2

nd
 

and 3
rd

 tier settlements but as the site is previously developed, any impact would be marginal. 
The site is a previously developed site. No significant sustainability disadvantages to this site (significant weight in favour of the site).  
Flood Risk: site passes the sequential test.   
No strategic advantages/disadvantages  
 
There are no significant disadvantages associated with this site. It has a limited range of constraints which are capable of mitigation and reflected in the capacity estimate. Delivery could take place in the early part of the plan period and the 
site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn sites. 
 

Policy 
implication 

If the site is allocated for housing - the Green Belt boundary will need to be amended. 

P
age 178



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Review Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Wel4 Urban/Green Belt: 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Part PDL/Part Greenfield  
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
30 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Ground Source Protection Zone – 
appropriate design to prevent 
pollution 

 Retention of trees and/or 
compensatory provision to mitigate 
ecological impact. 

 Mitigate air and noise pollution 
from A1(M) 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 years  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
Limited or no contribution to any of the 
national purposes  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partial contribution to maintaining a 
local gap between Welwyn and 
Welwyn Garden City.  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical openness mixed - Residential 
building and access road; well wooded 
visual openness low; partly developed 
and partly tree covered  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Adjoins Welwyn and does not form part 
of a group  
 
 
 
 

Conclusion: 
The existing Green Belt boundary 
adjoins the site to the north-east 
consisting of the property boundary 
with Node Way Gardens, which is 
characterised as moderate; and to the 
north-west where Digswell Hill (the 
B197) joins the Welwyn By-Pass (a 
principal A road), which are both 
characterised as strong. 
 
A new Green Belt boundary formed by 
the boundaries of this site could be 
defined along the south-east boundary 
by a wooded area with the A1(M)/J6 
exit slip road beyond (strong) and 
small woodland area to the south-west 
(moderate). Overall these would be no 
weaker than existing boundaries and 
would form clearly defined and 
defensible boundaries.  
 
Site is located within a narrow fragile 
gap of around 300m between Welwyn 
Garden City and Welwyn. 
 
(The GB Study considers an 
alternative boundary further south. 
However, land to the SW of Wel4 
extends beyond the southern-most 
urban edge of Welwyn and it performs 
a useful purpose helping to maintain 
the physical and visual separation 
between Welwyn and WGC). 

Significant positives (++) Total 6: 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
4.3: Helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
It is within 400m of five bus stops with a good 
level of services. 
 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space 
and landscape character: 
Site is PDL. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing. 
Site could make provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: None 
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 
1 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages 
 
None 

Summary 
The site has limited constraints which require mitigation and the site would be deliverable within 5 years (significant weight in favour of the site) 
The site makes a limited or no contribution to national Green Belt purposes and a partial contribution to the local purpose. ( minor weight in favour of the site). 
A new Green Belt boundary could be formed with clearly defined and defensible boundaries which would be similar in strength to the existing boundary. However, the site lies within an existing narrow fragile gap between Welwyn and Welwyn 
Garden City of around 300m at the narrowest point. Moving the Green Belt boundary to allocate this site would narrow the gap to around 270m. However, the site has a low degree of visual openness and a mixed level of physical openness 
and if allocated, the A1(M) would act as a major barrier to development spreading  further eastwards and narrowing the gap any further. Overall, the impact would be marginal (minor weight against the site).   
The site is a previously developed site (part) and is accessible to a good level of bus services. No significant sustainability disadvantages to this site (significant weight in favour of the site).  
Flood Risk – passes the sequential test 
No strategic advantages/disadvantages 
 
On balance, the site’s benefits are considered to outweigh the marginal impact of moving the Green Belt boundary within this fragile gap. The site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site is allocated for housing - the Green Belt boundary will need to be amended. 

P
age 179



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Review Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Wel11 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Part PDL/Part Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
30 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Visibility splays to Codicote Road 

 Ground Source Protection Zone – 
appropriate design to prevent 
pollution 

 Mitigate noise pollution from 
Codicote Road 

 Mitigate ecological impacts 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
 
Partial for safeguarding the countryside 
from encroachment. Site exhibits some 
countryside characteristics (but the 
extended  site also includes residential 
buildings and a clinic building along the 
boundary with Codicote Road). 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant - Site is in the local gap 
between Welwyn and Codicote which 
contains ribbon development  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical openness high (north-eastern 
part) - no development on this part of 
site. (Urban elements in south-western 
part of the site). 
 
Visual openness low but potential for 
medium to long range views into the 
site  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Site does not form part of a group  
 

Conclusion: 
The existing Green Belt boundary 
adjoins the site to the south-east 
consisting of property boundaries 
(Carleton Rise) with established trees, 
which is characterised as moderate. 
 
A new Green Belt boundary formed by 
the boundaries of this site would 
consist of Codicote Road (the B656) to 
the south-west (strong); and an 
established hedgerow/tree belt 
(moderate) to the north-east and 
north-west.  
 
These would be no weaker than 
existing boundaries and would form 
clearly defined and defensible 
boundaries.  
 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 5 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within 400m of four bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing. 
Site could make provision for Lifetime Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space 
and landscape character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
The WHBC Green Belt Review indicates the 
site contributes significantly to maintaining 
settlement pattern.  
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of development 
should seek to reduce significant effects on 
settlement pattern and local distinctiveness.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of Local Wildlife Sites. 
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to Local 
Plan policies related to the protection 
/enhancement of biodiversity and good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 
1 
 
 

Advantages: 
None. 
 
Disadvantages 
 
None 

Summary 
The site has limited constraints which require mitigation and would be deliverable within 5 years (significant weight in favour of the site) 
The site makes no significant contribution to national Green Belt purposes. It makes a significant contribution to the local purpose. However, whilst there is already a considerable amount of ribbon development between Welwyn and Codicote 
villages, a clear gap of between 300 and 360m would be maintained between Wel11 and existing ribbon development further to the north-west – the gap being a Local Nature Reserve, Wildlife Site, Ancient Woodland. Settlement separation 
between villages would be maintained (minor weight against the site). 
GB boundary: A new Green Belt boundary could be formed with clearly defined and defensible boundaries which would be similar to the existing boundary (moderate weight in favour of the site).  
The site is a previously developed site (part) and is accessible to a good level of bus services. The site adjoins/lies close to wildlife sites and a LNR/ancient woodland but ecological (and environmental) mitigation is achievable. Site has more 
than twice as many significant positives as significant negatives (moderate weight in favour of the site).  
Flood Risk: Site passes the sequential test.  
No strategic advantages/disadvantages 
 
On balance, the site’s benefits are considered to outweigh the adverse impacts on the purposes of the Green Belt. The site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn sites.  

Policy 
implication 

If the site is allocated for housing - the Green Belt boundary will need to be amended.  

P
age 180



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Review Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Wel15 Urban/Green Belt: Green Belt 
 

PDL/Greenfield: Greenfield 
 

Achievable: Uncertain: Flood Zones 
2 and 3 affect part of highway. 
Decommissioning of Fulling Mill 
pumping station and cessation of 
abstraction from the Mimram in 2018 
may affect flood outlines/groundwater 
levels. Uncertain as to how highway 
or sites may be affected. Further 
assessments will be required. 
Capacity estimates have been 
reduced to address heritage impacts. 
No agreement in place with third 
party landowner to acquire land 
required for road widening. Viability 
will need to be reviewed. Singlers 
Marsh projects /involvement of key 
stakeholders. Consider with Wel2 
and Wel1. 

 

Estimated capacity:  
14 dwellings  
 

Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Highway widening and 
upgrades(with other sites) 

 Manage heritage impacts on 
conservation area – only small part 
of site suitable for development 

 Potential for archeological remains 
–depending on findings, mitigation. 

 Mitigate ecological impacts 

 Waste water infrastructure 
upgrades 

 Potential flood risk (post 2018) – to 
be assessed. Appropriate 
assessments required. 

 Ground Source Protection Zone 
 

Delivery timescales: : Uncertain/ 
(possible within 6-15 yrs)  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
Significant for safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment 

  

Significant in preserving the setting 
and special character of historic towns 
The site is directly adjacent to the 
Welwyn Village Conservation Area to 
the south and south east.  

 

Contribution to Local Purpose: 

Significant within the local gaps 
between Welwyn and Wheathamstead 
and Welwyn and Codicote site which 
contains ribbon development. 

 

The site would partially reduce the 
visual perception of the separation of 
settlements. 

 

 

Physical and visual openness: 

Physical openness high, Visual 
openness mixed high partially 
enclosed by hedgerow, with long 
distance views from highest western 
area of the site to east and surrounding 
areas and medium views across the 
site to the south. 

 

Potential for Cumulative Impact 

 

The site adjoins Welwyn it forms a 
group with Wel1, Wel2, Wel6 (and 
Wel14). If the group were released 
from the Green Belt, merging with 
ribbon development would increase. 

 

(NB: Wel6 fails Stage 1 of the HELAA 
and Wel14 is found unsuitable in the 
HELAA) 

Conclusion: 

The existing Green Belt boundary 
adjoins the site to the south and 
consists of an established tree belt 
with minor gaps along property 
boundaries (in Ellesfield and 
Riverside), which are characterised as 
moderate. 

 

The proposed new Green Belt 
boundary consisting of Fulling Mill 
Lane (an unclassified road) to the east 
(moderate); a mature group of trees to 
the west (strong); and an established 
mixed tree/hedge line with gaps and 
the boundary with the church car park 
to the north (moderate) would be no 
weaker than existing boundaries and 
would form clearly defined and 
defensible boundaries. 

 

Wel15 requires access via Wel2 and 
given the need for highway upgrades, 
a logical approach would be to 
consider Wel15 in the context of Wel1 
and Wel2. 

 

Whilst development of Wel15 (and 
Wel1/Wel2) would occupy a large gap 
between Welwyn and Codicote, it 
would not reduce the physical 
separation between the northern and 
southern-most extent of these villages 

Significant positives (++) Total: 5 

4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 

4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 

Site is within 400m of six bus stops. 

5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: Site could deliver affordable housing. 
Site could make provision for Lifetime Homes. 

6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: Site is 
within walking distance of education 
establishments.  

 

Significant negatives (– –) Total: 3 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space 
and landscape character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 

The WHBC Green Belt Review indicates the 
site contributes significantly to maintaining 
settlement pattern.  Mitigation: The scale, 
layout and design of development should seek 
to reduce significant effects on settlement 
pattern and local distinctiveness.  

 

4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the 
borough’s character, historic environment, 
and heritage/cultural assets: 

Site is adjacent to a Conservation Area and 
Listed Buildings.  Mitigation: Development 
should conform to Local Plan policies related 
to the protection of heritage assets and good 
design.  

 

4.6: Protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and geodiversity: 

Site is adjacent to a Local Nature 
Reserve/Local Wildlife Site. It is within 250m 
of an additional Local Wildlife Site. Mitigation: 
Development should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection/enhancement 
of biodiversity and good design. 

Sequential Test result: 

Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 
1 

 

 

Advantages: 

None 

 

 

Disadvantages 

None 

 

 

Summary The site faces a considerable number of constraints. It can only come forward with Wel2 (and Wel1) for access reasons. Heritage constraints mean that only a small part of the site could be developed and the majority of the site would need to 
be kept free from development. Delivery alongside other sites (Wel1 and Wel15) is possible but uncertain (minor weight against) 
Wel15 contributes significantly to two national Green Belt purposes and the local purpose, and has a high degree of physical openness. When Wel15 is considered alongside Wel2 and Wel1, collectively these sites would erode an important 
gap between existing development and result in almost continuous ribbon development between Welwyn and Codicote increasing coalescence between villages. (Green Belt purposes - significant weight against the site) 
Green Belt boundaries could be formed by clearly defined and defensible boundaries, similar in strength to the existing boundary (moderate in favour). However, heritage constraints limit developable area and most of the site would need to 
be retained as open land. For access reasons, the site needs to be reviewed in a wider context with Wel2 (and Wel1). If Wel15 is not allocated, Wel2 would not be connected to the existing urban boundary of Welwyn.  
SA: The site has less than twice as many significant positives than negatives. (SA advantages - minor weight in favour of the site). 
Flood Risk: Site passes the sequential test. (However, the HELAA raises the matter of FZ 2 and 3 affecting the highway and the currently unknown effect of decommissioning pumping station)  
No strategic advantages/disadvantages 
Conclusion: On balance, whilst development may be possible within the plan period once constraints have been overcome, the uncertainty around achievability coupled with the collective contribution that Wel15 makes (and with Wel2 and 
Wel1) to the purposes of including land in the Green Belt is considered to outweigh the minor/moderate benefits of the site. The site should NOT be considered for allocation alongside other Welwyn sites. 

Policy 
implication 

No change in Green Belt boundary  

 

P
age 181



 

 
 

Appendix F 
 
 
Digswell Housing Sites - HELAA sites map (no Background Tables for Digswell) 
 
The map on the following page illustrates all of the sites considered within the HELAA.  
 
For the purposes of this Sites Selection Background Paper, only sites that passed the Stage 2 
HELAA Assessment and are large enough to be allocated (10 or more in town, 5 or more in 
excluded villages) have been considered.  
 
For Digswell, no sites passed the Stage 2 Assessment and therefore no sites have been 
considered further in the Sites Selection Background Paper. 
  

P
age 182



 

Digswell HELAA Results Map 

 
 

P
age 183



 

 
Appendix G 

 
 
Welham Green Housing Sites - Maps and Background 
Tables 
 
The map on the following page illustrates all of the sites 
considered within the HELAA.  
 
For the purposes of this Sites Selection Background Paper, 
only sites that passed the Stage 2 HELAA Assessment and are 
large enough to be allocated (10 or more in town, 5 or more in 
excluded villages) have been considered. 
  

Page 184



 

Welham Green HELAA Results Map 

 
 

Page 185



 
 
 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

WeG1 Urban/Green Belt: 

Green Belt 
 

PDL/Greenfield:  
PDL 
 

Achievable:  
Yes, subject to legal agreement 
with third party landowner 

  
Estimated capacity:  
10 dwellings  (potential for 16 
subject o alternative access 
arrangements for WeG3) 
 

Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Limited highway capacity of 
Welham Manor 

 Contaminated land requires 
remediation 

 Protection of groundwater 

 Mitigate potential impact on 
Water End SSSI 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years  

Contribution to National 
Purposes: 
Site makes a Limited or no 
contribution to any  of the National 
Purposes  

 

Contribution to Local Purpose: 

Limited or no the site has the effect 
of extending part of Welham Green 
but does not reduce the shortest 
distance of the gap between 
Welham Green and Brookmans 
Park. 

 

Physical and visual openness: 

Physical and Visual openness low 
completely enclosed by vegetation 
and development occupies a 
considerable proportion of the site. 

 

Potential for Cumulative Impact 

Forms a group with WeG2 and 
WeG3  

 

NB WeG2 has been found 
unsuitable  

Existing: 

Property boundaries (Moderate) 

Welham Manor unclassified road 
(Moderate) 

 

Proposed: 

Mature tree belt (Moderate) 

 

If WeG3 were allocated alongside 
WeG1 then the proposed southern and 
eastern boundaries would be as 
described in the table entry for WeG3.  

 

Should WeG15 also be allocated, this 
would have further implications for 
Green Belt boundaries in this area 
south of Welham Green, as explained in 
the table entries for WeG3 and WeG15.  

 

Conclusion: 

The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries would be similar in strength 
to the existing boundaries and could 
form clearly defined and defensible 
boundaries.   

 

Significant positives (++) Total: 8  

4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport; and  

4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 

Site is within walking distance of an 
Employment Area and Welham Green Railway 
Station. It is within 400m of seven bus stops. 

 

4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space 
and landscape character: 

Site is PDL. 

 

5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 

Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 

 

6.6: Provision of training, skills development 
and lifelong learning: 

Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  

 

 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: None 

 

 

Sequential Test result: 

Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 

 

 

Advantages: 

None 

 

Disadvantages: 

None 
 

 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within the first ten years of the plan period, potentially within the first five years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: The site makes limited or no contribution to Green Belt purposes. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Boundary: Boundaries would be stronger than existing, and clearly defined and defensible boundaries could be formed. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 SA: The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives (no negatives). This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site.  

 Flood Risk: passes the sequential test. 

 Strategic Advantages/Disadvantages: None 
 
On balance, the benefits of the site mean that it should be considered for allocation alongside other Welham Green sites. 

Policy 
implication If the site were allocated, the following would be required - amend Green Belt boundaries to align with those described above, depending upon which other sites are allocated alongside WeG1 

P
age 186



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

WeG3 Urban/Green Belt: 

Green Belt 
 

PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 

Achievable:  
Yes, subject to legal agreement 
over property rights between the 
parties 

 
Estimated capacity:  
45 dwellings (potential for 64 
subject to alternative access 
arrangements) 
 

Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Limited highways capacity of 
Welham Manor 

 Protection of groundwater 

 Mitigate ecological impacts 

 Mitigate potential impact on 
Water End SSSI 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years  

Contribution to National 
Purposes: 
Significant in safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment 
exhibits strong countryside 
characteristics and is free from 
development  

 

Contribution to Local Purpose: 

Partial does not reduce the shortest 
distance of the gap between 
Welham Green and Brookmans 
Park. It contributes  towards the 
visual perception of the gap as it is 
open  

 

Physical and visual openness: 

Physical openness High 

Visual openness Low enclosed by 
tall established hedgerows and the 
settlement edge  

Potential for Cumulative Impact 

Forms a group with WeG1 and 
WeG2 and WeG15 

 

(N.B.  WeG2 is not suitable in the 
HELAA) 

 

 

 

Existing: 

Property boundaries (Moderate) 

Welham Manor unclassified road 
(Moderate) 

 

Proposed: 

Established tree belts/hedgerows with 
minor gaps (Moderate) 

 

If WeG15 were allocated alongside 
WeG3 then an area of land comprising 
of WeG1, the allotments, WeG2 
(unsuitable and unachievable), and 
paddock land attached to residential 
properties on Station Road, would need 
to be taken out of the Green Belt in 
order to draw logical Green Belt 
boundaries. See conclusion in the table 
entry for WeG15. 

 

Conclusion: 

The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries would be similar in strength 
to the existing boundaries and could 
form clearly defined and defensible 
boundaries.   

 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7  

4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport; and 

4.3:  helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 

Site is within walking distance of an 
Employment Area and Welham Green Railway 
Station. It is within 400m of seven bus stops. 

 

5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 

Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.  

 

6.6: Provision of training, skills development 
and lifelong learning: 

Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  

 

 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: None 

 

 

Sequential Test result: 

Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 

 

 

Advantages: 

None 

 

Disadvantages: 

None 
 

 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within the first ten years of the plan period, potentially within the first five years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: The site makes a significant contribution to one national Green Belt purpose, partial contribution to local purpose, and has a high level of physical openness. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 GB Boundary: Boundaries would be similar in strength to the existing boundary, and clearly defined and defensible boundaries could be formed. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site.  

 SA: The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 Flood Risk: Flood Risk: passes the sequential test. 

 Strategic Advantages/Disadvantages: None 
 
On balance, the benefits of the site outweigh the adverse impacts on the purposes of the green belt. The site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welham Green sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site is allocated, the following would be required - amend green belt boundaries to align with those described above, depending upon which other sites are allocated alongside WeG3 

P
age 187



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

WeG4a Urban/Green Belt: 

Green Belt 
 

PDL/Greenfield:  
Part PDL 

 

Achievable:  
Yes 

 
Estimated capacity:  
80 dwellings  
 

Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Buffer wildlife sites 

 Mitigate air and noise pollution 
from the A100 and railway 

 Mitigate impact on Hatfield 
Park HPG 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years 

Contribution to National 
Purposes: 
Does not contribute significantly to 
any of the national purposes  

Contribution to Local Purpose: 

Partial contributes to the gap from 
Hatfield to Welham Green and 
Brookmans Park makes a limited 
contribution to the visual perception 
of the gap.   

Physical and visual openness: 

Physical Openness Mixed to Low 
considerable development on part of 
the site with open areas (grassland) 
and storage use. 

Visual Openness Low enclosed by 
vegetation, fencing and buildings.    

 

Potential for Cumulative Impact 

Not connected to Welham Green  

Forms a group with WeG4b, and 
GTLAA03  

 

 

Existing: 

Western edge of the railway line 
(Strong) 

 

Proposed: 

The site itself is bounded by the A1000 
(Strong), mature tree belts/hedgerows 
and property boundaries (Moderate). 
However the site is separated from the 
existing Green Belt boundary and would 
effectively be inset within a wider area 
of land, which would need to be taken 
out of the Green Belt.  

 

 

Conclusion: 

The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries would be partially weaker 
than the existing boundary, but could 
form clearly defined and defensible 
boundaries. However, this would result 
in an inset within a wider area.  

 

NB: A more logical, clearly defined and 
defensible boundary around a wider 
area of land would begin with the 
ordinary watercourse (moderate) north 
of the site between where it joins the 
railway and the A1000, the A1000 
(strong) running broadly southeast, and 
Dixons Hill Road (moderate) running 
from the junction with the A1000 to the 
railway line. Refer to table for WeG4b 
(reference area 5 for WeG4a). 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 

4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport; and 

4.3:  helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 

Site is within walking distance of two 
Employment Areas and Welham Green Railway 
Statio. It is within 400m of eight bus stops. 

 

5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 

Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 

 

6.6: Provision of training, skills development 
and lifelong learning: 

Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  

 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the 
borough’s character, historic environment, 
and heritage/cultural assets: 

Site is adjacent to a Historic Park and Garden, 
although potential to improve the setting. 

Mitigation: 

Development of site should conform to Local 
Plan policies related to the protection of heritage 
assets and good design.  

4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity 
and geodiversity: 

Site is within 250m of Local Wildlife sites. 

Mitigation: 

Development of site should conform to Local 
Plan policies related to the 
protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
good design. 

Sequential Test result: 

Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 

 

 

Advantages: 

None 

 

Disadvantages: 

None 

 
 

 
 

 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within the first ten years of the plan period, potentially within the first five years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: Site makes a limited or partial contribution to all Green Belt purposes and has a low level of openness. Therefore, and on balance, this is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site.  

 GB Boundary: On its own, WeG4a does not present a logical opportunity to amend the Green Belt boundary. Whilst boundaries would be definable, they would be weaker than the existing boundary and would effectively result in an isolated 
inset site within a much wider area which is not justified by a limited development potential of 80 dwellings(significant against). A more logical, clearly defined and defensible boundary would involve a much larger area of land which 
comprises areas of development (residential and commercial), and some areas of open countryside associated with land promoted at WeG4b, which includes the area promoted at WeG4a.  

 SA: The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. Overall, this is attributed significant weight in favour of the site.  

 Flood Risk: passes the sequential test. 

 Strategic Advantages/Disadvantages: None 
 
On balance, whilst this site has a number of benefits, in isolation, the limited amount of potential residential development does not justify either in-setting the site within the Green Belt creating weaker boundaries than existing, or the release of 
a much larger area of Green Belt in order to create more logical and defensible boundaries. In isolation, the site should NOT be considered for allocation alongside other Welham Green sites.  
(Refer to WeG4b for wider opportunity, reference area 5). 

Policy 
implication 

No change in Green Belt boundary(unless associated with WeG4b) 

P
age 188



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

WeG4b Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Part PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
40,500m

2
 of B1 class 

80 dwellings (area 5) 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Flood risk sequential approach 
to layout and surface water 
management 

 Improve pedestrian access 
across railway to and from 
Welham Green 

 Mitigate air and noise pollution 
from A1000 and railway 

 Buffer wildlife sites 

 Mitigate ecological impacts  

 Mitigate impact on Hatfield 
Park HPG 

 Mitigate potential impact on 
Water End SSSI 

 Mitigate impact on amenity of 
existing residential properties 

 Easement for public right of 
way 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years 

Contribution to National 
Purposes: 
Significant in safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment  
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partial contributes to the gap from 
Hatfield to Welham Green and 
Brookmans Park makes a limited 
contribution to the visual perception 
of the gap.   
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical Openness High no 
development on site. 
Visual Openness Low enclosed by 
vegetation.    
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Not connected to Welham Green  
Forms a group with WeG4a,and 
GTLAA03  
 
 

Existing: 
Western edge of the railway line 
(Strong) 
 
Proposed: 
The site itself is bounded by the A1000 
(strong), an ordinary watercourse 
(moderate), a number of property 
boundaries (moderate) and Dixons Hill 
Road, C Road (moderate). However, a 
wider area of land containing a number 
of residential properties and a mobile 
home site could be taken out of the 
Green Belt to create a more logical, 
clearly defined and defensible 
boundary. This would begin with the 
ordinary watercourse (moderate), 
property boundaries of the Cravenia 
property, the A1000 (strong) running 
broadly southeast, and Dixons Hill Road 
C Road (moderate) running from the 
junction with the A1000 to the railway 
line  
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries would be partially weaker 
than the existing boundaries, but could 
form clearly defined and defensible 
boundaries.   
 
(NB: WeG4a forms a parcel within 
WeG4b and is therefore considered 
here within the wider context of WeG4b) 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of two 
Employment/Residential Areas and Welham 
Green Railway Station. It is within 400m of 
several bus stops. 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 
6.1 Ensuring the supply, location and quality 
of employment/business sites reflects the 
need of local business and encourages a 
mixed economy: 
Site could provide 5% or more of required 
employment floor space in the borough  
6.6: Provision of training, skills development 
and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the 
borough’s character, historic environment, 
and heritage/cultural assets: 
Site is adjacent to a Historic Park and Garden, 
although potential to improve the setting. 
Mitigation: Development of site should conform 
to Local Plan policies related to the protection of 
heritage assets and good design.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity 
and geodiversity: 
A Local Wildlife site is within the boundary of the 
site, and another is within 250m. 
Mitigation: Development of site should conform 
to Local Plan policies related to the 
protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – 93.7% of the site falls within 
Flood Zone 1, with the remainder 
falling within Flood zones 2 and 
3a/b. An ordinary watercourse also 
runs through the southern area of 
the site which may present a further 
fluvial flood risk; however, it was not 
possible to model it in the SFRA. A 
sequential approach to layout that 
restricts development to Flood Zone 
1 within the site is feasible. 
Therefore, the site passes the 
Sequential Test and the Exception 
Test does not need to be applied at 
this stage. 
 
The southern area of the site is 
subject to significant surface water 
flood risk, with approximately 10% of 
the site affected by the 1 in 100 year 
extent. A sequential approach to 
layout and the use of sustainable 
drainage systems (SuDS) could be 
used to suitably manage surface 
water flood risk to, within and from 
the site. 
 
 
 
 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 
 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within the first ten years of the plan period, potentially within the first five years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: Site makes a significant contribution to one national Green Belt purpose, and partial contribution to the local purpose, and has a high degree of openness. However, it must be noted that this assessment relates only to the 
southern area of the site (denoted as Area 4 within the HELAA). The remainder of the site constitutes areas of development (residential and commercial) as well as open countryside, with a large part of this area (Area 5: WeG4a) only 
making a limited or partial contribution to all purposes. Therefore, this is attributed only minor weight against the site (WeG4b).  

 GB Boundary: Boundaries would be partially weaker than the existing boundary, but could form clearly defined and defensible boundaries. This is attributed minor in favour of the site. 

 SA: The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 Flood Risk: Restricting development to Flood Zone 1 is feasible – site passes the sequential test. 

 Development of the site presents one of very few opportunities to make provision for employment land to meet the borough’s needs for economic growth. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 Strategic Advantages/Disadvantages: Significant opportunity to make provision for employment land to support jobs growth significant weight in favour. 
On balance, the provision of much needed employment land and its other benefits are considered to outweigh the adverse impacts on the Green Belt. The site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welham Green sites, 
and other sites being promoted for employment land uses.  

Policy 
implication 

If the site is allocated, the following would be required - amend Green Belt boundaries to align with those described above. 

 

P
age 189



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

WeG6 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
73 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Flood risk sequential approach 
to layout and surface water 
management 

 Mitigate heritage impacts 

 Mitigate noise pollution from 
the railway 

 Any contaminated land would 
require remediation  

 Protection of groundwater 

 Easement for public right of 
way 

 Retain and protect habitat on 
railway embankment and 
wooded areas. 

 Mitigate ecological impacts 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years  

Contribution to National 
Purposes: 
Significant in safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment 
exhibits strong countryside 
characteristics and forms part of a 
wider extent of farmland south of 
Welham Green. 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant contributes to the gaps 
from Welham Green to Hatfield and 
Brookmans Park and contributes to 
the visual perception of the gap  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical Openess High Visual 
Openess Mixed enclosed by built 
form vegetation and railway 
embankment but number of gaps in 
the hedgerow  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
It forms a group with WeG1, WeG2 
WeG3 and WeG10 
 
N.B. WeG2 is not suitable  

Existing: 
Railway line (strong) 
Property boundaries (moderate) 
Bulls Lane unclassified road (moderate) 
 
Proposed: 
Railway line (strong) 
Mature hedgerow/tree belt and property 
boundary to community centre 
(moderate) 
Ordinary watercourse (moderate) 
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries would be similar in strength 
to the existing boundaries and clearly 
defined and defensible boundaries 
could be formed. 
 
The southern edge of the site slightly 
intrudes into a fragile Green Belt gap 
between Welham Green and 
Brookmans Park (500m). Whilst pulling 
a new Green Belt back to any property 
boundaries within the site may help to 
mitigate the impact on this gap, the 
effect would be marginal. Furthermore, 
the existing pattern of development on 
Bulls Lane and Station Road would limit 
any perceived reduction in the gap. 
Therefore the more logical southern 
boundary should be drawn along the 
ordinary watercourse. 
 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7  
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an 
Employment Area and Welham Green Railway 
Station. It is within 400m of two bus stops. 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development 
and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 3 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space 
and landscape character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
WHBC Green Belt Review indicates the site 
contributes significantly to maintaining 
settlement pattern.  
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of development 
should seek to reduce significant effects on 
settlement pattern and local distinctiveness.  
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the 
borough’s character, historic environment, 
and heritage/cultural assets: 
Site surrounds a Listed Building. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local 
Plan policies related to the protection of heritage 
assets and good design.  
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity 
and geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Nature Reserve 
and SSSI. 
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to Local 
Plan policies related to the protection 
/enhancement of biodiversity and good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – 87.8% of the site falls within 
Flood Zone 1, with the remainder 
falling within Flood zones 2 and 
3a/b. A sequential approach to 
layout that restricts development to 
Flood Zone 1 within the site is 
feasible. Therefore, the site passes 
the Sequential Test and the 
Exception Test does not need to be 
applied at this stage. 
 
Surface water flood risk largely 
coincides with areas of fluvial flood 
risk. A sequential approach to layout 
and the use of sustainable drainage 
systems (SuDS) could be used to 
suitably manage surface water flood 
risk to, within and from the site. 
 
 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 
 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within the first ten years of the plan period, potentially within the first five years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: The site makes a significant contribution to one national Green Belt purpose and the local purpose, and has a high level of physical openness. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 GB Boundary: New boundaries would be similar in strength to the existing boundaries moderate weight in favour. Whilst, the new boundaries would slightly reduce a fragile gap between Welham Green and Brookmans Park this would be 
marginal. On balance, this is attributed minor weight against the site. 

 SA: The site has 2-3 times as many significant positives as significant negatives. Overall this is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Flood Risk: Restricting development to Flood Zone 1 is feasible – site passes the sequential test.  

 Strategic Advantages/Disadvantages: None 
On balance, the benefits of the site marginally outweigh the adverse impacts on the purposes of the green belt. The site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welham Green sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site is allocated, the following would be required - amend green belt boundaries to align with those described above. 

P
age 190



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

WeG10 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
120 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Buffer wildlife site 

 Surface water management 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years  

Contribution to National 
Purposes: 
Partial for preventing neighbouring 
towns from merging, contributes to 
the visual perception but is limited 
due to the overall scale of the gap  
Partial in safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partial contributes to the gap from 
Welham Green to Hatfield and 
Brookmans Park makes a limited 
contribution to the visual perception 
of the gap due to location at edge of 
Welham Green.  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical openness High,  Visual 
openness mixed enclosed by Bush 
Wood and Welham Green edge and  
views over surrounding landscape to 
the south west  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Connected to Welham Green and 
forms a group with WeG1, WeG2 
WeG3 and WeG15. 
  
N.B. WeG2 is not suitable 

Existing: 
Property boundaries (Moderate) 
Dixons Hill Road, C Road (Moderate) 
 
Proposed: 
Dixons Hill Road, C Road (Moderate) 
No definable boundary to the southwest 
and north west (Weak) 
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries would be predominantly 
weaker than the existing boundaries.  
 
New property boundaries and 
landscaping post-development of the 
site would need to be relied upon to 
create clearly defined and defensible 
boundaries. Alternatively a much larger 
area of land west of the site up to 
extensive woodland (strong) and an 
established tree belt (moderate) would 
need to be taken out of the Green Belt 
in order utilise existing physical 
features. This additional land is 
comprised of open fields and Milkwood 
Farm. It would also draw the Green Belt 
boundary close to housing along Dixons 
Hill Close which may then need to be 
considered for exclusion from the Green 
Belt. Therefore, a reliance on post-
development features is deemed a 
more appropriate solution. 

Significant positives (++) Total: 5 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport; and 
4.3:  helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an 
Employment Area and Welham Green Railway 
Station. It is within 400m of five bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development 
and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity 
and geodiversity: 
Site is adjacent to a Local Wildlife Site. 
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to Local 
Plan policies related to the 
protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
good design. 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
Surface water ponds along the 
eastern boundary. A sequential 
approach to layout and the use of 
sustainable drainage systems 
(SuDS) could be used to suitably 
manage surface water flood risk to, 
within and from the site. 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 
 
 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within the first ten years of the plan period, potentially within the first five years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: The site makes a partial contribution to two national Green Belt purposes and the local purpose, and has a high level of physical and visual openness. This is attributed minor weight against the site.  

 GB Boundaries: Proposed boundaries would be predominantly weaker than the existing boundaries, and would not be clearly defined. This is attributed significant weight against the site. 

 SA: The site has more than three times as many significant positives and significant negatives; this is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 Flood Risk: passes the sequential test. 

 Strategic Advantages/Disadvantages: None 
 
On balance, the site’s benefits are considered to marginally outweigh the weakening of this part of Welham Green’s green belt boundary and the adverse impacts on the purposes of the green belt. The site should be considered for 
allocation alongside other Welham Green sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site is allocated, the following would be required - amend green belt boundaries to align with those described above. 

P
age 191



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

WeG12 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
59 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Mitigate noise pollution from 
adjacent employment area  

 Avoid prejudicial impact on 
operation of employment area 

 Buffer wildlife site 

 Easement for public right of 
way 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 

 
Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years  

Contribution to National 
Purposes: 
Partial for preventing neighbouring 
towns from merging, contributes to 
the visual perception but is limited 
due to the overall scale of the gap  
Partial in safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment has 
a mixture of countryside elements 
and urban fringe.  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partial contributes to the gap from 
Welham Green to Hatfield and 
Brookmans Park makes a limited 
contribution to the visual perception 
of the gap due to location at edge of 
Welham Green.  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical Openness mixed/ high 
Some built form and a pylon, Visual 
Openness Low  Relatively enclosed 
flat site  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Connect to Welham Green and 
forms a group with Hat11, WeG8, 
WeG9, GTLAA05 
 
N.B. WeG8 is unsuitable, and WeG9 
and GTLAA05 fail the HELAA Stage 
1 test. 

Existing: 
Property boundaries (moderate) 
Mature tree belt/hedgerow (moderate) 
 
Proposed: 
Mature tree belts/hedgerows with minor 
gaps (Moderate) 
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries would be similar in strength 
to the existing boundaries and could 
form clearly defined and defensible 
boundaries.   
   
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an 
Employment Area and Welham Green Railway 
Station. It is within 400m of four bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development 
and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity 
and geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife Site and 
Ancient woodland.  
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to Local 
Plan policies related to the 
protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
good design. 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 
 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within the first ten years of the plan period, potentially within the first five years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: The site makes a partial contribution to two national Green Belt Purposes and the local purpose, and has a low to mixed level of openness. This is attributed minor weight against the site.  

 GB Boundary: Proposed boundaries would be similar in strength to the existing boundaries and could form clearly defined and defensible boundaries. Overall, this is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 SA: The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site.  

 Flood Risk: passes the sequential test. 

 Strategic Advantages/Disadvantages: None 
 

On balance, the site’s benefits outweigh the adverse impacts on the purposes of the green belt. On balance, the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welham Green sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site is allocated, the following would be required - amend green belt boundaries to align with those described above. 

P
age 192



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

WeG15 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield ( with small area of 
PDL) 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
140 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Protection of groundwater 

 Mitigate potential impact on 
Water End SSSI 

 Mitigate ecological impacts 

 Any contaminated land would 
require remediation 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years 

Contribution to National 
Purposes: 
 
Partial in preventing neighbouring 
towns from merging contributes to 
the visual perception of the gap 
between Hatfield and Potters Bar but 
limited due to the overall scale of the 
gap. 
  
Partial in safe guarding the 
countryside from development small 
part of the site contains built 
development  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partial would not reduce the gap 
between Welham Green and 
Brookmans Park but makes a 
contribution towards the visual 
perception of the gap  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical openness High Visual 
openness Mixed partially elevated 
with some views out  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
It forms a group with WeG1, WeG2, 
and WeG3, The cumulative impact of 
WeG3 and WeG15 would be 
significant in terms of encroachment 
on the countryside. 

 
If WeG3 were allocated alongside 
WeG15 then an area of land 
comprising of the farmhouse, 
allotments, WeG2 (unsuitable and 
unachievable), and paddock land 
would need to be taken out of the 
Green Belt. 

Existing: 
Property boundaries (moderate) 
Station Road C Road (moderate) 
 
Proposed: 
Established tree belt/hedgerow 
adjoining WeG3 (moderate);  
Established hedgerow with minor gaps 
(moderate);  
No definable boundary to the south 
(weak).  
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed green belt boundaries 
would be predominantly weaker than 
the existing boundaries with no clearly 
defined or defensible boundary to the 
south. Post development features would 
be relied upon. 
 
An alternative would be to take a 
greater area of land out of the green 
belt, either up to a public right way or up 
to an ordinary watercourse south of the 
site boundary (both moderate). This 
would still leave a small boundary in the 
south west corner with no definable 
feature (weak). Taking a larger area of 
land out of the green belt to create 
stronger boundaries does not justify the 
extent of the required release.  
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7  
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an 
Employment Area and Welham Green Railway 
Station. It is within 400m of seven bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes. 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development 
and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the 
borough’s character, historic environment, 
and heritage/cultural assets: 
Site is within 250m of Listed Buildings. It is 
between 250m and 1km of a Historic Park and 
Garden. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local 
Plan policies related to the protection of heritage 
assets and good design.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity 
and geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife Site and 
Ancient woodland.  
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to Local 
Plan policies related to the 
protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
 

Advantages: 
If allocated alongside WeG3 which 
adjoins WeG15 to the north, access 
into WeG3 may be possible via 
WeG15 removing the need to provide 
access to WeG3 via Welham Manor 
which, while an acceptable access in 
its own right, is constrained due to 
design of the highway and prevalence 
of on-street parking. 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 

Summary  HELAA:  The site could come forward within the first ten years of the plan period, potentially within the first five years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: The site makes a partial contribution to two national Green Belt Purposes and the local purpose, but has high level of physical openness. This is attributed minor weight against the site.   

 GB Boundary: Proposed boundaries would be predominantly weaker than the existing boundaries, with the largest boundary not being clearly defined or defensible. This is attributed significant weight against the site. 

 SA: The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 Flood Risk: passes the sequential test. 

 If allocated alongside WeG3, the site would provide the opportunity for an alternative access into WeG3, avoiding further demand upon Welham Manor which, although an acceptable access in its own right, is constrained. However, there is 
no guarantee of this arrangement being realised, therefore it is only attributed minor weight in favour of the site.  

 
On balance, the site’s benefits are considered to marginally outweigh the weakening of this part of Welham Green’s green belt boundary, and the adverse impacts on the purposes of the Green Belt. The site should be considered for 
allocation alongside other Welham Green sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site is allocated, the following would be required - amend green belt boundaries as described above 

P
age 193



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

GTLAA01 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield  
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
12 pitches 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Mitigate noise pollution 

 Mitigate flood risk  

 Improve access 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 years 

Contribution to National 
Purposes: 
Makes a limited or no contribution  to 
any of the national purposes 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 

Partial The site makes a partial or 
limited contribution to the visual 
perception of the separation of 
settlements and to the gaps from to 
Hatfield and Brookmans Park, also 
Welham Green to Bell Bar.  

The gaps are relatively free from 
development and due to its location 
of the site on the edge of the 
settlement the site makes a limited 
contribution to the visual perception 
of the gaps. 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical openness, development 
(static and touring caravans) on part 
of the site, although southern is 
more open (managed grassland).  
Visual openness Low Enclosed by a 
combination of vegetation, fencing 
and buildings.   
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
The site is not isolated and is 
separated from Welham Green by 
the railway.  It forms a group with 
WeG4, and GTLAA03.  The 
cumulative impact of this group 
would have a greater impact on the 
Green Belt. 
 
 

Existing: Railway (strong) 
 
Proposed:  
Dixons Hill Road (moderate), Foxes 
Lane (moderate), established tree belt 
(moderate), no definable feature on 
south western boundary (weak) 
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed green belt boundaries 
would be predominantly weaker than 
the existing boundaries and would be 
clearly defined with the exception of the 
south western boundary which is 
currently formed by a fence and could 
be strengthened by post-development 
features. 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 6  
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an 
Employment Area and Welham Green Railway 
Station. It is within 400m of four bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 
Site would provide 5% or more of total need for 
gypsy and traveller pitches 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development 
and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments.  
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity 
and geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife Site. 
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to Local 
Plan policies related to the 
protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
good design. 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1, 
although an Ordinary Watercourse is 
adjacent to the site which may 
present a fluvial flood risk. 
Site is subject to surface water 
flooding....  
 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 

Summary  HELAA:  The site could be developed the first five years. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: The site makes limited or no contribution to any national Green Belt Purposes and a partial contribution to the local purpose. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site the site.   

 GB Boundary: Proposed boundaries would be predominantly weaker but clearly defined overall, with only the small south western boundary not being clearly defined. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 SA: The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 
 
On balance, the site’s benefits are considered to outweigh the weakening of this part of Welham Green’s green belt boundary. The site should be considered for allocation alongside other Welham Green sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site is allocated, the following would be required - amend green belt boundaries as described above. 

 

P
age 194



 

 
 
 

 
Appendix H 

 
 
Brookmans Park Housing Sites - Maps and Background Tables 
 
The map on the following page illustrates all of the sites considered within the HELAA.  
 
For the purposes of this Sites Selection Background Paper, only sites that passed the Stage 2 
HELAA Assessment and are large enough to be allocated (10 or more in town, 5 or more in 
excluded villages) have been considered.

P
age 195



 

Brookmans Park HELAA Results Map 

 

P
age 196



 
 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

BrP1 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
100 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 
 

 Highway upgrades 

 Mitigate heritage impacts 

 Mitigate air and noise pollution 
from A1000 

 Mitigate ecological impacts 

 Wastewater infrastructure 
upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years 

Contribution to National 
Purposes: 
 
Partial in assisting safeguarding the 
country side with prominent 
surrounding residential development 
at Bell Bar  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
 
Significant Contributes to the local 
gap between Bell Bar and 
Brookmans park Location along the 
A1000 and forms the gap to the west 
and between adjoining development 
to the north and south  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
High Physical openness and Mixed 
Visual Openness, views from 
elevated southern area with more 
enclosure close to settlement edge  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
It is not isolated and connected to 
Bell Bar and forms a group with 
BrP2  
 
 
 

Existing 
Great North Road (strong) 
The Drive, unclassified road 
(moderate) 
Property boundaries (moderate) 
 
Proposed: 
Site boundaries themselves would 
be formed by: 
Great North Road (Strong) 
Bell Lane (moderate) 
Properties boundaries (moderate) 
 
Comments: As none of the site 
boundaries adjoin the existing urban 
area, the site by itself would require 
insetting within the Green Belt. 
 
By taking a wider area of land, which 
has become urbanised by the 
school, golf club, and a number of 
residential properties, out of the 
Green Belt a more logical boundary 
can be created that avoids insetting 
of the site. Various options exist to 
achieve this, but the most 
appropriate are considered be:  
Great North Road (strong) 
Western stretch of Bell Lane 
(Moderate). Various properties 
encompassing Chancellor’s School, 
Brookmans Park Golf Club House 
and car park complex; 1-6 Ash 
Close; Home Farm complex, 58-86 
Bell Lane; and land between BrP1 
and Great North Road to the north 
(moderate). 
 
Fragile gap: 
The site does not strictly reside 
within a fragile gap between Bell Bar 
and Brookmans Park (3

rd
 and 2

nd
 tier 

settlements), as the residential 
properties of 64-86 Bell Lane which 
are part of Bell Bar sit between the 
site and Brookmans Park. However, 
the site nonetheless provides the 
significant sense of separation 
between those settlements (as noted 
within the Green Belt Study Review 
Part 2) due to the particular 
morphology of Bell Bar and the 
relationship of Great North Road to 
Bell Bar and the site. Development 
of the site would mean the sense of 
separation between the two 
settlements would be entirely lost 
resulting in complete coalescence 

Significant positives (++) Total: 5 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within 400m of bus stops on Great North 
Road. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.   
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development 
and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 3  
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space 
and landscape character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
The WHBC Green Belt Review indicates the site 
contributes significantly to maintaining settlement 
pattern. 
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of development 
should seek to reduce significant effects on 
settlement pattern and local distinctiveness.  
 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the 
borough’s character, historic environment, 
and heritage/cultural assets: 
Site is in proximity to a Listed Building and within 
1km of a Historic Park & Garden. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection of heritage 
assets and good design.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity 
and geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife site. 
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass - Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
Development of the site would result in 
a grossly disproportionate expansion 
of a small green belt settlement that is 
not generally suitable for further 
development. This would be 
inconsistent with the Local Plan 
settlement strategy.  

P
age 197



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

between the settlements. 
 
 
 
 
 
Conclusion: 
New Green Belt boundaries (Great 
North Road, Bell Lane and property 
boundaries) would be similar in 
strength to the existing boundaries 
and could form logical, clearly 
defined and defensible Green Belt 
boundaries. However, development 
of the site would result in the loss of 
sense of separation between 2

nd
 and 

3
rd

 tier settlements and their 
complete coalescence. 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within the first ten years of the plan period, potentially within the first five years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: The site partially contributes to one national Green Belt purpose and significantly to the local Green Belt purpose, and has a high degree of physical openness. This is attributed minor weight against the site 

 GB Boundary: Requires taking a wider area of land out of the Green Belt in order to avoid insetting and to draw logical and clearly defined boundaries. The wider area is largely urbanised therefore any adverse impact on Green Belt 
purposes would be limited. New Green Belt boundaries would be similar in strength to the existing boundaries. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. However, the site provides the sense of separation between a 2

nd
 tier 

and a 3
rd

 tier settlement, and whilst not strictly within a fragile gap development of the site would result in the loss of separation and therefore coalescence between those settlements. This is attributed moderate weight against the site.  

 SA: The site has less than twice as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed minor weight in favour the site.  

 Flood Risk: Site passes the sequential test. 

 Strategic disadvantages: Development of the site would be inconsistent with the Local Plan settlement strategy. This is attributed significant weight against the site. 
 

On balance, the site’s benefits do not outweigh the fact that development of the site would be inconsistent with the settlement strategy and that it would result in the loss of separation (and therefore coalescence) between a 2
nd

 and 3
rd

 tier 
settlement. The site should NOT be considered for allocation alongside other Brookmans Park sites.  

Policy 
implication 

 
None - no Green Belt boundary change 
 

  

P
age 198



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

BrP4 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes, subject to footbridge 
agreement 
 
Estimated capacity:  
300 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 
 

 Highway upgrades 

 Provision of new footbridge 

 Buffer ancient woodland, wildlife 
site and TPO wood 

 Flood risk sequential approach 
to layout and surface water 
management 

 Protection of groundwater 

 Mitigate noise pollution from 
railway 

 Potential need to upgrade 
wastewater infrastructure 

 Mitigate potential impact on 
Water End SSSI 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years 

Contribution to National 
Purposes: 
Significant in safeguarding the 
countryside from development.  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant reduces the gap between 
Brookmans Park and Potters Bar  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
High Visual and Physical openness  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Site forms a group with BrP5 which 
would represent a substantial 
extension to Brookmans Park 
reducing the gap between Potters 
Bar and Hatfield.  
 
Note that BrP5 is not being 
promoted, is not in the HELAA and 
therefore isn’t being considered in 
the site selection process. 
 
 
 

Existing: 
Railway line (strong) 
 
Proposed: 
Woodland (strong) 
Ray Brook ordinary watercourse 
(moderate) 
Bradmore Lane unclassified road 
(moderate) 
Established tree belt/hedgerow with 
minors gaps (moderate) 
 
A more logical, clearly defined and 
defensible Green Belt boundary 
could be created by taking the 
southern triangle of land between 
the site and the railway out of the 
Green Belt.  
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries consisting of woodland, 
Ray Brook, Bradmore Lane and an 
established tree belt/hedgerow with 
minor gaps would be predominantly 
weaker overall than the existing 
boundary; however they could form 
clearly defined and defensible 
boundaries. The benefit of taking a 
larger area of land out of the Green 
Belt to create a more logical, clearly 
defined and defensible Green Belt 
boundary is not considered to be 
justified. Therefore the eastern green 
Belt boundary should be drawn 
along the established tree 
belt/hedgerow. 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an Employment 
Area and Brookmans Park Railway Station. It is 
within 400m of eight bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development 
and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 3 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space 
and landscape character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
Site has high landscape sensitivity. The WHBC 
Green Belt Review indicates the site contributes 
significantly to maintaining settlement pattern. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection of open spaces. 
The scale, layout and design of development 
should seek to reduce significant effects on 
landscape character and local distinctiveness.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity 
and geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of Local Wildlife Sites and 
within 500m of a SSSI. 
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass - 94.8% of the site falls 
within Flood Zone 1, with the 
remainder within Flood Zones 2 
and 3a/b. A sequential approach 
to layout that restricts 
development to Flood Zone 1 
within the site is feasible. 
Therefore, the site passes the 
Sequential Test and the Exception 
Test does not need to be applied 
at this stage. 
 
Surface water flow route runs 
north-south in the eastern area of 
the site, and pools alongside 
Bradmore Lane and flows north 
into the adjacent field and 
onwards to Station Road. A 
sequential approach to layout and 
the use of sustainable drainage 
systems (SuDS) could be used to 
suitably manage surface water 
flood risk to, within and from the 
site. 
 
 
 
 

Advantages: 
Would improve the highway layout and 
approach to Brookmans Park from the 
east adjacent to the railway line 
 
Potential provision of a new/ 
replacement primary school would 
meet existing and future demand for 
school places in Brookmans Park and 
the school planning area, and 
potentially resolve parking congestion 
associated with the existing primary 
school on Bradmore Way. 
 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 
 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within the first ten years of the plan period, potentially within the first five years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: The site contributes significantly to one national Green Belt purpose and to the local Green Belt purpose, and has a high degree of physical and visual openness. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 GB Boundary: New boundaries would be predominately weaker overall than the existing boundary, but could form clearly defined and defensible boundaries. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 SA: The site has 2-3 times as many significant positives as significant negatives. Overall, this is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site.  

 The site provides one of three opportunities in the village to deliver a new primary school, which would enable growth in the village. Therefore, this is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site.  

 Flood Risk: Site passes the sequential test. 

 Development of the site provides the opportunity to improve Station Road at the right angle approach to the existing vehicle bridge over the railway, which is currently problematic for larger vehicles, to the benefit of the wider community. 
This is attributed minor weight in favour of the site. 

 
On balance, the benefits of the site are considered to outweigh the adverse impact on the purposes of the Green Belt. The site should be considered for allocation alongside other Brookmans Park sites.  

Policy 
implication 

If the site were allocated, the following would be required: 

 Amend Green Belt boundaries as described above. 

 Depending upon any final resolution for primary school provision in the village, the removal of UOL204 on Brookmans Park Primary School may be required to facilitate redevelopment of the school site. 

P
age 199



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

BrP6 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes, subject to offsite footway 
improvements 
 
Estimated capacity:  
234 dwellings 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 
 

 Bridge improvements to mitigate 
fluvial flood risk and to provide 
suitable footway 

 Flood risk sequential approach 
to layout and surface water 
management 

 Protection of groundwater 

 Retain and buffer TPO trees 

 Mitigate noise pollution from 
railway 

 Potential need to upgrade 
wastewater infrastructure 

 Mitigate potential impact on 
Water End SSSI 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years 

Contribution to National 
Purposes: 
Significant in safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant, there would be 
appreciable reduction in the gap 
between Potters Bar and Brookmans 
Park  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
High levels of Physical and Visual 
openness 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Site is connected to Brookmans Park 
and forms a group with BrP9 and 
BrP10. Combined with other sites 
around Brookmans Park and 
Welham Green could have a 
substantial impact on the strategic 
gap between Potters Bar and 
Hatfield.  
 
 

Existing: 
Railway line (strong) 
Ray Brook ordinary watercourse 
(moderate) 
 
Proposed: 
Railway line (strong) 
Hawkshead Lane C road (moderate) 
Bluebridge Road C road (moderate) 
 
The site’s southern boundary 
(Hawkshead Lane) would shorten a 
fragile Green Belt gap (1km) 
between Brookmans Park and 
Potters Bar to 600m. Whilst pulling a 
new southern Green Belt boundary 
back to any property boundaries 
within the site and/or reducing the 
southern extent of the site may help 
to mitigate the impact on this gap, 
the effect would be marginal. 
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries consisting of the railway-
line, and two unclassified roads 
would be similar in strength to the 
existing boundaries and could form 
clearly defined and defensible 
boundaries, but would significantly 
physically and visually shorten the 
fragile gap between Brookmans Park 
and Potters Bar. 

Significant positives (++) Total: 5 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of Brookmans Park 
Railway Station. It is within 400m of four bus 
stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.   
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development 
and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space 
and landscape character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
The WHBC Green Belt Review indicates the site 
contributes significantly to maintaining settlement 
pattern. 
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of development 
should seek to reduce significant effects on 
landscape character and local distinctiveness.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity 
and geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of Local Wildlife Sites and 
within 1km of a Local Nature Reserve. 
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – 95.1% of the site falls 
within Flood Zone 1, with the 
remainder within Flood Zones 2 
and 3a/b. An ordinary 
watercourse is present along the 
western boundary of the site 
which may present a further fluvial 
flood risk; however, it was not 
possible to model it in the SFRA. 
A sequential approach to layout 
that restricts development to 
Flood Zone 1 within the site is 
feasible.  
Therefore, the site passes the 
Sequential Test and the Exception 
Test does not need to be applied 
at this stage. 
 
Surface water flood risk affects 
the northern area of the site, 
largely coinciding with areas of 
fluvial flood risk. A sequential 
approach to layout and the use of 
sustainable drainage systems 
(SuDS) could be used to suitably 
manage surface water flood risk 
to, within and from the site. 
 
 
 
 

Advantages: 
Potential provision of a new/ 
replacement primary school would 
meet existing and future demand for 
school places in Brookmans Park and 
the school planning area, and 
potentially resolve parking congestion 
associated with the existing primary 
school on Bradmore Way. 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 
 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within the first ten years of the plan period, potentially within the first five years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: The site contributes significantly to one national Green Belt purpose and to the local Green Belt purpose, and has a high degree of physical and visual openness. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 GB Boundary: New boundaries would be similar in strength to the existing boundaries moderate weight in favour; however they would significantly physically and visually shorten the fragile gap between Brookmans Park and Potters Bar. 
This is attributed significant weight against the site.  

 SA: The site has 2-3 times as many significant positives as significant negatives. Overall, this is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Flood Risk: Site passes the sequential test. 

 The site provides one of three opportunities in the village to deliver a new primary school, which would enable growth in the village. Therefore, this is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site.  
 
On balance, the significant adverse impact on the purposes of the Green Belt is considered to outweigh the benefits of the site. The site should NOT be considered for allocation alongside other Brookmans Park sites. 

Policy 
implication 

 
None - no Green Belt boundary change 
 

P
age 200



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

BrP12 
(Scenario 1) 

Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
110 dwellings plus potential for 
2FE primary school and scout hut 
(on 12.15ha) 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 
 

 Buffer ancient woodland and 
wildlife site 

 Mitigate potential impact on 
great crested newts  

 Mitigate potential impact on 
Water End SSSI 

 Flood risk sequential approach 
to layout and surface water 
management 

 Mitigate noise pollution from 
railway 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 years 

Contribution to National 
Purposes: 
Significant in safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant Reduces the visual 
perception of the gap between 
Brookmans Park and Welham Green 
and has the effect of extending 
Brookmans Park to the north.  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
High  Physical Openness and mixed 
Visual openness enclosure by the 
adjacent woodland and settlement 
edge with some long views towards 
Ridge and Shenley  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Not isolated if developed with WeG6 
BrP4 and BrP5 (not being promoted) 
and sites south of Brookmans Park 
would have a  significant impact on 
the strategic gap between Hatfield 
and Potters Bar  
 

Existing: 
Property boundaries (moderate) 
 
Proposed: 
Extensive woodland along the 
western and northern boundary 
(strong) 
Established tree belt/hedgerow 
along south eastern boundary 
(moderate) 
Eastern ordinary watercourse to 
eastern boundary(moderate) 
 
The site lies in a fragile gap between 
Welham Green and Brookmans Park 
(500m). This site would reduce the 
gap by approximately 40m. Whilst 
pulling any new Green Belt boundary 
within BrP12 back to property 
boundaries of new dwellings would 
mitigate the reduction in gap, this 
would be of only minimal benefit. 
The land between BrP12 and 
Welham Green contains extensive 
woodland which acts as strong 
visual and physical barrier between 
them and to any further extension of 
Brookmans Park northward on this 
side of the railway line. 
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries consisting of the 
extensive woodland, established tree 
belt/hedgerow and ordinary 
watercourse would be no weaker 
than the existing boundaries and 
could for clearly defined and 
defensible boundaries.  A fragile gap 
would be shortened although only to 
a relatively small extent. The site is 
also contained and largely screened 
by the ancient woodland. 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an Employment 
Area and two Railway Stations. It is within 400m 
of two bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and make 
provision for Lifetime Homes.   
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development 
and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space 
and landscape character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
The WHBC Green Belt Review indicates the site 
contributes significantly to maintaining settlement 
pattern. 
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of development 
should seek to reduce significant effects on 
landscape character and local distinctiveness.  
*SA is incorrect; should be listed as high 
sensitivity 
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity 
and geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of Local Wildlife Sites and 
within 500m of a SSSI. 
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass - 96% of the site falls within 
Flood Zone 1, with the remainder 
within Flood Zones 2 and 3a/b. An 
ordinary watercourse is present in 
the east of the site which may 
present a further fluvial flood risk; 
however, it was not possible to 
model it in the SFRA. A sequential 
approach to layout that restricts 
development to Flood Zone 1 
within the site is feasible.  
Therefore, the site passes the 
Sequential Test and the Exception 
Test does not need to be applied 
at this stage. 
 
Surface water flood risk largely 
coincides with indicated areas of 
fluvial flood risk. A sequential 
approach to layout and the use of 
sustainable drainage systems 
(SuDS) could be used to suitably 
manage surface water flood risk 
to, within and from the site. 
 

Advantages: 
Potential provision of a new/ 
replacement primary school would 
meet existing and future demand for 
school places in Brookmans Park and 
the school planning area, and 
potentially resolve parking congestion 
associated with the existing primary 
school on Bradmore Way. 
 
Potential provision of a new scout hut  
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 

BrP12 
(Scenario 2) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
  
Estimated capacity:  
110 dwellings plus potential for C2 
care home (on 8 ha) 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

As above, however the smaller size 
of Scheme 2, in that it does not 
project north and east as far as 
Scheme 1, would perform the 
national purpose of safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment to a 
lesser extent than Scheme 1 
although it is still considered to be 
significant. 
 
 
 
 

Existing: 
Property boundaries (moderate) 
 
Proposed: 
Extensive woodland (strong) 
Established tree belt/hedgerow 
(moderate) 
No definable feature on part of the 
northern boundary (weak) 
 
The weak northern boundary could 
be reinforced by use of post-
development features such as 
property boundaries or newly 
planted hedgerow (moderate). 

As above Sequential Test result: 
Pass - 94% of the site falls within 
Flood Zone 1, with the remainder 
within Flood Zones 2 and 3a/b. An 
ordinary watercourse is present in 
the east of the site which may 
present a further fluvial flood risk; 
however, it was not possible to 
model it in the SFRA. A sequential 
approach to layout that restricts 
development to Flood Zone 1 
within the site is feasible.  
Therefore, the site passes the 
Sequential Test and the Exception 
Test does not need to be applied 

Advantages: 
Potential provision of a care home 
would meet existing and future 
demand for such accommodation in 
Brookmans Park and the wider area 
 
Potential provision of a new scout hut  
 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 
 
 
 

P
age 201



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

 
Cont. 
 
BrP12 
(Scenario 2 

 

 Buffer ancient woodland and 
wildlife site 

 Mitigate potential impact on 
great crested newts 

 Mitigate potential impact on 
Water End SSSI 

 Flood risk sequential approach 
to layout and surface water 
management 

 Mitigate noise pollution from 
railway 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 years 

 
The site lies in a fragile gap between 
Welham Green and Brookmans Park 
(500m). This site would reduce the 
gap by approximately 40m. Whilst 
pulling any new Green Belt boundary 
within BrP12 back to property 
boundaries of new dwellings would 
mitigate the reduction in gap, this 
would be of only minimal benefit. 
The land between BrP12 and 
Welham Green contains extensive 
woodland which acts as strong 
visual and physical barrier between 
them and to any further extension of 
Brookmans Park northward on this 
side of the railway line. 
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries consisting of the 
extensive woodland, established tree 
belt/hedgerow and no definable 
feature on part of the northern 
boundary would partially weaker 
than the existing boundary, although 
the weak boundary could be 
reinforced by post-development 
features in order to create clearly 
defined and defensible boundaries.  
A fragile gap would be shortened 
although only to a relatively small 
extent. The site is also contained 
and largely screened by the ancient 
woodland. 

at this stage. 
 
Surface water flood risk largely 
coincides with indicated areas of 
fluvial flood risk. A sequential 
approach to layout and the use of 
sustainable drainage systems 
(SuDS) could be used to suitably 
manage surface water flood risk 
to, within and from the site. 
 

 
 

Summary 
(Scheme 1 
and 2) 

 HELAA: The site could come forward within the first five years of the plan period. This is attributed significant weight in favour of both Scenarios 1 and 2. 

 GB Study: Both schemes contribute significantly to one national Green Belt purpose and to the local Green Belt purpose, and have a high degree of physical openness. This is attributed moderate weight against both Scenario 1 and 2. 

 GB Boundary: Scenario 1 can form clearly defined and defensible boundaries that overall would be stronger in part than the existing boundaries significant weight in favour. However, it would marginally reduce a fragile gap, the 
perception of this would be mitigated by the woodland minor weight against Scenario 1.  

 GB Boundary: Overall, scenario 2 would be similar in strength to the existing Green Belt boundary although part of the boundary is not clearly defined minor in favour. It would also marginally educe a fragile gap although the perception 
of this would be mitigated by the woodland. This is attributed minor weight against Scenario 2. 

 SA: The site has more than 3 times as many significant positives as significant negatives. Overall, this is attributed significant weight in favour of both Scenarios 1 and 2. 

 Flood Risk: Site passes the sequential test. 

 Scenario 1 provides one of three opportunities in the village to deliver a new primary school, which would enable growth in the village. Therefore, this is attributed moderate weight in favour of Scenario 1  

 Scenario 2 provides an opportunity to deliver a C2 care home. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of Scenario 2.  

 The site could provide a community facility (scout hut). This is attributed minor weight in favour of both Scenarios 1 and 2. 
 
On balance, the benefits of either Scenario are considered to outweigh the adverse impacts on the purposes of the Green Belt. The ability of Scenario 1 to form clearly defined and defensible boundaries using existing physical features and 
the potential for a primary school means it is slightly favoured above Scenario 2, although it is recognised this would extend further into open countryside than Scenario 2. Both schemes should be considered for allocation alongside 
other Brookmans Park sites, with a slight preference for Scenario 1. If an alternative solution (not within BrP12) for the provision of a primary school is pursued then Scenario 2 would be preferred on the basis it would not 
extend as far into open countryside. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site were allocated, the following would be required: 

 Amend Green Belt boundaries for Scenario 1 as described above. For Scenario 2, new boundaries would be on the basis of that described above plus the use of post-development features within the site to define the weak boundary. 

 Depending upon which, if any, solution is pursued for primary school provision in the village, the removal of UOL204 on Brookmans Park Primary School may be required to facilitate redevelopment of the school site. 

  

P
age 202



 
 
 
 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

BrP13 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
14 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Retention and buffering of trees 

 Highway mitigation measures/ 
upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
Partial for preventing neighbouring 
towns from merging,  Site makes a 
limited contribution because of the 
overall size of the gap  to the visual 
perception of the gap between Hatfield 
and Potters Bar  
Partial in safeguarding the countryside 
from development has countryside 
characteristics but bordering edge of 
Brookmans Park 
  
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partial contributes to the gap between 
Hatfield and Brookmans park and 
secondary local gap between 
Brookmans Park and Bell Bar.  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
High Physical openness and Mixed 
Visual enclosed by vegetation on three 
sides  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Not isolated and connected to 
Brookmans Park forms a group with 
BrP14  

Existing: 
Property boundaries (moderate) 
 
Proposed: 
Established tree belt (moderate) 
Gold Club Road unclassified road 
(moderate) 
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries would be similar in 
strength to the existing boundaries 
and could form clearly defined and 
defensible boundaries. 

Significant positives (++) Total: 5 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of 
Brookmans Park Railway Station. It is 
within 400m of one bus stop. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type 
and tenure of housing to meet identified 
local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and 
make provision for Lifetime Homes.   
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife Site. 
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to 
Local Plan policies related to the 
protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass - Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 
 
 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within the first five years of the plan period. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: The site makes a partial contribution to two national Green Belt purposes and to the local Green Belt purpose, and has a high degree of physical openness. This is attributed minor weight against the site. 

 GB Boundary: New boundaries would be similar in strength to the existing boundaries, and could form clearly defined and defensible boundaries. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 Flood Risk: Site passes the sequential test.  

 SA: The site has more than 3 times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site 

 No strategic advantages/disadvantages  
 
On balance, the benefits of the site are considered to outweigh the adverse impacts on Green Belt purposes. The site should be considered for allocation alongside other Brookmans Park sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site were allocated, the following would be required: 

 Amend Green Belt boundaries as described above  

 
 
  

P
age 203



 
 
 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

BrP14 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
10 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Wastewater infrastructure upgrades 

 Highway mitigation measures/ 
upgrades 

 Retention and buffering of TPO tree 

 Mitigate other ecological impacts 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
 
Partial for preventing neighbouring 
towns from merging, contributes to the 
gap between Hatfield and Potters Bar 
which contains Welham Green, 
Brookmans Park, as well as Bell Bar, 
limited ribbon development and 
Hatfield HPG, but limited due to the 
overall scale of the gap and there are 
already much shorter gaps nearby 
  
Partial in safeguarding the countryside 
from development, with urban 
influences from edge of Brookmans 
Park 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partial contributes to the gap between 
Brookmans Park and Bell Bar but does 
not reduce the gap  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
High Physical Openness  and mixed 
Visual openness enclosed by 
vegetation on three sides  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Not isolated and connected to 
Brookmans Park Forms a group with 
BrP13  
 
 
 

Existing: 
Property boundaries (moderate) 
 
Proposed: 
Extensive woodland (strong) 
Established hedgerow (moderate) 
Property boundary (moderate) 
 
A more logical, clearly defined and 
defensible eastern boundary 
consisting entirely of extensive 
woodland could be created by taking 
an additional area of land, comprised 
of a paddock to the rear of no. 70 
George’s Wood Road,  out of the 
Green Belt. 
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundaries consisting of the 
woodland, hedgerow, and property 
boundary would be similar in strength 
to than the existing boundaries; 
however, a stronger more logical, 
clearly defined and defensible 
boundary could be created by taking 
a small area of additional land to the 
rear of 70 George’s Wood Road out 
of the Green Belt. 

Significant positives (++) Total: 5  
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of 
Brookmans Park Railway Station. It is 
within 400m of one bus stop. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type 
and tenure of housing to meet identified 
local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing and 
make provision for Lifetime Homes.   
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
  
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife Site. 
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to 
Local Plan policies related to the 
protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
good design. 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass - Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within the first ten years of the plan period, potentially within the first five years. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: The site makes a partial contribution to two national Green Belt purposes and to the local Green Belt purpose, and has a high degree of physical openness. This is attributed minor weight against the site. 

 GB Boundary: New boundaries would be stronger in part than the existing boundary if extended to the woodland, and could form clearly defined and defensible boundaries. This is attributed moderate/significant weight in favour of the 
site. 

 SA: The site has more than 3 times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed significant weight in favour of the site  

 Flood Risk: Site passes the sequential test. 

 No strategic advantages/disadvantages 
 

On balance, the benefits of the site are considered to outweigh the adverse impacts on Green Belt purposes. The site should be considered for allocation alongside other Brookmans Park sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site were allocated, the following would be required: 

 Amend Green Belt boundaries as described above, taking the eastern boundary up to the woodland (i.e. take the land to the rear of 70 Georges Wood Road out of the Green Belt) 

 
 
 

P
age 204



 
 

 
Appendix I 

 
 
Little Heath Housing Sites - Maps and Background Tables 
 
 
The map on the following page illustrates all of the sites considered within the HELAA.  
  
For the purposes of this Sites Selection Background Paper, only sites that passed the Stage 2 
HELAA Assessment and are large enough to be allocated (10 or more in town, 5 or more in 
excluded villages) have been considered. 

  

P
age 205



 

Little Heath HELAA Results Map 

 

P
age 206



 
 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

BrP7 Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
 
Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
150 dwellings  
 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Proximity to Gobions Registered 
Historic Park and Garden and Folly 
Arch, grade II* listed building. 
Green infrastructure is proposed 
around the site which will provide a 
buffer between the site and the 
HPG and LB.  

 Adjacent to an Ecosite, the field 
south of Bolton’s Park. Within 
1,800m of Northaw Great Wood 
SSSI  

 Moderate ecological sensitivity in 
wooded area. Potential for 
protected bird species. Retain 
trees and pond or compensate for 
loss. A stage 1 habitat survey is 
required to assess value. 

 Waste water upgrades 
 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years 

BrP7: Contribution to National 
Purposes: Significant for safeguarding 
the countryside from encroachment. 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant. The gap between Little 
Heath and Swanley Bar would 
disappear if site was developed in full. 
Physical and visual openness: 
High physical openness and mixed 
visual openness. 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Site is connected to Little Heath and is 
separate from other sites in Brookmans 
Park. It is not related to LeH1 although 
it is nearby. In combination with other 
sites around Brookmans Park and 
Welham Green, development of this 
site could have a substantial impact on 
the strategic gap between Potters Bar 
and Hatfield. 
BrP7 extension: Contribution to 
National Purposes: Significant for 
safeguarding the countryside from 
encroachment. 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partial: Located in the primary local 
gap between Brookmans Park (2nd 
tier) and Potters Bar (1

st
 tier), and the 

gap between Potters Bar and Swanley 
Bar. It makes a partial contribution to 
the visual perception of the gaps. 
Physical and visual openness: 
High physical openness and mixed 
visual openness. 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Site is isolated and is separate from 
other sites in Brookmans Park, and 
Little Heath.  The site forms a group 
with BrP7.  It is not related to LeH1 
although it is nearby. However in 
combination with other sites around 
Brookmans Park and Welham Green, 
the development of this site could have 
a substantial impact on the strategic 
gap between Potters Bar and Hatfield. 

Existing: 
The existing Green Belt boundary 
comprises the settlement edge of Little 
Heath, in the form of garden/property 
boundaries and some buildings 
(moderate/strong). 
 
Proposed: 
The boundary (as promoted) would 
comprise a tree belt/hedge to the south 
(moderate), Hawkshead Road to the 
north (moderate) and an open field to 
the west (weak) 
 
Comment: 
Little Heath and Swanley Bar are 
separated by open land uses and 
ribbon development within a fragile 
gap. If the entire BrP7 site were 
allocated, Little Heath and Swanley 
Bar would effectively merge. 
 
Conclusion 
If this site is allocated, the boundary 
should be pulled back towards the 
existing urban boundary with Wain 
Close, reducing the size of the site to 
allow for a gap to be maintained 
between Little Heath and Swanley Bar. 
Green Belt boundary for the reduced 
site should be drawn in a south-
westerly direction from Hawkshead 
Road towards the southern edge of 
site. Boundary should not project any 
further north than existing development 
located within the gap, to the north of 
Hawkshead Road, using the property 
boundary of the existing community 
(church) building on the opposing side 
of Hawkshead Road as a reference 
point. Western boundary would still be 
weaker than the existing boundary but 
impact on the gap would then be 
limited.  

Significant positives (++) Total 7: 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
4.3:  helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of 
Potters Bar Town Centre. It is within 
400m of seven bus stops. 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, 
type and tenure of housing to meet 
identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing 
and make provision for Lifetime 
Homes. 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of 
education establishments. 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of 
open space and landscape 
character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
The WHBC Green Belt Review 
indicates the site contributes 
significantly to maintaining settlement 
pattern.  
Mitigation: 
The scale, layout and design of 
development should seek to reduce 
significant effects on settlement pattern 
and local distinctiveness.  
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of 
the borough’s character, historic 
environment, and heritage/cultural 
assets: 
Site is in proximity to Listed Buildings. 
It is within 250m of Gobions Historic 
Park & Garden. 
Mitigation:Development of site should 
conform to Local Plan policies related 
to the protection of heritage assets and 
good design.  

Sequential Test result: 
Pass - Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
Surface water flow route runs west-
east in the western area of the site 
toward Potters Bar Brook. A sequential 
approach to layout and the use of 
sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) 
could be used to suitably manage 
surface water flood risk to, within and 
from the site. 
 

Advantages: None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Summary Deliverable within 0-10 years (moderate weight in favour).  
GB Study: The site makes a significant contribution to the national Green Belt purpose of safeguarding the countryside from encroachment and a significant/partial contribution to the local purpose (moderate against). 
Green Belt boundary: The boundaries for the promoted site would be partially weaker than the existing Green Belt boundary, mainly related to the western boundary which, would not be clearly defined (minor against). The full extent of the 
promoted site would fill a significant part of a fragile gap between two villages (moderate against). However, a reduced site area with a revised boundary would allow for a gap to be retained between Little Heath and Swanley Bar and prevent 
these villages from merging, thus reducing the adverse weight attributed to full extent of the promoted site (minor against). A new Green Belt boundary would however still be weaker than the existing boundary (minor against). 
Sustainability Appraisal: Identifies seven positives, and two negative impacts. , i.e. more than 3 times double positives than double negatives (Significant in favour) 
Flood Risk: Site passes the sequential test. 
Strategic Advantages/Disadvantages: None 
Conclusion: A reduced size site would enable a gap to be maintained between Little Heath and Swanley Bar, which would prevent the merging of settlements that the currently promoted size of site would have. This is a finely balanced site but 
on balance, the site’s benefits of a reduced site marginally outweigh the adverse impacts on the Green Belt. A reduced site area should be considered for allocation. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site is allocated for housing, the Green Belt boundary will need to be amended. If Green Belt boundary is drawn as described above resulting in a smaller site, indicative capacity of 100 dwellings on approx. 3.3 ha. at 30 dph. 

P
age 207



 
 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

LHe1 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt, except for south-east 
corner of the site associated with 
Osborne House Farm. 
 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Partial PDL/Greenfield. 
 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
35 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Southern wooded boundary is an 
ecological constraint and of 
moderate sensitivity. 

 Grade II Listed Building Osbourne 
House with 25m. Development 
could have implications on the 
setting.  However if existing 
hedgerow is retained and 
reinforced, development should be 
possible without harm. 

 Rights of access to adjoining 
property need to be retained 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
The site makes limited or no 
contribution to any of the national 
Green Belt purposes  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Limited or no contribution because of 
its size and characteristics  
 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical Openness High no 
development,   Visual Openness Mixed 
partly enclosed by hedgerow and 
dwellings  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Connected to the existing settlement 
but not part of a group.   

Existing: 
The existing green belt boundary 
comprises of the urban edge of the 
settlement of Little Heath (strong), 
although the Green Belt boundary 
currently cuts through a number of 
residential properties on the edge of 
the settlement. 
 
Proposed: 
The western boundary would comprise 
of the boundary to a large dwelling and 
associated buildings, lined by 
hedgerow and trees (strong). Northern 
boundary would comprise of a fence 
and private road/access (weak). 
 
However, there is potential for a new 
boundary to be formed by following 
property boundaries to the east of the 
site, and incorporating all of Oakleigh, 
Osborne House Farm and other 
detached buildings, which are currently 
partly within the Green Belt, partly 
within the urban area.   
 
 

Significant positives (++) Total 7: 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
4.3:  helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of 
Potters Bar Town Centre. It is within 
400m of five bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, 
type and tenure of housing to meet 
identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing 
and make provision for Lifetime 
Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of 
education establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of 
the borough’s character, historic 
environment, and heritage/cultural 
assets: 
Site is in proximity to a Listed Building. 
It is within 1km of a Historic Park & 
Garden. 
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to 
Local Plan policies related to the 
protection of heritage assets and good 
design.  
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass - Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
 

Advantages: None 
 
Disadvantages: None 
 

Summary Deliverable in 0-5 years (significant weight in favour). 
GB Study: Site makes limited or no contribution to national purposes and limited or no contribution to local purpose (significant weight in favour). 
Green Belt Boundary: The new Green Belt boundary would be similar in strength to the existing boundary with the exception of the northern boundary of the site which would be weaker. Overall (minor weight in favour).  
However, there is the potential for a more logical Green Belt boundary to be created by incorporating existing properties and buildings to the east of LHe1, which are partly within the urban area and partly within the Green Belt. This would 
result in the removal of land associated with Osbourne House Farm and Oakleigh and other detached buildings from the Green Belt.  
Sustainability Appraisal: more than three times as many double positives as double negatives (significant weight in favour). 
Flood Risk: Site passes the sequential test. 
Strategic advantages/disadvantages: None identified. 
On balance, the site’s benefits of the site mean that it should be considered for allocation. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site is allocated for housing - the Green Belt boundary will need to be amended including land to the east of LHe1 as described above. 

 

P
age 208



 
 

 
Appendix J 

 
 
Cuffley Housing Sites - Maps and Background Tables 
 
The map on the following page illustrates all of the sites 
considered within the HELAA. 
 
For the purposes of this Sites Selection Background Paper, 
only sites that passed the Stage 2 HELAA Assessment and are 
large enough to be allocated (10 or more in town, 5 or more in 
excluded villages) have been considered. 
  

Page 209



 

Cuffley HELAA Results Map 

 
 

Page 210



 
 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential and 
Exception Test 

Strategic Advantages and 
Disadvantages 

No02 Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield/Part PDL 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
8 dwellings net 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Buffer required to adjacent Wildlife 
Site 160, also an ancient woodland 

 Need to understand and mitigate 
ecological impacts, given wildlife 
potential of the site 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an 
Employment Area. It is within 1400m of 
Cuffley Railway Station. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, 
type and tenure of housing to meet 
identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing 
and make provision for Lifetime 
Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of 
education establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of Local Wildlife 
Sites and within 500m of a SSSI. 
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to 
Local Plan policies related to the 
protection/enhancement of biodiversity 
and good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1. An 
ordinary watercourse runs through the 
site which may present a fluvial flood 
risk; however, it was not possible to 
model it in the SFRA. A sequential 
approach to layout that restricts 
development to Flood Zone 1 within 
the site is feasible.  
Therefore, the site passes the 
Sequential Test and the Exception 
Test does not need to be applied at 
this stage. 
 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
 
 
Disadvantages: 
None identified. 

Summary  There are some minor constraints affecting the development of the site – development will be deliverable within 0-5 years. (Significant weight in favour) 

 The site is not within the Green Belt – its development would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. (Significant weight in favour) 

 The Sustainability Appraisal identifies a number of significant positives for the site – notably its status as previously developed land; and proximity to public transport, local facilities and education establishments. One significant negative is 
identified around the protection of biodiversity but on balance there are more than three times as many double positives as negatives. (Significant weight in favour) 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test. 

 No strategic advantages/disadvantages  
 

On balance, the site’s accessible and sustainable location is considered to outweigh the impacts and constraints affecting the site, all of which can be mitigated against. It is therefore considered that the site should be allocated. 

Policy 
implication 

Allocate for housing in the Local Plan 

P
age 211



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential and 
Exception Test 

Strategic Advantages and 
Disadvantages 

No10 Urban/Green Belt: 
Urban 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
5 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Single-track site access restricts 
the number of dwellings to 5 – it is 
not known if the access can be 
widened 

 Potential for contaminated land 
which would require remediation 

 Potential noise from the adjacent 
scout hut and church 

 Need to understand and mitigate 
ecological impacts, given wildlife 
potential of the site 
 

Delivery timescales: 
11-15 years, although availability may 
depend on other land coming forward 
for development and is uncertain 
 
NB: The landowner has indicated that 
the availability of the site may depend 
on other land coming forward for 
development. 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
N/A for urban sites 
 
 
 

Existing 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Proposed: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Comments: 
N/A for urban sites 
 
Conclusion: 
N/A for urban sites 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 8 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an 
Employment Area. It is within 400m of 
seven bus stops and 1400m of Cuffley 
Railway Station. 
 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of 
open space and landscape 
character: 
Site is PDL (Previously Developed 
Land). 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, 
type and tenure of housing to meet 
identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing 
and make provision for Lifetime 
Homes.   
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of 
education establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 
None  
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1. 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages:  
None 

Summary  A number of constraints affect the development of the site – there is some uncertainty around deliverability, which is expected to be within 11-15 years. (Minor weight in favour) 

 The site is not within the Green Belt – its development would have no impact on Green Belt purposes or boundaries. (Significant weight in favour) 

 The Sustainability Appraisal identifies a number of significant positives for the site – notably its status as previously developed land; and proximity to public transport, local facilities and education establishments. No significant negatives are 
identified. (Significant weight in favour) 

 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and passes the sequential test. 

 No strategic advantages/disadvantages  
 

The site’s accessible and sustainable location is considered to outweigh the constraints and possible impacts affecting the s ite, all of which can be mitigated against. It is therefore considered that the site should be allocated. 

Policy 
implication 

Allocate for housing in the Local Plan  

P
age 212



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential and 
Exception Test 

Strategic Advantages and 
Disadvantages 

Cuf1 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green belt 
 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
  
Estimated capacity:  
30 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Buffer required to Cuffley Brook & 
ecosite and the railway line. 

 Noise from the railway line 

 Proximity to Wildlife site 

 Proximity to Northaw Great Wood 
SSSI and Wormley-Hoddesdon 
Park South SSSI 

 Highway access restricts number 
of dwellings to 30. 

 Waste water upgrades 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
 
Significant for safeguarding the 
countryside  from encroachment  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partial –contribution to the visual 
perception of the gap between Cuffley 
and Goffs Oak.    
 
Physical and visual openness: 
High Physical openness 
Mixed Visual openness views often 
limited by roadside vegetation and tree 
belts  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
The site is isolated. 
 
 

Existing 
Mainly property boundaries (Moderate) 
 
Proposed: 
Established tree belt along western 
boundary (moderate)  
Cuffley Brook and established tree belt 
along north-eastern boundary 
(moderate) 
Established hedgerow with some gaps 
along southern boundary (moderate) to 
where the site joins with existing 
residential development at the head of 
The Medway. 
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed new Green Belt 
boundary formed by the site would be 
similar in strength to the existing 
boundary and could form clearly 
defined and defensible boundaries.   
 
However, the site boundary would 
mean taking more land out of the 
Green Belt than is absolutely 
necessary to accommodate around 30 
dwellings. Allocating the whole site 
would also result in development 
projecting beyond the eastern edge of 
the existing settlement boundary as 
generally defined by rear garden 
boundaries of properties in The 
Meadway and narrowing a fragile gap 
of less than 1km between Cuffley and 
Goffs Oak. Accordingly, whilst north-
south physical features at this point 
within the site are absent, in the 
interests of limiting encroachment 
eastwards, the boundary should be 
drawn north-south from the settlement 
edge. To create a logical boundary, a 
minor adjustment would be required to 
the west of the site, joining up with the 
existing Green belt boundary in Thrush 
Lane.  

Significant positives (++) Total: 8 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
4.3:  helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an 
Employment Area. It is within 400m of 
seven bus stops and 1400m of Cuffley 
Railway Station. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, 
type and tenure of housing to meet 
identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing 
and make provision for Lifetime 
Homes.  
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of 
education establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1  
4.6: Protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife 
Site. 
Mitigation:  
Development of site should conform to 
Local Plan policies related to the 
protection/enhancement of biodiversity 
and good design. 
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – 99.9% of the site falls within 
Flood Zone 1, with the remainder 
within Flood Zones 2 and 3a/b. A 
sequential approach to layout that 
restricts development to Flood Zone 1 
within the site is feasible. Therefore, 
the site passes the Sequential Test 
and the Exception Test does not need 
to be applied at this stage. 
 
 
 

Advantages: None 
 
Disadvantages: None 
 
 
 

Summary Deliverable within 0-10 years (moderate in favour). 
GB Study: The site makes a significant contribution to the national green belt purpose of safeguarding the countryside from encroachment (moderate against). 
Green Belt Boundary: The proposed new Green Belt boundary as formed by the extent of the site would be similar in strength to the existing boundaries and would be clearly defined and defensible. (Moderate in favour). Allocating the whole 
site would however result in development encroaching eastwards beyond the eastern edge of the existing urban boundary, reducing the existing fragile gap between Cuffley and Goffs Oak (minor against). As described above, if this site is 
allocated, the new Green Belt boundary should be drawn north-south from the existing settlement edge across the site. As this would then have no impact on the fragile gap, this would remove the minor against weighting, although this 
alternative north-south boundary would not be defined by existing physical features on the ground and would need to be defined by post development features. 
Sustainability Appraisal. Identifies 8 positives and 1 negative, i.e. more than three times more double positives than double negatives (significant in favour). 
Flood Risk: Passes the sequential test. 
No strategic advantages/disadvantages  
Conclusion:  On balance, the site’s benefits are considered to outweigh the harm to the purposes of the Green Belt and provided the boundary is drawn so as to not permit development any further east of the existing urban edge of 
settlement, the site should be considered for allocation alongside other Cuffley sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site is allocated for housing - the Green Belt boundary will need to be amended. 

P
age 213



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential and 
Exception Test 

Strategic Advantages and 
Disadvantages 

Cuf4 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
220 dwellings  
11 hectares promoted for 
development from an overall site of 
18ha. Capacity of the site reduced to 
220 dwellings to reflect sloping 
topography of the site, habitat 
creation and the need for ecological 
mitigation. 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Nature conservation – presence of 
protected species and their 
habitats. 

 Adjacent  to a Wildlife Site 

 Adjoins ancient woodland to the 
north of the site.  

 Proximity to Northaw Great Wood 
SSSI and Wormley-Hoddesden 
Park South SSSI 

  The whole site is an ecosite, so 
there may be potential for habitat 
creation and wildlife corridors as 
part of any development.  

 The  site is adjacent to an AAS  

 Potential contamination from 
farmyard. 

 Waste water upgrades. 
 

Delivery timescales: 0-10 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
 
Significant for safeguarding the 
countryside  from encroachment  
 
Partial to checking unrestricted sprawl 
of large built areas of London  
 
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant - contributes to the gap 
between Cuffley and Potters Bar  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
 
High Physical and Visual openness  
Forms a highly prominent landform in 
the landscape. 
 
Views of central London from the top of 
the site.  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Forms a group with Cuf5, Cuf6, and 
Cuf7 which would have a greater 
impact on the gap between Potters Bar 
and Cuffley (and the strategic gap 
between Potters Bar and Cheshunt). 
 
 

Existing 
Site adjoins the urban area of Cuffley 
and the Green Belt boundary is formed 
by the rear gardens of properties in 
Cranfield Crescent and King James 
Avenue to the east (moderate) and 
The Ridgeway (B157)– strong 
 
Proposed: 
Western boundary is defined by 
Hempshill Brook and the footpath 
(RoW) that runs alongside it 
(moderate). Northern boundary defined 
by Ancient Woodland (strong) 
Southern boundary defined by 
established tree belt (moderate) 
 
 
Conclusion: 
The site is clearly defined and it would 
be possible to form a new Green Belt 
boundary.  
However, the full extent of the site 
would reduce the gap between the 
urban edge of Cuffley and the 
settlement of Northaw to less than 1km 
at its narrowest point.  
 
The irregular shape of the site would 
protrude out into open countryside and 
make it difficult to retain land to the 
south (Cuf5) within the Green Belt 
within the context of forming logical 
boundaries. 
 
 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
 4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an 
Employment Area. It is within 400m of 
six bus stops and 1400m of Cuffley 
Railway Station. 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, 
type and tenure of housing to meet 
identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing 
and make provision for Lifetime 
Homes. 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of 
education establishments. 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 3  
4.4: Protection/enhancement of 
open space and landscape 
character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
Site has high landscape sensitivity. 
The WHBC Green Belt Review 
indicates the site contributes 
significantly to maintaining settlement 
pattern. Mitigation: Development of 
site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection of 
open spaces. The scale, layout and 
design of development should seek to 
reduce significant effects on landscape 
character and local distinctiveness.  
4.6: Protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife 
Site. Mitigation:  Development of site 
should conform to Local Plan policies 
related to the protection/enhancement 
of biodiversity and good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – 99.5% of the site falls within 
Flood Zone 1, with the remainder 
within Flood Zones 2 and 3a/b. A 
sequential approach to layout that 
restricts development to Flood Zone 1 
within the site is feasible. Therefore, 
the site passes the Sequential Test 
and the Exception Test does not need 
to be applied at this stage. 
 
 
 

Advantages:  
None  
 
Disadvantages:  
None 
 
 
 

Summary Deliverable within 0-10 years (moderate in favour). 
GB Study: The site makes a significant contribution to the national Green Belt purpose of safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. It also makes a significant contribution to the local purpose. The site has high levels of physical and 
visual openness and due to its steep and prominent topography, is highly visible within the wider landscape with views of London. It also forms a group with other sites, which cumulatively if developed would have a greater impact on the 
strategic gap between Potters Bar and Cheshunt. This site, along with others in this strategic parcel, has made a valuable contribution in checking the unrestricted urban sprawl of large built up areas of London. If the whole site were allocated, 
it would partially weaken the role of the site within the strategic parcel, reinforcing the gradual creep of development which is evident between the northern edge of Cuffley and the village of Northaw to the west, reducing the visual perception 
of settlement separation. Overall, the role that this large site makes to the purposes of the Green Belt is weighted significant against. 
Green Belt Boundary: The proposed new Green Belt boundaries would be similar in strength to the existing boundary and would be clearly defined. However, the Ridgeway (B157) currently forms a strong Green Belt boundary and releasing 
Cuf4 from the Green Belt would reduce the gap between the urban edge of Cuffley and the settlement of Northaw to less than 1km at its narrowest point and in order to form a logical Green Belt boundary, further land to the south (Cuf5) would 
also need to be released from the Green Belt (minor against). 
Sustainability Appraisal:  Over two times more double positives than double negatives (moderate in favour). 
Flood Risk: Passes the sequential test 
No strategic advantages. Strategic disadvantages: None  
Conclusion: The site has high levels of physical and visual openness, and is a prominent landform in the landscape. On balance, the adverse impact on the Green Belt marginally outweighs the benefits of the site and the site should NOT be 
considered for allocation alongside other sites in Cuffley. 

Policy 
implication 

None - no change to Green Belt boundary. 

P
age 214



 
 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential and 
Exception Test 

Strategic Advantages and 
Disadvantages 

Cuf5 Green Belt: 
Green belt. 
 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
440  dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Nature conservation – presence of 
protected species and their 
habitats. 

 Proximity to Northaw Great Wood 
and Wormley-Hoddesden Park 
South SSSI 

 Adjacent to an ecosite, so there 
may be potential for habitat 
creation and wildlife corridors as 
part of any development.  

 Proximity of two AAS 

 Steeply sloping topography 

 Flood risk – sequential approach to 
layout and surface water 
management. 

 Waste water upgrades 
 
 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
 
Significant for safeguarding the 
countryside  from encroachment  
 
Partial to checking unrestricted sprawl 
of large built areas of London  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant - contributes to the gap 
between Cuffley and Potters Bar  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
 
High Physical and Visual openness  
Forms a prominent landform in the 
landscape.  
 
Views of central London from the top of 
the site. 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Forms a group with Cuf4, Cuf6, and 
Cuf7 which would have a greater 
impact on the gap between Potters Bar 
and Cuffley (and the strategic gap 
between Potters Bar and Cheshunt).  

Existing: 
Moderate– existing green belt 
boundary adjoins the settlement edge 
of Cuffley, comprising of the 
boundaries of residential properties. 
 
Proposed: 
Western boundary comprises of 
Hempshill Brook and hedgerow, private 
access road and RoW. (Moderate) 
Southern boundary is mixed. B156 in 
part (strong)  and field boundary with 
limited tress (Weak) 
Northern boundary – established tree 
belt – (Moderate)– 
 
Conclusion:  
Overall, the boundary formed by the 
site would be similar in strength to the 
existing boundary and could be clearly 
defined. 
 
 
The irregular shape of the site would 
protrude out into open countryside and 
make it difficult more to retain land to 
the north (Cuf4) within the Green Belt 
within the context of forming logical 
boundaries. 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an 
Employment Area. It is within 400m of 
ten bus stops and 1400m of Cuffley 
Railway Station. 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, 
type and tenure of housing to meet 
identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing 
and make provision for Lifetime Homes.  
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of 
education establishments. 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 3 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open 
space and landscape character, 
retaining local distinctiveness: Site 
has high landscape sensitivity. The 
WHBC Green Belt Review indicates the 
site contributes significantly to 
maintaining settlement pattern 
.Mitigation: Development of site 
should conform to Local Plan policies 
related to the protection of open 
spaces. The scale, layout and design of 
development should seek to reduce 
significant effects on landscape 
character and local distinctiveness.  
4.6: Protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife 
Site. Mitigation: Development of site 
should conform to Local Plan policies 
related to the protection/enhancement 
of biodiversity and good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – 96% of the site falls within 
Flood Zone 1, with the remainder 
within Flood Zones 2 and 3a/b. A 
sequential approach to layout that 
restricts development to Flood Zone 1 
within the site is feasible. Therefore, 
the site passes the Sequential Test 
and the Exception Test does not need 
to be applied at this stage. 
 
Surface water flow route runs east-
west across part of the site. A 
sequential approach to layout and the 
use of sustainable drainage systems 
(SuDS) could be used to suitably 
manage surface water flood risk to, 
within and from the site. 
 
 

Advantages:  Provides an opportunity 
to deliver a new primary school 
(although would need to be considered 
on the basis of overall growth and 
primary school capacity for Cuffley and 
in Goffs Oak). 
 
Possibility of GP surgery (subject to 
viability) 
 
Disadvantages: None 
 

Summary Deliverable within 0-10 years (moderate in favour). 
GB Study: Site makes a significant contribution to the national Green Belt purpose of safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. It also makes a significant contribution to the Local Purpose and a partial contribution to checking 
unrestricted sprawl of large built areas of London.  The site has high levels of physical and visual openness and due to its steep and prominent topography; parts of the site are highly visible within the wider landscape. The site is located within 
a parcel which makes a significant contribution towards checking unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas of London. It also forms a group with other sites, which cumulatively if developed would have a greater impact on the strategic gap 
between Potters Bar and Cheshunt. This site, along with others in this strategic parcel, has made a valuable contribution in checking urban sprawl. If the whole site were allocated, it would partially weaken the role of the site within the strategic 
parcel, reducing the visual perception of settlement separation and leaving other land to the north (Cuf4) more vulnerable to development. Overall, the role that this site makes to the purposes of the Green Belt is weighted significant against. 
Green Belt Boundary: Overall, proposed boundaries would be similar in strength to the existing boundary. However, in order to form a logical Green Belt boundary, further land to the north (Cuf4) would also need to be released from the Green 
Belt (minor against). (Refer to Cuf12: Restricting development to the frontage with the B156 as an infill site between Cuf7 and the existing urban boundary with Cuffley, would have a much less significant impact). 
Sustainability Appraisal: More than two times more double positives than double negatives (moderate in favour)  
Flood Risk: Passes the sequential test. 
Strategic advantages: Possible primary school./GP surgery provision (subject to viability) (moderate in favour). Strategic disadvantages: None 
Conclusion: The site has high levels of physical and visual openness, and is a prominent landform in the landscape. On balance, the adverse impact on the Green Belt is not outweighed by the benefits of the site and the site should NOT be 
considered for allocation alongside other sites in Cuffley. However, a smaller site should be considered (see Cuf12) 

Policy 
implication 

None - no change to Green Belt boundary (However: Refer to Cuf12) 

  

P
age 215



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential and 
Exception Test 

Strategic Advantages and 
Disadvantages 

Cuf6 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green belt 
 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
108 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Railway noise 

 Overhead HV power lines 
(National Grid) will require an 
easement corridor either side. 

 Flood risk sequential approach to 
layout and surface water flow 
management. 

 Proximity to Northaw Great Wood 
SSSI and Wormley-Hoddesden 
Park South SSSI 

 Nature conservation buffer with 
railway bank and southern woody 
boundary. 

 Waste water upgrades 
 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
Partial to checking unrestricted sprawl 
of large built areas of London  
 
Significant for safeguarding the 
countryside  from encroachment  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Limited or No contribution  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
High Physical openness  
Mixed Visual openness very visible 
from the road but screened in the 
south west by trees.   
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Forms part of a group with Cuf4, Cuf5 
and Cuf7whic would impact on the 
reduction of the gap between Cuffley 
and Potters Bar  
 
 

Existing: 
Formed by the settlement edge of 
Cuffley, comprising of the boundaries 
of residential properties in South Drive 
-Moderate 
 
Proposed: 
Public footpath, tree belt and hedgerow 
to the south eastern boundary – 
Moderate 
 
Hedge/tree belt to boundary of Cuffley 
School - Moderate 
 
Comments: 
 
Conclusion: 
New Green Belt boundary formed by 
the site would be clearly defined and 
similar in strength to the existing 
boundary 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
4.3:  helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an 
Employment Area. It is within 400m of 
four bus stops and 1400m of Cuffley 
Railway Station. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, 
type and tenure of housing to meet 
identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing 
and make provision for Lifetime 
Homes.   
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of 
education establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 
None 
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
Surface water flow route runs north-
south in the centre of the site. A 
sequential approach to layout and the 
use of sustainable drainage systems 
(SuDS) could be used to suitably 
manage surface water flood risk to, 
within and from the site. 
 
 

Advantages: None 
 
Disadvantages: None 
 
. 

Summary Deliverable within 0-10 years (moderate in favour) 
GB Study: The site makes a significant contribution to the national Green Belt purpose of safeguarding the countryside from encroachment (moderate against) 
Green Belt Boundary: New Green Belt boundary would be similar in strength to the existing and clearly defined, forming a logical, defensible boundary (moderate weight in favour). 
Sustainability Appraisal: Seven positives and no significant negatives identified (significant in favour). 
Flood Risk: Passes the sequential test. 
Strategic advantages/disadvantages: None 
 
Conclusion: On balance, the site’s benefits are considered to outweigh the harm to the purposes of the Green Belt. The site should be considered for allocation alongside other sites in Cuffley. 
 

Policy 
implication 

If the site is allocated for housing - the Green Belt boundary will need to be amended 

P
age 216



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential and 
Exception Test 

Strategic Advantages and 
Disadvantages 

Cuf7 Urban/Green Belt: 
Greenbelt 
 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
75 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Proximity of AAS 

 Proximity to Northaw Great Wood 
SSSI and Wormley-Hoddesden 
Park South SSSI 

 Potential contaminated land 

 A specific flood risk assessment of 
the site would be required at 
planning application stage. SUDs 
design would need to take specific 
account of topography of the area 
to manage overland flows. 
 
 

Delivery timescales: 
6-10 years 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
Does not contribute significantly to any 
National Purpose but partially to  
checking sprawl of large built up areas 
of London ,  preventing  neighboring 
towns from merging ( within a strategic 
gap between Potters Bar and 
Cheshunt)  and safeguarding the 
countryside  from encroachment .   
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partial or limited or no reduction to the 
visual perception of the separation of 
Cuffley and Potters Bar 
 
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Mixed levels of physical openness with 
development on site and mixed visual 
openness, with mixed levels of 
enclosure and potential views across 
the valley   
 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Forms a group with Cuf4, Cuf5, and 
Cuf6  
 

Existing: 
Formed by the settlement edge of 
Cuffley, comprising of the boundaries 
of residential properties - Moderate 
 
Proposed: 
Northern and eastern boundary would 
comprise of fragmented tree 
belt/hedgerow  - Weak 
 
Western boundary comprises of private 
access road, adjacent to Hempshill 
Brook - Moderate 
 
Comments: 
Given its separation from the 
settlement boundary, it would not be 
logical to release Cuf7 as an isolated 
site by itself from the Green Belt and 
therefore additional land would need to 
be released to form a defensible Green 
Belt boundary. A site Cuf12 has been 
promoted as an alternative option to 
Cuf5. Site Cuf12 includes the area of 
land between site Cuf7 and the 
settlement edge. 
 
Conclusion: 
Potential to form a new, defensible 
Green Belt boundary by combining 
Cuf7 with part of Cuf12 (refer to 
Cuf12). 
 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
4.3:  helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an 
Employment Area. It is within 400m of 
six bus stops and 1400m of Cuffley 
Railway Station. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, 
type and tenure of housing to meet 
identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing 
and make provision for Lifetime 
Homes.   
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of 
education establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 
None 
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass - 84% of the site falls within Flood 
Zone 1, with the remainder within 
Flood Zones 2 and 3a/b. A sequential 
approach to layout that restricts 
development to Flood Zone 1 within 
the site is feasible. Therefore, the site 
passes the Sequential Test and the 
Exception Test does not need to be 
applied at this stage. 
 
Surface water flow route and ponding 
also coincides with areas of fluvial 
flood risk within the site. A sequential 
approach to layout and the use of 
sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) 
could be used to suitably manage 
surface water flood risk to, within and 
from the site. 
 
 

Advantages: None 
 
Disadvantages: None 
 
 

Summary Deliverable in 6-10 years (moderate in favour) 
GB Study: Does not contribute significantly to any national or local Green Belt purpose. Has mixed levels of physical openness and enclosure (moderate in favour) 
Green Belt Boundary: Given its separation  from the settlement boundary, it would not be logical to release Cuf7 as an isolated site by itself from the Green Belt and therefore additional land would need to be released to form a defensible 
Green Belt boundary (significant against). However, the potential exists to form a new, defensible Green Belt boundary by combining Cuf7 with part of Cuf12 (refer to Cuf12). 
Sustainability Appraisal: Site has seven significant positives and SA does not identify any significant negative impacts (significant in favour) 
Flood Risk: Passes the sequential test. 
Strategic advantages/disadvantages: None 
 
Conclusion: The only factor weighing against the fact that it does not adjoin the existing settlement boundary. The number of dwellings that this site could deliver does not justify in-setting the site within the Green Belt. However, a site Cuf12 
has been promoted which adjoins Cuf7 to the east and north. (Refer to site Cuf12). Restricting development to the frontage with the B156 essentially joining Cuf7 to the urban boundary with Cuffley with part of Cuf12 presents a more 
acceptable opportunity to define a new Green Belt boundary. 
 
Provided a reduced part of Cuf12 is allocated (see Cuf12), on balance, the benefits of Cuf7 means that the site should be considered for allocation, alongside other sites in Cuffley. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site is allocated for housing - the Green Belt boundary will need to be amended (alongside a reduced area of Cuf12).  

P
age 217



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential and 
Exception Test 

Strategic Advantages and 
Disadvantages 

Cuf10 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green belt 
 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
33 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 The whole of the site is an ecosite. 

 Adjacent to a Wildlife site 

 Presence of protected species. 

 Adjacent to Ancient Woodland 

 Proximity of AAS 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-5/6-10 years  
 
NB: Cuf10 is a sub-part of a larger 
site; Cuf4 

Contribution to National Purposes: 
(Cuf10 forms part of Cuf4) 
 
Significant for safeguarding the 
countryside  from encroachment  
 
Partial to checking unrestricted sprawl 
of large built areas of London  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant - contributes to the gap 
between Cuffley and Potters Bar  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
 
High Physical and Visual openness  
Forms a highly prominent landform in 
the landscape. 
 
Views of central London from the site.  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Forms a group with Cuf5, Cuf6, and 
Cuf7 which would have a greater 
impact on the gap between Potters Bar 
and Cuffley (and the strategic gap 
between Potters Bar and Cheshunt). 
 

Existing: 
Formed by The Ridgeway (the B157) - 
Strong 
 
Proposed: 
No definable boundary on the ground 
to the west – Weak 
 
Hedgerow forming boundary to Cuffley 
Hills Farm to the south-east - Weak 
 
Ancient woodland to the north – 
Strong. 
 
 
 
Conclusion: 
Overall, the proposed boundaries 
would weaker than the existing 
boundary and boundaries would only 
be partially definable by physical 
features  
 
Development of this site would result in 
further ribbon development to the 
south of The Ridgeway 
 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 7  
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
4.3:  helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an 
Employment Area. It is within 400m of 
four bus stops and 1400m of Cuffley 
Railway Station. 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, 
type and tenure of housing to meet 
identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing 
and make provision for Lifetime 
Homes.  
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of 
education establishments. 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 3 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of 
open space and landscape 
character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
Site has medium-high landscape 
sensitivity. The WHBC Green Belt 
Review indicates the site contributes 
significantly to maintaining settlement 
pattern. Mitigation: Development of 
site should conform to Local Plan 
policies related to the protection of 
open spaces. The scale, layout and 
design of development should seek to 
reduce significant effects on landscape 
character and local distinctiveness.  
4.6: Protection/enhancement of 
biodiversity and geodiversity: 
Site is within 250m of a Local Wildlife 
Site. Mitigation: Development of site 
should conform to Local Plan policies 
related to the protection/enhancement 
of biodiversity and good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
 
 

Advantages: None 
 
Disadvantages: None 
 
 
 

Summary Deliverable within 0-10 years (moderate in favour) 
GB Study: Cuf10 forms part of Cuf4. This site makes a significant contribution to one national purpose, safeguarding the countryside from encroachment and a significant contribution to the local purpose of mainataining a gap between Cuffley 
and Potters Bar. Although it is a much smaller site than Cuf4, which this site (Cuf10) forms a sub-part of ; the steep topography of this site means it is highly visible and forms a prominent landform in the landscape. Development would be 
highly visible in the wider landscape (moderate weight against). 
Green Belt Boundary: Overall, the proposed boundaries would weaker than the existing boundary and boundaries would only be partially definable by physical features. It would also reinforce the pattern of ribbon development along the 
southern side of The Ridgeway (moderate/significant against)  
Sustainability Appraisal:   More than two times more double positives than double negatives. (Moderate in favour). 
Flood Risk: Passes the sequential test. 
Strategic advantages/disadvantages: None  
 
On balance, the harm to the Green Belt, the together with weaker Green Belt boundaries outweighs the benefits of the site and the site should NOT be considered for allocation. 

Policy 
implication 

None - no change to Green Belt boundary. 

  

P
age 218



 

Site ref Housing & Employment Land 
Availability Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review (Parts 1 
and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential and 
Exception Test 

Strategic Advantages and 
Disadvantages 

Cuf12 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
180 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Proximity to Northaw Great Wood 
SSSI and Wormley-Hoddesden 
Park South SSSI 

 Proximity of AAS 

 A specific flood risk assessment of 
the site would be required at 
planning application stage, SUDs 
design would need to take specific 
account of topography to manage 
overland flows. 

 Traffic Assessment required. 

 Waste water upgrades. 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10  

Contribution to National Purposes: 
(Note: Cuf12 forms part of Cuf5) 
 
Significant for safeguarding the 
countryside  from encroachment  
 
Partial to checking unrestricted sprawl 
of large built areas of London  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Significant - contributes to the gap 
between Cuffley and Potters bar  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
 
High Physical and Visual openness  
Forms a prominent landform in the 
landscape. 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
Forms a group with Cuf4, Cuf6, and 
Cuf7 which would have a greater 
impact on the gap between Potters Bar 
and Cuffley (and the strategic gap 
between Potters Bar and Cheshunt).   
 

Existing: 
Formed by the settlement edge of 
Cuffley, comprising of the boundaries 
of residential properties - Moderate. 
 
Proposed: 
South west boundary would comprise 
of fragmented tree belt/hedge – Weak 
 
South east boundary formed by 
Northaw Road East -Strong 
 
Western boundary formed by private 
access road adjacent to Hempshill 
Brook – Moderate 
 
There is no definable northern 
boundary on the ground - Weak 
 
Comment: Amended boundary would 
be weaker than existing, with no 
physical features on the ground to 
define the extensive northern 
boundary.   
 
Conclusion: 
A reduced site area formed of the infill 
area between Cuf7 and the existing 
settlement boundary would form a 
more logical and defensible boundary. 
Whilst the northern boundary of a 
reduced site would still not be defined 
by existing physical features, the area 
concerned would be significantly less 
than the full length of the northern 
boundary promoted for the whole of 
Cuf12. 

Significant positives (++) Total 7: 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions from transport; and 
4.3:  helping to avoid/reduce air 
pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an 
Employment Area. It is within 400m of 
six bus stops and 1400m of Cuffley 
Railway Station. 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, 
type and tenure of housing to meet 
identified local needs: 
Site could deliver affordable housing 
and make provision for Lifetime 
Homes.   
6.6: Provision of training, skills 
development and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of 
education establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 2 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of 
open space and landscape 
character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
Site has high landscape sensitivity. 
The WHBC Green Belt Review 
indicates the site contributes 
significantly to maintaining settlement 
pattern.  
Mitigation: 
Development of site should conform to 
Local Plan policies related to the 
protection of open spaces. The scale, 
layout and design of development 
should seek to reduce significant 
effects on landscape character and 
local distinctiveness.  

Sequential Test result: 
Pass - 98% of the site falls within Flood 
Zone 1, with the remainder within 
Flood Zones 2 and 3a/b. A sequential 
approach to layout that restricts 
development to Flood Zone 1 within 
the site is feasible. Therefore, the site 
passes the Sequential Test and the 
Exception Test does not need to be 
applied at this stage. 
 
 
 

Advantages: Possibility of GP surgery 
(subject to viability).  
 
Disadvantages: None 
 

Summary Deliverable within 0-10 years (moderate in favour) 
GB Study: Cuf12 forms part of Cuf5 .The site makes a significant contribution to the national Green Belt purpose of safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. It also makes a significant contribution to the Local Purpose and a partial 
contribution to checking unrestricted sprawl of large built areas of London. It has high physical and visual openness its steep and prominent topography means that part of the site is highly visible within the wider landscape. The site is located 
within a parcel which makes a significant contribution towards checking unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas of London. It also forms a group with other sites, which cumulatively if developed would have a greater impact on the strategic 
gap between Potters Bar and Cheshunt. This site, along with others in this strategic parcel, has made a valuable contribution in checking urban sprawl. Overall, the role that this site makes to the purposes of the Green Belt is weighted 
significant against.  
Green Belt Boundary: Overall, new Green Belt boundaries formed by Cuf12 would be predominately weaker than the existing boundary and the long northern boundary of Cuf12 would not be defined by physical features (significant against). 
However, a reduced site area formed of the infill area between Cuf7 and the existing settlement boundary would form a more logical boundary, restricting development to the frontage with the B156. The northern boundary of a smaller infill site 
would still not be defined by existing physical features but the area concerned would be significantly less than the full length of the northern boundary associated with Cuf12.  
Sustainability Appraisal: More than three times more double positives than double negatives (significant  in favour) 
Flood Risk: Passes the sequential test. 
Strategic advantages: Possibility of GP surgery (subject to viability) (potentially - minor in favour).  Strategic disadvantages: None  
 
Conclusion: On balance, the adverse impact on the Green Belt and weak boundaries weigh against allocating the whole of the Cuf12 for development.  
However, restricting development to the frontage with the B156 as an infill site between Cuf7 and the existing urban boundary with Cuffley would have much less impact and on this restricted basis only, the site should be considered for 
allocation, alongside other Cuffley sites. 

Policy 
implication 

If a reduced area of the site is allocated for housing - the Green Belt boundary will need to be amended alongside Cuf7.   

P
age 219



 
 

 
Appendix K 

 
 
Rural Areas Housing Sites - Maps and Background Tables 
 
The maps on the following page illustrate all of the sites 
considered within the HELAA.  
 
For the purposes of this Sites Selection Background Paper, 
only sites that passed the Stage 2 HELAA Assessment and are 
large enough to be allocated (10 or more in town, 5 or more in 
excluded villages) have been considered. 

  

Page 220



 

Rural North HELAA Results map 

 
  

Page 221



 

Rural South HELAA Results Map 

 

Page 222



 
 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

Hat15 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Mainly Greenfield with limited 
PDL at Symondshyde Farm. 
 
Achievable:  
Some uncertainty due to viability 
once infrastructure costs 
(especially transport, education 
and sewerage infrastructure have 
been factored in).  
 
Estimated capacity:  
1130 dwellings  
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Highways impact 

 Impact on adjoining woodland 
wildlife sites 

 Setting of listed building at 
Symondshyde Farm 

 Any constraint from existing 
minerals permission covering 
SE part of site 

 Site is dependent upon a 
sustainable transport package 
being delivered. 
 

Delivery timescales: 
6-10/11-15 (needs to await 
mineral extraction and provision 
of sewerage and transport 
infrastructure).  

Contribution to National 
Purposes: 
 
Significant in safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
 
Partial contribution: Site is located 
within the primary local gap between 
Hatfield and Wheathampstead and 
makes a partial contribution to the 
visual perception of the settlements 
with clear views of Hatfield although 
there is visual perception of 
Wheathampstead due to woodland 
and topography.  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Physical openness: Mixed - some 
development on site. 
 
Visual Openness: Low – Mixed. 
Views are largely contained by 
woodland to the south, west and 
north, and a ridge line following the 
western most PROW. 
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Does not form a group  
 

Existing 
Site is surrounded by Green Belt, so no 
existing boundary in this area.  
 
Nearest Green Belt/urban boundary is 
formed by Hatfield Avenue to the south-
east. (Private road – local distributor 
road) and to the rear of commercial 
premises/parking areas in Frobisher 
Way (Moderate) 
 
Proposed: Mixed strength of boundary: 
Symondshyde Lane/ Hammonds Lane 
to south-west – unclassified (moderate)  
 
Ancient woodland to north/ north-west 
(strong) 
 
North/north-eastern boundary: Ancient 
woodland (strong) and mature 
hedgerow with a gap defined by a ditch 
with scrub (weak) 
 
South-eastern boundary: Farm track 
(weak) 
 
Southern boundary: Farm track/ditch 
and hedgerow (weak/moderate) 
 
Comments: 
South/south-eastern boundaries defined 
by farm track would be weak. 
 
Conclusion: 
Green Belt boundaries may be less of 
an issue here, as the site is a proposed 
free-standing settlement within the 
Green Belt. Care should be taken with 
establishing south-eastern long term 
boundary in particular, as encroachment 
would tend towards coalescence with 
north of Hatfield (particularly if Hat 1 
developed). 

Significant positives (++) Total: 6 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of an 
Employment Area. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: Site could deliver affordable housing 
and make provision for Lifetime Homes.   
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development 
and lifelong learning: Site is within walking 
distance of education establishments. 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 3 
4.4: Protection/enhancement of open space 
and landscape character, retaining local 
distinctiveness: 
Site has high landscape sensitivity. 
Mitigation: The scale, layout and design of 
development should seek to reduce significant 
effects on landscape character.  
 
4.5: Conservation/enhancement of the 
borough’s character, historic environment, 
and heritage/cultural assets: 
Site is in proximity to Listed Buildings and an 
AAS. 
Mitigation: Development of site should conform 
to Local Plan policies related to the protection of 
heritage assets and good design.  
 
4.6: Protection/enhancement of biodiversity 
and geodiversity: 
Site is adjacent to Local Wildlife Sites and 
Ancient Woodland. 
Mitigation: Development of site should conform 
to Local Plan policies in relation to the 
protection/enhancement of biodiversity and 
good design. 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
Surface water flow route runs north-
south through the eastern area of 
the site. A sequential approach to 
layout and the use of sustainable 
drainage systems (SuDS) could be 
used to suitably manage surface 
water flood risk to, within and from 
the site. 
 

Advantages: 
 
The creation of a new free-standing 
settlement, allowing bespoke design 
without significant constraint by 
existing residential areas with primary 
school and a shop and community 
building provision within the 
development area. 
 
Disadvantages: 
 
None. 
 

Summary  HELAA: The site is could come forward within years 6-15 years of the plan period. This is attributed moderate/minor weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: The site makes a significant contribution to one national Green Belt purpose and partial contribution to local purpose. This is attributed moderate weight against the site. 

 GB Boundary: New boundaries formed by physical features defining Hat15 are mixed in terms of strength. Whilst the northern boundary would be strong, much of the southern boundary would be weaker than the existing (distant) boundary 
and care would be needed to prevent merging with the north of Hatfield. On balance, this is attributed minor weight against the site. 

 SA: The site has twice as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site.  

 Flood Risk: Passes the sequential test 

 Strategic Advantages: Delivery of a primary school, shop and community building alongside housing growth moderate weight in favour.  
 

On balance, the benefits of the site mean that it should be considered for allocation. 

Policy 
implication If the site is allocated, amend Green Belt boundaries to define edge of new settlement 

P
age 223



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

GTLAA08 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Unknown 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
4 gypsy and traveller pitches 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Site access layout 

 surface water flood risk and 
possible fluvial flood risk  

 Air and noise pollution 

 Land leveling 

 Heritage impacts 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10 years 

Contribution to National 
Purposes: 
Partial to preserving the setting and 
special character of historic towns, 
Hatfield Historic Park and Garden 
lies directly to the south   
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Partial within a secondary local gap 
between Mill Green and Essendon 
but does not reduce the gap  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
Low Physical and visual openness 
The site is enclosed, views from the 
site are very contained. There is   
 Development on part of the site 
(mobile homes) and urban 
influences on the remainder due to 
dumping of waste material.   
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
The site is isolated and forms part of 
a group with WGC1 
 
 
 
 
 

Existing: The site is within the green 
belt and remote from the nearest 
settlement‘s green belt boundary 
(Welwyn Garden City). This boundary is 
primarily made up of properly 
boundaries. 
 
Proposed:  
Property boundaries of Barbraville site 
(moderate), property boundary of 
sewage treatment works (moderate), no 
definable boundary to golf course 
(weak) 
 
Conclusion:  
Green Belt boundaries are less of an 
issue here as the site would be inset 
within the green belt. Care should be 
taken to establish clearly defined 
boundaries along the northern and 
eastern boundaries to the golf course.. 
 

Significant positives (++) Total: 3  
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within 400m of two bus stops. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 
Site would provide 5% or more of total need for 
gypsy and traveller pitches 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 0 
 
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1. 
An ordinary watercourse runs 
through the site, and the site is 
subject to surface water flood risk. 
These risks have not been assessed 
in the SFRA Level 2. A site-specific 
Flood Risk Assessment would be 
required.  
 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 
 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within the 10 years of the plan period. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: The site makes a partial contribution to one national Green Belt purpose and local purpose, and has a low level of physical openness. This is attributed minor weight against the site. 

 GB Boundary: the site would need to be inset within the Green Belt. Half of the new boundaries would be of moderate strength and clearly defined; however the remaining boundaries would be weak and not clearly defined and would need 
to be established. This is attributed minor weight in favour of the site.  

 SA: The site has three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 
 
On balance, the benefits of the site outweigh the adverse impacts on the purposes of the green belt. The site should be considered for allocation. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site were allocated, the following would be required: 

 Amend green belt boundaries to align with those described above. 

P
age 224



 

Site ref Housing & Employment 
Land Availability 

Assessment 

Green Belt Study Review  
(Parts 1 and 2) 

Green Belt Boundary Appraisal Sustainability Appraisal Flood Risk Sequential Test Strategic advantages and 
disadvantages 

GTLAA09 Urban/Green Belt: 
Green Belt 
 
PDL/Greenfield:  
Greenfield 
 
Achievable:  
Yes 
 
Estimated capacity:  
Up to 15 pitches 
 
Impacts/constraints requiring 
mitigation: 

 Mineral excavation and 
restoration 

 Noise and air pollution 
 

Delivery timescales: 
0-10yrs 

Contribution to National 
Purposes: 
Significant in safeguarding the 
countryside from development The 
site displays typical countryside 
characteristics, no development and 
no significant encroachment.  
 
Contribution to Local Purpose: 
Limited or No  
 
Physical and visual openness: 
High physical openness and mixed 
visual openness  
 
Potential for Cumulative Impact 
 
Forms a group with Hat1 and Hat15  

Existing: The site is close to the 
existing Green Belt boundaries of 
Hatfield - Hatfield Avenue (moderate) 
and property boundaries of Hatfield 
Garden Village (moderate). Land 
between the site and Hatfield Garden 
Village has been promoted for housing 
(Hat1) which would bring the Green Belt 
boundary up to Coopers Green Lane 
(moderate) 
 
Proposed:  
Site would be inset from the Green Belt. 
New boundaries would be Coopers 
Green Lane (Moderate) Hedgerow 
(moderate) and an open field/no 
definable feature (weak).  
 
Fragile Gap: 
At present the site is not within a fragile 
gap between settlements. However, 
should both Hat1 and Hat15 be 
allocated, the site would then be within 
a 1km gap between Hatfield and the 
new excluded settlement. In these 
circumstances, the reduction of the gap 
by the site would, however, be marginal. 
 
Conclusion: 
Green Belt boundaries may be less of 
an issue here, as the site would be inset 
within the Green Belt. Care should be 
taken to establish clearly defined 
boundaries along the western boundary 
which is currently open field. 

Significant positives (++) Total: 6 
4.2: Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport; and  
4.3: helping to avoid/reduce air pollution: 
Site is within walking distance of Hatfield 
Business Park Employment Area. It is within 
400m of one bus stop. 
 
5.1: Provision of the right amount, type and 
tenure of housing to meet identified local 
needs: 
Site would provide 5% or more of total need for 
gypsy and traveller pitches 
 
6.6: Provision of training, skills development 
and lifelong learning: 
Site is within walking distance of education 
establishments. 
 
 
Significant negatives (– –) Total: 1 
4.10: Promotion of conservation and 
sustainable use of productive agricultural 
land: 
Site is located within Grade 2 land. 
Mitigation: 
Conservation and sustainable use of agricultural 
land in conformity with Local Plan policies.  
 

Sequential Test result: 
Pass – Site is within Flood Zone 1 
 
 

Advantages: 
None 
 
Disadvantages: 
None 
 
 
 
 
 

Summary  HELAA: The site could come forward within the 10 years of the plan period. This is attributed moderate weight in favour of the site. 

 GB Study: Site makes a significant contribution to one Green Belt purpose and has high to mixed levels of openness. This is attributed moderate weight against the site.  

 GB Boundary: the site would need to be inset within the Green Belt. The majority of new boundaries would be of moderate strength and clearly defined; however the western boundary would be weak and not clearly defined and would need 
to be established. This is attributed minor weight in favour of the site. In the event that Hat1 and Hat15 are allocated and excluded from the Green Belt, this site would marginally reduce a fragile gap between them. This is attributed minor 
weight against the site. 

 SA: The site has more than three times as many significant positives as significant negatives. Overall, this is attributed significant weight in favour of the site.  
 
On balance, the benefits of the site are considered to marginally outweigh the adverse impacts upon the Green Belt. The site should be considered for allocation. 

Policy 
implication 

If the site were allocated, the following would be required: 

 Amend green belt boundaries to align with those described above. 

 
 
 

P
age 225



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	8 WELWYN HATFIELD RETAIL AND TOWN CENTRE NEEDS ASSESSMENT UPDATE, MAY 2016
	9 LOCAL PLAN: SELECTION OF SITES AND HOUSING TARGET
	9a Employment Site Selection<br/>Background Paper 2016
	9b Employment Sites Selection – Background Paper 2016<br/>Appendices A-D
	9c Housing Sites Selection<br/>Background Paper 2016
	9d Housing Sites Selection – Background Paper 2016<br/>Appendices A-K

